

Céline Saraiva Gonçalves **Deciphering key roles of WNTG in glioblastoma:** mechanistic, functional, and clinical insights

UMinho | 2018



Universidade do Minho Escola de Medicina

Céline Saraiva Gonçalves

Deciphering key roles of WNT6 in glioblastoma: mechanistic, functional, and clinical insights



Universidade do Minho Escola de Medicina

Céline Saraiva Gonçalves

Deciphering key roles of WNT6 in glioblastoma: mechanistic, functional, and clinical insights

Tese de Doutoramento em Ciências da Saúde

Trabalho efetuado sob a orientação do **Doutor Bruno Marques Costa**

Statement of Integrity

I hereby declare having conducted my thesis with integrity. I confirm that I have not used plagiarism or any form of falsification of results in the process of the thesis elaboration.

I further declare that I have fully acknowledged the Code of Ethical Conduct of the University of Minho.

University of Minho, July 31, 2018

Full name: Céline Saraiva Gonçalves

Signature:

Céline Savaiva Gonçalves

Acknowledgments/Agradecimentos

Acknowledgements/Agradecimentos

Findos estes quatro anos, chegou a altura de agradecer a todos que, de uma forma ou outra, permitiram que esta tese fosse real. Foram quatro anos excecionalmente gratificantes, emocionantes e enriquecedores. Por isso, estas serão, com certeza, as páginas mais difíceis de escrever de toda esta tese, porque: i) não há objetividade, nem análise estatística que me valha, ii) sei que neste limitado espaço nunca conseguirei ser justa com todas as pessoas a quem quero agradecer; e iii) ainda assim, são escritas de coração cheio e mãos a tremer.

Posto isto, queria começar por agradecer ao meu orientador, Doutor Bruno Costa, a quem devo muito daquilo que sou hoje como investigadora. É para mim um exemplo de exigência científica e conhecimento. Queria agradecer-lhe principalmente pela confiança que depositou em mim, pelas oportunidades e pelos conselhos que me deu, pelo positivismo e pelas palavras de motivação que me permitiram alcançar este objetivo. Obrigada pela amizade e espero que os nossos caminhos continuem a cruzar-se.

Queria agradecer à Escola de Medicina e ao ICVS que pela voz dos seus representantes me fizeram sempre sentir em casa e feliz por fazer parte desta "família". Em particular, ao Professor Doutor Nuno Sousa (atual presidente da Escola de Medicina), ao Professor Doutor Jorge Pedrosa (diretor do ICVS), e à Professora Doutora Cecília Leão (anterior presidente da Escola de Medicina), aos atuais coordenadores dos domínios das Neurociências, Professor Doutor João Bessa, e das Ciências Cirúrgicas, Professor Doutor Jorge Correia Pinto, pelas palavras amigas, pelo incentivo à excelência e por todo o apoio institucional. Para me manter breve, não poderei nomeá-los a todos, mas gostaria de agradecer a todos os professores desta escola que tanto me ensinaram durante esta jornada. Obrigada pelo input crítico!

A todas as pessoas que fizeram parte deste grupo de investigação que tive o privilégio de integrar e que recordarei para sempre. Por ordem de chegada, Marta Pojo, Ana Xavier, Tatiana, Joana, Ana Oliveira, Daniel, Eduarda, Marta, e mais recentemente Catarina e Bruna. Infelizmente o destino quis aos poucos separar-nos, mas foi tão bom aprender e partilhar este desafio convosco! Ter pessoas espetaculares ao nosso lado no dia a dia é o que nos motiva a sermos mais e melhores e a fazermos mais! Obrigada pela ajuda nos dias bons e nos menos bons, pela paciência, pela partilha e por todas as discussões científicas (e também pelas menos científicas). Estes agradecimentos aplicam-se também a todos os elementos que passaram pelo grupo embora por períodos mais curtos. Aprendi imenso com todos vós! Poderia dizer tanta coisa de cada um de vocês porque cada um foi fundamental para mim em alguma parte desta jornada! Um especial obrigado à Marta Pojo, que me orientou na bancada nos primórdios da minha carreira, obrigada pelos ensinamentos. À Joana, porque houve uma altura em que fomos a muleta uma da outra, obrigada pelo apoio e por nunca me falhares. À minha pequena, a Eduarda, porque veio cheia de perguntas e vontade de aprender, que me forçaram a ser um melhor eu. Obrigada pequena pelo carinho e pela ajuda!

Estendo os meus agradecimentos a todos os restantes colegas do laboratório, especialmente aos do domínio das Ciências Cirúrgicas e das Neurociências, pelos bons momentos partilhados. Certamente serei injusta com tantas outras pessoas, mas queria destacar as que sempre estiveram disponíveis para me ajudar ou animar: Sara Granja, Sandra Costa, Marta VP, Sara Silva, Sofia Serra, Ana Marote, Bárbara Coimbra, Cláudia Nóbrega e, claro, aos engenheiros do BESURG. Aproveito para agradecer a todos os funcionários do ICVS que tornaram estes dias muito mais fáceis.

Os estudos apresentados nesta tese nunca teriam sido possíveis sem a colaboração de inúmeros médicos, investigadores e colegas, alguns deles que ainda não mencionei e com os quais tive o prazer de trabalhar e a quem quero agradecer.

Aos meus amigos, em particular aos amigos que são família, porque sei que estarão sempre aqui para mim e essa é das melhores sensações do mundo! À Nandinha, Fabiana, Rafaela, aos avós Rosa e Rodrigues, ao nosso PX e ao Pedro. Por toda a amizade, apoio, paciência, mas principalmente pelos momentos de distração que partilhamos.

À minha família, em particular aos meus pais e irmãs, a quem devo tudo! Quero agradecer-lhes por todo o amor e apoio incondicional. Não poderei nunca agradecer o suficiente a vocês que aturaram e compreenderam os meus dias menos bons (sei que não fui sempre fácil de aturar!) e, ainda assim, estão aqui para me dar força e incentivar a continuar. Obrigada por nunca terem duvidado de mim. À minha família mais chegada, pelo apoio e carinho. Espero que estejam orgulhosos!

Por fim, ao Sandro. Faltam-me as palavras para exprimir tudo o que sinto. Agradeço todos os dias por te ter na minha vida. Mais do que pelo amor, pelo companheirismo, paciência, apoio e compreensão. Pelos fins-de-semana no laboratório a fazer-me companhia. Por te esforçares sempre por me facilitar a vida, mesmo que isso te obrigue a trabalhar mais horas. Por me desafiares constantemente a ser uma melhor pessoa e melhor investigadora. Por seres para mim um exemplo de excelência. Por acreditares em mim. Por estares sempre aqui para mim. Por isto e muito mais, obrigada do fundo do meu coração. Esta jornada teria sido bem mais complicada sem ti na minha vida. Estou orgulhosa do que juntos conseguimos!

A todos vós, muito obrigada!

"Always aim high, work hard, and care deeply about what you believe in. And, when you stumble, keep faith. And, when you're knocked down, get right back up and never listen to anyone who says you can't or shouldn't go on." – Hillary Clinton

The work presented in this thesis was performed in the Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), Minho University. Financial support was provided by grants from the Foundation for Science and Technology - FCT (SFRH/BD/92786/2013), Fundação Calouste Gulbenkian, and Liga Portuguesa Contra o Cancro; by FEDER funds through the Operational Programme Competitiveness Factors -COMPETE and National Funds through FCT under the project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-007038; and by the projects NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000013, NORTE-01-0246-FEDER-000012, and NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000023 supported by Norte Portugal Regional Operational Programme (NORTE 2020), under the PORTUGAL 2020 Partnership Agreement, through the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF).



Summary/Resumo

Summary

Malignant gliomas are one of the deadliest cancers worldwide, for which no curative treatment is yet available. Patients with glioblastoma (GBM), the most frequent and malignant form of glioma, present a median overall survival of approximately 15 months after diagnosis. This is mainly due to the poor and unpredictable response to the standard-of-care therapy that includes radio- and chemotherapy, after surgical resection. To improve the clinical management of these patients, several efforts are being made to molecularly characterize gliomas, which would allow to improve patients' stratification, develop targeted therapies and thus improve patients' clinical outcome. However, the mechanisms underlying glioma pathophysiology are still underexplored, hampering the identification of new therapeutic targets.

Alterations in signaling pathways required to preserve the embryonic determination may play an important role in the tumorigenic process. The WNT pathway has been described to influence nearly all aspects of embryonic development, from a single cell – establishing its polarity – to an organism – specifying the entire body axis. At the cellular level, the WNT pathway regulates cell motility, apoptosis and their capacity to self-renew. In adults, the WNT pathway is responsible for tissue homeostasis, which might explain why its aberrant activation has been reported in several tumor types, including GBM. In tumor cells, the WNT pathway has been implicated in tumor initiation, growth, invasion, metastasis, immune evasion, stem cell capacity, and therapy resistance. In humans, there are 19 WNT ligands capable of activating the WNT pathway and with nearly unique roles in development. Among them, WNT6 was recently associated with chemoresistance in gastric and bladder cancers, poor prognosis of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and osteosarcoma patients, and increased risk to develop colorectal adenoma. However, nothing was known about the relevance of WNT6 in gliomas.

This thesis aimed to unveil the relevance of WNT6 in GBM, particularly focusing on the mechanisms regulating its expression, its downstream effector signaling pathways, and its clinical significance in GBM patients. We demonstrated that WNT6 is significantly overexpressed in GBM when compared to lower-grade gliomas, independently of IDH mutations and 1p/19q co-deletion status, and in a gene-dosage independent manner. Moreover, WNT6 expression was associated with increased GBM cell viability, proliferation, invasion, migration, glioma stem cell capacity, and resistance to temozolomide-based chemotherapy, implicating WNT6 as an important oncogenic factor in glioma. Using *in vivo* intracranial GBM mice models with both WNT6 overexpressing and silencing GBM cell models, we demonstrated that WNT6-high tumors presented increased features of tumor aggressiveness, which was ultimately associated with mice shorter overall survival. Moreover, we identified the WNT/β-catenin, SFK

and STAT3 pathways as WNT6-mediated signaling mechanisms in GBM. The association between WNT6 and stem cell markers or key cancer related pathways was also confirmed in GBM patients. Importantly, in GBM patients from several independent datasets, WNT6 was a strong prognostic biomarker of shorter overall survival, independently of other well-known prognostic factors.

Since the first step for the design of new targeted therapies requires not only the identification of new molecular targets but also the understanding of their activation mechanisms, we further investigated the potential upstream regulators underlying WNT6 overexpression in glioma. We showed that DNA methylation of specific regions in the *WNT6* locus regulates its expression in glioma. Additionally, we observed that *HOXA9*, an oncogenic transcription factor in GBM, is co-expressed with *WNT6* in gliomas. Interestingly, we found that HOXA9 directly binds to the *WNT6* promoter region, transcriptionally activating its expression. Thus, *WNT6* DNA methylation and HOXA9 are upstream regulators of WNT6 expression in gliomas, creating new hints for innovative therapeutic approaches.

In conclusion, the work summarized in this thesis describes WNT6 as a novel critical oncogene in human GBM and identifies its upstream regulators (DNA methylation and HOXA9) and downstream molecular mechanisms (namely WNT, SFK and STAT3 pathways), which may have an impact on prognostic stratification and in the design of novel attractive therapeutic options for this deadly disease.

Resumo

Os gliomas malignos são um dos cancros mais mortíferos a nível mundial, para os quais não existe ainda um tratamento curativo. Pacientes com glioblastoma (GBM), o tipo de glioma mais maligno e frequente, apresentam uma sobrevida de aproximadamente 15 meses após o diagnóstico. Este facto deve-se maioritariamente à resposta fraca e imprevisível que estes pacientes apresentam quando tratados com a terapia convencional, que inclui radio- e quimioterapia após ressecção cirúrgica do tumor. Ao longo dos últimos anos, têm-se efetuado esforços no sentido de caracterizar molecularmente os gliomas de forma a melhorar a estratificação dos pacientes, desenvolver terapias direcionadas e, deste modo, melhorar o seu tratamento. Contudo, os mecanismos subjacentes à sua fisiopatologia estão ainda pouco explorados, o que impede a identificação de novos alvos terapêuticos.

Alterações em vias de sinalização celulares necessárias para a embriogénese poderão ter um papel fundamental no processo tumorigénico. Em específico, a via WNT controla diversos aspetos do desenvolvimento embrionário, desde a definição da polaridade de uma única célula num tecido até à especificação do eixo corporal de um organismo. Ao nível celular, a via WNT regula a motilidade, a apoptose e a capacidade de autorrenovação. Em adultos, a via WNT é responsável pela homeostasia dos tecidos, o que pode explicar o facto da sua ativação aberrante ter sido observada em diversos tipos tumorais, incluindo GBM. Em células tumorais, a via WNT tem vindo a ser associada com a iniciação, o crescimento, a invasão, a metastização, a evasão imune, a capacidade de células estaminais e a resistência à terapia do tumor. Em humanos, existem 19 ligandos da via WNT capazes de a ativar, os quais têm um papel singular no desenvolvimento. Entre estes, o WNT6 foi recentemente associado com a resistência à quimioterapia em cancro do intestino e da bexiga, com o pior prognóstico de pacientes com carcinoma de células escamosas do esôfago e osteossarcoma, e com o risco aumentado para desenvolver adenomas colorretais. Contudo, nada se sabe acerca da relevância do WNT6 em gliomas.

Esta tese tem por objetivo desvendar a relevância do WNT6 em GBM, focando particularmente nos mecanismos que regulam a sua expressão, nas vias de sinalização efetoras da sua ação, e na sua significância clínica em pacientes com GBM. Para tal, demonstrou-se que o WNT6 está significativamente sobre-expresso em GBM quando comparado a gliomas de menor grau, independentemente da existência de mutações nos genes IDH ou da co-delecção 1p/19q, e independentemente do número de cópias de ADN. Além disso, a expressão de WNT6 foi associada com o aumento da viabilidade celular, proliferação, invasão, migração, capacidade de células estaminais de glioma e resistência à quimioterapia baseada em temozolomida, estabelecendo o WNT6 como um importante fator oncogénico em glioma. Com

recurso a modelos GBM intracraniais em ratinho e usando modelos de células de GBM com expressão de WNT6 diferencial, demonstrou-se que tumores com maior expressão de WNT6 apresentam um aumento de características associadas à agressividade tumoral, sendo observado uma menor sobrevida destes ratinhos. Além disso, identificamos as vias de sinalização WNT/β-catenina, SFK e STAT3 como potenciais mecanismos de sinalização mediados pelo WNT6 em GBM. A associação entre WNT6 e marcadores de células estaminais ou vias relacionadas com cancro foi ainda corroborada em pacientes com GBM. Com recurso a várias bases de dados independentes de pacientes com GBM, mostrou-se que o WNT6 é um forte biomarcador de prognóstico, associado com a menor sobrevida dos pacientes, e independente de outros fatores de prognóstico bem conhecidos.

Uma vez que o primeiro passo para o desenho de novas terapias direcionadas requer não só a identificação de novos alvos moleculares, mas também a compreensão dos seus mecanismos de ativação, foram ainda investigados os potenciais mecanismos reguladores responsáveis pelo aumento da expressão do WNT6 em glioma. Por um lado, mostrou-se que a metilação do ADN em regiões específicas do *locus* do *WNT6* regula a sua expressão em glioma. Por outro lado, observou-se que o *HOXA9*, um fator de transcrição oncogénico em GBM, está co-expresso com o *WNT6* em gliomas. De facto, demonstrou-se que o HOXA9 se liga diretamente à região promotora do *WNT6*, ativando transcripcionalmente a sua expressão. Deste modo, tanto a metilação do ADN ao nível do *WNT6* como o HOXA9 são potenciais reguladores da expressão do WNT6 em glioma, e podem assim ser utilizados para o desenvolvimento de abordagens terapêuticas inovadoras.

Em suma, este trabalho descreve o WNT6 como um novo oncogene em GBM humano, identificando alguns dos mecanismos que regulam a sua expressão (a metilação do ADN e o HOXA9), bem como os mecanismos moleculares que são responsáveis pela sua ação (nomeadamente, as vias de sinalização WNT, SFK e STAT3). Deste modo, os resultados obtidos poderão ter um impacto crucial na estratificação prognóstica dos pacientes com GBM, e na conceção de novas opções terapêuticas mais atrativas para esta doença altamente mortífera.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements/Agradecimentos	vii
Summary	xiii
Resumo	XV
Abbreviations List	xxv
List of Figures	xxxiii
List of Tables	xxxv
Aims and thesis outline	xxxix
Chapter 1. General Introduction	1
1.1. Primary brain and central nervous system tumors: epidemiology	3
1.2. Gliomas: histological and molecular WHO classification	4
1.2.1. Circumscribed gliomas	7
1.2.2. Diffuse gliomas	8
1.3. Molecular prognostic factors of glioma	17
1.3.1. <i>IDH1</i> and <i>IDH2</i> mutations	17
1.3.2. 1p/19q co-deletion	19
1.3.3. <i>MGMT</i> promoter methylation	21
1.3.4. <i>ATRX</i> mutation	22
1.3.5. HOX genes	22
1.4. Oncogenic pathways in glioblastoma	23
1.4.1. RB pathway	23
1.4.2. p53 pathway	24
1.4.3. RTK/RAS/PI3K pathway	24
1.5. The WNT pathway: overview	25
1.5.1. Canonical pathway	26
1.5.2. Non-canonical pathways	28
1.5.3. WNT proteins and post-translational modifications	29
1.5.4. WNT6 ligand	30
1.5.5. Emerging roles of the WNT pathway in cancer	31
1.5.6. WNT6 in cancer	32
1.5.7. The WNT pathway as a therapeutic target	33
References	36
Chapter 2. WNT6 is a novel oncogenic prognostic biomarker in human glioblastoma	67
Abstract	71
2.1. Introduction	72
2.2. Results	72
2.2.1. WNT6 is overexpressed in primary GBM tissues	72
2.2.2. High WNT6 expression is indiscriminately present in all molecular subtypes of GBM	74
2.2.3. WNT6 has oncogenic functions and promotes GBM aggressiveness <i>in vitro</i>	74
2.2.4. WNT6 increases resistance to temozolomide chemotherapy in GBM cells	74
2.2.5. WNT6 promotes glioblastoma stem cell features	76

Table of contents

2.2.6. <i>WNT6</i> is associated with stem cell-related genes in GBM clinical samples	. 77
2.2.7. High WNT6 levels accelerate GBM-associated death in intracranial mice models	. 77
2.2.8. WNT6 acts through β -catenin-dependent WNT signaling and downstream targets	s of
SFKs/STAT pathways	. 79
2.2.9. WNT6-correlated genes are enriched for WNT, AKT, SRC, MYC, JNK and MAPK signa	aling
pathways in GBM patients	. 82
2.2.10. High levels of WNT6 expression associate with shorter overall survival in GBM patients	. 83
2.3. Discussion	. 85
2.4. Materials and Methods	. 87
2.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients	. 87
2.4.2. Freije, Gravendeel and Vital datasets	. 88
2.4.3. Glioma primary tissues	. 88
2.4.4. Immunohistochemistry	. 88
2.4.5. Cell lines and culture conditions	. 89
2.4.6. WNT6-silencing by shRNA in GBM cells	. 89
2.4.7. WNT6 overexpression in GBM cells	. 89
2.4.8. qRT-PCR	. 90
2.4.9. Immunofluorescence (IF)	. 90
2.4.10. Cell viability assays	. 90
2.4.11. Cell proliferation	. 91
2.4.12. Cell migration	. 91
2.4.13. Cell invasion	. 91
2.4.14. Cell death	. 91
2.4.15. Colony formation assay	. 92
2.4.16. Cell viability assay (MTT) under stem cell conditions	. 92
2.4.17. Neurosphere formation assay	. 92
2.4.18. Limiting dilution assay	. 92
2.4.19. Stereotactic orthotopic xenografts	. 93
2.4.20. Human phospho-kinase antibody array	. 93
2.4.21. Western blot analysis	. 94
2.4.22. TCF/LEF reporter assay	. 94
2.4.23. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA)	. 95
2.4.24. Statistical analyses	. 95
2.4.25. Study approval	. 96
Acknowledgments	. 96
Author contributions	. 96
Competing interests	. 97
Appendixes	. 97
References	107
Chapter 3. Molecular mechanisms regulating WNT6 expression in glioma	113
Abstract	117
3.1. Introduction	119

3.2.1. WW76 expression in glioma is independent of IDH mutation and 1p/19q co-deletion status 119 3.2.2. WW76 expression is regulated by DNA methylation in gliomas 121 3.2.3. WW76 is transcriptionally activated by HOXA9 in GBM 123 3.2.4. HOXA9 activates the WNT/β-catenin pathway 125 3.2.5. WW76 is prognostically valuable independently of HOXA9 expression in LGG and GBM patients 127 3.3. Discussion 127 3.4.4. Materials and methods 131 3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.4.3. GBM cell lines 133 3.4.4. 5-Aza-2'-dexoycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.10. Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 136 3.4.13. Statistical analysis 136 3.4.14. General discussion and future perspectives 136 A.4.13. WNT6 is a tumorigenic factor in GBM? 147 4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM? 152	3.2. Results	119
119 3.2.2. WNT6 expression is regulated by DNA methylation in gliomas. 121 3.2.3. WVT6 is transcriptionally activated by HOXA9 in GBM 123 3.2.4. HOXA9 activates the WNT/β-catenin pathway 125 3.2.5. WNT6 and HOXA9 are co-expressed in glioma patients 125 3.2.6. WWT6 is prognostically valuable independently of HOXA9 expression in LGG and GBM patients 127 3.3. Discussion 127 3.4. Materials and methods 131 3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.4.3. GBM cell lines 133 3.4.4.5. FAza.2'/deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 136 3.4.13. Statistical analysis 136 3.4.13. Statistical analysis 136 3.4.13. Is worked genetis 136 Acknowledgments 136 Acknowledgments 136	3.2.1. WNT6 expression in glioma is independent of IDH mutation and 1p/19q co-dele	etion status
3.2.2. WVT6 expression is regulated by DNA methylation in gliomas. 121 3.2.3. WVT6 is transcriptionally activated by HOXA9 in GBM 123 3.2.4. HOXA9 activates the WNT/β-catenin pathway 125 3.2.5. WVT6 and HOXA9 are co-expressed in glioma patients. 125 3.2.6. WVT6 is prognostically valuable independently of HOXA9 expression in LGG and GBM patients 127 3.3. Discussion. 127 3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.4.3. GBM cell lines. 133 3.4.4.5 -Aza-2'/deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 136 Active contributions 136 Acknowledgments 136 Acknowledgments 136 Active contributions 136 Acknowledgments 136 Active contributions		119
3.2.3. WVT6 is transcriptionally activated by HOXA9 in GBM 123 3.2.4. HOXA9 activates the WNT/β-catenin pathway 125 3.2.5. WVT6 and HOXA9 are co-expressed in glioma patients. 125 3.2.6. WVT6 is prognostically valuable independently of HOXA9 expression in LGG and GBM patients 127 3.3. Discussion 127 3.4. Materials and methods 131 3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.4.3. GBM cell lines 133 3.4.4.5. Aza-2' deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 136 Acknowledgments 136 Acknowledgments 136 Appendixes 136 Appendixes 136 Appendixes 136 Acknowledgments 136 Ackinowledgments	3.2.2. <i>WNT6</i> expression is regulated by DNA methylation in gliomas	121
3.2.4. HOXA9 activates the WNT/β-catenin pathway 125 3.2.5. WW76 and HOXA9 are co-expressed in glioma patients 125 3.2.6. WW76 is prognostically valuable independently of HOXA9 expression in LGG and GBM patients 127 3.3. Discussion 127 3.4. Materials and methods 131 3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.3. GBM cell lines 133 3.4.4.5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.8. Genomatix analysis 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 135 3.4.13. Statistical analysis 136 Competing interests 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 Author contributions 136 Cappendixes <t< td=""><td>3.2.3. <i>WNT6</i> is transcriptionally activated by HOXA9 in GBM</td><td> 123</td></t<>	3.2.3. <i>WNT6</i> is transcriptionally activated by HOXA9 in GBM	123
3.2.5. WN76 and HOXA9 are co-expressed in glioma patients. 125 3.2.6. WN76 is prognostically valuable independently of HOXA9 expression in LGG and GBM patients 127 3.3. Discussion 127 3.4. Materials and methods 131 3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.4.3. GBM cell lines. 133 3.4.4.5 -Aza-2' deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.8. Genomatix analysis 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 136 Competing interests 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 Appendixes 136 Appendixes 136 Acknowledgments 136 Acknowledgments 136 Appendixes 136 Appendix	3.2.4. HOXA9 activates the WNT/ β -catenin pathway	125
3.2.6. WWT6 is prognostically valuable independently of HOXA9 expression in LGG and GBM patients 127 3.3. Discussion 127 3.4. Materials and methods 131 3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.4.3. GBM cell lines 133 3.4.4.5 -Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.8. Genomatix analysis 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 Appendixes 136 Appendixes 136 Appendixes 136 Author contributions 136 Acknowledgments 136 Appendixes 136 Appendixes 136 Appendixes 136 <	3.2.5. <i>WNT6</i> and <i>HOXA9</i> are co-expressed in glioma patients	125
127 3.3. Discussion 127 3.4. Materials and methods 131 3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.4.3. GBM cell lines 133 3.4.4.5 -Aza-2' deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.4.5 -Aza-2' deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.4.5 -Aza-2' deoxycytidine (7-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.8. Genomatix analysis 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 136 Actnowledgments 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 Altor contributions 136 Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives 147 4.1. General discussion 147 4.2. Future perspectives 145 4.1. General discussion	3.2.6. WNT6 is prognostically valuable independently of HOXA9 expression in LGG and G	3M patients
3.3. Discussion 127 3.4. Materials and methods 131 3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.4.3. GBM cell lines 133 3.4.4.5-Aza-2' deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.4.5-Ada-2' deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.4.5-Ada-2' deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.8. Genomatix analysis 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 136 3.4.13. Statistical analysis 136 Acknowledgments 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 A.13. Statistical analysis 136 A.2.4. General discussion and future perspectives 145 4.1. General discussion 147 4.2. Future perspectives 145 <		127
3.4. Materials and methods 131 3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.4.3. GBM cell lines 133 3.4.4. 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.8. Genomatix analysis 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 135 3.4.13. Statistical analysis 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 Appendixes 136 Appendixes 136 A.1. General discussion and future perspectives 147 4.2. Future perspectives 152 4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM? 153 4.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion? 153 4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target? 154	3.3. Discussion	127
3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients 131 3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.4.3. GBM cell lines 133 3.4.4.5 – Aza-2' deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.4.5 – Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.4.5 – Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.8. Genomatix analysis 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 135 3.4.13. Statistical analysis 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 Appendixes 136 References 139 Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives 147 4.2. Future perspectives 152 4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM? 152 4.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM? 153 4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic t	3.4. Materials and methods	131
3.4.2. Glioma primary samples 132 3.4.3. GBM cell lines 133 3.4.4.5 - Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.4.5 - Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.8. Genomatix analysis 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 135 3.4.13. Statistical analysis 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 Appendixes 136 References 139 Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives 145 4.1. General discussion 147 4.2. Future perspectives 152 4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM? 153 4.2.3. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM? 153 4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target? 154	3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients	131
3.4.3. GBM cell lines. 133 3.4.4.5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment. 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP). 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.8. Genomatix analysis 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP). 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC). 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 136 3.4.13. Statistical analysis 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 Appendixes 136 References 139 Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives 145 4.1. General discussion 147 4.2. Future perspectives 152 4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM? 153 4.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion? 153 4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target? 154	3.4.2. Glioma primary samples	132
3.4.4. 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment 133 3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.8. Genomatix analysis 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 135 3.4.13. Statistical analysis 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 Appendixes 136 References 139 Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives 145 4.1. General discussion 147 4.2. Future perspectives 152 4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM? 153 4.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion? 153 4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target? 154	3.4.3. GBM cell lines	133
3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment 133 3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP) 133 3.4.7. qRT-PCR 134 3.4.8. Genomatix analysis 134 3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) 134 3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF) 135 3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) 135 3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection 135 3.4.13. Statistical analysis 136 Author contributions 136 Competing interests 136 Appendixes 136 References 139 Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives 145 4.1. General discussion 147 4.2. Future perspectives 152 4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM? 153 4.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion? 153 4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target? 154	3.4.4. 5–Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment	133
3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP)1333.4.7. qRT-PCR1343.4.8. Genomatix analysis1343.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP)1343.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF)1353.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC)1353.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection1353.4.13. Statistical analysis136Acknowledgments136Author contributions136Competing interests136Appendixes136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment	133
3.4.7. qRT-PCR.1343.4.8. Genomatix analysis1343.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP)1343.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF)1353.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC)1353.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection1353.4.13. Statistical analysis1353.4.14. Statistical analysis136Acknowledgments136Author contributions136Competing interests136Appendixes136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP)	133
3.4.8. Genomatix analysis1343.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP)1343.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF)1353.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC)1353.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection1353.4.13. Statistical analysis135Acknowledgments136Author contributions136Competing interests136Appendixes136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	3.4.7. qRT-PCR	
3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP).1343.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF)1353.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC)1353.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection1353.4.13. Statistical analysis135Acknowledgments136Author contributions136Competing interests136Appendixes136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	3.4.8. Genomatix analysis	
3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF)1353.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC)1353.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection1353.4.13. Statistical analysis135Acknowledgments136Author contributions136Competing interests136Appendixes136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1524.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP)	
3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC)1353.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection1353.4.13. Statistical analysis135Acknowledgments136Author contributions136Competing interests136Appendixes136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1534.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF)	135
3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection1353.4.13. Statistical analysis135Acknowledgments136Author contributions136Competing interests136Appendixes136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1534.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	135
3.4.13. Statistical analysis.135Acknowledgments.136Author contributions136Competing interests.136Appendixes.136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives.1454.1. General discussion.1474.2. Future perspectives.1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1534.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection	135
Acknowledgments136Author contributions136Competing interests136Appendixes136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1524.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	3.4.13. Statistical analysis	135
Author contributions136Competing interests136Appendixes136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1524.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	Acknowledgments	136
Competing interests136Appendixes136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1524.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	Author contributions	136
Appendixes136References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1524.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	Competing interests	136
References139Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1524.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	Appendixes	136
Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives1454.1. General discussion1474.2. Future perspectives1524.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1524.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	References	139
4.1. General discussion. 147 4.2. Future perspectives. 152 4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM? 152 4.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM? 153 4.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion? 153 4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target? 154	Chapter 4. General discussion and future perspectives	
4.2. Future perspectives. 152 4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM? 152 4.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM? 153 4.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion? 153 4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target? 154	4.1. General discussion	
4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?1524.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?1534.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?1534.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?154	4.2. Future perspectives	152
4.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM? 153 4.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion? 153 4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target? 154	4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?	152
4.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?	4.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?	153
4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?	4.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?	153
	4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?	
4.3. Conclusion	4.3. Conclusion	156
References	References	158

Abbreviations List

Abbreviations List

#	5-Aza	5–Aza-2'-deoxycytidine
#	β-TrCP	F-box-containing protein E3 ubiquitin ligase
	ACC	adrenocortical carcinoma
	ADP	adenosine diphosphate
	AKT	AKT serine/threonine kinase
	ALT	alternative lengthening of telomeres
	AMP	adenosine monophosphate
A	ANOVA	analysis of variance
	APC	adenomatosis polyposis coli
	ARF	ADP ribosylation factors
	ATM	ATM serine/threonine kinase; formerly ataxia telangiectasia mutated
	ATR	ATR serine/threonine kinase; formerly ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3 related
	ATRX	lpha-thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked
	BBB	blood brain barrier
	BCA	bicinchoninic acid
	BCL2/9	B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2/9
	BCR	Biospeciment Core Resources
	b-FGF	basic FGF
R	BLCA	bladder urothelial carcinoma
	bp	base pairs
	BRAF	B-Raf proto-oncogene, serine/threonine kinase; formerly v-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B
	BRCA	breast invasive carcinoma
	BrdU	bromodeoxyuridine; 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine
	BSA	bovine serum albumin
	CAMKII	calmodulin-dependent protein kinase 2
	cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
	Cas9	CRISPR associated protein 9
	CAV1	caveolin 1
	CBP	CREB binding protein; CREBBP
	CBTRUS	Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States
	CCND1/2	cyclin D1/2
	CD90	THY1 cell surface antigen
C	CDK4/6	cyclin dependent kinase 4/6
	CDKN2A/B/C	cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A/B/C
	cDNA	complementary DNA
	CESC	cervical squamous cell carcinoma and endocervical adenocarcinoma
	CFSE	carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester
	ChIP	chromatin immunoprecipitation
	CHOL	cholangiocarcinoma
	CI	confidence interval
	CIC	capicua transcriptional repressor

	CK1	casein kinase 1
	CMA	Comprehensive Meta Analysis
	CNS	central nervous system
	CO ₂	carbon dioxide
	COAD	colon adenocarcinoma
	CRD	cysteine-rich domain
	CREB	cAMP response element-binding protein
	CRISPR	clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
	CSC	cancer stem cells
	CT	computed tomography
	CTLA4	cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein 4
	CX3CL1	C-X3-C motif chemokine ligand 1
	DAB	3,3'-diaminobenzidine
	DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
	DCT	dopachrome tautomerase
	DGAV	Direcção Geral de Alimentação e Veterinária
_	DKK1/3	dickkopf WNT signaling pathway inhibitor $1/3$
D	DLBC	lymphoid neoplasm diffuse large B-cell lymphoma
	DMEM	Dulbecco modified eagle medium
	DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
	DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
	DNMT	DNA methyltransferase
	DVL	dishevelled segment polarity proteins
	ECL	enhanced chemiluminescence
	EDTA	ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
	EGF	epidermal growth factor
	EGFR	EGF receptor
_	EGFRvIII	EGFR variant III
E	ELDA	extreme limiting dilution assay
	ELF	extremely low frequency
	ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
	eNOS	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
	ES	enrichment score
	ESCA	esophageal carcinoma
	FBS	fetal bovine serum
	FDR	false discovery rate
	FELASA	Federation for Laboratory Animal Science Associations
	FGF	fibroblast growth factor
F	FGFR	FGF receptor
	FISH	fluorescent <i>in situ</i> hybridization
	FIIC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
	FPKM-UQ	tragments per kilobase of transcript per million mapped reads–upper quartile
	FUBP1	tar upstream element binding protein 1
	FZD	G protein-coupled receptors, class F frizzled

	GBM	glioblastoma
	GBM-O	glioblastoma with oligodendroglial component
	g-CIMP	glioma CpG island methylator phenotype
	GFAP	glial fibrillary acidic protein
	GFP	green fluorescent protein
	GJA1	gap junction protein alpha 1
G	GLUT1	solute carrier family 2 member 1
	GO	gene ontology
	gRNA	guide RNA
	GSC	GBM stem cells
	GSEA	Gene Set Enrichment Analysis
	GSK3	glycogen synthase kinase 3
	GTP	guanosine triphosphate
	H&E	hematoxylin & eosin
	H3 K27	histone H3, lysine 27
	HB	Hospital Braga
	HIF1a	hypoxia inducible factor 1 subunit alpha
	HNSC	head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
H	HOXA9	homeobox A9
	HR	hazard ratio
	HRP	horseradish peroxidase
	HSA	Hospital Santo António
	HSM	Hospital Santa Maria
	HSP	heat shock protein
	IDH	
1		
	Ige/G	immunoglobulin E/G
		interloukin 2
	ILZ	incerted 1.4.5 trianheamhata
		inositor-1,4,5-trispriospriate
J	JINK	jun N-terminal kinase
	JUN	Jun proto-oncogene, AP-1 transcription factor subunit
		kidney chromophobe
K	KIRD	kidnov ronal papillary coll carcinoma
	KI RG1	killer cell lectin like recentor G1
	KPS	Karnofsky performance status
	L1CAM	1 1 cell adhesion molecule
	LAG3	lymphocyte activating 3
L	LAMI	acute mveloid leukemia
	LEF	lymphoid enhancer factor

	LGG	lower grade glioma
	LIHC	liver hepatocellular carcinoma
	LOH	loss of heterozygosity
	LRP	low density lipoprotein receptors
	LUAD	lung adenocarcinoma
	LUSC	lung squamous cell carcinoma
	MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
M	MDM2	MDM2 proto-oncogene; formerly human homolog of mouse double minute 2
	MDM4	MDM4, p53 regulator; formerly human homolog of mouse double minute 4
	MESO	mesothelioma
	MGMT	O-6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase
	MMR	mismatch repair
	MMTV	mouse mammary tumor virus
	MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
N/I	mRNA	messenger RNA
	MSCV	murine stem cell virus
	MSigDb	Molecular Signature database
	MSP	methylation-specific PCR
	mTOR	mechanistic target of rapamycin kinase
	MTS	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2H- tetrazolium
	MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
	MVP	microvascular proliferation
	MYC	MYC proto-oncogene, bHLH transcription factor
	NADP+	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
	NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate reduced form
	NESTIN	neuroectodermal stem cell marker
	NFAT	nuclear factor associated with T cells
	NF-kB	nuclear factor kappa B
N	NK	natural killer cell
IN	NKD1/2	naked cuticle homolog 1/2
	NOS	not otherwise specified
	NP-40	nonyl phenoxypolyethoxylethanol
	ns	non-statistically significant
	NSG	NOD.Cg- <i>Prkdc^{scid} II2rg^{tm1WjI}</i> /SzJ
	NTRK2	neurotrophic receptor tyrosine kinase 2
	O/N	overnight
Ο	Oct4	POU class 5 homeobox 1; POU5F1
	OS	overall survival
	p14	ribonuclease P/MRP subunit p14; RPP14
	PAAD	pancreatic adenocarcinoma
Ρ	PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
	PCPG	pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma
	PCR	polymerase chain reaction

	PCV	procarbazine, lomustine, and vincristine
	PD1	programmed cell death 1; PDCD1
	PDGFR	platelet-derived growth factor receptors
	PE	plating efficiency
	PEG3/Pw1	paternally expressed 3
	PI	propidium iodide
	PI3K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase; phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase
	PKC	protein kinase C
	PLC	phospholipase C
	PRAD	prostate adenocarcinoma
	PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog
\cap	qPCR	quantitative PCR
<u> </u>	qRT-PCR	quantitative reverse transcription-PCR
	RAF	rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma kinase family
	RAS	rat sarcoma kinase family
	RB	retinoblastoma
	READ	rectum adenocarcinoma
	RGD	Arg-Gly-Asp tripeptide
R	RHO	rho family GTPases
К	RNA	ribonucleic acid
	RNAseq	RNA sequencing
	ROR	RTK-like orphan receptor
	RTK	receptor tyrosine kinase
	RT	room temperature
	RYK	receptor-like tyrosine kinase
	SARC	sarcoma
	SD	standard deviation
	SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
	SEER	Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results program
	SFK	SRC family kinases
	SFRP	secreted frizzled-related proteins
	SHH	sonic hedgehog
C	shRNA	short-hairpin RNA
5	SIRNA	small interfering RNA
	SIR16	sirtuin 6
	SKCM	skin cutaneous melanoma
	SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
	SUX2/10	SRY-box 2/10
	SRU	SRC proto-oncogene, non-receptor tyrosine kinase
	SRI	sex-determining region Y
	STAD	stomach agenocarcinoma
Т	SIAI	signal transducer and activator of transcription
	IBP	I A I A-DOX DINGING PROTEIN
	IR2	ltis-duilered sailne

	TBXT	T-box transcription factor T
	TCF	T-cell factor
	TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas
	TERT	telomerase reverse transcriptase
	TET	ten-eleven translocation
	TGCT	testicular germ cell tumors
	THCA	thyroid carcinoma
	THYM	thymoma
	ТIMЗ	hepatitis A virus cellular receptor 2; HAVCR2
	TMA	tissue microarray
	TMZ	temozolomide
	TNF	tumor necrosis factor
	TP53	tumor protein p53
	TRIS	tris(hidroximetil)aminometano
	TSC1/2	tuberous sclerosis complex subunit 1/2
	TSS	transcription start site
	UCA1	urothelial cancer associated 1
U	UCS	uterine carcinosarcoma
	UVM	uveal melanoma
\backslash	VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
V	VEGFR	VEGF receptor
	WB	western blot
W	WHO	World Health Organization
	WNT	wingless-related integration site

List of Figures/Tables

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Forest plot of selected studies on potential risk factors for glioma	5
Figure 1.2. Diagnostic approach, molecular features and current post-surgery treatment strategies	s for
adult diffuse gliomas according to the 2016 WHO classification of tumors of the CNS	6
Figure 1.3. Alterations observed between the WHO classification of CNS tumors 2007 and 2016	8
Figure 1.4. WHO grading system for diffuse gliomas	. 11
Figure 1.5. Glioblastoma one to ten years relative survival rate per age ranges	. 14
Figure 1.6. Five-years relative survival rates for several cancers.	. 14
Figure 1.7. Biochemical transformation of isocitrate to 2-hydroxyglutarate and its biological impact	. 18
Figure 1.8. Chromosomal translocations leading to 1p/19q co-deletion	. 20
Figure 1.9. WNT signaling pathway.	. 27
Figure 1.10. Compound under investigation for the inhibition of the WNT pathway	. 34
Figure 2.1. WNT6 is overexpressed at the mRNA and protein levels in GBM	. 73
Figure 2.2. WNT6 promotes GBM aggressiveness <i>in vitro</i> .	. 75
Figure 2.3. WNT6 promotes resistance to temozolomide chemotherapy in GBM cells	. 76
Figure 2.4. WNT6 silencing decreases GBM stem cell features.	. 78
Figure 2.5. WNT6 accelerates GBM-associated death in an intracranial mouse model	. 80
Figure 2.6. WNT6 influences the activation status of WNT, SFK, and STAT pathways in GBM.	. 81
Figure 2.7. <i>WNT6</i> expression is prognostically valuable in GBM patients.	. 84
Figure 2.8. Proposed model for the functional, molecular and clinical impact of WNT6 in GBM	. 86
Figure 2.S1. Representative images of immunohistochemistry controls for HSA tissues	. 98
Figure 2.S2. <i>WNT6</i> expression is present in all 4 molecular subtypes of GBM	. 99
Figure 2.S3. WNT6 overexpression promotes GBM aggressiveness <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i>	100
Figure 2.S4. WNT6 does not affect sensitivity of GBM cells to radiotherapy.	101
Figure 2.S5. <i>WNT6</i> correlates with stem cell genes	102
Figure 2.S6. WNT6 activates the WNT canonical signaling pathway	103
Figure 2.S7. Expression levels of WNT6 protein are prognostically valuable in GBM patients	104
Figure 2.S8. Manipulation of WNT6 expression levels does not concomitantly affect levels of WNT	7 or
WNT3a	105
Figure 3.1. WNT6 is overexpressed in a subset of gliomas, independently of IDH mutation, 1p/19q	1 co-
deletion status, and <i>WNT6</i> copy number	120

Figure 3.2. <i>WNT6</i> is transcriptionally regulated by DNA methylation in gliomas	. 122
Figure 3.3. <i>WNT6</i> is a direct target of HOXA9 in GBM	. 124
Figure 3.4. HOXA9 activates the WNT/ β -catenin pathway in <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> models of GBM	. 126
Figure 3.5. <i>WNT6</i> and <i>HOXA9</i> are co-expressed in glioma patients	. 127
Figure 3.6. <i>WNT6</i> and <i>HOXA9</i> co-expression is not exclusive of glioma tumors	. 129
Figure 3.S1. WNT6 DNA methylation correlates with WNT6 expression in gliomas.	. 137
Figure 3.S2. <i>WNT6</i> DNA methylation in a GBM Portuguese cohort	. 138

List of Tables

Table 2.1. High levels of <i>WNT6</i> expression are significantly associated with shorter survival of G	BM
patients (n = 407; microarray data)	85
Table 2.S1. List of antibodies used for immunohistochemistry, immunofluorescence, and Western b	olot.
	106
Table 3.1. <i>WNT6</i> and <i>HOXA9</i> co-expression in all cancer types with available RNAseq data in TCGA. 1	28
Table 3.2. Cox multivariate analysis in GBM patients from TCGA.	29
Table 4.1. WNT6 co-expression with other WNT ligands in glioma	48
Table 4.2. Cox multivariate analysis in GBM patients from TCGA	49
Aims and thesis outline

Aims and thesis outline

Gliomas are particularly devastating primary brain tumors owing to their localization and remarkable invasive growth. Glioblastoma (GBM) is the most common and lethal glioma in adults. Despite being only palliative, surgery, radiotherapy and temozolomide-based chemotherapy are still the gold standard treatments. Significant advances have been made to understand the molecular pathogenesis of gliomas. Indeed, the recent identification of new diagnostic markers significantly improved the classification of glioma tumors, from a merely histology-based classification to one incorporating both histologic and molecular information. However, the identification of new prognostic and therapeutic molecular targets, in the context of personalized strategies based on tumor intrinsic signaling pathways, are still of paramount importance to ultimately improve the outcome of glioma patients. The aberrant activation of the WNT signaling pathway has been reported in several tumors, including GBM, and has been shown to present an important role for tumor aggressiveness.

In this context, the **aim** of this thesis was to understand the relevance of WNT6, an activator of the WNT pathway for which little is known in cancer, in the pathophysiology of GBM, by characterizing its functional, mechanistic and clinical role. To this end, this thesis is divided into four interconnected chapters, each one with a specific goal as described below:

Chapter 1 introduces the general context of this thesis, aiming to prepare the reader for the following chapters. In this sense, a brief overview is given on the epidemiology of primary brain and central nervous system tumors. An extended description on the histological and molecular classification of gliomas follows. Moreover, a description of the clinically-used and some new promising molecular prognostic factors in glioma, as well as some of the most characterized oncogenic pathways in GBM, is then summarily presented. The chapter concludes by presenting an overview on the WNT pathway, with specific emphasis on its role in gliomas.

Chapter 2 and **3** are composed by two distinct research works focusing on WNT6, a ligand and activator of the WNT pathway. The WNT6 ligand was recently associated with chemoresistance in gastric and bladder cancer, poor prognosis of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma patients, and increased risk to develop colorectal adenoma, being also reported to present oncogenic functions in colon cancer. However, the relevance of WNT6 in human gliomas was still unknown. In this context, in **Chapter 2**, we aimed to explore the functional (*in vitro* and *in vivo*) and clinical relevance of WNT6 in GBM, as well as to

identify its downstream effector pathways. The manuscript presented in this chapter was accepted for publication in Theranostics (doi:10.7150/thno.25025). Although Chapter 2 demonstrates that WNT6 is overexpressed in a subset of GBM patients, leading to their poor prognosis, the mechanisms underlying WNT6 aberrant expression in gliomas were still unexplored. In **Chapter 3**, we aimed to study some potential upstream regulators of WNT6 expression in gliomas, analyzing *WNT6* copy number alterations, DNA methylation and its link with potential direct transcriptional regulators. Additionally, the independent prognostic value of *WNT6* in GBM was also evaluated. In Chapter 3 we identified *WNT6* DNA methylation and HOXA9, which we previously described to be an oncogenic transcription factor in GBM, as upstream regulators of WNT6 expression. The work presented in this chapter is under preparation for submission to an international peer-reviewed journal.

Chapter 4 covers a general discussion of the major results of the presented work (Chapter 2 and 3), which are here debated in an integrated manner, on the light of other relevant published work in the field. Moreover, suggestions for future perspectives are also discussed. Finally, a brief conclusion of this thesis is presented.

Chapter 1 General Introduction

This chapter introduces the general context of this thesis, including a brief overview on the epidemiology of primary brain and central nervous system tumors, and an extended description on the histological and molecular classification of gliomas. Next, molecular prognostic factors and oncogenic pathways are presented, concluding with an overview on the WNT pathway in gliomas.

Contents

1.1. Primary brain and central nervous system tumors: epidemiology	3
1.2. Gliomas: histological and molecular WHO classification	4
1.3. Molecular prognostic factors of glioma	17
1.4. Oncogenic pathways in glioblastoma	23
1.5. The WNT pathway: overview	25
References	36

1.1. Primary brain and central nervous system tumors: epidemiology

Malignant primary brain tumors represent approximately 32% of all brain tumors and are diagnosed in more than 250 000 individuals each year worldwide¹, being the 17th most common cancer type [1]. In Portugal, 932 new cases were reported in 2012 [1]. Despite their relatively low incidence when compared to other primary cancers (e.g., lung, breast, prostate and colorectal cancers) or to metastatic brain tumors, they constitute a major source of morbidity and mortality, being the 12th most deadly cancer worldwide with almost 190 000 estimated death per year [1] and ranking first in average of years of life lost among all tumor types [2]. In Portugal, 718 estimated deaths were reported in 2012 [1], being in the top-10 of most fatal cancers.

As reported for other cancers, the overall incidence of brain tumors, in adults, increases with aging [1, 3], which might be a result of the time required for the occurrence of genetic alterations that will lead to the malignant transformation and/or to the diminished immune surveillance that also occurs with aging. Over the past three decades, the incidence of brain tumors has increased, which might be due to the increased life-expectancy or a reflect of improved: i) classification and reporting; ii) access to diagnostic imaging; and, iii) medical practices, among others [4]. Attempts to interpret geographic and ethnic variations regarding the incidence and death rates of primary brain tumors are difficult due to the worldwide differences in the availability and access to medical care. Indeed, the regions with the highest rates of reported cases and death due to primary malignant brain tumors have better access to medical imaging (e.g., Northern Europe, white population in North America, and Israel) than the areas with the lower rates (e.g., India and Philippines), suggesting that the incidence is probably underestimated in developing countries [5, 6]. One exception to this are the rate of malignant brain tumors observed in Japan, considered an economically prosperous country, which are less than half the rate observed in Northern Europe, suggesting differences in risk factors based on ethnic variations in inherited susceptibility and/or cultural or geographic differences [5].

Although unexplained, the most consistent brain tumor epidemiology result is the 1.3-fold increased risk in males vs. females for developing or dying from a brain tumor [1]. In fact, the worldwide estimated age-standardized² incidence rate is 3.9 in males vs. 3.0 in females, while the estimated age-standardized mortality rate is 3.0 in males vs. 2.1 in females. Similar values are observed when considering Portugal only [1].

¹The estimated number of incident cases was 256 213, for both sexes, worldwide in 2012.

²Age-standardized rates are necessary when comparing populations with different age-distributions, as age has a powerful effect on cancer risk and it is expressed per 100 000 individuals.

Although the potential contribution of several environmental epidemiologic risk factors has been analyzed, only ionizing radiation (resulting from therapeutic X-irradiation or found in Hiroshima survivors) was associated with increased risk for brain tumor [7-11], more specifically, glioma, and history of allergies/atopic disease with a decreased risk [6, 12-22]. In its turn, the impact of the socioeconomic status and education level, as well as certain occupations (e.g., physicians, firefighters, farmers, rubber manufacturers, etc.) [23-32], diet [6], smoking [33, 34], electromagnetic fields [35-41] and cell phones exposure [42-47], among others [48, 49], remains inconclusive. A summary of these studies can be found in Figure 1.1.

1.2. Gliomas: histological and molecular WHO classification

For many decades, gliomas, which represent a large majority of malignant brain tumors (81%), have been traditionally classified based on light microscopic features as astrocytic, oligodendroglial, oligoastrocytic (mixed), or ependymal tumors, as described in the 2007 central nervous system (CNS) World Health Organization (WHO) classification guidelines [50]. This classification evolved from the work by Baily and Cushing (1926), where brain tumors were classified based on extensive histological examination combined with the clinical course of the patient [51]. In this classification, tumors were named after the normal cells from which they resembled and that, at the time, was presumed to be their cell of origin. In addition to the lineage name, the term anaplastic was added if histological atypia was observed, which reflected the tumor progression status. This classification was widely accepted as it proved to be clinically relevant. Baily/Cushing classification was improved afterwards but always retained the main principle: presumed origin and progression status. Two decades later, Kernohan *et al.* proposed what latter became the WHO grading system (grade I – lower malignancy – to IV – higher malignancy), which significantly improved the progression status description, and was based on the histological atypia and presence/absence of cytological atypia, anaplasia, mitotic activity, microvascular proliferation (MVP) and necrosis [52, 53].

However, this traditional histologically-based classification [54] was subject to considerable interobserver variability, particularly in the context of diffusely infiltrating gliomas (e.g., differences in the classification of astrocytoma vs. oligodendroglioma vs. oligoastrocytoma) [50, 55, 56]. Moreover, advances in (epi)genetics and transcriptomic analyses have shed light on the biological and clinical variability observed within each histologically defined glioma entity [56, 57]. These observations suggested that some of the molecular alterations underlying this variability might in fact be used as biomarkers for more accurate glioma classification [57]. Indeed, recent studies demonstrated that this

4





molecular-based classification is more diagnostically relevant than the traditional system, which contributed to the 2016 revision of the guidelines [50].

The resulting 2016 CNS WHO classification introduced the concept of "integrated diagnosis" (Figure 1.2) by incorporating both microscopic and molecular parameters in the glioma classification [56]. This resulted in more homogeneous glioma entities and increased diagnostic objectivity/accuracy,

ער איז דער	Histological tumor typing and grading	Astroc	ytic and oligoder WHO grade II ol	ndroglial glio ° grade III	mas			Astrocytic M	gliomas/g VHO grade	lioblastomas e IV	
	IDH status	Wildtype		Mut	ant			Wildtype		Mutant	
t	1p/19q status		non-code	leted	code	leted					
галага гала	Other molecular characteristics		 ATRX mutatic TP53 mutatic g-CIMP g-CIMP MGMTp met Trisomy 7 or LOH 17p 	n h 7q gain	$\begin{vmatrix} & TERTp \\ & TERTp \\ & CIC mutatii \\ & & CIC mutatii \\ & & & e^{CIMP} \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & $	ation on tation eth ation	 TERTp PTEN r PTEN r CDKNZ CDKNZ EGFR a EGFR a Trisom Monos 	mutation nutation A/B mutation mplifcation II rearrangemer Y 7 or 7q gain omy 10	t	 ATRX mutatio TP53 mutatioi g-CIMP g-CIMP MGMTp meth MGMTp meth Trisomy 7 or 7 LOH 17p LOH 17p 10q deletion 	n n r 7q gain
г зуег 1	Integrated diagnosis	Astrocytoma, IDH-wildtype WHO grade II or III	Astrocytoma, II WHO grade	0H-mutant II or III	Oligodendroglio and 1p/190 WHO gra	ma, IDH-mutant դ-codeleted de II or III	Glioblast	oma IDH-wildty 40 grade IV	ed	Glioblastoma IDH WHO grade	H-mutant e IV
	Age group	I	35 – 60	λ	40 -	. 60 y	Ψ	edian ≈ 62 y		median ≈ 4	14 y
	Location	1	Temporal lobe, ganglia and die	deep basal ncephalon	Frontal, oc parieta	ccipital and al lobes	Suprat	entorial region		Frontal lobe (pref	erentially)
	Median overall survival	I	≈ 5 – 1(γ	≈ 10	– 14 y		≈ 15 mo		≈ 31 mo	
		=	=	≡	=	≡	Age ≤ 70 y	Age > 70 y			
	Therapy	Watch MGMTp MGMTp & wait unmeth meth	Watch & wait		Watch & wait			<i>AGMT</i> p M Inmeth	1GMTp meth		
		RT TMZ/RT → TMZ	RT → PCV	RT → TMZ	RT → PCV, or [¬]	rMz/RT→ TMZ	TMZ/RT → TMZ	RT TMZ	1Z/RT→ Z, or TMZ	TMZ/RT→ 1	TMZ
2		of voluce for decourse often				ain atoms to a	عايدات تحط م	مالح ممينكال		, odt of weights	UIN 2100



4), culminating in the integrated diagnosis (layer 1). IDH-wildtype WHO grade II or III astrocytoma are considered an uncommon diagnosis in the 2016 WHO classification of CNS tumors Besides the histological characterization (typing and grading; layer 2 and 3), diffuse gliomas are molecularly characterized according to IDH mutations and 1p/19q co-deletion status (layer and should be avoided. LOH: Loss of Heterozygosity; meth: methylated; MGMTp: MGMT promoter; PCV: Procarbazine, Lomustine, and Vincristine; RT: Radiotherapy; TERTp: TERT promoter; TMZ: temozolomide; unmeth: unmethylated. which may ultimately lead to better patient management. Nowadays, the diagnosis of glioma is "layered", with the histologic classification as layer 2, WHO grading as layer 3, and molecular characterization as layer 4, culminating in an "integrated diagnosis" at layer 1 [56]. One caveat to this "workflow" is that the diagnosis will not necessarily proceed from layer 2 (histologic) to layer 4 (molecular), as the molecular characterization might superimpose the histological classification in the final "integrated diagnosis" [56]. This new classification led to a profound restructuration of many brain tumor categories (Figure 1.3), creating new entities/subgroups and eliminating others [50, 56]. Whenever molecular testing is unfeasible or inconclusive, either due to tissue availability limitation, low tumor content, or other circumstances impeding reliable molecular testing, the diagnosis should be performed using the histologic classification followed by the term "not otherwise specified (NOS)" [56].

The following paragraphs summarize the most important features of circumscribed and diffuse gliomas considering the 2016 CNS WHO classification, with a special emphasis on diffuse gliomas – the focus of this dissertation.

1.2.1. Circumscribed gliomas

Circumscribed gliomas, also known as non-diffuse gliomas, are slow-growing tumors with little infiltration of the adjacent brain parenchyma and may be found particularly in younger ages [50]. This category includes three main entities: <u>pilocytic astrocytoma</u>, <u>subependymal giant cell astrocytoma</u> and <u>pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma</u>.

The improvement in the molecular characterization of these tumors allowed the implementation of effective molecularly targeted therapies [58, 59]. For example, pilocytic astrocytoma (WHO grade I), the most common non-diffuse glioma, particularly incident in children and adolescent, lacks mutations in the *IDH1/2* (isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2; IDH refers to both isoforms) genes, but present mutations in the fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 (*FGFR1*) or in the neurotrophic receptor tyrosine kinase 2 (*NTRK2*) genes, or tandem duplications in a v-Raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B (*BRAF*) fusion gene [58]. Considering the impact of these genetic alterations in the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, pilocytic astrocytoma is considered a single pathway disease and the MAPK inhibitor selumetinib has been pointed as a potential targeted therapy [60-62].

Similarly, mutations in the tumor suppressor genes *TSC1* and *TSC2*, which affect the mTOR signaling, were described to be driven mutations of subependymal giant cell astrocytomas (WHO grade I; mostly diagnosed in the first two decades of life), against which everolimus, a mTOR inhibitor, has shown to be effective [63-68].

Finally, pleomorphic xanthoastrocytomas (WHO grade II) are the rarest and consequently less

7

WHO CNS 2007	WHO CNS 2016
 Diffuse astrocytoma Gemistocytic astrocytoma Fibrillary astrocytoma Protoplasmic astrocytoma 	 Diffuse astrocytoma, IDH-wildtype Diffuse astrocytoma, IDH-mutant Gemistocytic astrocytoma Diffuse astrocytoma, NOS
Anaplastic astrocytoma ———	 Anaplastic astrocytoma, IDH-wildtype Anaplastic astrocytoma, IDH-mutant Anaplastic astrocytoma, NOS
 Glioblastoma ■ Giant cell glioblastoma ■ Gliosarcoma 	 Diffuse astrocytoma, IDH-wildtype Giant cell glioblastoma Gliosarcoma Epithelioid glioblastoma Diffuse astrocytoma, NOS
- Gliomatosis cerebri	
Oligodendroglioma	 Oligodendroglioma, IDH-mutant & 1p/19q co-deleted Oligodendroglioma, NOS
 Anaplastic oligodendroglioma — 	 Anaplastic oligodendroglioma, IDH-mutant & 1p/19q co-deleted Anaplastic oligodendroglioma, NOS
Oligoastrocytoma	Oligoastrocytoma, NOS
🕆 Anaplastic oligoastrocytoma —	Anaplastic oligoastrocytoma, NOS
	+Subdivided/altered 🛛 Unaltered +Added - Removed

Figure 1.3. Alterations observed between the WHO classification of CNS tumors 2007 and 2016. Entities were subdivided/altered, others were unaltered or removed, and new entities were added. Oligoastrocytoma and anaplastic oligoastrocytoma are provisional entities in the 2016 classification. NOS: not otherwise specified.

characterized glioma entity, most often diagnosed in children and young adults. However, more than half of these tumors present activating BRAF^{V600E} mutations [58, 59, 69], which respond well to vemurafenib, a BRAF inhibitor [70, 71].

1.2.2. Diffuse gliomas

Diffuse gliomas are by far the most frequent primary brain tumors, especially in adults [3]. The nosological shift to the integrated diagnosis paradigm (combining molecular and histological characteristics; Figure 1.2) affected in many ways the classification of these tumors (Figure 1.3) [56]. While until then astrocytomas had been considered a group of tumors (encompassing both circumscribed and diffuse astrocytomas), ignoring the molecular and prognostic divergences between them, now, all diffusely infiltrating gliomas (independently of their phenotype, i.e. astrocytic or oligodendroglial) are grouped together [56]. This gathered gliomas with similar growth patterns, behaviors and genetic drivers (such as IDH mutations), which are genetically and prognostically similar, and consequently opened the possibility for the development of guided therapies and thus better patient management. This broad category includes therefore the <u>diffuse astrocytoma</u> (WHO grade II), <u>anaplastic astrocytoma</u> (WHO grade III), <u>diffuse oligodendrogliomas</u> (WHO grade II), <u>anaplastic oligodendrogliomas</u> (WHO grade III) and <u>glioblastoma</u> (GBM; WHO grade IV)³ [56].

³Note that, the diffuse midline glioma, H3 K27M-mutant, predominantly found in children, is also included in this category, but is beyond the scope of this dissertation.

In opposition to circumscribed gliomas, diffuse gliomas are histologically characterized by diffusely infiltrative growth along existing brain structures, including the brain parenchyma, with tumor cells invading individually or as cell aggregates forming a network throughout the neuropil [50]. This characteristic invasion is often accompanied by the so-called "Scherer's secondary structures" that are pathognomonic of diffuse gliomas and comprise the aggregation of tumor cells around neurons (perineuronal satellitosis), blood vessels, white matter tracts and under the pial membrane [50]. Furthermore, diffuse gliomas might invade along myelinated fiber tracts, commonly crossing the corpus callosum in direction to the contralateral hemisphere ("butterfly glioma" pattern) [50]. In addition, WHO grade II and III diffuse gliomas carry an inherent tendency for recurrence and malignant progression, and present recurrent point mutations in IDH1/2 [57]. These mutations are also present in GBMs originating from lower-grade tumors (secondary GBMs), which may constitute a potential initiating somatic aberration [57]. However, studies demonstrated that IDH mutation *per se* is not sufficient for the induction of tumor growth, suggesting that additional genetic hits are required for glioma development [72]. In the case of diffuse and anaplastic astrocytomas, mutations in TP53 and ATRX genes are required, while 1p/19q codeletion⁴ and *TERT* promoter mutation occur in oligodendroglial tumors [56, 73, 74]. Indeed, these genetic profiles are mutually exclusive and considered pathognomonic of astrocytic vs. oligodendroglial lineage tumors (Figure 1.2).

IDH-wildtype tumors histologically graded as WHO grade II and III are considered an uncommon diagnosis, and must only be performed if i) the immunohistochemistry (IHC) for the mutant R132H IDH1 protein, and ii) the sequencing of *IDH1* codon 132 and *IDH2* codon 172 gene mutations are both negative or if the latter alone is negative [56]. Care must be taken to avoid misdiagnosis. Since IDH-wildtype grade II and especially grade III diffuse gliomas show molecular characteristics of GBM and behave like them [73, 75], these cases might reflect underestimation of the histologically-based malignancy grade. In opposition, they might also be a result of malignancy overestimation, as a subset of these IDH-wildtype diffuse astrocytomas have been reported to be associated with better survival outcomes, and show molecular characteristics of grade I pilocytic astrocytoma or other low-grade gliomas [76]. In this context, additional molecular characterization of genetic aberrations associated with both IDH-wildtype GBM (e.g., *EGFR* amplification, loss of chromosome 10, etc.) or pilocytic astrocytoma (i.e. *BRAF* fusion gene) should be performed in initially diagnosed IDH-wildtype diffuse grade II or III, to discard the possibility of misdiagnosis [56, 57]. Because of this and the fact that it is believed that molecular analyses in the future

⁴Note that, 1p/19q co-deletion refers to whole-arm deletion of both chromosomes, typically caused by an unbalanced translocation [t(1;9)(q10;p10)]. Partial deletions on either chromosome are not sufficient to perform a diagnosis [145].

will lead to the reclassification of IDH-wildtype grades II/III diffuse gliomas in other entities, they are considered provisional entities in the new 2016 WHO CNS classification [56].

For all diffuse gliomas, whenever IDH testing is not available or incomplete (no sequencing data), the term NOS should be added to the histologic classification [56].

More details about each category of diffuse glioma can be found in the sections below.

1.2.2.1. Diffuse astrocytic and anaplastic astrocytic gliomas

Diffuse astrocytic (grade II) and anaplastic astrocytic (grade III) gliomas are divided in three categories: the IDH mutant (the great majority), the IDH-wildtype (very rare) and NOS [56]. These tumors occur predominantly in adults (peak incidence: 35 to 60 years) and are characterized by a rapid clinical progression with focal deficits, with a median overall survival of 5 to 10 years (for IDH-mutant tumors) [77, 78]. Regarding their localization in the brain, they are preferentially found on the temporal lobe, deep basal ganglia and diencephalon [78].

Histologically, astrocytic gliomas present nuclear irregularities and hyperchromasia, while, molecularly, IDH-mutant astrocytomas are defined by two additional mutations in *TP53* and *ATRX* (mutually exclusive to 1p19q co-deletion⁵) [50, 57, 78]. Both TP53 and ATRX mutations might be easily identified by IHC standard techniques. The mutation of ATRX, which presents an important role in chromatin remodeling and regulation of telomere length (more details in section 1.3.4), leads to the loss of its nuclear expression [57, 78].

Histological examination remains the gold-standard technique for glioma grading (Figure 1.4) and includes the assessment of the mitotic activity, MVP, and necrosis [50, 79]. WHO grade II astrocytomas present none of these features. However, grade III are the ones presenting increased mitotic activity (without a specific cut-off, \geq 3 mitoses per 10-high-power-fields is sufficient). The additional presence of MVP and/or necrosis automatically confers the diagnosis of glioblastoma [50, 79]. However, some genetic alterations were already associated with the progression from grade II to grade III/IV astrocytoma. These genetic alterations include *CDKN2A* and *ARF* deletion (due to 9p21 deletion), *CDKN2B* deletion (due to 19q deletion), and MYC and RTK/RAS/PI3K pathways activation, among others [57, 63]. Although recent studies suggested that the prognostic differences between astrocytomas grade II and III are not as significant as historically reported [80-83], for now, the WHO grading system was retained in the new 2016 classification.

The fibrillary astrocytoma and protoplasmic astrocytoma entities were removed from the 2016

⁵Note that, in some cases, ATRX mutation assessment (through IHC) is being used rather than 1p/19q co-deletion assessment (that needs more sophisticated techniques) to distinguish astrocytic vs. oligodendroglial lesions.

		Grade II	Grade III	Grade IV
Astrocytic	Mitotic activity	Absence	Increased (without specific cut-off; ≥3 mitoses ^a)	Increased
	MVP	Absence	Absence	ح Prominent (or even "glomeruloid")
	Necrosis	Absence	Absence	Presence (pseudopalisading necrosis)
Oligodendroglial	Mitotic activity	Absence	≥6 mitosesª	\sim /
	MVP	Absence	Absence/Presence	X
	Necrosis	Absence	Absence/Presence ^b	

Figure 1.4. WHO grading system for diffuse gliomas.

Histological examination remains the gold-standard technique for glioma grading and includes the assessment of the mitotic activity, microvascular proliferation (MVP) and necrosis. ^a in 10-high-power-field; ^b in the 2007 classification, oligodendroglial tumors with necrosis were classified as GBM with oligodendroglial component (GBM-O). Now GBM-O cases would be converted in GBM, IDH-wildtype; GBM, IDH-mutant; or anaplastic oligodendroglioma, IDH-mutant, 1p/19q co-deleted.

classification for their lack of clinical relevance (Figure 1.3). Gliomatosis cerebri, until now defined by its extreme infiltrative growth pattern (involving at least three cerebral lobes), is also no longer a distinct entity in the new classification, rather being considered a growth pattern found in all diffuse gliomas subtypes (Figure 1.3) [56].

The single variant of diffuse astrocytic tumors maintained in the 2016 WHO CNS tumor classification is the gemistocytic astrocytoma (Figure 1.3). As the name implies, these tumors are characterized by significant gemistocytic astrocytic cells (> 20% of cells with abundant eccentrically placed cytoplasm). These tumors are also characterized by a rapid malignant progression and present perivascular lymphocytic infiltrates [50, 56].

1.2.2.2. Oligodendroglial and anaplastic oligodendroglial gliomas

As for astrocytic tumors, based on the 2016 WHO classification, oligodendroglioma (grade II) and anaplastic oligodendroglioma (grade III) are divided in three categories: the IDH-mutant (the great majority), the IDH-wildtype (very rare) and NOS [56]. Tumors from the oligodendroglial lineage occur predominantly in adults (peak incidence: 40 to 60 years) and are characterized by an indolent growth pattern, seizures, an improved prognosis (compared to astrocytic tumors of the same grade) and sensitivity to both radio- and chemotherapy [84-87]. Grade II oligodendrogliomas are more common in younger patients, as the case of all IDH-mutant grade II and III diffuse gliomas (independently of the 1p/19q co-deletion) [77]. While the median overall survival of oligodendrogliomas may be higher than 10 years, they are almost invariably fatal and should not be considered benign [77].

Although they may arise throughout the CNS, oligodendrogliomas appear mostly in the white matter of cerebral hemispheres with predominance in the frontal, occipital and parietal lobes. At the

recurrence, leptomeningeal spread may occur, but extra-CNS metastases are very rare. However, in contrast to astrocytoma, areas of remarkably sharp borders with surrounding brain tissue can often be found [77].

Histologically, grade II oligodendrogliomas present uniformly round to oval cells, with round nuclei, which are uniform and present a crisp nuclear membrane, delicate chromatin, and small to inconspicuous nucleoli. In more anaplastic (grade III) tumors, they also present an increased cell size and pleomorphism with a more i) prominent nucleoli, ii) vesicular chromatin pattern, and iii) epitheloid features [77].

Molecularly, and as aforementioned, oligodendrogliomas are defined by IDH mutation (present in 90% of the cases) in combination to 1p/19q co-deletion (considered pathognomonic of the oligodendroglial lineage in the new classification). However, *TERT* promoter activating mutations (in hot spot regions: C228T and C250T) are present in more than 95% of these tumors. Other common but not defining genetic alterations are the mutation in *CIC* (on 19q13.2; leading to the inactivation of a transcriptional repressor; in 50–70% of the cases) and *FUBP1* (on 1p31.1; up-regulating *MYC* expression; in 30% of the cases; Figure 1.2) [77].

In the past, diffuse gliomas that histologically appeared as both astrocytic and oligodendroglial were classified as mixed gliomas or oligoastrocytomas [54]. However, with the use of molecular analyses, most of the mixed gliomas have shown to present pathognomonic features of either astrocytoma or oligodendroglioma [56]. Therefore, in the 2016 version of the WHO CNS classification, diagnoses of oligoastrocytoma and anaplastic oligoastrocytoma are discouraged, with the molecular information superimposing the histological classification (i.e. tumors histologically resembling oligodendroglial but with no 1p/19q co-deletion, are classified as an astrocytic glioma) [56]. Whenever molecular analyses are not possible or are inconclusive, histologically "mixed" tumors might be diagnosed as oligoastrocytoma, NOS [56].

The WHO grading of oligodendroglial and mixed tumors is assessed using the same histologic features of astrocytic tumors but with some discrepancies (Figure 1.4). As for astrocytic tumors, grade II oligodendroglial and mixed tumors are the ones without any of these histologic features. However, grade III is only classified when mitotic activity is present in \geq 6 cells per 10 high-power fields (rather than the \geq 3 mitoses for anaplastic astrocytoma) [56, 77]. Moreover, contrarily to diffuse astrocytic tumors, in the new classification, pure oligodendroglial tumors remain grade III lesions even if they present MVP and/or necrosis [56]. In the past, oligodendroglial tumors presenting necrosis were preferentially diagnosed as glioblastoma with oligodendroglial component (GBM-O) [54]. However, following the WHO 2016

12

guidelines, and upon molecular studies, such tumors would be rather classified as GBM, IDH-wildtype or IDH-mutant, or anaplastic oligodendroglioma, IDH-mutant, 1p19q co-deleted [56]. Note that, following this new classification, grade II oligodendrogliomas may progress to grade III oligodendrogliomas, but never to grade IV glioblastoma, which seems to always derive from an astrocytic precursor (Figure 1.4) [56].

1.2.2.3. Glioblastoma

GBMs correspond to more than half of all malignant brain tumors and to 58% of all gliomas, being the most common and malignant form of glioma [5]. Although the annual incidence rate is relatively low when compared to cancers from other primary sites, they are deadly tumors with low percentages of 1 to 10-years survival rates (Figure 1.5 and Figure 1.6) [3]. As for brain tumors in general, males are more affected by GBM than females (1.6:1), and whites more than blacks (2:1) [5]. Moreover, hereditary cancer syndromes are most likely not associated with GBM, as only a small subset (1%) may be explained by heredity, including neurofibromatosis types 1 and 2, Turcot and Li-Fraumeni syndromes [5].

As previously mentioned, GBM may be classified in IDH-mutant (in this case, the rarest type), IDH-wildtype (the most common; 90% of all GBM), and NOS [56]. However, the classification of these tumors remains histologically based rather than molecular. Indeed, GBM are the tumors with astrocytic phenotype, featuring nuclear atypia, MVP and necrosis, consequently designated as grade IV gliomas by histologic analyses (Figure 1.4) [56].

<u>IDH-wildtype GBMs</u> preferentially occur in elderly patients (median age at the diagnosis: 62 years), are localized in the supratentorial region⁶, and correspond to primary GBM that develop *de novo* (i.e. with a short clinical history – less than 3 months before diagnosis – and without a pre-existing lowergrade precursor lesion) [56, 57]. They are associated with copy number gains on chromosome 7, monosomy of the chromosome 10, *EGFR* amplification, and mutations in *PTEN*, *TERT*, *CDKN2A* and *CDKN2B* genes. As in grade II and III diffuse gliomas, *TERT* promoter mutation is mutually exclusive to *ATRX* mutation, which are common in IDH-mutant GBM (Figure 1.2) [56].

<u>IDH-mutant GBMs</u> typically occur in younger adults (median age at the diagnosis: 44 years), are preferentially localized in the frontal lobe, and include the majority of secondary GBM (the ones that develop from a pre-existing diffuse or anaplastic astrocytoma) [56, 57]. Consequently, these tumors present a molecular profile similar to IDH-mutant astrocytomas, including copy number gains on chromosome 7, loss of heterozygosity of the 17p arm, *TP53* and *ATRX* mutations, and g-CIMP phenotype

⁶The supratentorial region of the brain is the area located above the tentorium cerebelli, i.e. the cerebrum. The cerebrum is a large part of the brain containing the cerebral cortex (frontal, parietal, temporal, and occipital lobes), as well as several subcortical structures, including the hippocampus, basal ganglia, and olfactory bulb.



Figure 1.5. Glioblastoma one to ten years relative survival rate per age ranges. Source: Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States (CBTRUS; *www.cbtrus.org/*)



Figure 1.6. Five-years relative survival rates for several cancers. Source: SEER Cancer Statistics Review 1975-2015, through the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results program by National Cancer Institute (*https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2015/*); and CBTRUS (*www.cbtrus.org/*)

[56, 57]. Note that, not all IDH-mutant GBM present a history of a pre-existing lower-grade lesion, while progression from IDH-wildtype gliomas (e.g., IDH-wildtype anaplastic astrocytoma or pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma) to secondary GBM may also occur (Figure 1.2) [56].

The division of IDH-wildtype and IDH-mutant GBM was one of the most important improvements of the new classification. Although they cannot be discriminated under the microscope, they are not only biologically distinct but also associated with completely different clinical features, including prognosis, age at onset, among others. Indeed, the survival of patients with IDH-mutant GBM may be equal to or even better than the survival of IDH-wildtype anaplastic astrocytoma (grade III) [88].

In GBM patients older than 55 years, IDH1 R132H IHC is sufficient to discriminate between IDHwildtype and IDH-mutant, while in younger patients and in patients with clinical evidence of a pre-existing less malignant lesion, IDH sequencing should be performed when the IHC result is negative [56].

GBM tumors are highly infiltrative, with a great percentage of them in adults (approximately 50%) infiltrating more than one lobe and a low percentage (5%) growing multifocally [89]. Although rare, in the late stages of the disease, leptomeningeal dissemination may occur [90]. Many years ago, when GBM IDH-wildtype and IDH-mutant were considered as a single GBM entity, a study demonstrated that patients with frontal lobe GBM survived longer (11.4 months) when compared to patients with temporal or parietal lobe GBM (9.1 and 9.6 months, respectively) [91]. However, this might be related to the fact that IDH-mutant GBM, which are associated with a more favorable prognosis (IDH mutation, higher rates of gross total resection and younger ages), preferentially occur in the frontal lobe [92-94].

Personality changes and mood disorders are frequent in patients with frontal-lobe tumors, but these symptoms are frequently mistakenly associated with psychogenic disorders or as part of the normal aging process, delaying the diagnosis. In brain tumors, their location is undoubtedly critical for the type of first presenting symptoms [95]. Although headache is the first symptom associated with brain tumor (present in 64% of the patients), a low percentage of patients (8%) present headache as the only symptom [95]. Epilepsy is one of the main presenting symptoms in GBM patients occurring in 24 to 68% of the patients at the time of diagnosis and developing later in 19 to 38% of the others [95]. However, epilepsy is mainly characteristic of slow growing tumors [96], as lower-grade gliomas. Sensorimotor deficits are the next most frequently presenting symptom (occur in 20% of the cases), and a minority (5%) present aphasia derived from tumors affecting the speech-dominant hemisphere (left side) [95].

Giant-cell glioblastoma and gliosarcoma are histologic variants of IDH-wildtype GBM (Figure 1.3) [56]. The first one represents only 1% of all GBM, occurs in younger adults (median age at diagnosis: 51 years) and is characterized by large cells (> 500 µm of diameter) with multiple nucleus and presenting lymphocytic infiltration [97]. In its turn, gliosarcoma represents only 2% of all GBM, and is characterized by both malignant glial and sarcomatous elements (i.e. shows signs of fibroblastic, cartilaginous, osseous, smooth and striated muscle, or adipose cell lineage). These tumors occur preferentially in the temporal lobe, with patients having an age at diagnosis and a clinical outcome similar to other GBM, IDH-wildtype tumors [98]. However, contrarily to other GBM, gliosarcoma tumors may spread into the body (e.g., to lungs, liver and lymph nodes), although the phenomenon is still rare [99].

In the context of GBM, the variant epithelioid GBM was provisionally introduced in the new

classification under the GBM, IDH-wildtype arm (Figure 1.3) [56]. This variant is characterized by large epithelioid cells with abundant eosinophilic cytoplasm, vesicular chromatin, and prominent nucleoli. Moreover, they present the BRAF^{V600E} mutation (in 50% of the cases) and occur frequently in children and young adults [56, 97].

Notwithstanding being invariably fatal, the standard treatment (described below) is able to temporarily keep stable or even improve the quality of life and the cognitive function of GBM patients, even in most impaired patients (i.e. the elderly) [100-103]. However, as soon as the first-line treatment fails, patients experience a severe impact on their quality of life [100-103].

1.2.2.4. Current Therapy

Despite the recent advances in the characterization of the genetic and epigenetic profile of diffuse gliomas, which culminated in the molecularly based 2016 WHO CNS tumor classification, molecularly targeted therapies have, to date, failed in phase III clinical trials in patients with gliomas [63]. Throughout decades, several studies focused on comparing treatment options for diffuse glioma. However, in the case of grade II and III diffuse glioma, which may present survivals above 10 years, the results obtained now are from trials started decades ago. Therefore, the gold-standard therapy for the majority of diffuse glioma remains the classic treatment regimen of surgery, radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy (with "old" drugs), which is still inadequate [63].

When applied, gross total resection in all diffuse gliomas is associated with improved survival of patients, independently of grade or patient age [104, 105]. However, due to their invasive phenotype, diffuse gliomas almost invariably recur after resection, requiring additional treatment to prolong the patient's survival [63]. The treatment and timing of treatment applied to each patient depends on patient age, clinical performance status, tumor entity, and molecular biomarkers [63].

Similar to the surgery, postsurgical radiotherapy showed to be beneficial in diffuse gliomas of any grade, when compared to surgery alone [106]. However, some studies clearly showed that radiotherapy leads to patients' progressive cognitive decline [107]. In this sense, in the setting of WHO grade II diffuse gliomas and for patients aged under 40 with favorable prognostic features, delayed radiotherapy until radiologic progression is used – the "watch and wait" procedure – as it was reported that this does not compromise the overall survival of the patients (Figure 1.2) [108-110].

Regarding chemotherapy, 1p/19q co-deletion (i.e. in oligodendroglial tumors) was predictive of long-term benefit from PCV polychemotherapy (procarbazine, lomustine, and vincristine) [63]. However, some tumors lacking 1p/19q co-deletion also responded well to PCV treatment, being unknown if this benefit is linked to IDH mutation or *MGMT* promoter methylation [63]. Based on three large trials showing

improved outcome if PCV is added to radiotherapy, the standard of care of grade III 1p/19q co-deleted patients and grade II IDH-mutant requiring post-operative treatment is now radiotherapy with adjuvant PCV (Figure 1.2) [63]. Due to the high toxicity observed in patients treated with PCV, some trials tested the substitution of PCV by temozolomide (TMZ), a better tolerated and easier to administrate agent. Preliminary data showed good results in patients with grade III gliomas 1p/19q non-co-deleted [63].

From all diffuse gliomas, GBMs present the best-defined standard of care (Figure 1.2), consisting of postoperative radiotherapy (60 Gy in 30 fractions) with concomitant daily TMZ, followed by 6 cycles of adjuvant TMZ – "the Stupp protocol" [111]. However, concomitant and adjuvant TMZ only improves the survival of GBM patients from \approx 12 months (10% of 2-year survival) to \approx 15 months (26% of 2-year survival), as assessed in patients aged under 70 years [111]. For patients over 70 years, characterized by a poorer prognosis, shorter radiotherapy regimens, as well as TMZ administration based on the *MGMT* promoter methylation, showed increased efficacy [63]. Thus, patients with *MGMT* promoter unmethylated with an IDH-wildtype GBM (if aged over 70 years) or an IDH-wildtype grade II/III tumor might be dispensed from TMZ treatment (Figure 1.2).

1.3. Molecular prognostic factors of glioma

Despite the advances in the understanding of these extremely heterogeneous tumors, a question of paramount importance remains: how can the GBM treatment be optimized for the benefit of individual patients?

Since most of GBM patients are unresponsive to the current standard of care, the identification of these patients is of paramount importance in order to keep them away from deleterious, expensive and innefective therapies, and which will eventually allow to redirect them to alternative therapies for which they might present a better response.

As discussed before, in 2016, new diagnostic biomarkers were included in the WHO classification of gliomas; the next sections will briefly describe their role in glioma, as well as the roles of one class of promissing putative molecular markers (HOX genes).

1.3.1. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations

The identification of IDH mutations' role in glioma significantly impacted the new WHO CNS tumors classification, as discussed above. These mutations were identified 10 years ago by Parsons *et al.* in a small cohort of GBM and were associated with patients' survival differences [112]. These observations were further validated in a large cohort [113, 114] and in subsequent retrospective studies [115]. Approximately 30% of all gliomas present IDH mutations in the enzymatic active site, which are

more common in WHO grade II and III gliomas (60 – 90%) than in GBM (5 – 10%) [114, 116]. Most of them concern the *IDH1* gene (its protein is found at the cytoplasm and peroxisomes) or, less commonly (4 – 5% of the cases), the *IDH2* gene (codify to a mitochondrial enzyme), which are mutually exclusive [57, 117]. Virtually all *IDH1* mutations (>90%) occur in the codon 132 (c.395G>A; p.R132H)⁷, while *IDH2* mutations occur in its analogue residue in the codon 172 (almost 60% of the times, this mutation corresponds to a c.515G>A; p.R172K⁸) [118]. These mutations occur early in the tumorigenic process, and are somatic and hemizygous preserving one copy of wildtype [119, 120]. In daily practice, IDH1 R132H mutation can be reliably detected by IHC. However, 10% of IDH mutations are missed [121, 122]. Indeed, sequencing to detect other *IDH1* and *IDH2* mutations is recommended for WHO grade II and III, and for young adult GBM patients with negative IDH1 R132H IHC [56].

In a normal physiologic condition, IDH enzymes catalyze the oxidative decarboxylation of isocitrate, producing α -ketoglutarate and CO₂, and resulting in the reduction of NADP⁺ to NADPH (Figure 1.7) [123]. However, the mutant IDH enzyme presents an altered product affinity catalyzing the reduction of α -ketoglutarate to R(-)-2-hydroxyglutarate and using NADPH as cofactor. In this context, IDH-mutant gliomas present increased levels of R(-)-2-hydroxyglutarate and decreased levels of NADPH (Figure 1.7). While the latter predisposes cells to oxidative stress [123], R(-)-2-hydroxyglutarate accumulation contributes to tumorigenesis [124]. This potential role in the tumorigenesis might be due to its competitive inhibition of α -ketoglutarate-dependent dioxygenases activity, including histone demethylases and the teneleven translocation (TET) family of 5-methylcytosine hydroxylases [125]. Consequently, increased





⁷The substitution in *IDH1* gene of a G to a A nucleotide at position 395 is responsible for the missense R132H mutation, which corresponds to the amino acid substitution at position 132, from an arginine (R) to a histidine (H) [118]. ⁸Other possible mutations are p.R132C, p.R132G, p.R132S and p.R132L [118].

histone methylation and hypermethylation of multiple CpG islands in the DNA (referred as glioma CpG island methylator phenotype – g-CIMP), which includes the *MGMT* gene promoter, is an epigenetic characteristic of IDH-mutant gliomas. Another described hypothesis is that the reduction of α -ketoglutarate in the cells may increase HIF-1 α levels resulting in the activation of hypoxia-response element genes, which are described to have a role in angiogenesis, proliferation and motility [126, 127].

Although i) IDH-mutant gliomas present an improved outcome when compared to IDH-wildtype gliomas of the same histological grade; ii) no major prognostic differences were observed between IDH-mutant grade II and III gliomas [82]; and iii) IDH-wildtype grade II and III gliomas can be as aggressive as IDH-wildtype GBM and have a prognosis similar to these grade IV gliomas [128], the WHO histological grading scheme was maintained in the revision of the WHO CNS tumors classification. In addition to the prognostic significance of IDH mutations, they presented a predictive role for therapy. Indeed, IDH-mutant grade II and III gliomas have a better response to chemotherapy or the combination of chemo- and radiotherapy when compared to radiotherapy alone, than IDH-wildtype ones [86, 129]. Moreover, IDH mutant proteins might be used as therapeutic targets. Indeed, several molecules targeting them have been developed and showed potential therapeutic effects in glioma [124, 130-138].

1.3.2. 1p/19q co-deletion

1p/19q co-deletion in glioma presents not only a diagnostic value, but also a prognostic and predictive one⁹ [139].

This loss of heterozygosity (LOH) on the short arm of chromosome 1 (1p) and the long arm of chromosome 19 (19q) was described, for the first time, in 1998, to be present in 90% of oligodendrogliomas and 50–70% of anaplastic oligodendrogliomas [140-142]. Now, in the new classification, 1p/19q co-deletion was considered pathognomonic of the oligodendroglial lineage, and this diagnosis can only be performed in the presence of this LOH. Tumors presenting 1p/19q co-deletion commonly harbor additional activating mutations in the promoter region of *TERT*. In contrast, 1p/19q co-deletion and mutations in *ATRX* and *TP53* genes are mutually exclusive [56].

Mechanistically, the combined loss of the 1p and 19q arm (Figure 1.8) is the result of a still poorly understood balanced translocation [t(1;19)(q10;p10)] with the breakpoint around the centromere [143-145]. Briefly, this results in a chromosome derivative by the fusion of the 1p and 19q arms [t/1;19)] at the centromere (q10;p10). Usually, translocations in cancer occur in a gene-specific breakpoint

⁹Note that only whole-arm co-deletion presents predictive value. Partial deletions on either 1p or 19q chromosome arm are associated with poor patient outcome [139].



Figure 1.8. Chromosomal translocations leading to 1p/19q co-deletion. (A) Normal cells contain 2 copies of chromosomes 1 and 19. (B) Unbalanced translocation leads to a transposition at the centromere level of 19q to 1p (shaded) and its subsequent loss (C), and of the formation of a derivative chromosome consisting of 1q and 19p. Reproduced with permission from Brandner and Deimling (2015) [145].

producing fusion gene products. However, this breakpoint occurs in a gene-poor centromeric region and is constantly associated with co-deletion [143, 144]. A recent study performed whole exome sequencing of oligodendrogliomas and identified inactivating mutations of the *CIC* gene (homologue of the Drosophila gene capicua) present at the 19q arm and of the *FUBP1* gene (far-upstream element binding protein 1) present at the 1p arm, in 60 and 30% of the cases, respectively [146, 147]. However, these frequencies are lower than expected to justify the complete 1p/19q co-deletion and are unlikely to be the primary target of this LOH.

The prognosis of 1p/19q co-deleted glioma patients (oligodendroglial lineage) is more favorable than the ones from the astrocytic lineage. Moreover, the progression from an oligodendroglioma to GBM is unlikely to occur (Figure 1.4) [63].

The predictive value of 1p/19q co-deletion (already discussed in section 1.2.2.4) is associated with the observed benefit of patients with anaplastic oligodendroglioma to the addition of PCV chemotherapy to radiotherapy alone in two phase III trials [142, 148]. These results were further validated in multiple studies [149-151]. Although at the time of these trials less toxic regimens were preferred, these results re-defined PCV as the standard of care for tumors from the oligodendroglial lineage (Figure 1.2). However, the mechanisms underlying this favorable outcome are still poorly understood [63].

In clinical routine, 1p/19q co-deletion is most commonly assessed by fluorescent in situ

hybridization (FISH) and microsatellite analysis for LOH. As FISH allows to preserve the tissue architecture, it is the preferred technique by neuropathologists [57].

1.3.3. MGMT promoter methylation

MGMT (0-6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase) promoter methylation is one of the glioma biomarkers with prognostic and predictive application, but with no diagnostic value. A significant number of GBM (40–70%) display *MGMT* promoter methylation [152-155], being it also frequent in anaplastic gliomas (50–80%) [156, 157].

MGMT is a DNA repair protein, which counteracts the DNA damage induced by alkylating agents, such as TMZ¹⁰ [158, 159]. In this sense, *MGMT* transcriptional silencing, due to the methylation of the *MGMT*-associated 5'-CpG island (at the promoter), results in the sensitivity to alkylating chemotherapeutic agents [159].

Briefly, the MGMT protein acts by removing the alkyl group from the guanine O⁶ position, a target site of DNA alkylation by alkylating chemotherapies. In this process, the MGMT protein is consumed by the transference of the alkyl group to itself, which leads to its proteasomal degradation, with cells needing to be continuously restoring it. Therefore, MGMT expression levels directly correlate with the repair capacity of the cells [159].

When unrepaired, chemotherapy-induced lesions, like O⁶-methylguanine, sensitize the cells to radiation and may alone trigger cell apoptosis [160]. Therefore, from its first description, *MGMT* promoter methylation rapidly became one of the most interesting and studied biomarker in neuro-oncology [159]. The interest in this biomarker considerably increased after the phase III clinical trial publication from Hegi *et al.* associating *MGMT* promoter methylation to longer overall survival in GBM patients, independently of the treatment [161]. Moreover, among patients with *MGMT* promoter methylated tumors, a survival benefit was observed for those treated with TMZ and radiotherapy when compared to those that received radiotherapy alone. These results were further validated in elderly GBM patients (> 65 years), which led to the inclusion of *MGMT* promoter methylation status as a decision-guide for therapy selection in these patients (Figure 1.2) [116, 159, 162]. However, this observed differential benefit might be restricted to IDH-wildtype gliomas, as in IDH-mutant and g-CIMP gliomas, which already present a better response to therapy, *MGMT* promoter methylation is not able to predict treatment response [163]. Since alterations

¹⁰TMZ mechanism of action consists in DNA alkylation/methylation, most often at the O⁶ and N⁷ sites on guanine and N³ site on adenine. O⁶-Methylguanine production leads to the insertion of a thymine base instead of cytosine during the cellular replication, which is recognized by mismatch repair (MMR) enzymes. The action of the MMR cause DNA single-strand breaks, which are converted to double-strand breaks and ultimately lead to the failure of DNA replication and cell death [158, 159].

in *MGMT* promoter methylation status at recurrence have not been observed and its status maintains the predictive role for TMZ response, patients with recurrent GBM and prolonged progression-free survival, whose first-line treatment consisted in radiochemotherapy, might be re-challenged with TMZ [164, 165].

MGMT methylation status might be evaluated through i) methylation-specific PCR (MSP); ii) pyrosequencing; or iii) array-based DNA methylation approaches. The first two techniques need sodium bisulfite-modified DNA but are the most commonly used ones given their simplicity and cost-efficiency [159]. Despite its clinical significance, *MGMT* promoter methylation status definition is still challenging. In fact, the thresholds for selecting *MGMT* promoter methylated tumors are difficult to define and the absence of a standardized testing method render its assessment prone to variability [159].

1.3.4. ATRX mutation

ATRX (α -thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked) codify to a central component of chromatin remodeling complex, important in DNA replication, telomere stability and gene transcription. This enzyme is involved with the telomerase-independent alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) mechanism, by which most gliomas undergo telomere repair [166, 167]. Since it is present on the X chromosome, a single inactivating mutation (at the active allele in the case of females) is sufficient for the loss of ATRX function [168, 169]. *ATRX* mutations were only recently described in pediatric and adult GBMs [170]. These mutations occur in 70–90% of IDH-mutant astrocytic gliomas (without 1p/19q codeletion) and result in telomere lengthening and probably genetic instability. In opposition to IDH mutations, *ATRX* mutations do not have hot spot regions, may be either truncating or missense, may be subclonal, may present different type of mutations within the tumor, and may be different between the original tumor and the recurrence [168]. In most cases, *ATRX*, IDH and *TP53* mutations occur simultaneously in the tumor. In contrast, they are mutually exclusive with *TERT* promoter mutations and 1p/19q co-deletion. In IDH-mutant astrocytic gliomas, *ATRX* mutation is associated with improved progression-free and overall survival [171, 172].

Since *ATRX* mutations can be easily assessed by IHC (loss of ATRX staining – normally present in all cells) or by sequencing, its assessment might be used instead of 1p/19q co-deletion to help in the diagnosis of astrocytic vs. oligodendroglial lesions [173]. However, further studies are required to make sure that this substitution is valid. For now, the WHO 2016 CNS tumor classification explicitly does not accept ATRX IHC as an alternative to diagnose 1p/19q co-deleted oligodendrogliomas [56].

1.3.5. HOX genes

HOX genes are part of the homeobox family, which encodes transcription factors crucial in both

embryo development and post-development regulation [174-179]. In humans, there are 39 HOX genes, which are divided into four clusters (HOXA to HOXD) localized in chromosome 7, 17, 12 and 2, respectively [174]. HOX genes, which may present tumor suppressive or oncogenic functions, are frequently altered in cancer, including breast [180-182], brain [183-188], lung [189, 190], colon [191], cervix [192], bladder [193, 194], kidney [195], and leukemia [196-200]. Abdel-Fattah et al. [186] were the first reporting the aberrant expression of HOX genes in gliomas. In 2008, Murat et al. [185] suggested a HOX-dominated gene cluster as an independent predictive factor of therapy resistance in GBM. In 2010, our group described that a subset of GBM patients present an aberrant expression of HOXA genes when compared to less malignant gliomas or normal brain tissues [183]. Moreover, the PI3K pathway was identified as the HOXA genes upstream regulatory mechanism [183]. Among them, HOXA9 emerged as the only one whose expression was associated with GBM patients' poor prognosis, independently of other well-known prognostic factors, including *MGMT* promoter methylation [183]. Indeed, in patients with MGMT promoter methylation (associated with better prognosis, as detailed acima), HOXA9 was still able to identify a subset of patients with poor prognosis [183]. More recently, we validated the prognostic value of HOXA9 in GBM and showed that functionally it leads to increased GBM cell viability, invasion, stemness and resistance to TMZ, and decreased cell death [201]. In vivo, we demonstrated that HOXA9 leads to mice shorter survival [201]. Interestingly, when overexpressed in non-tumorigenic human immortalized astrocytes, we showed that HOXA9 contributes to tumor initiation and causes mice death [201].

Taking this into account, HOXA9 is a promising putative molecular marker in glioma, for which further studies are warranted.

1.4. Oncogenic pathways in glioblastoma

As explained in section 1.2, advances in the (epi)genetics characterization of diffuse gliomas resulted in the 2016 WHO CNS tumor classification, an improvement over the previous one (2007 WHO classification). Notwithstanding, current therapies for diffuse gliomas are still palliative, and the patients sooner or later unfortunately succumb to the disease [111]. In this context, the better understanding of the molecular oncogenic events underlying the disease is still crucial, as it may lead to the identification of new diagnostic and/or prognostic biomarkers, or even to the identification of new targeted therapies.

In gliomas, there are three major signaling pathways frequently altered: the RB, p53 and RTK/RAS/PI3K pathways [202], which will be explored below.

1.4.1. RB pathway

The RB (retinoblastoma) pathway, a negative regulator of the cell cycle, is commonly aberrantly

23

inactivated in gliomas [203], specifically in 78% of GBM tumors. Indeed, alterations in several components of this pathway were detected. While *RB* mutation or deletion were observed in a small percentage of GBM, *RB* promoter methylation was observed in a larger extent and was more common in IDH-mutant GBM when compared to IDH-wildtype ones. Moreover, inactivating mutations of its upstream negative regulator (*CDKN2A* in 52%, *CDKN2B* in 47%, or *CDKN2C* in only 2% of the cases), or activating mutations in the downstream positive regulators (*CDK4* in 18%, *CDK6* in 1% and *CCND2* in 2% of the cases) are also commonly found [204, 205]. These alterations have been associated with decreased survival of patients with anaplastic astrocytoma [206]. On the other hand, p16 (codified by *CDKN2A* gene) was associated with increased survival of patients treated with chemoradiotherapy [207].

Nonetheless, the prognostic value of RB pathway alterations is considered to be borderline [208].

1.4.2. p53 pathway

The p53 pathway presents a major role in several cellular processes, such as cell cycle regulation, apoptosis, differentiation, and DNA damage response [209]. In this sense, it is not surprising that p53 pathway alterations are implicated in almost every cancer, including glioma. Indeed, p53, the "guardian of the genome", is one of the most well-established tumor suppressor protein [209]. Similar to the RB pathway, the observed alterations might be found directly in p53 (deletions), in upstream negative regulators (*MDM2* in 14%, *MDM4* in 7% and *p14* in 49% of the cases) or in downstream regulators (*ATM* and *ATR*) [205, 210-212]. Alterations in the p53 pathway directly due to p53 mutation are present in 27% of IDH-wildtype and 81% of IDH-mutant GBM tumors [56]. Moreover, they are also found in lower-grade gliomas (1p/19q non-co-deleted) and are associated with progression to higher grades [213-215]. Consequently, besides the absence of a predictive value for treatment, and despite being associated mostly with astrocytic tumors (1p/19q non-co-deleted), p53 lacks diagnostic specificity. However, due to its tumor suppressive role, p53 is marginally associated with increased patient survival [216].

1.4.3. RTK/RAS/PI3K pathway

Between the RB, p53 and RTK/RAS/PI3K pathways, the latter is considered one of the most suitable pathways for pharmacological intervention, because it is easier to inhibit activation events than to replace lost tumor-suppressive functions (as in the RB and p53 pathways) [217]. The RTK/RAS/PI3K pathway is altered in 88% of malignant gliomas [218]. RTKs are a broad family of receptor tyrosine kinases, which includes the EGFR, PDGFR, VEGFR, FGFR, among other subfamilies [219]. The RAS and PI3K pathways are downstream effectors of RTKs. PI3K alone has over 40 downstream targets [219]. Thus, there is a vast number of components of the RTK/RAS/PI3K pathway and, consequently, an

increased opportunity of alterations. In this sense, alterations in several components are typically observed, being the most frequent: *EGFR* amplifications (in 45% of GBMs), PI3K gain of function (in 15%), and *PTEN* loss (in 36%; most common in IDH-wildtype GBM) [218, 220]. Beside its prognostic value, PTEN expression may sensitize the tumors to chemoradiotherapy [221], and is predictive of the response to EGFR inhibitors [222]. Indeed, a huge number of EGFR inhibitors were created and already tested in clinical trials [220]. However, despite the promising results *in vitro*, none of them showed satisfactory results for the treatment of GBM patients, contrarily to the observed in other cancers [223-230]. Monoclonal antibodies against EGFR constitutively active mutant variant (EGFRvIII; present in 50% of *EGFR* amplified GBM) are also being explored for GBM treatment and have led to an improved survival of some patients [231-235]. Moreover, inhibitors of the PI3K pathway started to be created and are being tested in preclinical and phase II studies [236, 237]. Several inhibitors of PDGFR, an activator of the RAS/RAF/MAPK pathway, which is also altered in gliomas [238, 239], have also been introduced in clinical trials, but none of them demonstrated significant effect in the context of glioma treatment [240-247].

1.5. The WNT pathway: overview

Recent breakthroughs in the cancer stem cell field redirected our attention from the RB, p53 and RTK/RAS/PI3K pathways to the WNT, Hedgehog, and Notch pathways [248, 249]. These pathways present an important role in development and stem cell control, and, unsurprisingly, their deregulation has been widely described in cancer, including gliomas [248]. Given its relevance for this thesis, in this section, and subsections therein, a brief overview of the WNT pathway will be presented, together with a description of its role in cancer, and more specifically in glioma. An emphasis on the WNT6 ligand, the focus of this thesis, and its role in cancer will also be given.

In 1982, Nusse and Varmus described the first mammalian member of the WNT family [250], the *WNT1* gene (then named *Int-1*, to denote the first common integration site [251]), as a gene activated by integration of mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV) proviral DNA in virally induced breast tumors [252-254]. These authors also described that Int-1 might be a secreted protein and, thus, possibly an extracellular growth factor. However, until 2003, no one was able to produce or isolate significant amounts of Int-1 protein. Still in the '80s, it was found that the human Int-1 protein sequence is 99% similar to the mouse homologue [255] and an Int-1 related sequence was also found in *Drosophila melanogaster* [252]. In 1988, Tsukamoto and Varmus described that *Int-1* is a *bona fide* proto-oncogene independently of the virus infection, as mice expressing *Int-1* developed mammary gland cancer at about 6 months of age

[256]. Back to the '80s, studies in *Drosophila* unveiled genes essential for embryo development [257]. One of them were the *wingless* genes, that were identified before, in 1976, as a weak mutant allele that leads to loss of wing tissue [258]. At that time, several studies were performed demonstrating that the sequence of *Int-1* gene and *Wingless* were identical [259, 260]. In this context, one of the first gene described to be involved in embryo development was also found to be activated in cancer, which raised for the first time the hypothesis that cancer may arise from cells that escaped from the normal developmental constraints on proliferation and differentiation [261].

In the '90s, the int and wingless nomenclature became confuse and inadequate, because: i) other MMTV activated genes were identified and named as *Int-2, Int-3*, and *Int-4*, but they were not necessarily linked to *Int-1* (e.g., *Int-2* was a member of the FGF family and *Int-3* was shown to be related to Notch signaling) [262-266]; and ii) PCR-based homology screens identified a large family of genes related to *Int-1* independently of being activated or not by the MMTV [267]. Thus, to avoid further confusion, a portmanteau of Int and Wingless was proposed: WNT (from Wingless-related integration site) [268]. In this sense, *Int-1* is now *WNT1, Int-2* is *FGF3, Int-3* is *Notch4* and *Int-4* is *WNT3a*.

At the end of the 20th century, after some of the major players from the WNT pathway were recognized (i.e. WNT ligands, APC, β -catenin, GSK3), it became clear that this signaling pathway was unusual compared to the other known signaling pathways at that time, which consisted mostly of successive protein phosphorylations [251]. Indeed, the regulation of the WNT signaling pathway (as for the Hedgehog and NF-kB signaling pathways) depends on the degradation of a key pathway component (in this case β -catenin) through ubiquitination/proteasomal degradation after its phosphorylation [251]. Later, β -catenin independent pathways were also described, dividing the WNT signaling pathway in two major groups: the β -catenin dependent pathway (also known as canonical pathway; Figure 1.9) and the β -catenin independent pathways (also known as non-canonical pathways) [251]. This introduction will focus mainly in the canonical pathway (as it is the most characterized and described in cancer), but a brief section describing the non-canonical pathways may also be found below¹¹.

1.5.1. Canonical pathway

In unstimulated cells, β -catenin levels are kept low by a "destruction complex" that includes two constitutively active serine-threonine kinases, GSK3 α/β (Glycogen synthase kinase 3, α/β) and CK1 α/δ (casein kinase 1, α/δ), and two tumor suppressors, APC (adenomatous polyposis coli) and AXIN, the last

¹¹Throughout this chapter, whenever the canonical or non-canonical terms are not specified, the term "WNT pathway" refers to the canonical WNT pathway (β-catenin dependent).





WNT OFF (left): In unstimulated cells, β -catenin is degraded by the "destruction complex" that includes two constitutively active serine-threonine kinases, GSK3 α/β and CK1 α/δ , and two tumor suppressors, APC and AXIN. The complex creates a β -TrCP recognition site on β -catenin by phosphorylation, inducing its ubiquitination and thus its proteasomal degradation. In the nucleus, Groucho and TCF are repressing WNT target genes. **WNT ON** (right): WNT ligands bind to FZD and its correceptor LRP5/6; the latter is phosphorylated by GSK3 and CK1 γ promoting the binding of AXIN to LRP. This results in β -catenin release and accumulation in the cells, which will enter the nucleus and bind to TCF, displacing Groucho, and transcriptionally activating the WNT target genes. Adapted with permission from Nusse and Clevers (2017) [269].

acting as a scaffold (Figure 1.9) [269]. CK1 and GSK3 sequentially phosphorylates β -catenin at a series of N-terminal Ser/Thr moieties, tagging it for proteasomal degradation. CK1 phosphorylates at Ser45, while GSK3 phosphorylates at Thr41, Ser37, and Ser33 residues [270]. This phosphorylation motif is recognized by the F-box-containing protein E3 ubiquitin ligase β -TrCP inducing β -catenin ubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation [271, 272]. Besides that, β -catenin plays a second major role in cells, contributing to cell-to-cell adhesion complexes containing cadherins, such as E-cadherin and α -catenin, being another way of controlling β -catenin levels [273]. However, it is thought that these distinct functions of β -catenin are most likely independent, as in some organisms, for example, *C. elegans*, they are performed by distinct homologs [274].

The canonical pathway is initiated through the interaction of a WNT ligand to the heterodimeric complex formed by one FZD receptor and its LRP5/6 co-receptor at the cell surface (Figure 1.9). FZD proteins (a family of 10 mammalian FZDs) are seven-transmembrane receptors with a large extracellular N-terminal cysteine-rich domain (CRD) where WNT ligands bind [275]. This CRD contains a hydrophobic

groove that interacts with a lipid on the WNT molecule [276], with affinities to WNT proteins in the nM range [277]. The simplicity of this interaction may explain why WNT-FZD interactions are promiscuous (i.e. one WNT ligand may bind to several FZD and vice versa) [275, 276]. Only recently the importance of the LRP5/6 co-receptor was understood. Indeed, Gong *et al.* described that LRP6 may present separate binding sites for different classes of WNT proteins [278], introducing some specificity in the WNT-FZD-LRP interaction. Upon WNT binding and FZD/LRP dimerization, GSK3 and CK1γ phosphorylate the cytoplasmic tail of LRP, promoting the binding of AXIN to LRP [279-282]. In its turn, DVL (Dishevelled) interacts with the cytoplasmic part of FZD, which facilitates the interaction between LRP and AXIN [283]. This new complex formed (including DVL, AXIN and GSK3) hampers β-catenin phosphorylation by GSK3¹², stabilizing β-catenin, which is released and accumulates in the cell [284].

Looking to the nucleus, when the WNT pathway is OFF (Figure 1.9), TCF/LEF (T cell factor/lymphoid enhancer-binding factor) is bound to Groucho and acts as a repressor of the WNT target genes [285-287]. However, when the WNT pathway turns ON, β-catenin, which is accumulated in the cytoplasm, enters the nucleus and binds to TCF/LEF transcription factors, displacing Groucho, and transcriptionally activating the same target genes that were being repressed before [288, 289]. Other key players of this transcriptional activation are BCL9, Pygopos and CBP. Several genes, such as *MYC* [290], *CTLA4* [291], *CCND1* [292, 293], *JUN* [294], *TERT* [295], *GJA1* [296], and *TBXT* [297, 298], were found to have TCF/LEF binding sites in their promoters, likely being WNT target genes at least in some particular cell types. Some of these target genes have been shown to play an important role in cancer [299-307].

1.5.2. Non-canonical pathways

Non-canonical WNT signaling pathways (also known as β -catenin-independent pathways) are continuously being re-described as new receptors and functions are identified. From these, the best characterized are the planar cell polarity and WNT-Ca²⁺ pathways [308-310].

The activation of the planar cell polarity non-canonical pathway through the binding of WNT ligands to FZD receptors leads to the activation of RHO and RAC (small GTPases), and JUN-N-terminal kinase (JNK) inducing asymmetrical cytoskeletal rearrangements and polarized cell migration. The planar cell polarity and β -catenin dependent pathway are antagonists (i.e., the inhibition of one of them will lead to the overactivation of the other) [311, 312]. However, similar to the canonical pathway (described acima), the planar cell polarity pathway also presents a role in cancer; in this case, by mediating cell

¹²Note that GSK3 also participate in other pathways, including the mTOR/AKT pathway, which may explain the high interaction between the WNT pathway and these other pathways.

motility events [313, 314].

The second best characterized non-canonical pathway is the WNT-Ca²⁺ pathway [315]. This pathway is activated by the binding of WNT ligands to FZD receptors and results in G-protein-dependent calcium release from intracellular stores. Briefly, heterotrimeric G proteins activate PLC (phospholipase C), which in turns activates the production of diacylglycerol and Ins(1,4,5)P₃ (inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate). Ins(1,4,5)P₃ leads to the intracellular calcium release, which activates both protein kinase C (PKC) and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase 2 (CAMKII). At the end, this leads to the activation of the transcriptional regulator NFAT (nuclear factor associated with T cells). This pathway was described to have a role in inflammation, neurodegeneration and cancer [315].

A less well understood mechanism involves the binding of WNT ligands to ROR and RYK (members of the tyrosine kinase family), which activates the JNK and SRC kinases, respectively. WNT ligands interactions with these receptors often lead to β -catenin independent actions (non-canonical WNT pathway) [316].

1.5.3. WNT proteins and post-translational modifications

In mammals, like humans and mice, there are at least 19 WNT genes divided in 12 subfamilies. Most of these subfamilies are conserved throughout the animal kingdom; for example, 11 of them occur in Cnidaria (a sea anemone) and even sponges present a few WNT genes in their genome [317]. Interestingly, WNT genes are not present in the genome of single-cell organisms, suggesting the WNT pathway may present an important role in the evolutionary origin of multicellular animals [318].

WNT proteins are approximately 40 kDa in size and their sequence consist of 350 to 400 amino acids, with a signal sequence for secretion at the N-terminal and 22 conserved cysteine residues [319]. The latter is characteristic of all WNT ligands and may lead to the globular secondary structure of these proteins. Despite the crucial importance of the WNT proteins in some normal and disease contexts, their biochemical properties, and thus their mode of action, have been poorly characterized and our knowlegde about these proteins is still undeveloped. For several years, researchers tried to purify WNT ligands but without success. At that time, two main questions emerged: "why WNT proteins were so difficult to purify?" and "where they insoluble or highly adherent?". WNT3a was the first successfully purified WNT ligand and revealed that they are lipid modified [320], explaining their insolubility. However, more studies are needed to better understand how, where and when the post-translational modifications found in WNT proteins occur. Nowadays, there are two recognized modifications common to all WNTs: glycosylation and acylation. However, they may vary between WNT ligands; for example, WNT1 presents four glycosylations, while WNT3a carries two N-linked glycosylations [321]. Glycosylations are tought to be

29

important for WNT ligand protein folding and secretion. In its turn, acylation was described to be critical for WNT activity and secretion [322]. At least one acylation may occur and consists in a mono-unsaturated fatty acid (palmitoleic acid) attached to the conserved serine [320, 323-325]. Porcupine, a palmitoyl transferase, was described to be the potential critical effector of this transfer of a lipid to the WNT conserved serine [326]. The lipid is primarily used by the WNT protein as a binding motif to the FZD receptors, but it is also crucial for WNT secretion as it confers hydrophobicity to this protein and may tether it to the cell membrane. Considering their hydrophobicity, how WNT proteins travel from the secretory cell to the target cell remains uncertain. Some authors observed that WNT proteins may be incorporated into secretory vesicles or exosomes [327-330] or may travel through direct contact between the cells [331, 332]. These findings have been reviewed in Takada *et al.* [333].

For convenience, we are constantly trying to associate each WNT ligand to the canonical or noncanonical pathway, and, indeed, some of them will preferentially activate one of these pathways; for example, it has been described that WNT1, WNT3a and WNT8 are commonly associated with the canonical pathway, while WNT5a and WNT11 are generally linked with the non-canonical pathway [334]. However, WNT ligands cannot be rigorously subdivided according to the pathway that they activate, since it depends on the cellular and molecular context [334]. Indeed, despite the constant association of WNT5a and WNT11 with the non-canonical pathway, they have also been described to activate the β-catenindependent pathway in certain contexts [335-337]. For the receptors, some of them are well established; for example, FZD can activate both WNT pathways, while LRP5/6 are found in the canonical one and ROR1/2 in the non-canonical one. Indeed, more than the sequence and structural differences in the WNT proteins, the canonical or non-canonical role of these ligands is more likely to be conferred by the repertoire of expressed receptors and signal transducers [322].

1.5.4. WNT6 ligand

The mouse *WNT6* (located at chromosome 1) was identified for the first time by Gavin *et al.* in 1990 [267]. Although previously identified and partially cloned by Rankin *et al.* in 1999 [338], only in 2001, Kirikoshi *et al.* completely cloned the human *WNT6* genomic sequence (located at chromosome 2) [339]. Throughout the animal kingdom, *WNT6* has been frequently clustered together with *WNT10a*. In human, specifically, the *WNT6* gene may be found in the 2q35 chromosomal region, only 7 kb apart from *WNT10a* [339].

Similar to other WNT ligands, the WNT6 protein is 39.7 kDa in weight and its sequence consists of 365 amino acids, with a signal sequence for secretion at the N-terminal and an RGD motif [339]. Regarding post-translational modifications, the WNT6 sequence presents two N-linked asparagine glycosylations (at positions 86 and 311) and one predicted serine acylation (at the position 228) [339]. Similar to other WNT proteins, the WNT6 protein sequence is conserved between species; for example, the human protein is 98% identical to the mouse ant rat homologue [340]. From all WNT proteins, in humans, WNT1 (47.4% amino-acid identity) and WNT4 (43% amino-acid identity) are the most homologous to WNT6 [339].

1.5.5. Emerging roles of the WNT pathway in cancer

Although the first mammalian member of the WNT pathway (*Int-1*, now *WWT1*) was described in the context of cancer [250], only around 1990, with the identification of *APC* mutations as a cause for hereditary forms of intestinal cancer, in both mouse and human, the WNT pathway was recognized to have an important role in cancer [341-343]. However, given the importance of the WNT pathway in embryogenesis and in adult stem cells [344], it is not so surprising that this pathway has been implicated in tumor initiation, growth, invasion, metastasis, dormancy, immunity, response to therapy and cancer stem cell maintenance [345]. Aberrant activation of the WNT pathway, induced by mutations, overexpression of either ligands, receptors or β -catenin, or repression of natural inhibitory molecules, have been described in several cancers, including glioma, melanoma, colon, liver, skin, breast, and bone marrow [346, 347]. APC and β -catenin mutations are the most frequently observed in cancer. For example, APC somatic mutations were found in 85% of all sporadic colorectal cancers. On the other hand, 5 to 10% of these cancer present mutations in β -catenin that removed or changed the phosphorylation sites that target it for degradation [348-350]. Note that, WNT aberrant activation in cancer is not only restricted to cancer cells, but also implicate cells from the microenvironment and immune system [346].

Although the role of the WNT canonical pathway in cancer is well recognized, whether the noncanonical pathways present a role or not is still under discussion. However, as explained acima, some reports described that WNT non-canonical pathway might be activated in cancer cells to help in their migration and metastization, through PKC and other effectors of the WNT/Ca²⁺ pathway [351, 352].

The following subsection focus on the molecular alterations of the WNT signaling players found in glioma, and their functional and clinical implications.

1.5.5.1. WNT pathway in glioma

Although β -catenin is frequently described to be accumulated in the nucleus of glioma cells, these tumors rarely present mutations in APC or β -catenin itself, suggesting that other mechanisms are more likely to be responsible for WNT aberrant activation in gliomas [347]. Nonetheless, relatively few alterations in other components, such as ligands, receptors, and natural inhibitors of the pathway, have been reported [347]. These alterations are detailed below.

Out of the 19 WNT ligands, five (WNT1, WNT2, WNT3a, WNT5a and WNT11) have been reported to present an important role in gliomas [353-364]. WNT1, WNT2, WNT3a and WNT5a were shown to be expressed in a graded manner in gliomas, and, as WNT11, they were associated with increased proliferation, invasion/migration and stemness capacity of GBM cells [353-359, 361, 363, 364]. *In vivo*, WNT2, WNT3a and WNT5a were associated with higher tumor aggressiveness [353, 356, 359, 362, 363]. Interestingly, WNT5a, which seems to act in a non-canonical manner, was also associated with increased resistance to TMZ-based chemotherapies, with the presence of microglial cells in the tumor and with a proinflammatory signature [357, 359]. Mechanistically, it was shown that WNT5a depends of RYK for the induction of its invasive function [355]. Mir-30a and mir-129-5p were further described as upstream direct-regulators of WNT5a in glioma [359, 362]. WNT11 in its turn was reported to be induced by hypoxia and directly regulated by HIF1 α [364]. However, only WNT5a showed to be prognostically valuable, correlating with the poor prognosis of GBM patients [359].

Although in glioma no mutations were found in β -catenin, its expression was described to increase in a graded manner [365-368]. Moreover, β -catenin silencing in glioblastoma was associated with decreased proliferation, invasion, and increased apoptosis [365, 368, 369]. *In vivo*, β -catenin silencing delayed the tumor growth in a subcutaneous model and prolonged the mice' survival in an orthotopic model [369]. As expected, β -catenin silencing resulted in the decreased expression of WNT target genes [370]. Clinically, β -catenin expression was associated with the poor prognosis of GBM patients [368, 371, 372].

Naturally occurring WNT inhibitors, such as SFRP1, SFRP2, SFRP4, SFRP5, DKK1, DKK3, NKD1, NKD2 and PEG3/Pw1, are frequently epigenetically silenced in glioma through DNA hypermethylation of their promoters [373-386]. Curiously, promoter hypermethylation of SFRP and PEG3/Pw1 are more frequently found in primary GBMs, while promoter hypermethylation of DKKs is most frequent in secondary GBMs.

However, as nothing is known about WNT6 in glioma, the focus of this thesis, in the next section a summary of the relevance of WNT6 in cancer can be found.

1.5.6. WNT6 in cancer

The importance of WNT6 in tissue development and cellular differentiation has been well recognized [340, 387-409]. Notwithstanding, little is known regarding WNT6 roles in cancer. In 2011, the first report relating WNT6 and cancer described that *WNT6* polymorphism was associated with increased risk of colorectal adenoma [410]. However, only in 2013, Yuan *et al.* described for the first

32
time the functional impact of WNT6 expression in cancer, specifically, in gastric cancer [411]. They described that, in gastric cancer cells, WNT6 was regulated by CAV1 and associated with increased resistance to anthracycline chemotherapeutics. In patients, WNT6 expression was inversely correlated with the response to Epirubicin, Cisplatin and 5-Fluorouracil, and positively associated with tumor stage and nodal status [411]. One year later, WNT6 was also associated with cisplatin resistance in bladder cancer cell lines, upon *UCA1* regulation [412]. Later, WNT6 expression was shown to be predictive of poor prognosis and recurrence in esophageal cancer [413]. Moreover, *WWT6* DNA methylation was associated with better prognosis of children with osteosarcoma and was inversely correlated with *WNT6* expression [414]. In 2018, WNT6 and WNT10a were associated with post-transplant smooth muscle tumor growth through the activation of the non-canonical WNT pathway [415]. Finally, WNT6 expression in colon cancer was functionally associated with increased proliferation, cell cycle, and migration, and with decreased cell apoptosis [416].

Regarding its canonical or non-canonical functions, little is known in cancer; however, WNT6 regulation of the epithelium formation, adhesion, cell-cell communication and development of several tissues like heart muscle has been associated with the canonical pathway [340, 391-393, 396, 402, 406-409, 417], while WNT6 signals through the non-canonical pathway in the neural crest induction, in the skeletal muscle, dental pulp and macrophage differentiation, and in post-transplant smooth muscle tumor growth [390, 403-405, 415].

1.5.7. The WNT pathway as a therapeutic target

Given the important role of the WNT pathway in cancer, there has been a growing interest in identifying and creating compounds for its inhibition for cancer treatment [418]. The recently described role of this pathway in the regulation of immune cell infiltration into the tumor reinforced its interest, as its modulation might be useful in the context of immunotherapies [419]. Several companies (e.g., Novartis, Bayer, OncoMed, Prism Biolab, Enzo Life Sciences, Tocris Bioscience, EMD Millipore, Abmole Bioscience) have been investing in the creation of distinct compounds (e.g., small inhibitory molecules, monoclonal antibodies, peptides, fusion proteins) with the aim of specifically targeting some of the major players of the WNT pathway (e.g., WNT ligands, FZD receptors, porcupine, β -catenin, TCF/CBP) [418]. Some of these compounds are being tested in preclinical studies, and a great number are already in clinical trials (Phase I/II) in the context of several solid tumors (e.g., melanoma, colorectal, breast, pancreatic, ovarian, and hepatocellular cancers), lymphoid malignancies or diseases unrelated with cancer, where aberrant WNT pathway is well-established [418]. Figure 1.10 illustrates some of these compounds, and their targets and mechanism of action within the WNT pathway [345]. Although none of

them have yet been approved for clinical use, the data obtained from phase I/II clinical trials is promising and these drugs may soon become an option for cancer treatment [418]. Since the WNT pathway has been associated with chemoresistance and cancer stem cells (associated with therapy resistance and tumor recurrence), most of the trials are combining WNT inhibition with conventional therapies, and synergistic effects are being observed [418]. Moreover, given the recent association of the WNT pathway with immune evasion, there may be a rationale to include WNT inhibitors with immunotherapies to improve the clinical benefit of these therapies, which has been limited to a small subset of patients [420].

In the era of personalized medicine, biomarkers for predicting the subset of patients which will most probably benefit form a given therapy are being investigated. However, there is still no clinically relevant molecule or signature that may predict for WNT pathway aberrant activation.

For further details about WNT inhibitory compounds, the reader is kindly referred to the reviews in Zhan *et al.* [345], and Krishnamurthy and Kurzrock [418], or directly at *www.clinicaltrials.gov.*



Figure 1.10. Compound under investigation for the inhibition of the WNT pathway.

Schematic representation of the WNT (canonical) pathway and some of the WNT inhibitors in phase I/II clinical trials for the treatment of several types of cancer. Reproduced with permission from Zhan *et al.* (2017) [345].

Overall, data implicating the WNT pathway in cancer aggressiveness, combined with the sparse investigation on the relevance of WNT6 in cancer, which just started to be uncovered, are compelling arguments to further investigate its role in the pathophysiology of glioma, where nothing is known. This may stimulate the identification of new targets and the creation of new directed therapies for this deadly disease, which may also be applicable to other cancer types where WNT6 oncogenic role was already defined (section 1.5.6 for more details).

References

- 1. Ervik M, Lam F, Ferlay J, Mery L, Soerjomataram I, and Bray F. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2016.
- 2. Burnet NG, Jefferies SJ, Benson RJ, Hunt DP, and Treasure FP. Years of life lost (YLL) from cancer is an important measure of population burden–and should be considered when allocating research funds. *Br J Cancer.* 2005;92(2):241-5.
- Ostrom QT, Gittleman H, Liao P, Vecchione-Koval T, Wolinsky Y, Kruchko C, and Barnholtz-Sloan JS. CBTRUS Statistical Report: Primary brain and other central nervous system tumors diagnosed in the United States in 2010-2014. *Neuro Oncol.* 2017;19(suppl_5):v1-v88.
- 4. Ohgaki H, and Kleihues P. Epidemiology and etiology of gliomas. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2005;109(1):93-108.
- 5. Walsh KM, Ohgaki H, and Wrensch MR. Epidemiology. *Handb Clin Neurol.* 2016;134:3-18.
- 6. Ostrom QT, Gittleman H, Stetson L, Virk S, and Barnholtz-Sloan JS. Epidemiology of Intracranial Gliomas. *Prog Neurol Surg.* 2018;30:1-11.
- Neglia JP, Robison LL, Stovall M, Liu Y, Packer RJ, Hammond S, Yasui Y, Kasper CE, Mertens AC, and Donaldson SS. New primary neoplasms of the central nervous system in survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2006;98(21):1528-37.
- 8. Taylor AJ, Little MP, Winter DL, Sugden E, Ellison DW, Stiller CA, Stovall M, Frobisher C, Lancashire ER, and Reulen RC. Population-based risks of CNS tumors in survivors of childhood cancer: the British Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology.* 2010;28(36):5287-93.
- 9. Davis F, Il'Yasova D, Rankin K, McCarthy B, and Bigner DD. Medical diagnostic radiation exposures and risk of gliomas. *Radiat Res.* 2011;175(6):790-6.
- Mathews JD, Forsythe AV, Brady Z, Butler MW, Goergen SK, Byrnes GB, Giles GG, Wallace AB, Anderson PR, and Guiver TA. Cancer risk in 680 000 people exposed to computed tomography scans in childhood or adolescence: data linkage study of 11 million Australians. *BMJ.* 2013;346:f2360.
- 11. Preston D, Ron E, Tokuoka S, Funamoto S, Nishi N, Soda M, Mabuchi K, and Kodama K. Solid cancer incidence in atomic bomb survivors: 1958–1998. *Radiat Res.* 2007;168(1):1-64.
- 12. Wiemels JL, Wiencke JK, Sison JD, Miike R, McMillan A, and Wrensch M. History of allergies among adults with glioma and controls. *Int J Cancer.* 2002;98(4):609-15.
- Amirian ES, Zhou R, Wrensch MR, Olson SH, Scheurer ME, Il'Yasova D, Lachance D, Armstrong GN, McCoy LS, and Lau CC. Approaching a scientific consensus on the association between allergies and glioma risk: a report from the glioma international case-control study. *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention Biomarkers.* 2016;25(2):282-90.
- 14. Calboli FC, Cox DG, Buring JE, Gaziano JM, Ma J, Stampfer M, Willett WC, Tworoger SS, Hunter DJ, and Camargo Jr CA. Prediagnostic plasma IgE levels and risk of adult glioma in four prospective cohort studies. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2011;103(21):1588-95.

- Lachance DH, Yang P, Johnson DR, Decker PA, Kollmeyer TM, McCoy LS, Rice T, Xiao Y, Ali-Osman F, and Wang F. Associations of high-grade glioma with glioma risk alleles and histories of allergy and smoking. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2011;174(5):574-81.
- 16. Linos E, Raine T, Alonso A, and Michaud D. Atopy and risk of brain tumors: a meta-analysis. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2007;99(20):1544-50.
- McCarthy BJ, Rankin K, Il'yasova D, Erdal S, Vick N, Ali-Osman F, Bigner DD, and Davis F. Assessment of type of allergy and antihistamine use in the development of glioma. *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention Biomarkers.* 2011;20(2):370-8.
- 18. Scheurer ME, Amirian ES, Davlin SL, Rice T, Wrensch M, and Bondy ML. Effects of antihistamine and anti-inflammatory medication use on risk of specific glioma histologies. *Int J Cancer.* 2011;129(9):2290-6.
- Schlehofer B, Siegmund B, Linseisen J, Schüz J, Rohrmann S, Becker S, Michaud D, Melin B, Bas Bueno-de-Mesquita H, and Peeters P. Primary brain tumours and specific serum immunoglobulin E: a case–control study nested in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition cohort. *Allergy*. 2011;66(11):1434-41.
- Schwartzbaum J, Ding B, Johannesen TB, Osnes LT, Karavodin L, Ahlbom A, Feychting M, and Grimsrud TK. Association between prediagnostic IgE levels and risk of glioma. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2012;104(16):1251-9.
- Wigertz A, Lönn S, Schwartzbaum J, Hall P, Auvinen A, Christensen HC, Johansen C, Klæboe L, Salminen T, and Schoemaker MJ. Allergic conditions and brain tumor risk. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2007;166(8):941-50.
- 22. Scheurer ME, El-Zein R, Thompson PA, Aldape KD, Levin VA, Gilbert MR, Weinberg JS, and Bondy ML. Long-term anti-inflammatory and antihistamine medication use and adult glioma risk. *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention Biomarkers.* 2008;17(5):1277-81.
- Benke G, Turner MC, Fleming S, Figuerola J, Kincl L, Richardson L, Blettner M, Hours M, Krewski D, and McLean D. Occupational solvent exposure and risk of glioma in the INTEROCC study. *Br J Cancer.* 2017;117(8):1246.
- 24. Carreón T, Butler MA, Ruder AM, Waters MA, Davis-King KE, Calvert GM, Schulte PA, Connally B, Ward EM, and Sanderson WT. Gliomas and farm pesticide exposure in women: the Upper Midwest Health Study. *Environ Health Perspect.* 2005;113(5):546.
- 25. Louis LM, Lerro CC, Friesen MC, Andreotti G, Koutros S, Sandler DP, Blair A, Robson MG, and Freeman LEB. A prospective study of cancer risk among Agricultural Health Study farm spouses associated with personal use of organochlorine insecticides. *Environmental Health*. 2017;16(1):95.
- Parent M-E, Turner MC, Lavoué J, Richard H, Figuerola J, Kincl L, Richardson L, Benke G, Blettner M, and Fleming S. Lifetime occupational exposure to metals and welding fumes, and risk of glioma: a 7-country population-based case–control study. *Environmental Health.* 2017;16(1):90.
- Poulsen AH, Sørensen M, Andersen ZJ, Ketzel M, and Raaschou-Nielsen O. Air pollution from traffic and risk for brain tumors: a nationwide study in Denmark. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2016;27(4):473-80.

- Provost D, Cantagrel A, Lebailly P, Jaffré A, Loyant V, Loiseau H, Vital A, Brochard P, and Baldi I. Brain tumours and exposure to pesticides: a case–control study in southwestern France. *Occup Environ Med.* 2007;64(8):509-14.
- 29. Ruder AM, Yiin JH, Waters MA, Carreón T, Hein MJ, Butler MA, Calvert GM, Davis-King KE, Schulte PA, and Mandel JS. The Upper Midwest Health Study: gliomas and occupational exposure to chlorinated solvents. *Occup Environ Med.* 2013;70(2):73-80.
- 30. Samanic CM, De Roos AJ, Stewart PA, Rajaraman P, Waters MA, and Inskip PD. Occupational exposure to pesticides and risk of adult brain tumors. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2008;167(8):976-85.
- Turner MC, Benke G, Bowman JD, Figuerola J, Fleming S, Hours M, Kincl L, Krewski D, McLean D, and Parent M-E. Interactions between occupational exposure to extremely low frequency magnetic fields and chemicals for brain tumour risk in the INTEROCC study. *Occup Environ Med.* 2017;74(11):802-9.
- 32. Yiin JH, Ruder AM, Stewart PA, Waters MA, Carreón T, Butler MA, Calvert GM, Davis-King KE, Schulte PA, and Mandel JS. The upper midwest health study: a case–control study of pesticide applicators and risk of glioma. *Environmental Health.* 2012;11(1):39.
- 33. Li H-x, Peng X-x, Zong Q, Zhang K, Wang M-x, Liu Y-z, and Han G-I. cigarette smoking and risk of adult glioma: a meta-analysis of 24 observational studies involving more than 2.3 million individuals. *Onco Targets Ther.* 2016;9:3511.
- 34. Shao C, Zhao W, Qi Z, and He J. Smoking and glioma risk: evidence from a meta-analysis of 25 observational studies. *Medicine*. 2016;95(2).
- 35. Baldi I, Coureau G, Jaffré A, Gruber A, Ducamp S, Provost D, Lebailly P, Vital A, Loiseau H, and Salamon R. Occupational and residential exposure to electromagnetic fields and risk of brain tumors in adults: a case–control study in Gironde, France. *Int J Cancer.* 2011;129(6):1477-84.
- 36. Carlberg M, Koppel T, Ahonen M, and Hardell L. Case-control study on occupational exposure to extremely low-frequency electromagnetic fields and glioma risk. *Am J Ind Med.* 2017;60(5):494-503.
- 37. Coble JB, Dosemeci M, Stewart PA, Blair A, Bowman J, Fine HA, Shapiro WR, Selker RG, Loeffler JS, and Black PM. Occupational exposure to magnetic fields and the risk of brain tumors. *Neuro Oncol.* 2009;11(3):242-9.
- Koeman T, Van Den Brandt PA, Slottje P, Schouten LJ, Goldbohm RA, Kromhout H, and Vermeulen R. Occupational extremely low-frequency magnetic field exposure and selected cancer outcomes in a prospective Dutch cohort. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2014;25(2):203-14.
- Navas-Acién A, Pollán M, Gustavsson P, Floderus B, Plato N, and Dosemeci M. Interactive effect of chemical substances and occupational electromagnetic field exposure on the risk of gliomas and meningiomas in Swedish men. *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention Biomarkers.* 2002;11(12):1678-83.
- Röösli M, Lörtscher M, Egger M, Pfluger D, Schreier N, Lörtscher E, Locher P, Spoerri A, and Minder C. Leukaemia, brain tumours and exposure to extremely low frequency magnetic fields: cohort study of Swiss railway employees. *Occup Environ Med.* 2007;64(8):553-9.

- Turner MC, Benke G, Bowman JD, Figuerola J, Fleming S, Hours M, Kincl L, Krewski D, McLean D, and Parent M-E. Occupational exposure to extremely low-frequency magnetic fields and brain tumor risks in the INTEROCC study. *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention Biomarkers*. 2014;23(9):1863-72.
- 42. Ahlbom A, Feychting M, Green A, Kheifets L, Savitz DA, Swerdlow AJ, and Epidemiology ISCo. Epidemiologic evidence on mobile phones and tumor risk: a review. *Epidemiology.* 2009;20(5):639-52.
- 43. Benson VS, Pirie K, Schüz J, Reeves GK, Beral V, Green J, and Collaborators MWS. Mobile phone use and risk of brain neoplasms and other cancers: prospective study. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2013;42(3):792-802.
- 44. Cardis E, Armstrong B, Bowman J, Giles G, Hours M, Krewski D, McBride M, Parent M, Sadetzki S, and Woodward A. Risk of brain tumours in relation to estimated RF dose from mobile phones: results from five Interphone countries. *Occup Environ Med.* 2011:oemed-2011-100155.
- 45. Frei P, Poulsen AH, Johansen C, Olsen JH, Steding-Jessen M, and Schüz J. Use of mobile phones and risk of brain tumours: update of Danish cohort study. *BMJ.* 2011;343:d6387.
- 46. Hardell L, Carlberg M, Söderqvist F, and Mild KH. Case-control study of the association between malignant brain tumours diagnosed between 2007 and 2009 and mobile and cordless phone use. *Int J Oncol.* 2013;43(6):1833-45.
- 47. Schüz J, Böhler E, Berg G, Schlehofer B, Hettinger I, Schlaefer K, Wahrendorf J, Kunna-Grass K, and Blettner M. Cellular phones, cordless phones, and the risks of glioma and meningioma (Interphone Study Group, Germany). *Am J Epidemiol.* 2006;163(6):512-20.
- 48. Anic GM, Madden MH, Sincich K, Thompson RC, Nabors LB, Olson JJ, LaRocca RV, Browning JE, Pan E, and Egan KM. Early life exposures and the risk of adult glioma. *Eur J Epidemiol.* 2013;28(9):753-8.
- 49. Bluhm EC, Zahm SH, Fine HA, Black PM, Loeffler JS, Shapiro WR, Selker RG, and Inskip PD. AACR; 2006.
- 50. Perry A, and Wesseling P. Histologic classification of gliomas. *Handb Clin Neurol.* 2016;134:71-95.
- 51. Bailey P, and Cushing H. *A classification of the tumours of the glioma group on a histogenetic basis, with a correlated study of prognosis.* Philadelphia, London, and Montreal: J. B. Lippincott Company; 1926.
- 52. Kernohan JW, Mabon RF, and et al. A simplified classification of the gliomas. *Proceedings of the staff meetings Mayo Clinic.* 1949;24(3):71-5.
- 53. Otani R, Uzuka T, and Ueki K. Classification of adult diffuse gliomas by molecular markers-a short review with historical footnote. *Jpn J Clin Oncol.* 2017;47(1):2-6.
- Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK, Burger PC, Jouvet A, Scheithauer BW, and Kleihues
 P. The 2007 WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2007;114(2):97-109.
- 55. Chen R, Smith-Cohn M, Cohen AL, and Colman H. Glioma Subclassifications and Their Clinical

Significance. Neurotherapeutics. 2017;14(2):284-97.

- 56. Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Kleihues P, and Ellison DW. The 2016 world health organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2016;131(6):803-20.
- 57. Masui K, Mischel PS, and Reifenberger G. Molecular classification of gliomas. *Handb Clin Neurol.* 2016;134:97-120.
- 58. Lassaletta A, Zapotocky M, Bouffet E, Hawkins C, and Tabori U. An integrative molecular and genomic analysis of pediatric hemispheric low-grade gliomas: an update. *Childs Nerv Syst.* 2016;32(10):1789-97.
- Gierke M, Sperveslage J, Schwab D, Beschorner R, Ebinger M, Schuhmann MU, and Schittenhelm J. Analysis of IDH1-R132 mutation, BRAF V600 mutation and KIAA1549-BRAF fusion transcript status in central nervous system tumors supports pediatric tumor classification. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol.* 2016;142(1):89-100.
- 60. Bornhorst M, Frappaz D, and Packer RJ. Pilocytic astrocytomas. *Handb Clin Neurol.* 2016;134:329-44.
- Jones DT, Hutter B, Jager N, Korshunov A, Kool M, Warnatz HJ, Zichner T, Lambert SR, Ryzhova M, Quang DA, et al. Recurrent somatic alterations of FGFR1 and NTRK2 in pilocytic astrocytoma. *Nat Genet.* 2013;45(8):927-32.
- Kolb EA, Gorlick R, Houghton PJ, Morton CL, Neale G, Keir ST, Carol H, Lock R, Phelps D, Kang MH, et al. Initial testing (stage 1) of AZD6244 (ARRY-142886) by the Pediatric Preclinical Testing Program. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. 2010;55(4):668-77.
- 63. Reifenberger G, Wirsching HG, Knobbe-Thomsen CB, and Weller M. Advances in the molecular genetics of gliomas implications for classification and therapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* 2017;14(7):434-52.
- 64. Kuki I, Kawawaki H, Okazaki S, Ehara E, Yoshida Y, Kunihiro N, and Matsusaka Y. Efficacy and safety of everolimus in patients younger than 12months with congenital subependymal giant cell astrocytoma. *Brain Dev.* 2018;40(5):415-20.
- 65. Jiang T, Du J, Raynald, Wang J, and Li C. Presurgical Administration of mTOR Inhibitors in Patients with Large Subependymal Giant Cell Astrocytoma Associated with Tuberous Sclerosis Complex. *World Neurosurg.* 2017;107:1053 e1- e6.
- 66. Franz DN, Budde K, Kingswood JC, Belousova E, Sparagana S, de Vries PJ, Berkowitz N, Ridolfi A, and Bissler JJ. Effect of everolimus on skin lesions in patients treated for subependymal giant cell astrocytoma and renal angiomyolipoma: final 4-year results from the randomised EXIST-1 and EXIST-2 studies. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol.* 2018.
- Bissler JJ, Kingswood JC, Radzikowska E, Zonnenberg BA, Belousova E, Frost MD, Sauter M, Brakemeier S, de Vries PJ, Berkowitz N, et al. Everolimus long-term use in patients with tuberous sclerosis complex: Four-year update of the EXIST-2 study. *PLoS One.* 2017;12(8):e0180939.
- 68. Bissler JJ, Franz DN, Frost MD, Belousova E, Bebin EM, Sparagana S, Berkowitz N, Ridolfi A, and Kingswood JC. The effect of everolimus on renal angiomyolipoma in pediatric patients with tuberous sclerosis being treated for subependymal giant cell astrocytoma. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2018;33(1):101-

9.

- Lee D, Cho YH, Kang SY, Yoon N, Sung CO, and Suh YL. BRAF V600E mutations are frequent in dysembryoplastic neuroepithelial tumors and subependymal giant cell astrocytomas. *J Surg Oncol.* 2015;111(3):359-64.
- 70. Lukas RV, and Merrell RT. BRAF inhibition with concomitant tumor treating fields for a multiply progressive pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma. *CNS oncology.* 2018.
- 71. Burger MC, Ronellenfitsch MW, Lorenz NI, Wagner M, Voss M, Capper D, Tzaridis T, Herrlinger U, Steinbach JP, Stoffels G, et al. Dabrafenib in patients with recurrent, BRAF V600E mutated malignant glioma and leptomeningeal disease. *Oncol Rep.* 2017;38(6):3291-6.
- 72. Sasaki M, Knobbe CB, Munger JC, Lind EF, Brenner D, Brustle A, Harris IS, Holmes R, Wakeham A, Haight J, et al. IDH1(R132H) mutation increases murine haematopoietic progenitors and alters epigenetics. *Nature.* 2012.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research N, Brat DJ, Verhaak RG, Aldape KD, Yung WK, Salama SR, Cooper LA, Rheinbay E, Miller CR, Vitucci M, et al. Comprehensive, Integrative Genomic Analysis of Diffuse Lower-Grade Gliomas. *N Engl J Med.* 2015;372(26):2481-98.
- Suzuki H, Aoki K, Chiba K, Sato Y, Shiozawa Y, Shiraishi Y, Shimamura T, Niida A, Motomura K, Ohka F, et al. Mutational landscape and clonal architecture in grade II and III gliomas. *Nat Genet.* 2015;47(5):458-68.
- Reuss DE, Kratz A, Sahm F, Capper D, Schrimpf D, Koelsche C, Hovestadt V, Bewerunge-Hudler M, Jones DT, Schittenhelm J, et al. Adult IDH wild type astrocytomas biologically and clinically resolve into other tumor entities. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2015;130(3):407-17.
- Ceccarelli M, Barthel FP, Malta TM, Sabedot TS, Salama SR, Murray BA, Morozova O, Newton Y, Radenbaugh A, Pagnotta SM, et al. Molecular Profiling Reveals Biologically Discrete Subsets and Pathways of Progression in Diffuse Glioma. *Cell.* 2016;164(3):550-63.
- 77. Van Den Bent MJ, Bromberg JE, and Buckner J. Low-grade and anaplastic oligodendroglioma. *Handb Clin Neurol.* 2016;134:361-80.
- 78. Berger MS, Hervey-Jumper S, and Wick W. Astrocytic gliomas WHO grades II and III. *Handb Clin Neurol.* 2016;134:345-60.
- 79. Aldape K, Zadeh G, Mansouri S, Reifenberger G, and von Deimling A. Glioblastoma: pathology, molecular mechanisms and markers. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2015;129(6):829-48.
- Ohgaki H, and Kleihues P. Population-based studies on incidence, survival rates, and genetic alterations in astrocytic and oligodendroglial gliomas. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* 2005;64(6):479-89.
- Olar A, Wani KM, Alfaro-Munoz KD, Heathcock LE, van Thuijl HF, Gilbert MR, Armstrong TS, Sulman EP, Cahill DP, Vera-Bolanos E, et al. IDH mutation status and role of WHO grade and mitotic index in overall survival in grade II-III diffuse gliomas. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2015;129(4):585-96.
- 82. Reuss DE, Mamatjan Y, Schrimpf D, Capper D, Hovestadt V, Kratz A, Sahm F, Koelsche C, Korshunov A, Olar A, et al. IDH mutant diffuse and anaplastic astrocytomas have similar age at presentation and little difference in survival: a grading problem for WHO. *Acta Neuropathol.*

2015;129(6):867-73.

- 83. Killela PJ, Pirozzi CJ, Healy P, Reitman ZJ, Lipp E, Rasheed BA, Yang R, Diplas BH, Wang Z, Greer PK, et al. Mutations in IDH1, IDH2, and in the TERT promoter define clinically distinct subgroups of adult malignant gliomas. *Oncotarget.* 2014;5(6):1515-25.
- 84. Shaw EG, Scheithauer BW, O'Fallon JR, and Davis DH. Mixed oligoastrocytomas: a survival and prognostic factor analysis. *Neurosurgery.* 1994;34(4):577-82; discussion 82.
- 85. van den Bent MJ, Afra D, de Witte O, Ben Hassel M, Schraub S, Hoang-Xuan K, Malmstrom PO, Collette L, Pierart M, Mirimanoff R, et al. Long-term efficacy of early versus delayed radiotherapy for low-grade astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma in adults: the EORTC 22845 randomised trial. *Lancet.* 2005;366(9490):985-90.
- 86. van den Bent MJ, Brandes AA, Taphoorn MJ, Kros JM, Kouwenhoven MC, Delattre JY, Bernsen HJ, Frenay M, Tijssen CC, Grisold W, et al. Adjuvant procarbazine, lomustine, and vincristine chemotherapy in newly diagnosed anaplastic oligodendroglioma: long-term follow-up of EORTC brain tumor group study 26951. *J Clin Oncol.* 2013;31(3):344-50.
- Wick W, Hartmann C, Engel C, Stoffels M, Felsberg J, Stockhammer F, Sabel MC, Koeppen S, Ketter R, Meyermann R, et al. NOA-04 randomized phase III trial of sequential radiochemotherapy of anaplastic glioma with procarbazine, lomustine, and vincristine or temozolomide. *J Clin Oncol.* 2009;27(35):5874-80.
- 88. Hartmann C, Hentschel B, Wick W, Capper D, Felsberg J, Simon M, Westphal M, Schackert G, Meyermann R, Pietsch T, et al. Patients with IDH1 wild type anaplastic astrocytomas exhibit worse prognosis than IDH1-mutated glioblastomas, and IDH1 mutation status accounts for the unfavorable prognostic effect of higher age: implications for classification of gliomas. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2010;120(6):707-18.
- 89. Djalilian HR, Shah MV, and Hall WA. Radiographic incidence of multicentric malignant gliomas. *Surg Neurol.* 1999;51(5):554-7; discussion 7-8.
- 90. Herrlinger U, Forschler H, Kuker W, Meyermann R, Bamberg M, Dichgans J, and Weller M. Leptomeningeal metastasis: survival and prognostic factors in 155 patients. *J Neurol Sci.* 2004;223(2):167-78.
- 91. Simpson JR, Horton J, Scott C, Curran WJ, Rubin P, Fischbach J, Isaacson S, Rotman M, Asbell SO, Nelson JS, et al. Influence of location and extent of surgical resection on survival of patients with glioblastoma multiforme: results of three consecutive Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) clinical trials. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* 1993;26(2):239-44.
- 92. Lacroix M, Abi-Said D, Fourney DR, Gokaslan ZL, Shi W, DeMonte F, Lang FF, McCutcheon IE, Hassenbusch SJ, Holland E, et al. A multivariate analysis of 416 patients with glioblastoma multiforme: prognosis, extent of resection, and survival. *J Neurosurg.* 2001;95(2):190-8.
- Ellingson BM, Lai A, Harris RJ, Selfridge JM, Yong WH, Das K, Pope WB, Nghiemphu PL, Vinters HV, Liau LM, et al. Probabilistic radiographic atlas of glioblastoma phenotypes. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* 2013;34(3):533-40.
- 94. Sturm D, Witt H, Hovestadt V, Khuong-Quang DA, Jones DT, Konermann C, Pfaff E, Tonjes M, Sill M, Bender S, et al. Hotspot mutations in H3F3A and IDH1 define distinct epigenetic and biological

subgroups of glioblastoma. Cancer Cell. 2012;22(4):425-37.

- 95. Alentorn A, Hoang-Xuan K, and Mikkelsen T. Handb Clin Neurol. Elsevier; 2016:19-26.
- 96. van Breemen MS, Wilms EB, and Vecht CJ. Epilepsy in patients with brain tumours: epidemiology, mechanisms, and management. *Lancet Neurol.* 2007;6(5):421-30.
- 97. Wirsching H-G, Galanis E, and Weller M. Handb Clin Neurol. Elsevier; 2016:381-97.
- 98. Kozak KR, Mahadevan A, and Moody JS. Adult gliosarcoma: epidemiology, natural history, and factors associated with outcome. *Neuro Oncol.* 2009;11(2):183-91.
- 99. Choi T-M, Cheon Y-J, Jung T-Y, and Lee K-H. A Stable Secondary Gliosarcoma with Extensive Systemic Metastases: A Case Report. *Brain tumor research and treatment.* 2016;4(2):133-7.
- Roa W, Brasher PM, Bauman G, Anthes M, Bruera E, Chan A, Fisher B, Fulton D, Gulavita S, Hao C, et al. Abbreviated course of radiation therapy in older patients with glioblastoma multiforme: a prospective randomized clinical trial. *J Clin Oncol.* 2004;22(9):1583-8.
- 101. Taphoorn MJ, Stupp R, Coens C, Osoba D, Kortmann R, van den Bent MJ, Mason W, Mirimanoff RO, Baumert BG, Eisenhauer E, et al. Health-related quality of life in patients with glioblastoma: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2005;6(12):937-44.
- Keime-Guibert F, Chinot O, Taillandier L, Cartalat-Carel S, Frenay M, Kantor G, Guillamo JS, Jadaud E, Colin P, Bondiau PY, et al. Radiotherapy for glioblastoma in the elderly. *N Engl J Med.* 2007;356(15):1527-35.
- 103. Gallego Perez-Larraya J, Ducray F, Chinot O, Catry-Thomas I, Taillandier L, Guillamo JS, Campello C, Monjour A, Cartalat-Carel S, Barrie M, et al. Temozolomide in elderly patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma and poor performance status: an ANOCEF phase II trial. *J Clin Oncol.* 2011;29(22):3050-5.
- 104. Stummer W, Pichlmeier U, Meinel T, Wiestler OD, Zanella F, Reulen H-J, and Group A-GS. Fluorescence-guided surgery with 5-aminolevulinic acid for resection of malignant glioma: a randomised controlled multicentre phase III trial. *The lancet oncology.* 2006;7(5):392-401.
- 105. Senft C, Bink A, Franz K, Vatter H, Gasser T, and Seifert V. Intraoperative MRI guidance and extent of resection in glioma surgery: a randomised, controlled trial. *The lancet oncology.* 2011;12(11):997-1003.
- 106. Weller M, van den Bent M, Hopkins K, Tonn JC, Stupp R, Falini A, Cohen-Jonathan-Moyal E, Frappaz D, Henriksson R, and Balana C. EANO guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of anaplastic gliomas and glioblastoma. *The lancet oncology*. 2014;15(9):e395-e403.
- 107. Snider III JW, and Mehta M. Handb Clin Neurol. Elsevier; 2016:131-47.
- Pignatti F, Van Den Bent M, Curran D, Debruyne C, Sylvester R, Therasse P, Afra D, Cornu P, Bolla M, and Vecht C. Prognostic factors for survival in adult patients with cerebral low-grade glioma. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(8):2076-84.
- 109. Daniels TB, Brown PD, Felten SJ, Wu W, Buckner JC, Arusell RM, Curran WJ, Abrams RA, Schiff D, and Shaw EG. Validation of EORTC prognostic factors for adults with low-grade glioma: a report using intergroup 86-72-51. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics.* 2011;81(1):218-24.

- 110. Van den Bent M, Afra D, De Witte O, Hassel MB, Schraub S, Hoang-Xuan K, Malmström P, Collette L, Piérart M, and Mirimanoff R. Long-term efficacy of early versus delayed radiotherapy for low-grade astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma in adults: the EORTC 22845 randomised trial. *The Lancet.* 2005;366(9490):985-90.
- 111. Stupp R, Hegi ME, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Taphoorn MJ, Janzer RC, Ludwin SK, Allgeier A, Fisher B, Belanger K, et al. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2009;10(5):459-66.
- 112. Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JC-H, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, Mankoo P, Carter H, Siu I-M, and Gallia GL. An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. *Science*. 2008;321(5897):1807-12.
- 113. Verhaak RG, Hoadley KA, Purdom E, Wang V, Qi Y, Wilkerson MD, Miller CR, Ding L, Golub T, and Mesirov JP. Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. *Cancer Cell.* 2010;17(1):98-110.
- 114. Yan H, Parsons DW, Jin G, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, Yuan W, Kos I, Batinic-Haberle I, Jones S, and Riggins GJ. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in gliomas. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;360(8):765-73.
- 115. Karsy M, Sivakumar W, Neil JA, Guan J, Moy F, and Jensen RL. Meta-analysis of the effect of isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2 mutation on glioblastoma prognosis. *Contemporary Neurosurgery.* 2015;37(5):1-5.
- 116. Malmström A, Grønberg BH, Marosi C, Stupp R, Frappaz D, Schultz H, Abacioglu U, Tavelin B, Lhermitte B, and Hegi ME. Temozolomide versus standard 6-week radiotherapy versus hypofractionated radiotherapy in patients older than 60 years with glioblastoma: the Nordic randomised, phase 3 trial. *The lancet oncology.* 2012;13(9):916-26.
- 117. Yan H, Parsons DW, Jin G, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, Yuan W, Kos I, Batinic-Haberle I, Jones S, Riggins GJ, et al. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in gliomas. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2009;360(8):765-73.
- 118. Karsy M, Guan J, Cohen AL, Jensen RL, and Colman H. New molecular considerations for glioma: IDH, ATRX, BRAF, TERT, H3 K27M. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* 2017;17(2):19.
- 119. Juratli TA, Kirsch M, Robel K, Soucek S, Geiger K, von Kummer R, Schackert G, and Krex D. IDH mutations as an early and consistent marker in low-grade astrocytomas WHO grade II and their consecutive secondary high-grade gliomas. *J Neurooncol.* 2012;108(3):403-10.
- 120. Balss J, Meyer J, Mueller W, Korshunov A, Hartmann C, and von Deimling A. Analysis of the IDH1 codon 132 mutation in brain tumors. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2008;116(6):597-602.
- 121. Capper D, Zentgraf H, Balss J, Hartmann C, and von Deimling A. Monoclonal antibody specific for IDH1 R132H mutation. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2009;118(5):599-601.
- 122. Capper D, Weissert S, Balss J, Habel A, Meyer J, Jager D, Ackermann U, Tessmer C, Korshunov A, Zentgraf H, et al. Characterization of R132H mutation-specific IDH1 antibody binding in brain tumors. *Brain Pathol.* 2010;20(1):245-54.
- 123. Reitman ZJ, and Yan H. Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2 mutations in cancer: alterations at a

crossroads of cellular metabolism. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(13):932-41.

- 124. Dang L, White DW, Gross S, Bennett BD, Bittinger MA, Driggers EM, Fantin VR, Jang HG, Jin S, and Keenan MC. Cancer-associated IDH1 mutations produce 2-hydroxyglutarate. *Nature*. 2009;462(7274):739.
- 125. Xu W, Yang H, Liu Y, Yang Y, Wang P, Kim SH, Ito S, Yang C, Wang P, Xiao MT, et al. Oncometabolite 2-hydroxyglutarate is a competitive inhibitor of alpha-ketoglutarate-dependent dioxygenases. *Cancer Cell.* 2011;19(1):17-30.
- 126. Fu Y, Zheng S, Zheng Y, Huang R, An N, Liang A, and Hu C. Glioma derived isocitrate dehydrogenase-2 mutations induced up-regulation of HIF-1α and β-catenin signaling: Possible impact on glioma cell metastasis and chemo-resistance. *The international journal of biochemistry* & cell biology. 2012;44(5):770-5.
- 127. Koivunen P, Lee S, Duncan CG, Lopez G, Lu G, Ramkissoon S, Losman JA, Joensuu P, Bergmann U, and Gross S. Transformation by the (R)-enantiomer of 2-hydroxyglutarate linked to EGLN activation. *Nature*. 2012;483(7390):484.
- 128. Dunn GP, Andronesi OC, and Cahill DP. From genomics to the clinic: biological and translational insights of mutant IDH1/2 in glioma. *Neurosurg Focus.* 2013;34(2):E2.
- 129. Cairncross JG, Wang M, Jenkins RB, Shaw EG, Giannini C, Brachman DG, Buckner JC, Fink KL, Souhami L, and Laperriere NJ. Benefit from procarbazine, lomustine, and vincristine in oligodendroglial tumors is associated with mutation of IDH. *J Clin Oncol.* 2014;32(8):783.
- Fujii T, Khawaja MR, DiNardo CD, Atkins JT, and Janku F. Targeting isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) in cancer. *Discov Med.* 2016;21(117):373-80.
- Popovici-Muller J, Saunders JO, Salituro FG, Travins JM, Yan S, Zhao F, Gross S, Dang L, Yen KE, and Yang H. Discovery of the first potent inhibitors of mutant IDH1 that lower tumor 2-HG in vivo. *ACS Med Chem Lett.* 2012;3(10):850-5.
- 132. Chaturvedi A, Cruz MMA, Jyotsana N, Sharma A, Yun H, Görlich K, Wichmann M, Schwarzer A, Preller M, and Thol F. Mutant IDH1 promotes leukemogenesis in vivo and can be specifically targeted in human AML. *Blood.* 2013;122(16):2877-87.
- 133. Li L, Paz AC, Wilky BA, Johnson B, Galoian K, Rosenberg A, Hu G, Tinoco G, Bodamer O, and Trent JC. Treatment with a small molecule mutant IDH1 inhibitor suppresses tumorigenic activity and decreases production of the oncometabolite 2-hydroxyglutarate in human chondrosarcoma cells. *PLoS One.* 2015;10(9):e0133813.
- 134. Burris H, Mellinghoff I, Maher E, Wen P, Beeram M, Touat M, Faris J, Azad N, Cloughesy T, and Gore L. AACR; 2015.
- Wang F, Travins J, DeLaBarre B, Penard-Lacronique V, Schalm S, Hansen E, Straley K, Kernytsky A, Liu W, and Gliser C. Targeted inhibition of mutant IDH2 in leukemia cells induces cellular differentiation. *Science*. 2013;340(6132):622-6.
- 136. Yen K, Travins J, Wang F, David MD, Artin E, Straley K, Padyana A, Gross S, DeLaBarre B, and Tobin E. AG-221, a first-in-class therapy targeting acute myeloid leukemia harboring oncogenic IDH2 mutations. *Cancer Discov.* 2017;7(5):478-93.

- 137. Ellwood-Yen K, Wang F, Travins J, Chen Y, Yang H, Straley K, Choe S, Dorsch M, Agresta S, and Schenkein D. AACR; 2014.
- DiNardo C, Stein E, Altman J, Collins R, DeAngelo D, Fathi A, Flinn I, Frankel A, Levine R, and Medeiros B. *Haematologica*. FERRATA STORTI FOUNDATION VIA GIUSEPPE BELLI 4, 27100 PAVIA, ITALY; 2015:216-7.
- 139. Vogazianou AP, Chan R, Bäcklund LM, Pearson DM, Liu L, Langford CF, Gregory SG, Collins VP, and Ichimura K. Distinct patterns of 1p and 19q alterations identify subtypes of human gliomas that have different prognoses. *Neuro Oncol.* 2010;12(7):664-78.
- 140. Jeuken JW, von Deimling A, and Wesseling P. Molecular pathogenesis of oligodendroglial tumors. *J Neurooncol.* 2004;70(2):161-81.
- 141. Cairncross JG, Ueki K, Zlatescu MC, Lisle DK, Finkelstein DM, Hammond RR, Silver JS, Stark PC, Macdonald DR, Ino Y, et al. Specific genetic predictors of chemotherapeutic response and survival in patients with anaplastic oligodendrogliomas. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1998;90(19):1473-9.
- 142. Cairncross G, Berkey B, Shaw E, Jenkins R, Scheithauer B, Brachman D, Buckner J, Fink K, Souhami L, Laperierre N, et al. Phase III trial of chemotherapy plus radiotherapy compared with radiotherapy alone for pure and mixed anaplastic oligodendroglioma: Intergroup Radiation Therapy Oncology Group Trial 9402. *J Clin Oncol.* 2006;24(18):2707-14.
- 143. Jenkins RB, Blair H, Ballman KV, Giannini C, Arusell RM, Law M, Flynn H, Passe S, Felten S, Brown PD, et al. A t(1;19)(q10;p10) mediates the combined deletions of 1p and 19q and predicts a better prognosis of patients with oligodendroglioma. *Cancer Res.* 2006;66(20):9852-61.
- 144. Griffin CA, Burger P, Morsberger L, Yonescu R, Swierczynski S, Weingart JD, and Murphy KM. Identification of der (1; 19)(q10; p10) in five oligodendrogliomas suggests mechanism of concurrent 1p and 19q loss. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* 2006;65(10):988-94.
- 145. Brandner S, and Deimling A. Diagnostic, prognostic and predictive relevance of molecular markers in gliomas. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol.* 2015;41(6):694-720.
- 146. Bettegowda C, Agrawal N, Jiao Y, Sausen M, Wood LD, Hruban RH, Rodriguez FJ, Cahill DP, McLendon R, and Riggins G. Mutations in CIC and FUBP1 contribute to human oligodendroglioma. *Science.* 2011;333(6048):1453-5.
- 147. Sahm F, Koelsche C, Meyer J, Pusch S, Lindenberg K, Mueller W, Herold-Mende C, von Deimling A, and Hartmann C. CIC and FUBP1 mutations in oligodendrogliomas, oligoastrocytomas and astrocytomas. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2012;123(6):853-60.
- 148. van den Bent MJ, Carpentier AF, Brandes AA, Sanson M, Taphoorn MJ, Bernsen HJ, Frenay M, Tijssen CC, Grisold W, Sipos L, et al. Adjuvant procarbazine, lomustine, and vincristine improves progression-free survival but not overall survival in newly diagnosed anaplastic oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas: a randomized European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer phase III trial. *J Clin Oncol.* 2006;24(18):2715-22.
- 149. Kouwenhoven MC, Kros JM, French PJ, Biemond-ter Stege EM, Graveland WJ, Taphoorn MJ, Brandes AA, and van den Bent MJ. 1p/19q loss within oligodendroglioma is predictive for response to first line temozolomide but not to salvage treatment. *Eur J Cancer.* 2006;42(15):2499-503.
- 150. Kujas M, Lejeune J, Benouaich-Amiel A, Crinière E, Laigle-Donadey F, Marie Y, Mokhtari K, Polivka

M, Bernier M, and Chretien F. Chromosome 1p loss: a favorable prognostic factor in low-grade gliomas. *Ann Neurol.* 2005;58(2):322-6.

- 151. Clark K, Villano J, Nikiforova M, Hamilton R, and Horbinski C. 1p/19q testing has no significance in the workup of glioblastomas. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol.* 2013;39(6):706-17.
- 152. Von Deimling A, Korshunov A, and Hartmann C. The next generation of glioma biomarkers: MGMT methylation, BRAF fusions and IDH1 mutations. *Brain Pathol.* 2011;21(1):74-87.
- 153. Weller M, Stupp R, Reifenberger G, Brandes AA, Van Den Bent MJ, Wick W, and Hegi ME. MGMT promoter methylation in malignant gliomas: ready for personalized medicine? *Nature Reviews Neurology*. 2010;6(1):39.
- 154. Riemenschneider MJ, Hegi ME, and Reifenberger G. MGMT promoter methylation in malignant gliomas. *Target Oncol.* 2010;5(3):161-5.
- 155. Karayan-Tapon L, Quillien V, Guilhot J, Wager M, Fromont G, Saikali S, Etcheverry A, Hamlat A, Loussouarn D, and Campion L. Prognostic value of O 6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase status in glioblastoma patients, assessed by five different methods. *J Neurooncol.* 2010;97(3):311-22.
- 156. Brandes AA, Tosoni A, Cavallo G, Reni M, Franceschi E, Bonaldi L, Bertorelle R, Gardiman M, Ghimenton C, and Iuzzolino P. Correlations Between O6-Methylguanine DNA Methyltransferase Promoter Methylation Status, 1p and 19q Deletions, and Response to Temozolomide in Anaplastic and Recurrent Oligodendroglioma: A. *J Clin Oncol.* 2006;24(29):4746-53.
- 157. Van den Bent MJ, Dubbink HJ, Marie Y, Brandes AA, Taphoorn MJ, Wesseling P, Frenay M, Tijssen CC, Lacombe D, and Idbaih A. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are prognostic but not predictive for outcome in anaplastic oligodendroglial tumors: a report of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Brain Tumor Group. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2010;16(5):1597-604.
- 158. Zhang J, Stevens MF, and Bradshaw TD. Temozolomide: mechanisms of action, repair and resistance. *Curr Mol Pharmacol.* 2012;5(1):102-14.
- 159. Wick W, Weller M, Van Den Bent M, Sanson M, Weiler M, Von Deimling A, Plass C, Hegi M, Platten M, and Reifenberger G. MGMT testing—the challenges for biomarker-based glioma treatment. *Nature Reviews Neurology.* 2014;10(7):372.
- Narayana A, Gruber D, Kunnakkat S, Golfinos JG, Parker E, Raza S, Zagzag D, Eagan P, and Gruber ML. A clinical trial of bevacizumab, temozolomide, and radiation for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *J Neurosurg.* 2012;116(2):341-5.
- 161. Hegi ME, Diserens AC, Gorlia T, Hamou MF, de Tribolet N, Weller M, Kros JM, Hainfellner JA, Mason W, Mariani L, et al. MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. *The New England journal of medicine.* 2005;352(10):997-1003.
- 162. Wick W, Platten M, Meisner C, Felsberg J, Tabatabai G, Simon M, Nikkhah G, Papsdorf K, Steinbach JP, Sabel M, et al. Temozolomide chemotherapy alone versus radiotherapy alone for malignant astrocytoma in the elderly: the NOA-08 randomised, phase 3 trial. *The lancet oncology.* 2012;13(7):707-15.
- 163. Wick W, Meisner C, Hentschel B, Platten M, Schilling A, Wiestler B, Sabel MC, Koeppen S, Ketter R, and Weiler M. Prognostic or predictive value of MGMT promoter methylation in gliomas depends

on IDH1 mutation. Neurology. 2013;81(17):1515-22.

- 164. Weller M, Tabatabai G, Kästner B, Felsberg J, Steinbach JP, Wick A, Schnell O, Hau P, Herrlinger U, and Sabel MC. MGMT promoter methylation is a strong prognostic biomarker for benefit from dose-intensified temozolomide rechallenge in progressive glioblastoma: the DIRECTOR trial. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2015;21(9):2057-64.
- 165. Felsberg J, Thon N, Eigenbrod S, Hentschel B, Sabel MC, Westphal M, Schackert G, Kreth FW, Pietsch T, and Löffler M. Promoter methylation and expression of MGMT and the DNA mismatch repair genes MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2 in paired primary and recurrent glioblastomas. *Int J Cancer.* 2011;129(3):659-70.
- 166. Abedalthagafi M, Phillips JJ, Kim GE, Mueller S, Haas-Kogen DA, Marshall RE, Croul SE, Santi MR, Cheng J, and Zhou S. The alternative lengthening of telomere phenotype is significantly associated with loss of ATRX expression in high-grade pediatric and adult astrocytomas: a multi-institutional study of 214 astrocytomas. *Mod Pathol.* 2013;26(11):1425.
- 167. Heaphy CM, Subhawong AP, Hong S-M, Goggins MG, Montgomery EA, Gabrielson E, Netto GJ, Epstein JI, Lotan TL, and Westra WH. Prevalence of the alternative lengthening of telomeres telomere maintenance mechanism in human cancer subtypes. *The American journal of pathology.* 2011;179(4):1608-15.
- 168. Liu X-Y, Gerges N, Korshunov A, Sabha N, Khuong-Quang D-A, Fontebasso AM, Fleming A, Hadjadj D, Schwartzentruber J, and Majewski J. Frequent ATRX mutations and loss of expression in adult diffuse astrocytic tumors carrying IDH1/IDH2 and TP53 mutations. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2012;124(5):615-25.
- 169. Kannan K, Inagaki A, Silber J, Gorovets D, Zhang J, Kastenhuber ER, Heguy A, Petrini JH, Chan TA, and Huse JT. Whole exome sequencing identifies ATRX mutation as a key molecular determinant in lower-grade glioma. *Oncotarget.* 2012;3(10):1194.
- Heaphy CM, De Wilde RF, Jiao Y, Klein AP, Edil BH, Shi C, Bettegowda C, Rodriguez FJ, Eberhart CG, and Hebbar S. Altered telomeres in tumors with ATRX and DAXX mutations. *Science*. 2011;333(6041):425-.
- 171. Cai J, Zhu P, Zhang C, Li Q, Wang Z, Li G, Wang G, Yang P, Li J, and Han B. Detection of ATRX and IDH1-R132H immunohistochemistry in the progression of 211 paired gliomas. *Oncotarget.* 2016;7(13):16384.
- 172. Wiestler B, Capper D, Holland-Letz T, Korshunov A, von Deimling A, Pfister SM, Platten M, Weller M, and Wick W. ATRX loss refines the classification of anaplastic gliomas and identifies a subgroup of IDH mutant astrocytic tumors with better prognosis. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2013;126(3):443-51.
- 173. Reuss DE, Sahm F, Schrimpf D, Wiestler B, Capper D, Koelsche C, Schweizer L, Korshunov A, Jones DT, and Hovestadt V. ATRX and IDH1-R132H immunohistochemistry with subsequent copy number analysis and IDH sequencing as a basis for an "integrated" diagnostic approach for adult astrocytoma, oligodendroglioma and glioblastoma. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2015;129(1):133-46.
- 174. Grier DG, Thompson A, Kwasniewska A, McGonigle GJ, Halliday HL, and Lappin TR. The pathophysiology of HOX genes and their role in cancer. *The Journal of pathology.* 2005;205(2):154-71.

- 175. Pearson JC, Lemons D, and McGinnis W. Modulating Hox gene functions during animal body patterning. *Nature reviews Genetics.* 2005;6(12):893-904.
- 176. Takahashi Y, Hamada J, Murakawa K, Takada M, Tada M, Nogami I, Hayashi N, Nakamori S, Monden M, Miyamoto M, et al. Expression profiles of 39 HOX genes in normal human adult organs and anaplastic thyroid cancer cell lines by quantitative real-time RT-PCR system. *Exp Cell Res.* 2004;293(1):144-53.
- 177. Yamamoto M, Takai D, and Yamamoto F. Comprehensive expression profiling of highly homologous 39 hox genes in 26 different human adult tissues by the modified systematic multiplex RT-pCR method reveals tissue-specific expression pattern that suggests an important role of chromosomal structure in the regulation of hox gene expression in adult tissues. *Gene Expr.* 2003;11(3-4):199-210.
- 178. Morgan R. Hox genes: a continuation of embryonic patterning? *Trends in genetics : TIG.* 2006;22(2):67-9.
- 179. Neville SE, Baigent SM, Bicknell AB, Lowry PJ, and Gladwell RT. Hox gene expression in adult tissues with particular reference to the adrenal gland. *Endocr Res.* 2002;28(4):669-73.
- 180. Cantile M, Pettinato G, Procino A, Feliciello I, Cindolo L, and Cillo C. In vivo expression of the whole HOX gene network in human breast cancer. *Eur J Cancer.* 2003;39(2):257-64.
- 181. Ma XJ, Dahiya S, Richardson E, Erlander M, and Sgroi DC. Gene expression profiling of the tumor microenvironment during breast cancer progression. *Breast Cancer Res.* 2009;11(1):R7.
- 182. Unger MA, Lakins J, Zhang HX, Foster W, Baxter BJ, Chodosh L, Weaver VM, and Weber BL. HoxA9 is a novel breast cancer progression gene identified by microarray analysis. *Am J Hum Genet.* 2002;71(4):181-.
- 183. Costa BM, Smith JS, Chen Y, Chen J, Phillips HS, Aldape KD, Zardo G, Nigro J, James CD, Fridlyand J, et al. Reversing HOXA9 oncogene activation by PI3K inhibition: epigenetic mechanism and prognostic significance in human glioblastoma. *Cancer Res.* 2010;70(2):453-62.
- 184. Gaspar N, Marshall L, Perryman L, Bax DA, Little SE, Viana-Pereira M, Sharp SY, Vassal G, Pearson AD, Reis RM, et al. MGMT-independent temozolomide resistance in pediatric glioblastoma cells associated with a PI3-kinase-mediated HOX/stem cell gene signature. *Cancer Res.* 2010;70(22):9243-52.
- 185. Murat A, Migliavacca E, Gorlia T, Lambiv WL, Shay T, Hamou MF, de Tribolet N, Regli L, Wick W, Kouwenhoven MC, et al. Stem cell-related "self-renewal" signature and high epidermal growth factor receptor expression associated with resistance to concomitant chemoradiotherapy in glioblastoma. *J Clin Oncol.* 2008;26(18):3015-24.
- 186. Abdel-Fattah R, Xiao A, Bomgardner D, Pease CS, Lopes MBS, and Hussaini IM. Differential expression of HOX genes in neoplastic and non-neoplastic human astrocytes. *J Pathol.* 2006;209(1):15-24.
- 187. Tabuse M, Ohta S, Ohashi Y, Fukaya R, Misawa A, Yoshida K, Kawase T, Saya H, Thirant C, Chneiweiss H, et al. Functional analysis of HOXD9 in human gliomas and glioma cancer stem cells. *Mol Cancer.* 2011;10(1):60.
- 188. Bodey B, Bodey B, Jr., Siegel SE, and Kaiser HE. Immunocytochemical detection of the homeobox

B3, B4, and C6 gene products in childhood medulloblastomas/primitive neuroectodermal tumors. *Anticancer Res.* 2000;20(3A):1769-80.

- 189. Tiberio C, Barba P, Magli MC, Arvelo F, Le Chevalier T, Poupon MF, and Cillo C. HOX gene expression in human small-cell lung cancers xenografted into nude mice. *Int J Cancer.* 1994;58(4):608-15.
- 190. Calvo R, West J, Franklin W, Erickson P, Bemis L, Li E, Helfrich B, Bunn P, Roche J, Brambilla E, et al. Altered HOX and WNT7A expression in human lung cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2000;97(23):12776-81.
- 191. De Vita G, Barba P, Odartchenko N, Givel JC, Freschi G, Bucciarelli G, Magli MC, Boncinelli E, and Cillo C. Expression of homeobox-containing genes in primary and metastatic colorectal cancer. *Eur J Cancer.* 1993;29A(6):887-93.
- 192. Alami Y, Castronovo V, Belotti D, Flagiello D, and Clausse N. HOXC5 and HOXC8 expression are selectively turned on in human cervical cancer cells compared to normal keratinocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1999;257(3):738-45.
- 193. Cantile M, Cindolo L, Napodano G, Altieri V, and Cillo C. Hyperexpression of locus C genes in the HOX network is strongly associated in vivo with human bladder transitional cell carcinomas. *Oncogene.* 2003;22(41):6462-8.
- 194. Reinert T, Modin C, Castano FM, Lamy P, Wojdacz TK, Hansen LL, Wiuf C, Borre M, Dyrskjot L, and Orntoft TF. Comprehensive Genome Methylation Analysis in Bladder Cancer: Identification and Validation of Novel Methylated Genes and Application of These as Urinary Tumor Markers. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2011;17(17):5582-92.
- 195. Cillo C, Barba P, Freschi G, Bucciarelli G, Magli MC, and Boncinelli E. HOX gene expression in normal and neoplastic human kidney. *Int J Cancer.* 1992;51(6):892-7.
- 196. Golub TR, Slonim DK, Tamayo P, Huard C, Gaasenbeek M, Mesirov JP, Coller H, Loh ML, Downing JR, Caligiuri MA, et al. Molecular classification of cancer: class discovery and class prediction by gene expression monitoring. *Science*. 1999;286(5439):531-7.
- 197. Nakamura T, Largaespada DA, Lee MP, Johnson LA, Ohyashiki K, Toyama K, Chen SJ, Willman CL, Chen IM, Feinberg AP, et al. Fusion of the nucleoporin gene NUP98 to HOXA9 by the chromosome translocation t(7;11)(p15;p15) in human myeloid leukaemia. *Nat Genet.* 1996;12(2):154-8.
- 198. Fujino T, Suzuki A, Ito Y, Ohyashiki K, Hatano Y, Miura I, and Nakamura T. Single-translocation and double-chimeric transcripts: detection of NUP98-HOXA9 in myeloid leukemias with HOXA11 or HOXA13 breaks of the chromosomal translocation t(7;11)(p15;p15). *Blood.* 2002;99(4):1428-33.
- 199. Borrow J, Shearman AM, Stanton VP, Jr., Becher R, Collins T, Williams AJ, Dube I, Katz F, Kwong YL, Morris C, et al. The t(7;11)(p15;p15) translocation in acute myeloid leukaemia fuses the genes for nucleoporin NUP98 and class I homeoprotein HOXA9. *Nat Genet.* 1996;12(2):159-67.
- Esposito MT, Zhao L, Fung TK, Rane JK, Wilson A, Martin N, Gil J, Leung AY, Ashworth A, and So CW. Synthetic lethal targeting of oncogenic transcription factors in acute leukemia by PARP inhibitors. *Nat Med.* 2015;21(12):1481-90.
- 201. Pojo M, Goncalves CS, Xavier-Magalhaes A, Oliveira AI, Goncalves T, Correia S, Rodrigues AJ, Costa

S, Pinto L, Pinto AA, et al. A transcriptomic signature mediated by HOXA9 promotes human glioblastoma initiation, aggressiveness and resistance to temozolomide. *Oncotarget.* 2015;6(10):7657-74.

- 202. Gonçalves CS, Lourenço T, Xavier-Magalhães A, Pojo M, and Costa BM. In: Lichtor T ed. *Evolution of the Molecular Biology of Brain Tumors and the Therapeutic Implications*. InTech; 2013.
- 203. Shapiro GI. Cyclin-dependent kinase pathways as targets for cancer treatment. *J Clin Oncol.* 2006;24(11):1770-83.
- 204. McNamara MG, Sahebjam S, and Mason WP. Emerging biomarkers in glioblastoma. *Cancers* (*Basel*). 2013;5(3):1103-19.
- 205. TCGA. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathway. *Nature.* 2008;455(7216):1061-8.
- 206. Bäcklund L, Nilsson B, Liu L, Ichimura K, and Collins V. Mutations in Rb1 pathway-related genes are associated with poor prognosis in anaplastic astrocytomas. *Br J Cancer.* 2005;93(1):124.
- 207. Ang C, Guiot M-C, Ramanakumar A, Roberge D, and Kavan P. Clinical significance of molecular biomarkers in glioblastoma. *Can J Neurol Sci.* 2010;37(5):625-30.
- 208. Puduvalli VK, Kyritsis AP, Hess KR, Bondy ML, Fuller GN, Kouraklis GP, Levin VA, and Bruner JM. Patterns of expression of Rb and p16 in astrocytic gliomas, and correlation with survival. *Int J Oncol.* 2000;17(5):963-72.
- 209. Aubrey BJ, Kelly GL, Janic A, Herold MJ, and Strasser A. How does p53 induce apoptosis and how does this relate to p53-mediated tumour suppression? *Cell Death Differ.* 2018;25(1):104.
- 210. Louis DN. The p53 gene and protein in human brain tumors. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* 1994;53(1):11-21.
- 211. Riemenschneider MJ, Buschges R, Wolter M, Reifenberger J, Bostrom J, Kraus JA, Schlegel U, and Reifenberger G. Amplification and overexpression of the MDM4 (MDMX) gene from 1q32 in a subset of malignant gliomas without TP53 mutation or MDM2 amplification. *Cancer Res.* 1999;59(24):6091-6.
- 212. Bagchi A, Papazoglu C, Wu Y, Capurso D, Brodt M, Francis D, Bredel M, Vogel H, and Mills AA. CHD5 is a tumor suppressor at human 1p36. *Cell.* 2007;128(3):459-75.
- Messaoudi K, Clavreul A, and Lagarce F. Toward an effective strategy in glioblastoma treatment. Part I: resistance mechanisms and strategies to overcome resistance of glioblastoma to temozolomide. *Drug discovery today.* 2015;20(7):899-905.
- 214. Carlsson SK, Brothers SP, and Wahlestedt C. Emerging treatment strategies for glioblastoma multiforme. *EMBO Mol Med.* 2014;6(11):1359-70.
- 215. Shi D, and Gu W. Dual roles of MDM2 in the regulation of p53: ubiquitination dependent and ubiquitination independent mechanisms of MDM2 repression of p53 activity. *Genes Cancer.* 2012;3(3-4):240-8.
- 216. Karsy M, Neil JA, Guan J, Mahan MA, Colman H, and Jensen RL. A practical review of prognostic correlations of molecular biomarkers in glioblastoma. *Neurosurg Focus.* 2015;38(3):E4.
- 217. Hennessy BT, Smith DL, Ram PT, Lu Y, and Mills GB. Exploiting the PI3K/AKT pathway for cancer

drug discovery. Nature reviews Drug discovery. 2005;4(12):988.

- 218. TCGA. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. *Nature.* 2008;455(7216):1061-8.
- 219. Stephenson S-A, Mertens-Walker I, and Herington A. *Current Frontiers and Perspectives in Cell Biology*. InTech; 2012.
- 220. Zorzan M, Giordan E, Redaelli M, Caretta A, and Mucignat-Caretta C. Molecular targets in glioblastoma. *Future Oncology.* 2015;11(9):1407-20.
- 221. Ohka F, Natsume A, and Wakabayashi T. Current trends in targeted therapies for glioblastoma multiforme. *Neurol Res Int.* 2012;2012:878425.
- 222. Fenton TR, Nathanson D, De Albuquerque CP, Kuga D, Iwanami A, Dang J, Yang H, Tanaka K, Oba-Shinjo SM, and Uno M. Resistance to EGF receptor inhibitors in glioblastoma mediated by phosphorylation of the PTEN tumor suppressor at tyrosine 240. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 2012;109(35):14164-9.
- 223. Ou S-HI. Second-generation irreversible epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs): a better mousetrap? A review of the clinical evidence. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* 2012;83(3):407-21.
- 224. Agarwal S, Sane R, Oberoi R, Ohlfest JR, and Elmquist WF. Delivery of molecularly targeted therapy to malignant glioma, a disease of the whole brain. *Expert Rev Mol Med.* 2011;13:e17.
- 225. Strumberg D, Schultheis B, Scheulen M, Hilger R, Krauss J, Marschner N, Lordick F, Bach F, Reuter D, and Edler L. Phase II study of nimotuzumab, a humanized monoclonal anti-epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) antibody, in patients with locally advanced or metastatic pancreatic cancer. *Invest New Drugs.* 2012;30(3):1138-43.
- 226. Reardon DA, Wen PY, and Mellinghoff IK. Targeted molecular therapies against epidermal growth factor receptor: past experiences and challenges. *Neuro Oncol.* 2014;16(suppl_8):viii7-viii13.
- 227. Eisenstat D, Nabors L, Mason W, Perry J, Shapiro W, Kavan P, Phuphanich S, Fu Y, Cong X, and Shahidi M. A phase II study of daily afatinib (BIBW 2992) with or without temozolomide (21/28 days) in the treatment of patients with recurrent glioblastoma. *J Clin Oncol.* 2011;29(15_suppl):2010-.
- 228. Vivanco I, Robins HI, Rohle D, Campos C, Grommes C, Nghiemphu PL, Kubek S, Oldrini B, Chheda MG, and Yannuzzi N. Differential sensitivity of glioma-versus lung cancer–specific EGFR mutations to EGFR kinase inhibitors. *Cancer Discov.* 2012;2(5):458-71.
- 229. Thiessen B, Stewart C, Tsao M, Kamel-Reid S, Schaiquevich P, Mason W, Easaw J, Belanger K, Forsyth P, and McIntosh L. A phase I/II trial of GW572016 (lapatinib) in recurrent glioblastoma multiforme: clinical outcomes, pharmacokinetics and molecular correlation. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* 2010;65(2):353-61.
- 230. Longo SL, Padalino DJ, McGillis S, Petersen K, Schirok H, Politz O, Canute GW, and Post DE. Bay846, a new irreversible small molecule inhibitor of EGFR and Her2, is highly effective against malignant brain tumor models. *Invest New Drugs.* 2012;30(6):2161-72.
- 231. Sampson JH, Aldape KD, Archer GE, Coan A, Desjardins A, Friedman AH, Friedman HS, Gilbert

MR, Herndon JE, and McLendon RE. Greater chemotherapy-induced lymphopenia enhances tumorspecific immune responses that eliminate EGFRvIII-expressing tumor cells in patients with glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol.* 2010;13(3):324-33.

- 232. Babu R, and Adamson DC. Rindopepimut: an evidence-based review of its therapeutic potential in the treatment of EGFRvIII-positive glioblastoma. *Core evidence.* 2012;7:93.
- 233. Blesa JMG, Mollá SB, Esparcia MF, Ortells JS, Godoy MP, Das AM, Magan BM, Pulla MP, Sanchez JL, and Canales JBL. Durable complete remission of a brainstem glioma treated with a combination of bevacizumab and cetuximab. *Case Rep Oncol.* 2012;5(3):676-81.
- 234. Taylor DD, and Gercel-Taylor C. Semin Immunopathol. Springer; 2011:441-54.
- 235. Hegi ME, Rajakannu P, and Weller M. Epidermal growth factor receptor: a re-emerging target in glioblastoma. *Curr Opin Neurol.* 2012;25(6):774-9.
- 236. Fan Q-W, and Weiss WA. *Phosphoinositide 3-kinase in Health and Disease*. Springer; 2010:279-96.
- 237. Workman P, Clarke PA, Raynaud FI, and van Montfort RL. Drugging the PI3 kinome: from chemical tools to drugs in the clinic. *Cancer Res.* 2010;70(6):2146-57.
- 238. Verhaak RG, Hoadley KA, Purdom E, Wang V, Qi Y, Wilkerson MD, Miller CR, Ding L, Golub T, Mesirov JP, et al. Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. *Cancer Cell.* 2010;17(1):98-110.
- 239. Brennan C, Momota H, Hambardzumyan D, Ozawa T, Tandon A, Pedraza A, and Holland E. Glioblastoma subclasses can be defined by activity among signal transduction pathways and associated genomic alterations. *PLoS One.* 2009;4(11):e7752.
- 240. Reardon DA, Norden AD, Desjardins A, Vredenburgh JJ, Herndon JE, Coan A, Sampson JH, Gururangan S, Peters KB, and McLendon RE. Phase II study of Gleevec® plus hydroxyurea (HU) in adults with progressive or recurrent meningioma. *J Neurooncol.* 2012;106(2):409-15.
- 241. Czabanka M, Bruenner J, Parmaksiz G, Broggini T, Topalovic M, Bayerl S, Auf G, Kremenetskaia I, Nieminen M, and Jabouille A. Combined temozolomide and sunitinib treatment leads to better tumour control but increased vascular resistance in O6-methylguanine methyltransferasemethylated gliomas. *Eur J Cancer.* 2013;49(9):2243-52.
- 242. Den RB, Kamrava M, Sheng Z, Werner-Wasik M, Dougherty E, Marinucchi M, Lawrence YR, Hegarty S, Hyslop T, and Andrews DW. A phase I study of the combination of sorafenib with temozolomide and radiation therapy for the treatment of primary and recurrent high-grade gliomas. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics.* 2013;85(2):321-8.
- 243. Kreisl TN, McNeill KA, Sul J, Iwamoto FM, Shih J, and Fine HA. A phase I/II trial of vandetanib for patients with recurrent malignant glioma. *Neuro Oncol.* 2012;14(12):1519-26.
- 244. Dresemann G, Weller M, Rosenthal MA, Wedding U, Wagner W, Engel E, Heinrich B, Mayer-Steinacker R, Karup-Hansen A, Fluge O, et al. Imatinib in combination with hydroxyurea versus hydroxyurea alone as oral therapy in patients with progressive pretreated glioblastoma resistant to standard dose temozolomide. *J Neurooncol.* 2010;96(3):393-402.

- 245. Pan E, Yu D, Yue B, Potthast L, Chowdhary S, Smith P, and Chamberlain M. A prospective phase II single-institution trial of sunitinib for recurrent malignant glioma. *J Neurooncol.* 2012;110(1):111-8.
- 246. Kreisl TN, Smith P, Sul J, Salgado C, Iwamoto FM, Shih JH, and Fine HA. Continuous daily sunitinib for recurrent glioblastoma. *J Neurooncol.* 2013;111(1):41-8.
- 247. Reardon DA, Vredenburgh JJ, Desjardins A, Peters K, Gururangan S, Sampson JH, Marcello J, Herndon JE, 2nd, McLendon RE, Janney D, et al. Effect of CYP3A-inducing anti-epileptics on sorafenib exposure: results of a phase II study of sorafenib plus daily temozolomide in adults with recurrent glioblastoma. *J Neurooncol.* 2011;101(1):57-66.
- 248. Lathia JD, Mack SC, Mulkearns-Hubert EE, Valentim CL, and Rich JN. Cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. *Genes Dev.* 2015;29(12):1203-17.
- 249. Visvader JE, and Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. *Nat Rev Cancer.* 2008;8(10):755-68.
- 250. Nusse R, and Varmus HE. Many tumors induced by the mouse mammary tumor virus contain a provirus integrated in the same region of the host genome. *Cell.* 1982;31(1):99-109.
- 251. Nusse R, and Varmus H. Three decades of Wnts: a personal perspective on how a scientific field developed. *The EMBO journal.* 2012;31(12):2670-84.
- 252. Nusse R, van Ooyen A, Cox D, Fung YKT, and Varmus H. Mode of proviral activation of a putative mammary oncogene (int-1) on mouse chromosome 15. *Nature*. 1984;307(5947):131.
- 253. van Ooyen A, and Nusse R. Structure and nucleotide sequence of the putative mammary oncogene int-1; proviral insertions leave the protein-encoding domain intact. *Cell.* 1984;39(1):233-40.
- 254. Fung Y, Shackleford G, Brown A, Sanders G, and Varmus H. Nucleotide sequence and expression in vitro of cDNA derived from mRNA of int-1, a provirally activated mouse mammary oncogene. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1985;5(12):3337-44.
- 255. Ooyen Av, Kwee V, and Nusse R. The nucleotide sequence of the human int-1 mammary oncogene; evolutionary conservation of coding and non-coding sequences. *The EMBO journal*. 1985;4(11):2905-9.
- 256. Tsukamoto AS, Grosschedl R, Guzman RC, Parslow T, and Varmus HE. Expression of the int-1 gene in transgenic mice is associated with mammary gland hyperplasia and adenocarcinomas in male and female mice. *Cell.* 1988;55(4):619-25.
- 257. Nüsslein-Volhard C, and Wieschaus E. Mutations affecting segment number and polarity in Drosophila. *Nature.* 1980;287(5785):795.
- 258. Sharma R, and Chopra V. Effect of the Wingless (wg1) mutation on wing and haltere development in Drosophila melanogaster. *Dev Biol.* 1976;48(2):461-5.
- 259. Rijsewijk F, Schuermann M, Wagenaar E, Parren P, Weigel D, and Nusse R. The Drosophila homology of the mouse mammary oncogene int-1 is identical to the segment polarity gene wingless. *Cell.* 1987;50(4):649-57.
- 260. Baker NE. Molecular cloning of sequences from wingless, a segment polarity gene in Drosophila: the spatial distribution of a transcript in embryos. *The EMBO journal.* 1987;6(6):1765-73.

- 261. Boveri T. Concerning the origin of malignant tumours by Theodor Boveri. Translated and annotated by Henry Harris. *J Cell Sci.* 2008;121(Supplement 1):1-84.
- Dickson C, Smith R, Brookes S, and Peters G. Tumorigenesis by mouse mammary tumor virus: proviral activation of a cellular gene in the common integration region int-2. *Cell.* 1984;37(2):529-36.
- Gallahan D, and Callahan R. Mammary tumorigenesis in feral mice: identification of a new int locus in mouse mammary tumor virus (Czech II)-induced mammary tumors. *J Virol.* 1987;61(1):66-74.
- Roelink H, Wagenaar E, Da Silva SL, and Nusse R. Wnt-3, a gene activated by proviral insertion in mouse mammary tumors, is homologous to int-1/Wnt-1 and is normally expressed in mouse embryos and adult brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 1990;87(12):4519-23.
- 265. Dickson C, and Peters G. Potential oncogene product related to growth factors. *Nature*. 1987;326(6116):833.
- 266. Gallahan D, and Callahan R. The mouse mammary tumor associated gene INT3 is a unique member of the NOTCH gene family (NOTCH4). *Oncogene.* 1997;14(16):1883.
- 267. Gavin BJ, McMahon JA, and McMahon AP. Expression of multiple novel Wnt-1/int-1-related genes during fetal and adult mouse development. *Genes Dev.* 1990;4(12b):2319-32.
- 268. Nusse R, Brown A, Papkoff J, Scambler P, Shackleford G, McMahon A, Moon R, and Varmus H. A new nomenclature for int-1 and related genes: the Wnt gene family. *Cell.* 1991;64(2):231.
- 269. Nusse R, and Clevers H. WNT/beta-catenin signaling, disease, and emerging therapeutic modalities. *Cell.* 2017;169(6):985-99.
- 270. Liu C, Li Y, Semenov M, Han C, Baeg G-H, Tan Y, Zhang Z, Lin X, and He X. Control of β-catenin phosphorylation/degradation by a dual-kinase mechanism. *Cell.* 2002;108(6):837-47.
- 271. Aberle H, Bauer A, Stappert J, Kispert A, and Kemler R. β-catenin is a target for the ubiquitin– proteasome pathway. *The EMBO journal*. 1997;16(13):3797-804.
- 272. Kitagawa M, Hatakeyama S, Shirane M, Matsumoto M, Ishida N, Hattori K, Nakamichi I, Kikuchi A, Nakayama Ki, and Nakayama K. An F-box protein, FWD1, mediates ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis of β-catenin. *The EMBO journal.* 1999;18(9):2401-10.
- 273. Pronobis MI, Rusan NM, and Peifer M. A novel GSK3-regulated APC: Axin interaction regulates Wnt signaling by driving a catalytic cycle of efficient βcatenin destruction. *Elife.* 2015;4.
- 274. Korswagen HC, Herman MA, and Clevers HC. Distinct β-catenins mediate adhesion and signalling functions in C. elegans. *Nature*. 2000;406(6795):527.
- 275. Bhanot P, Brink M, Samos CH, Hsieh J-C, Wang Y, Macke JP, Andrew D, Nathans J, and Nusse R. A new member of the frizzled family from Drosophila functions as a Wingless receptor. *Nature*. 1996;382(6588):225.
- 276. Janda CY, Waghray D, Levin AM, Thomas C, and Garcia KC. Structural basis of Wnt recognition by Frizzled. *Science*. 2012:1222879.
- 277. Hsieh J-C, Rattner A, Smallwood PM, and Nathans J. Biochemical characterization of Wnt-frizzled interactions using a soluble, biologically active vertebrate Wnt protein. *Proceedings of the National*

Academy of Sciences. 1999;96(7):3546-51.

- 278. Gong Y, Bourhis E, Chiu C, Stawicki S, DeAlmeida VI, Liu BY, Phamluong K, Cao TC, Carano RA, and Ernst JA. Wnt isoform-specific interactions with coreceptor specify inhibition or potentiation of signaling by LRP6 antibodies. *PLoS One.* 2010;5(9):e12682.
- 279. He X, Semenov M, Tamai K, and Zeng X. LDL receptor-related proteins 5 and 6 in Wnt/β-catenin signaling: arrows point the way. *Development*. 2004;131(8):1663-77.
- 280. Tamai K, Zeng X, Liu C, Zhang X, Harada Y, Chang Z, and He X. A mechanism for Wnt coreceptor activation. *Mol Cell.* 2004;13(1):149-56.
- 281. Zeng X, Tamai K, Doble B, Li S, Huang H, Habas R, Okamura H, Woodgett J, and He X. A dualkinase mechanism for Wnt co-receptor phosphorylation and activation. *Nature.* 2005;438(7069):873.
- 282. Davidson G, Wu W, Shen J, Bilic J, Fenger U, Stannek P, Glinka A, and Niehrs C. Casein kinase 1 γ couples Wnt receptor activation to cytoplasmic signal transduction. *Nature*. 2005;438(7069):867.
- 283. Chen W, ten Berge D, Brown J, Ahn S, Hu LA, Miller WE, Caron MG, Barak LS, Nusse R, and Lefkowitz RJ. Dishevelled 2 recruits β-arrestin 2 to mediate Wnt5A-stimulated endocytosis of Frizzled 4. *Science*. 2003;301(5638):1391-4.
- 284. Stamos JL, Chu ML-H, Enos MD, Shah N, and Weis WI. Structural basis of GSK-3 inhibition by N-terminal phosphorylation and by the Wnt receptor LRP6. *Elife.* 2014;3.
- 285. Cavallo RA, Cox RT, Moline MM, Roose J, Polevoy GA, Clevers H, Peifer M, and Bejsovec A. Drosophila Tcf and Groucho interact to repress Wingless signalling activity. *Nature*. 1998;395(6702):604.
- Roose J, Molenaar M, Peterson J, Hurenkamp J, Brantjes H, Moerer P, van de Wetering M, Destrée O, and Clevers H. The Xenopus Wnt effector XTcf-3 interacts with Groucho-related transcriptional repressors. *Nature.* 1998;395(6702):608.
- 287. Daniels DL, and Weis WI. β-catenin directly displaces Groucho/TLE repressors from Tcf/Lef in Wntmediated transcription activation. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*. 2005;12(4):364.
- 288. Behrens J, von Kries JP, Kühl M, Bruhn L, Wedlich D, Grosschedl R, and Birchmeier W. Functional interaction of β-catenin with the transcription factor LEF-1. *Nature*. 1996;382(6592):638.
- 289. Molenaar M, van de Wetering M, Oosterwegel M, Peterson-Maduro J, Godsave S, Korinek V, Roose J, Destrée O, and Clevers H. XTcf-3 transcription factor mediates β-catenin-induced axis formation in Xenopus embryos. *Cell.* 1996;86(3):391-9.
- 290. He TC, Sparks AB, Rago C, Hermeking H, Zawel L, da Costa LT, Morin PJ, Vogelstein B, and Kinzler KW. Identification of c-MYC as a target of the APC pathway. *Science.* 1998;281(5382):1509-12.
- 291. Shah KV, Chien AJ, Yee C, and Moon RT. CTLA-4 is a direct target of Wnt/β-catenin signaling and is expressed in human melanoma tumors. *J Invest Dermatol.* 2008;128(12):2870-9.
- 292. Tetsu O, and McCormick F. Beta-catenin regulates expression of cyclin D1 in colon carcinoma cells. *Nature.* 1999;398(6726):422-6.
- 293. Shtutman M, Zhurinsky J, Simcha I, Albanese C, D'Amico M, Pestell R, and Ben-Ze'ev A. The cyclin

D1 gene is a target of the β -catenin/LEF-1 pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 1999;96(10):5522-7.

- 294. Mann B, Gelos M, Siedow A, Hanski M, Gratchev A, Ilyas M, Bodmer W, Moyer M, Riecken E, and Buhr H. Target genes of β-catenin–T cell-factor/lymphoid-enhancer-factor signaling in human colorectal carcinomas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 1999;96(4):1603-8.
- 295. Hoffmeyer K, Raggioli A, Rudloff S, Anton R, Hierholzer A, Del Valle I, Hein K, Vogt R, and Kemler R. Wnt/β-catenin signaling regulates telomerase in stem cells and cancer cells. *Science*. 2012;336(6088):1549-54.
- 296. Van der Heyden M, Rook MB, Hermans M, Rijksen G, Boonstra J, Defize L, and Destree O. Identification of connexin43 as a functional target for Wnt signalling. *J Cell Sci.* 1998;111(12):1741-9.
- 297. Yamaguchi TP, Takada S, Yoshikawa Y, Wu N, and McMahon AP. T (Brachyury) is a direct target of Wnt3a during paraxial mesoderm specification. *Genes Dev.* 1999;13(24):3185-90.
- 298. Arnold SJ, Stappert J, Bauer A, Kispert A, Herrmann BG, and Kemler R. Brachyury is a target gene of the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. *Mech Dev.* 2000;91(1-2):249-58.
- 299. Dong H, Zhou X-W, Wang X, Yang Y, Luo J-W, Liu Y-H, and Mao Q. Complex role of connexin 43 in astrocytic tumors and possible promotion of glioma-associated epileptic discharge (Review). *Mol Med Rep.* 2017;16(6):7890-900.
- 300. Gautschi O, Ratschiller D, Gugger M, Betticher DC, and Heighway J. Cyclin D1 in non-small cell lung cancer: a key driver of malignant transformation. *Lung Cancer.* 2007;55(1):1-14.
- 301. Kilic N, Feldhaus S, Kilic E, Tennstedt P, Wicklein D, Wasielewski Rv, Viebahn C, Kreipe H, and Schumacher U. Brachyury expression predicts poor prognosis at early stages of colorectal cancer. *Eur J Cancer.* 2011;47(7):1080-5.
- 302. Liu L, Guan H, Li Y, Ying Z, Wu J, Zhu X, Song L, Li J, and Li M. Astrocyte Elevated Gene 1 Interacts with Acetyltransferase p300 and c-Jun To Promote Tumor Aggressiveness. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2017;37(5).
- 303. Luksik AS, Maxwell R, Garzon-Muvdi T, and Lim M. The Role of Immune Checkpoint Inhibition in the Treatment of Brain Tumors. *Neurotherapeutics.* 2017;14(4):1049-65.
- 304. Murphy SF, Varghese RT, Lamouille S, Guo S, Pridham KJ, Kanabur P, Osimani AM, Sharma S, Jourdan J, Rodgers CM, et al. Connexin 43 Inhibition Sensitizes Chemoresistant Glioblastoma Cells to Temozolomide. *Cancer Res.* 2016;76(1):139-49.
- 305. Sallinen SL, Sallinen PK, Kononen JT, Syrjäkoski KM, Nupponen NN, Rantala IS, Helén PT, Helin HJ, and Haapasalo HK. Cyclin D1 expression in astrocytomas is associated with cell proliferation activity and patient prognosis. *J Pathol.* 1999;188(3):289-93.
- 306. Sarkar D, Shields B, Davies ML, Müller J, and Wakeman JA. BRACHYURY confers cancer stem cell characteristics on colorectal cancer cells. *Int J Cancer.* 2012;130(2):328-37.
- 307. Shervington A, Cruickshanks N, Wright H, Atkinson-Dell R, Lea R, Roberts G, and Shervington L. Glioma: what is the role of c-Myc, hsp90 and telomerase? *Mol Cell Biochem.* 2006;283(1-2):1-9.
- 308. Semenov MV, Habas R, MacDonald BT, and He X. SnapShot: noncanonical Wnt signaling pathways.

Cell. 2007;131(7):1378. e1-. e2.

- 309. Cohen ED, Tian Y, and Morrisey EE. Wnt signaling: an essential regulator of cardiovascular differentiation, morphogenesis and progenitor self-renewal. *Development.* 2008;135(5):789-98.
- 310. Rao TP, and Kühl M. An updated overview on Wnt signaling pathways: a prelude for more. *Circ Res.* 2010;106(12):1798-806.
- 311. Kikuchi A, Yamamoto H, Sato A, and Matsumoto S. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol. Elsevier; 2011:21-71.
- 312. Simons M, and Mlodzik M. Planar cell polarity signaling: from fly development to human disease. *Annu Rev Genet.* 2008;42:517-40.
- 313. VanderVorst K, Hatakeyama J, Berg A, Lee H, and Carraway KL. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* Elsevier; 2017.
- 314. Corda G, and Sala A. Non-canonical WNT/PCP signalling in cancer: Fzd6 takes centre stage. *Oncogenesis.* 2017;6(7):e364.
- 315. De A. Wnt/Ca2+ signaling pathway: a brief overview. *Acta biochimica et biophysica Sinica*. 2011;43(10):745-56.
- 316. van Amerongen R, Fuerer C, Mizutani M, and Nusse R. Wnt5a can both activate and repress Wnt/beta-catenin signaling during mouse embryonic development. *Dev Biol.* 2012;369(1):101-14.
- 317. Clevers H, and Nusse R. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling and disease. *Cell.* 2012;149(6):1192-205.
- 318. Petersen CP, and Reddien PW. Wnt signaling and the polarity of the primary body axis. *Cell.* 2009;139(6):1056-68.
- 319. Tanaka K, Kitagawa Y, and Kadowaki T. Drosophila segment polarity gene product porcupine stimulates the posttranslational N-glycosylation of wingless in the endoplasmic reticulum. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277(15):12816-23.
- 320. Willert K, Brown JD, Danenberg E, Duncan AW, Weissman IL, Reya T, Yates III JR, and Nusse R. Wnt proteins are lipid-modified and can act as stem cell growth factors. *Nature*. 2003;423(6938):448.
- 321. Chang MV, Chang JL, Gangopadhyay A, Shearer A, and Cadigan KM. Activation of wingless targets requires bipartite recognition of DNA by TCF. *Curr Biol.* 2008;18(23):1877-81.
- 322. Willert K, and Nusse R. Wnt proteins. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2012;4(9):a007864.
- 323. Takada R, Satomi Y, Kurata T, Ueno N, Norioka S, Kondoh H, Takao T, and Takada S. Monounsaturated fatty acid modification of Wnt protein: its role in Wnt secretion. *Dev Cell.* 2006;11(6):791-801.
- 324. Rios-Esteves J, Haugen B, and Resh MD. Identification of key residues and regions important for porcupine-mediated Wnt acylation. *J Biol Chem.* 2014;289(24):17009-19.
- 325. Rios-Esteves J, and Resh MD. Stearoyl CoA desaturase is required to produce active, lipid-modified Wnt proteins. *Cell reports.* 2013;4(6):1072-81.
- 326. Hofmann K. A superfamily of membrane-bound O-acyltransferases with implications for wnt signaling. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2000;25(3):111-2.
- 327. Gross JC, Chaudhary V, Bartscherer K, and Boutros M. Active Wnt proteins are secreted on

exosomes. Nat Cell Biol. 2012;14(10):1036.

- 328. Korkut C, Ataman B, Ramachandran P, Ashley J, Barria R, Gherbesi N, and Budnik V. Transsynaptic transmission of vesicular Wnt signals through Evi/Wntless. *Cell.* 2009;139(2):393-404.
- 329. McGough IJ, and Vincent J-P. Exosomes in developmental signalling. *Development*. 2016;143(14):2482-93.
- 330. Saha S, Aranda E, Hayakawa Y, Bhanja P, Atay S, Brodin NP, Li J, Asfaha S, Liu L, and Tailor Y. Macrophage-derived extracellular vesicle-packaged WNTs rescue intestinal stem cells and enhance survival after radiation injury. *Nature communications*. 2016;7:13096.
- 331. Alexandre C, Baena-Lopez A, and Vincent J-P. Patterning and growth control by membrane-tethered Wingless. *Nature*. 2014;505(7482):180.
- 332. Farin HF, Jordens I, Mosa MH, Basak O, Korving J, Tauriello DV, de Punder K, Angers S, Peters PJ, and Maurice MM. Visualization of a short-range Wnt gradient in the intestinal stem-cell niche. *Nature.* 2016;530(7590):340.
- 333. Takada S, Fujimori S, Shinozuka T, Takada R, and Mii Y. Differences in the secretion and transport of Wnt proteins. *The Journal of Biochemistry.* 2017;161(1):1-7.
- 334. Niehrs C. The complex world of WNT receptor signalling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2012;13(12):767-79.
- 335. He X, Saint-Jeannet J-P, Wang Y, Nathans J, Dawid I, and Varmus H. A member of the Frizzled protein family mediating axis induction by Wnt-5A. *Science*. 1997;275(5306):1652-4.
- 336. Mikels AJ, and Nusse R. Purified Wnt5a protein activates or inhibits β-catenin–TCF signaling depending on receptor context. *PLoS Biol.* 2006;4(4):e115.
- 337. Tao Q, Yokota C, Puck H, Kofron M, Birsoy B, Yan D, Asashima M, Wylie CC, Lin X, and Heasman J. Maternal wnt11 activates the canonical wnt signaling pathway required for axis formation in Xenopus embryos. *Cell.* 2005;120(6):857-71.
- 338. Rankin J, Strachan T, Lako M, and Lindsay S. Partial cloning and assignment of WNT6 to human chromosome band 2q35 by in situ hybridization. *Cytogenet Cell Genet*. 1999;84(1-2):50-2.
- 339. Kirikoshi H, Sekihara H, and Katoh M. WNT10A and WNT6, clustered in human chromosome 2q35 region with head-to-tail manner, are strongly coexpressed in SW480 cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2001;283(4):798-805.
- 340. Lavery DL, Davenport IR, Turnbull YD, Wheeler GN, and Hoppler S. WNT6 expression in epidermis and epithelial tissues during xenopus organogenesis. *Dev Dyn.* 2008;237(3):768-79.
- 341. Groden J, Thliveris A, Samowitz W, Carlson M, Gelbert L, Albertsen H, Joslyn G, Stevens J, Spirio L, and Robertson M. Identification and characterization of the familial adenomatous polyposis coli gene. *Cell.* 1991;66(3):589-600.
- 342. Kinzler KW, Nilbert MC, Su LK, Vogelstein B, Bryan TM, Levy DB, Smith KJ, Preisinger AC, Hedge P, McKechnie D, et al. Identification of FAP locus genes from chromosome 5q21. *Science*. 1991;253(5020):661-5.
- 343. Su L-K, Vogelstein B, and Kinzler KW. Association of the APC tumor suppressor protein with catenins. *Science.* 1993;262(5140):1734-7.

- 344. Reya T, and Clevers H. WNT signalling in stem cells and cancer. *Nature.* 2005;434(7035):843-50.
- 345. Zhan T, Rindtorff N, and Boutros M. Wnt signaling in cancer. Oncogene. 2017;36(11):1461.
- 346. Pai SG, Carneiro BA, Mota JM, Costa R, Leite CA, Barroso-Sousa R, Kaplan JB, Chae YK, and Giles FJ. Wnt/beta-catenin pathway: modulating anticancer immune response. *J Hematol Oncol.* 2017;10(1):101.
- 347. Lee Y, Lee J-K, Ahn SH, Lee J, and Nam D-H. WNT signaling in glioblastoma and therapeutic opportunities. *Lab Invest.* 2016;96(2):137.
- Korinek V, Barker N, Morin PJ, van Wichen D, de Weger R, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, and Clevers H. Constitutive transcriptional activation by a beta-catenin-Tcf complex in APC-/- colon carcinoma. *Science.* 1997;275(5307):1784-7.
- 349. Morin PJ, Sparks AB, Korinek V, Barker N, Clevers H, Vogelstein B, and Kinzler KW. Activation of beta-catenin-Tcf signaling in colon cancer by mutations in beta-catenin or APC. *Science*. 1997;275(5307):1787-90.
- 350. Rubinfeld B, Robbins P, El-Gamil M, Albert I, Porfiri E, and Polakis P. Stabilization of β-catenin by genetic defects in melanoma cell lines. *Science*. 1997;275(5307):1790-2.
- 351. Weeraratna AT, Jiang Y, Hostetter G, Rosenblatt K, Duray P, Bittner M, and Trent JM. Wnt5a signaling directly affects cell motility and invasion of metastatic melanoma. *Cancer Cell.* 2002;1(3):279-88.
- 352. Anastas JN, and Moon RT. WNT signalling pathways as therapeutic targets in cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer.* 2013;13(1):11.
- 353. Kaur N, Chettiar S, Rathod S, Rath P, Muzumdar D, Shaikh ML, and Shiras A. WNT3a mediated activation of WNT/beta-catenin signaling promotes tumor progression in glioblastoma. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* 2013;54:44-57.
- 354. Riganti C, Salaroglio IC, Caldera V, Campia I, Kopecka J, Mellai M, Annovazzi L, Bosia A, Ghigo D, and Schiffer D. Temozolomide downregulates P-glycoprotein expression in glioblastoma stem cells by interfering with the Wnt3a/glycogen synthase-3 kinase/β-catenin pathway. *Neuro Oncol.* 2013;15(11):1502-17.
- 355. Habu M, Koyama H, Kishida M, Kamino M, Iijima M, Fuchigami T, Tokimura H, Ueda M, Tokudome M, Koriyama C, et al. Ryk is essential for WNT-5a-dependent invasiveness in human glioma. J Biochem. 2014;156(1):29-38.
- 356. Yu JM, Jun ES, Jung JS, Suh SY, Han JY, Kim JY, and Kim KW. Role of WNT5a in the proliferation of human glioblastoma cells. *Cancer Lett.* 2007;257(2):172-81.
- 357. Dijksterhuis JP, Arthofer E, Marinescu VD, Nelander S, Uhlen M, Ponten F, Mulder J, and Schulte G. High levels of WNT-5A in human glioma correlate with increased presence of tumor-associated microglia/monocytes. *Exp Cell Res.* 2015;339(2):280-8.
- 358. Kamino M, Kishida M, Kibe T, Ikoma K, Iijima M, Hirano H, Tokudome M, Chen L, Koriyama C, Yamada K, et al. WNT-5a signaling is correlated with infiltrative activity in human glioma by inducing cellular migration and MMP-2. *Cancer Sci.* 2011;102(3):540-8.
- 359. Zeng A, Yin J, Li Y, Li R, Wang Z, Zhou X, Jin X, Shen F, Yan W, and You Y. miR-129-5p targets

Wnt5a to block PKC/ERK/NF-κB and JNK pathways in glioblastoma. *Cell Death Dis.* 2018;9(3):394.

- 360. Hu B, Wang Q, Wang YA, Hua S, Sauve CG, Ong D, Lan ZD, Chang Q, Ho YW, Monasterio MM, et al. Epigenetic Activation of WNT5A Drives Glioblastoma Stem Cell Differentiation and Invasive Growth. *Cell.* 2016;167(5):1281-95 e18.
- 361. Binda E, Visioli A, Giani F, Trivieri N, Palumbo O, Restelli S, Dezi F, Mazza T, Fusilli C, Legnani F, et al. WNT5a drives an invasive phenotype in human glioblastoma stem-like cells. *Cancer Res.* 2017;77(4):996-1007.
- 362. Zhang Y, Wu Z, Li L, and Xie M. miR-30a inhibits glioma progression and stem cell-like properties by repression of Wnt5a. *Oncol Rep.* 2017;38(2):1156-62.
- Pu P, Zhang Z, Kang C, Jiang R, Jia Z, Wang G, and Jiang H. Downregulation of WNT2 and betacatenin by siRNA suppresses malignant glioma cell growth. *Cancer Gene Ther.* 2009;16(4):351-61.
- 364. Mori H, Yao Y, Learman BS, Kurozumi K, Ishida J, Ramakrishnan SK, Overmyer KA, Xue X, Cawthorn WP, and Reid MA. Induction of WNT11 by hypoxia and hypoxia-inducible factor-1α regulates cell proliferation, migration and invasion. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6:21520.
- 365. Liu X, Wang L, Zhao S, Ji X, Luo Y, and Ling F. beta-Catenin overexpression in malignant glioma and its role in proliferation and apoptosis in glioblastma cells. *Med Oncol.* 2011;28(2):608-14.
- Utsuki S, Sato Y, Oka H, Tsuchiya B, Suzuki S, and Fujii K. Relationship between the expression of E-, N-cadherins and beta-catenin and tumor grade in astrocytomas. *J Neurooncol.* 2002;57(3):187-92.
- 367. Tang B, Wang J, Fang J, Jiang B, Zhang M, Wang Y, and Yang Z. Expression of TNKS1 is correlated with pathologic grade and Wnt/β-catenin pathway in human astrocytomas. *J Clin Neurosci.* 2012;19(1):139-43.
- 368. Shi Z, Qian X, Li L, Zhang J, Zhu S, Zhu J, Chen L, Zhang K, Han L, Yu S, et al. Nuclear translocation of β-catenin is essential for glioma cell survival. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* 2012;7(4):892-903.
- 369. Wang Z, and Chen Q. β-catenin knockdown inhibits the proliferation of human glioma cells in vitro and in vivo. *Exp Ther Med.* 2016;11(3):1059-64.
- 370. Han L, Yang Y, Yue X, Huang K, Liu X, Pu P, Jiang H, Yan W, Jiang T, and Kang C. Inactivation of PI3K/AKT signaling inhibits glioma cell growth through modulation of beta-catenin-mediated transcription. *Brain Res.* 2010;1366:9-17.
- 371. Zhang L-Y, Jiang L-N, Li F-F, Li H, Liu F, Gu Y, Song Y, Zhang F, Ye J, and Li Q. Reduced β-catenin Expression is Associated with Good Prognosis in Astrocytoma. *Pathology & Oncology Research*. 2010;16(2):253-7.
- 372. Rossi M, Magnoni L, Miracco C, Mori E, Tosi P, Pirtoli L, Tini P, Oliveri G, Cosci E, and Bakker A. β-catenin and Gli1 are prognostic markers in glioblastoma. *Cancer Biol Ther.* 2011;11(8):753-61.
- 373. Xing Z, Ni Y, Zhao J, and Ma X. Hydrogen Peroxide-Induced Secreted Frizzled-Related Protein 1 Gene Demethylation Contributes to Hydrogen Peroxide-Induced Apoptosis in Human U251 Glioma Cells. *DNA Cell Biol.* 2017;36(5):347-53.

- 374. Schiefer L, Visweswaran M, Perumal V, Arfuso F, Groth D, Newsholme P, Warrier S, and Dharmarajan A. Epigenetic regulation of the secreted frizzled-related protein family in human glioblastoma multiforme. *Cancer Gene Ther.* 2014;21(7):297-303.
- 375. Zhou Y, Liu F, Xu Q, and Wang X. Analysis of the expression profile of Dickkopf-1 gene in human glioma and the association with tumor malignancy. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res.* 2010;29:138.
- 376. Zhou Y, Li W, Xu Q, and Huang Y. Elevated expression of Dickkopf-1 increases the sensitivity of human glioma cell line SHG44 to BCNU. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res.* 2010;29:131.
- 377. Jiang X, Yu Y, Yang HW, Agar NYR, Frado L, and Johnson MD. The imprinted gene PEG3 inhibits Wnt signaling and regulates glioma growth. *J Biol Chem.* 2010;285(11):8472-80.
- Götze S, Wolter M, Reifenberger G, Müller O, and Sievers S. Frequent promoter hypermethylation of Wnt pathway inhibitor genes in malignant astrocytic gliomas. *Int J Cancer.* 2010;126(11):2584-93.
- 379. Otsuka S, Maegawa S, Takamura A, Kamitani H, Watanabe T, Oshimura M, and Nanba E. Aberrant promoter methylation and expression of the imprinted PEG3 gene in glioma. *Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci.* 2009;85(4):157-65.
- 380. Mizobuchi Y, Matsuzaki K, Kuwayama K, Kitazato K, Mure H, Kageji T, and Nagahiro S. REIC/Dkk-3 induces cell death in human malignant glioma. *Neuro Oncol.* 2008;10(3):244-53.
- 381. Maegawa S, Itaba N, Otsuka S, Kamitani H, Watanabe T, Tahimic CGT, Nanba E, and Oshimura M. Coordinate downregulation of a novel imprinted transcript ITUP1 with PEG3 in glioma cell lines. DNA Res. 2004;11(1):37-49.
- 382. Shou J, Ali-Osman F, Multani AS, Pathak S, Fedi P, and Srivenugopal KS. Human Dkk-1, a gene encoding a Wnt antagonist, responds to DNA damage and its overexpression sensitizes brain tumor cells to apoptosis following alkylation damage of DNA. *Oncogene.* 2002;21(6):878-89.
- 383. Maegawa S, Yoshioka H, Itaba N, Kubota N, Nishihara S, Shirayoshi Y, Nanba E, and Oshimura M. Epigenetic silencing of PEG3 gene expression in human glioma cell lines. *Mol Carcinog.* 2001;31(1):1-9.
- 384. Kohda T, Asai A, Kuroiwa Y, Kobayashi S, Aisaka K, Nagashima G, Yoshida MC, Kondo Y, Kagiyama N, Kirino T, et al. Tumour suppressor activity of human imprinted gene PEG3 in a glioma cell line. *Genes Cells.* 2001;6(3):237-47.
- 385. Wang J, Shou J, and Chen X. Dickkopf-1, an inhibitor of the Wnt signaling pathway, is induced by p53. *Oncogene.* 2000;19(14):1843-8.
- 386. Roth W, Wild-Bode C, Platten M, Grimmel C, Melkonyan HS, Dichgans J, and Weller M. Secreted Frizzled-related proteins inhibit motility and promote growth of human malignant glioma cells. Oncogene. 2000;19(37):4210-20.
- 387. Schubert FR, Mootoosamy RC, Walters EH, Graham A, Tumiotto L, Munsterberg AE, Lumsden A, and Dietrich S. Wnt6 marks sites of epithelial transformations in the chick embryo. *Mech Dev.* 2002;114(1-2):143-8.
- 388. Schmidt C, Stoeckelhuber M, McKinnell I, Putz R, Christ B, and Patel K. WNT6 regulates the epithelialisation process of the segmental plate mesoderm leading to somite formation. *Dev Biol.*

2004;271(1):198-209.

- 389. Geetha-Loganathan P, Nimmagadda S, Huang R, Christ B, and Scaal M. Regulation of ectodermal Wnt6 expression by the neural tube is transduced by dermomyotomal Wnt11: a mechanism of dermomyotomal lip sustainment. *Development.* 2006;133(15):2897-904.
- 390. Schmidt C, McGonnell IM, Allen S, Otto A, and Patel K. WNT6 controls amniote neural crest induction through the non-canonical signaling pathway. *Dev Dyn.* 2007;236(9):2502-11.
- 391. Lavery DL, Martin J, Turnbull YD, and Hoppler S. WNT6 signaling regulates heart muscle development during organogenesis. *Dev Biol.* 2008;323(2):177-88.
- 392. Krawetz R, and Kelly GM. WNT6 induces the specification and epithelialization of F9 embryonal carcinoma cells to primitive endoderm. *Cell Signal*. 2008;20(3):506-17.
- 393. Krawetz R, and Kelly GM. Coordinate Galpha13 and Wnt6-beta-catenin signaling in F9 embryonal carcinoma cells is required for primitive endoderm differentiation. *Biochem Cell Biol.* 2009;87(4):567-80.
- 394. Geetha-Loganathan P, Nimmagadda S, Christ B, Huang R, and Scaal M. Ectodermal Wnt6 is an early negative regulator of limb chondrogenesis in the chicken embryo. *BMC Dev Biol.* 2010;10:32.
- 395. Croce J, Range R, Wu SY, Miranda E, Lhomond G, Peng JC, Lepage T, and McClay DR. WNT6 activates endoderm in the sea urchin gene regulatory network. *Development.* 2011;138(15):3297-306.
- 396. Hwang JT, and Kelly GM. GATA6 and FOXA2 regulate Wnt6 expression during extraembryonic endoderm formation. *Stem Cells Dev.* 2012;21(17):3220-32.
- Itaranta P, Lin Y, Perasaari J, Roel G, Destree O, and Vainio S. Wnt-6 is expressed in the ureter bud and induces kidney tubule development in vitro. *Genesis (New York, NY : 2000).* 2002;32(4):259-68.
- 398. Rodríguez-Niedenführ M, Dathe V, Jacob HJ, Pröls F, and Christ B. Spatial and temporal pattern of Wnt-6 expression during chick development. *Anat Embryol (Berl).* 2003;206(6):447-51.
- Geetha-Loganathan P, Nimmagadda S, Pröls F, Patel K, Scaal M, Huang R, and Christ B. Ectodermal Wnt-6 promotes Myf5-dependent avian limb myogenesis. *Dev Biol.* 2005;288(1):221-33.
- 400. Geetha-Loganathan P, Nimmagadda S, Huang R, Scaal M, and Christ B. Role of Wnt-6 in limb myogenesis. *Anat Embryol (Berl).* 2006;211(3):183-8.
- 401. Wang C, Ren L, Peng L, Xu P, Dong G, and Ye L. Effect of Wnt6 on human dental papilla cells in vitro. *J Endod.* 2010;36(2):238-43.
- 402. Cawthorn WP, Bree AJ, Yao Y, Du B, Hemati N, Martinez-Santibanez G, and MacDougald OA. Wnt6, Wnt10a and Wnt10b inhibit adipogenesis and stimulate osteoblastogenesis through a beta-catenindependent mechanism. *Bone.* 2012;50(2):477-89.
- 403. Hitchins L, Fletcher F, Allen S, and Dhoot GK. Role of Sulf1A in Wnt1- and Wnt6-induced growth regulation and myoblast hyper-elongation. *FEBS Open Bio.* 2013;3:30-4.
- 404. Li R, Wang C, Tong J, Su Y, Lin Y, Zhou X, and Ye L. WNT6 promotes the migration and differentiation of human dental pulp cells partly through c-Jun N-terminal kinase signaling pathway.

J Endod. 2014;40(7):943-8.

- 405. Schaale K, Brandenburg J, Kispert A, Leitges M, Ehlers S, and Reiling N. Wnt6 is expressed in granulomatous lesions of Mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected mice and is involved in macrophage differentiation and proliferation. *J Immunol.* 2013;191(10):5182-95.
- 406. Doumpas N, Jékely G, and Teleman AA. Wnt6 is required for maxillary palp formation in Drosophila. *BMC Biol.* 2013;11:104.
- 407. Schmeckpeper J, Verma A, Yin L, Beigi F, Zhang L, Payne A, Zhang Z, Pratt RE, Dzau VJ, and Mirotsou M. Inhibition of Wnt6 by Sfrp2 regulates adult cardiac progenitor cell differentiation by differential modulation of Wnt pathways. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* 2015;85:215-25.
- 408. Beaton H, Andrews D, Parsons M, Murphy M, Gaffney A, Kavanagh D, McKay GJ, Maxwell AP, Taylor CT, Cummins EP, et al. Wnt6 regulates epithelial cell differentiation and is dysregulated in renal fibrosis. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* 2016;311(1):F35-45.
- 409. Jiang Z, Pan L, Chen X, Chen Z, and Xu D. Wnt6 influences the viability of mouse embryonic palatal mesenchymal cells via the β-catenin pathway. *Exp Ther Med.* 2017;14(6):5339-44.
- Galbraith RL, Poole EM, Duggan D, Muehling J, Hsu L, Makar K, Xiao L, Potter JD, and Ulrich CM. Polymorphisms in WNT6 and WNT10A and colorectal adenoma risk. *Nutr Cancer.* 2011;63(4):558-64.
- 411. Yuan G, Regel I, Lian F, Friedrich T, Hitkova I, Hofheinz RD, Strobel P, Langer R, Keller G, Rocken C, et al. WNT6 is a novel target gene of caveolin-1 promoting chemoresistance to epirubicin in human gastric cancer cells. *Oncogene.* 2013;32(3):375-87.
- Fan Y, Shen B, Tan M, Mu X, Qin Y, Zhang F, and Liu Y. Long non-coding RNA UCA1 increases chemoresistance of bladder cancer cells by regulating WNT signaling. *FEBS J.* 2014;281(7):1750-8.
- 413. Zhang L, Yuan G, Fang Y, Qiu M, Lin J, Sun J, and Yang D. Increased WNT6 expression in tumor cells predicts unfavorable survival in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma patients. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* 2015;8(9):11421-7.
- 414. Li L, Xu C, Liu P, and Huang J. Correlation study of DNA methylation of WNT6 gene with osteosarcoma in children. *Oncol Lett.* 2017;14(1):271-5.
- 415. Teiken K, Kuehnel M, Rehkaemper J, Kreipe H, Laenger F, Hussein K, and Jonigk D. Non-canonical WNT6/WNT10A signal factor expression in EBV+ post-transplant smooth muscle tumors. *Clin Sarcoma Res.* 2018;8:10.
- 416. Zheng XL, and Yu HG. Wnt6 contributes tumorigenesis and development of colon cancer via its effects on cell proliferation, apoptosis, cell-cycle and migration. *Oncol Lett.* 2018;16:1163-72.
- 417. Wang X, and Page-McCaw A. Wnt6 maintains anterior escort cells as an integral component of the germline stem cell niche. *Development.* 2018;145(3).
- 418. Krishnamurthy N, and Kurzrock R. Targeting the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in cancer: Update on effectors and inhibitors. *Cancer Treat Rev.* 2018;62:50-60.
- 419. Wang B, Tian T, Kalland K-H, Ke X, and Qu Y. Targeting Wnt/b-Catenin Signaling for Cancer Immunotherapy. 2018.

420. Rieth J, and Subramanian S. Mechanisms of Intrinsic Tumor Resistance to Immunotherapy. *International journal of molecular sciences.* 2018;19(5):1340.

Chapter 2 WNT6 is a novel oncogenic prognostic biomarker in human glioblastoma

This chapter resulted in an original article published in an international peer reviewed journal and in a national provisional patent:

<u>Céline S. Gonçalves</u>, Joana Vieira de Castro, Marta Pojo, Eduarda P. Martins, Sandro Queirós, Emmanuel Chautard, Ricardo Taipa, Manuel Melo Pires, Afonso A. Pinto, Fernando Pardal, Carlos Custódia, Cláudia C. Faria, Carlos Clara, Rui M. Reis, Nuno Sousa, Bruno M. Costa (2018). *WNT6* is a novel oncogenic prognostic biomarker in human glioblastoma. Theranostics *(in press)*. DOI 10.7150/thno.25025

<u>Céline S. Gonçalves</u>, Nuno Sousa, Bruno M. Costa (2018). **A novel oncogene biomarker, methods and uses thereof.** Provisional patent no. 20181000029064.

Contents

71
72
72
85
87
97
107
WNT6 is a novel oncogenic prognostic biomarker in human glioblastoma

Céline S. Gonçalves^{1,2}, Joana Vieira de Castro^{1,2}, Marta Pojo^{1,2}, Eduarda P. Martins^{1,2}, Sandro Queirós^{1,2}, Emmanuel Chautard^{3,4}, Ricardo Taipa⁵, Manuel Melo Pires⁵, Afonso A. Pinto⁶, Fernando Pardal⁷, Carlos Custódia⁸, Cláudia C. Faria^{8,9}, Carlos Clara¹⁰, Rui M. Reis^{1,2,10}, Nuno Sousa^{1,2}, Bruno M. Costa^{1,2}

Author Affiliation: ¹Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Campus Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal; ²ICVS/3B's - PT Government Associate Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal; ³Université Clermont Auvergne, INSERM, U1240 IMoST, 63000 Clermont Ferrand, France; ⁴Pathology Department, Université Clermont Auvergne, Centre Jean Perrin, 63011 Clermont-Ferrand, France; ⁵Neuropathology Unit, Department of Neurosciences, Centro Hospitalar do Porto, Porto, Portugal; ⁶Department of Neurosurgery, ⁷Pathology, Hospital Escala Braga, Sete Fontes - São Victor 4710-243 Braga, Portugal; ⁸Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal; ⁹Neurosurgery Department, Hospital de Santa Maria, Centro Hospitalar Lisboa Norte (CHLN), Lisbon, Portugal; ¹⁰Molecular Oncology Research Center, Barretos Cancer Hospital, Barretos - S. Paulo, Brazil.

Corresponding Author: Bruno M. Costa, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Campus de Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal. Email: bfmcosta@med.uminho.pt; Phone: (+351)253604837; Fax: (+351)253604831

Keywords: biomarker, glioblastoma, oncogene, prognosis, WNT6, WNT pathway

Abstract

Glioblastoma (GBM) is a universally fatal brain cancer, for which novel therapies targeting specific underlying oncogenic events are urgently needed. While the WNT pathway has been shown to be frequently activated in GBM, constituting a potential therapeutic target, the relevance of WNT6, an activator of this pathway, remains unknown.

Methods: WNT6 protein and mRNA levels were evaluated in GBM. WNT6 levels were silenced or overexpressed in GBM cells to assess functional effects *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Phospho-kinase arrays and TCF/LEF reporter assays were used to identify WNT6-signaling pathways, and significant associations with stem cell features and cancer-related pathways were validated in patients. Survival analyses were performed with Cox regression and Log-rank tests. Meta-analyses were used to calculate the estimated pooled effect.

Results: We show that WNT6 is significantly overexpressed in GBMs, as compared to lowergrade gliomas and normal brain, at mRNA and protein levels. Functionally, WNT6 increases typical oncogenic activities in GBM cells, including viability, proliferation, glioma stem cell capacity, invasion, migration, and resistance to temozolomide chemotherapy. Concordantly, in *in vivo* orthotopic GBM mice models, using both overexpressing and silencing models, WNT6 expression was associated with shorter overall survival, and increased features of tumor aggressiveness. Mechanistically, WNT6 contributes to activate typical oncogenic pathways, including Src and STAT, which intertwined with the WNT pathway may be critical effectors of WNT6-associated aggressiveness in GBM. Clinically, we establish WNT6 as an independent prognostic biomarker of shorter survival in GBM patients from several independent cohorts.

Conclusion: Our findings establish WNT6 as a novel oncogene in GBM, opening opportunities to develop more rational therapies to treat this highly aggressive tumor.

2.1. Introduction

Glioblastoma (GBM) is the most lethal tumor of the central nervous system in adults. Despite recent advances in the understanding of the oncogenic molecular mechanisms, and improvements in neuroimaging technologies, surgery and adjuvant treatments, patients with GBM still exhibit a rapid unfavorable clinical evolution. The median survival of patients is 15 months after diagnosis, a scenario that has not changed significantly in the last decades [1-4]. In combination with their resistance to most conventional therapies, including radiotherapy and temozolomide (TMZ), GBMs are highly infiltrative and diffuse, impeding complete surgical resections. In this context, understanding the key underlying molecular mechanisms contributing to the aggressiveness of this tumor may be a critical step in the design of new and more effective precision therapies.

The WNT signaling pathway displays pleiotropic physiological functions, ranging from neurogenesis to stem cell proliferation, and has been implicated in various human cancers, including glioma [5-8]. This pathway is particularly relevant in the context of cancer stem cells (CSC), which have been pointed as critical mediators of cancer recurrence and resistance to radio- and chemotherapy [7, 9-11]. Therefore, novel therapeutic strategies targeting particular components of the WNT pathway have been widely explored [9, 10, 12]. The WNT6 ligand is an activator of the WNT pathway, which only recently was associated with chemoresistance in gastric and bladder cancers [13, 14], poor prognosis of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma patients [15], and increased risk to develop colorectal adenoma [16]. Importantly, no studies to date have explored the relevance of WNT6 in human glioma.

In this work, we show WNT6 is overexpressed in GBM, the most common and malignant glioma, and displays typical hallmark oncogenic functions in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* GBM models by affecting the activity of classic oncogenic signaling pathways, including WNT, SFK and STAT pathways. Critically, we provide data from several independent GBM patient cohorts establishing WNT6 as a prognostic biomarker associated with shorter overall survival.

2.2. Results

2.2.1. WNT6 is overexpressed in primary GBM tissues

While high WNT6 expression levels were previously observed in different human cancer cell lines [13, 17, 18], little is known about its specific roles in tumors, particularly in GBM. In order to address this, we first analyzed gene expression array data from normal brains, lower-grade gliomas (LGG, WHO grades II and III) and GBM (WHO grade IV) patients deposited in TCGA [19]. When compared to normal samples, *WNT6* was not overexpressed in any of the LGG patients (0/27), while 15.6% of GBM patients

(89/572) presented high *WNT6* levels (Figure 2.1A; p = 0.026). Concordantly, testing the protein levels of WNT6 by immunohistochemistry (IHC) in another dataset of glioma tissues (from Hospital Santo António; HSA) showed that only GBMs present high expression of WNT6 protein (16.3%; Figure 2.1B bottom; p = 0.037). WNT6 immunoreactivity expression in glioma showed to be mainly cytoplasmic







(A) Expression levels of *WNT6* in 27 lower-grade gliomas (LGG; grey dots), 572 glioblastomas (GBM, WHO grade IV; black and colored dots) and 10 unmatched normal brains (black unfilled dots) from TCGA. GBM molecular subtypes are represented as colors (red = classical; blue = proneural; green = neural; yellow = mesenchymal). *WNT6* is overexpressed (TCGA data level 3 values ≥ 0.41 ; above red dashed line) in 16% (n = 89) of GBM samples. (B) WNT6 protein expression in WHO grades I-IV glioma samples from Hospital Santo António cohort assessed by IHC (n = 63; p = 0.037; chi-squared test). Representative images are shown for a WNT6-negative GBM (a), high WNT6 expression in GBM (b) and WHO grade III anaplastic oligoastrocytoma (c), and a WHO grade II diffuse oligodendroglioma with intermediate levels of WNT6 expression (d). WNT6 staining was mostly cytoplasmic in glioma cells (closed arrowheads) and not present in lymphocytes (e; arrow), being almost exclusively negative for endothelial cells (b-d and f; open arrowheads). Bottom graph summarizes IHC data for the whole dataset. LGG: lower-grade glioma; TCGA: The Cancer Genome Atlas; WHO: World Health Organization.

(closed arrowheads), with a diffuse pattern where almost all tumor cells are positive (Figure 2.1B, b and c), or a more scattered pattern (Figure 2.1B, d). Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes were negative for WNT6 expression (arrow; Figure 2.1B, e), with endothelial cells being negative or showing some faint immunoreactivity (open arrowheads; Figure 2.1B, b, c, d, and f). Representative images of positive and negative controls, and hematoxylin and eosin stainings are displayed in Figure 2.S1. Together, these results show WNT6 mRNA and protein levels associate with high glioma grade, suggesting it may be important in the pathophysiology of glioma.

2.2.2. High WNT6 expression is indiscriminately present in all molecular subtypes of GBM

Several efforts have been made to stratify GBM into molecular subgroups [20-27]. We evaluated the levels of *WNT6* expression among the GBM subtypes described by Verhaak *et al* (classical, mesenchymal, neural and proneural) [28] in a total of 4 independent cohorts, totaling 201 patients from TCGA, 59 from Freije, 159 from Gravendeel and 26 from Vital datasets. High levels of WNT6 were detected with no significant differences in subsets of patients of each GBM molecular subtype in all datasets (Figure 2.1A and Figure 2.S2), suggesting WNT6 activation in GBM is independent of these molecular signatures.

2.2.3. WNT6 has oncogenic functions and promotes GBM aggressiveness in vitro

To address whether WNT6 expression influences typical cancer hallmark features of GBM cells, WNT6 expression was silenced in U373MG and SNB19 cell lines by shRNA, resulting in significantly decreased mRNA and protein levels (Figure 2.2A-B), as well as overexpressed in U87MG cells, which do not express *WNT6* endogenously (Figure 2.S3A). WNT6-low cells presented a significantly lower viability when compared with the corresponding WNT6-high counterparts (Figure 2.2C-D and Figure 2.S3B-C). Concomitantly, WNT6 silencing significantly decreased proliferation of GBM cells (Figure 2.2E). Considering GBM cells display remarkable migration and invasion potentials, we tested how WNT6 affects these hallmark features of GBM. Wound healing migration assays and matrigel invasion assays showed that WNT6 significantly increases the capacity of GBM cells to migrate and invade (Figure 2.2F-K and Figure 2.S3D-E). Together, these data suggest WNT6 is an important factor regulating several cancer hallmarks, which might influence GBM aggressiveness.

2.2.4. WNT6 increases resistance to temozolomide chemotherapy in GBM cells

Previous reports have described the relevance of the WNT pathway in increased resistance of many cancers to radio- and chemotherapy [7-9, 15]. In this context, we tested whether WNT6 expression

Results



Figure 2.2. WNT6 promotes GBM aggressiveness In vitro.

(A-B) The efficiency of WNT6 silencing in U373 and SNB19 glioblastoma cells was analyzed by qRT-PCR and WB (A), and immunofluorescence (B). (A) Top: *WNT6* expression levels were normalized to *TBP*. Bottom: WB images are representative of 3 independent assays; α -tubulin was used as reference protein. (B) DAPI was used to stain the nucleus (40x magnification; scale bar = 50 µm). (C-D) Cell viability was measured by trypan blue (C) and MTT (D) assays in shCtrl and shWNT6 cells. (E) Cell proliferation was evaluated by BrdU incorporation. (F-G) Matrigel invasion assays were used to assess the cells' invasion capacity. Representative images (F) with cell nuclei stained with DAPI (scale bar = 250 µm) and quantification (G) of invasive U373 and SNB19 shCtrl and shWNT6 cells. (H-K) Migration (wound healing) assays were *(continued on next page)*

(cont.) performed in U373 (H-I) and SNB19 (J-K) shCtrl and shWNT6 cells to assess the cells' migration capacity. Representative micrographs throughout time for U373 (H) and SNB19 (J) cells (40x magnification; scale bar = 250 μ m). The wound gap was measured and expressed as a percentage of wound closure for U373 (I) and SNB19 (K) cells (**** p <0.001; two-way ANOVA post-hoc Sidak's test). Results represent data from at least 3 independent experiments (mean \pm SD). *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ****, p < 0.005 and ****, p < 0.001 (unless otherwise stated, a two-sided unpaired *t*test with Welch's correction was applied when homoscedasticity was not verified).

may have an impact in the sensitivity of GBM cells to clinically relevant therapies, including TMZ chemotherapy and radiation. Interestingly, WNT6-silenced GBM cells were significantly more sensitive to TMZ-mediated cell death than their respective control cells (Figure 2.3A-B). In contrast, WNT6 did not affect sensitivity of GBM cells to radiation treatments (Figure 2.S4). Overall, these results suggest WNT6 promotes resistance of GBM cells to TMZ, with potential clinical implications as TMZ is still the standard-of-care for these patients.

2.2.5. WNT6 promotes glioblastoma stem cell features

Due to the critical roles of GBM stem cells (GSC) in the pathophysiology and clinical outcome of



Figure 2.3. WNT6 promotes resistance to temozolomide chemotherapy in GBM cells.

(A-B) U373 (A) and SNB19 (B) shCtrl- and shWNT6-transfected cells were treated with vehicle or TMZ for 6 days, and cell death was measured by Annexin-V and PI. The graphs present data of 3 independent assays (mean \pm SD). Representative dot plots are displayed below. *, $\rho < 0.05$; **, $\rho < 0.01$; ***, $\rho < 0.001$ and ****, $\rho < 0.0001$ (two-way ANOVA post-hoc Tukey's test). DMSO: dimethyl sulfoxide; PI: propidium iodide; TMZ: temozolomide.

GBM patients, we investigated how WNT6 may affect GBM cells' stemness. Interestingly, WNT6-silenced U373 and SNB19 cells showed prominent decreased levels of NESTIN and SOX2 proteins, two common markers of GSCs (Figure 2.4A). In addition, WNT6 expression resulted in significantly higher capacities of U373, SNB19 and U87 cells to form neurospheres when cultured under GSC conditions (Figure 2.4B-C and Figure 2.S3F-G), functionally suggesting WNT6 contributes to the stem cell phenotype of GBM cells. Concordantly, WNT6 expression resulted in significantly increased neurosphere-forming frequency in a limiting dilution sphere-forming assay (1/3.81 for shCtrl vs. 1/16.11 for shWNT6; $\rho = 0.01$, likelihood ratio test, Figure 2.4D for U373 cells; SNB19 cells with WNT6-silencing did not form spheres in the tested conditions – data not shown; 1/62.3 for U87-Ctrl vs. 1/24.6 for U87-WNT6; $\rho = 0.004$, likelihood ratio test, Figure 2.S3H), an assay that allows the quantification of cells with stem-like properties that are capable of forming a new neurosphere derived from a single cell.

In addition to sphere-based stem cell assays, we then tested U373 and SNB19 cells cultured under specific adherent conditions that allow GSC expansion (neurosphere medium supplemented with B27, EGF and FGF in laminin-coated wells) [29]. GBM cells acquired a more elongated phenotype in these adherent stem cell conditions (Figure 2.4E), as previously described [29, 30]. Concordantly with our findings in "non-stem cell" conditions (Figure 2.2C-D), WNT6 silencing significantly impaired cell viability of U373 and SNB19 GBM cells grown in adherent stem cell-like conditions (Figure 2.4F). Globally, these data suggest WNT6 has an important functional role in the formation and maintenance of GSCs.

2.2.6. *WNT6* is associated with stem cell-related genes in GBM clinical samples

To further translate our results to the clinical setting, we evaluated correlations between the expression levels of *WNT6* and typical stem cell-related genes in GBM patients from TCGA. Interestingly, heatmap analyses revealed common patterns of gene expression between various stem cell-related genes and *WNT6* (Figure 2.4G), and individual correlation graphs showed statistically significant positive correlations between the expression levels of *WNT6* and these genes (p < 0.0001; Figure 2.4H and Figure 2.S5). These data from GBM patients fit well with our *in vitro* findings, further suggesting WNT6 contributes to the stem cell phenotype of GBM cells.

2.2.7. High WNT6 levels accelerate GBM-associated death in intracranial mice models

To expand our findings to *in vivo* models, U373-shCtrl and U373-shWNT6 (Figure 2.5), or U87-Ctrl and U87-WNT6 cells (Figure 2.S3I-L) were orthotopically injected in the brain of NSG mice. Importantly, all mice bearing WNT6-low tumors presented significantly delayed evidences of GBM-related neurological symptoms and slower body weight loss than mice bearing WNT6-high tumors (Figure 2.5A





(A) SOX2 and NESTIN double-immunostaining in U373 (left) and SNB19 (right) shCtrl/shWNT6 cells. DAPI was used to stain cell nuclei (40x magnification; scale bar = 50 µm). (B) Representative images of U373 (left) and SNB19 (right) shCtrl/shWNT6 neurospheres at days 10 and 15 after plating, respectively (40x magnification; scale bar = 250 µm). (C) Quantification of neurospheres formation (n = 3 independent assays; mean \pm SD; *, $\rho < 0.05$; **, $\rho < 0.01$, two-sided unpaired *t*test with Welch's correction being applied when homoscedasticity was not verified). (D) Limiting dilution assays in U373-shCtrl (black) and -shWNT6 (red) cells to assess their sphere-forming capacity. The graph is representative of 3 independent assays with similar results. The trend lines represent the estimated active cell frequency (p = 0.01, likelihood ratio test). (E) Representative images of U373 (left) and SNB19 (right) shCtrl/shWNT6 cells cultured under stem cell-adherent conditions (scale bar = 250 µm). (F) MTT assay evaluating U373 (left) and SNB19 (right) shCtrl/shWNT6 cells (*continued on next page*)

(cont.) viability when cultured under stem cell-adherent conditions (n = 3 independent assays; mean \pm SD; **, p < 0.01; **** p < 0.001; two-sided unpaired *t*test with Welch's correction applied when homoscedasticity was not verified). **(G)** Heatmap representation of expression levels of *WNT6* and 30 stem cell-related genes in 573 GBM patients' samples from TCGA. Each column corresponds to a patient and each line to a gene. Expression values increase from darker blue (low levels) to darker red (high levels). **(H)** Correlation graphs between *WNT6* expression (x-axis) and the expression of stem cell genes selected based on the heatmap (y-axis; Pearson's correlation test; *r* and *p* values are indicated).

and Figure 2.S3I). This was accompanied by a significantly longer overall survival of U373-shWNT6 and U87-Ctrl mice as compared to mice injected with U373-shCtrl and U87-WNT6 cells, respectively (Figure 2.5B and Figure 2.S3J), implicating high levels of WNT6 as a negative prognostic biomarker in orthotopic GBM *in vivo* models. Post-mortem hematoxylin & eosin (H&E) analyses confirmed GBM formation in all animals (Figure 2.5C and Figure 2.S3K), with a very invasive phenotype typical of GBM. IHC confirmed long-term WNT6 silencing and overexpression in U373-shWNT6 and U87-WNT6 tumors, respectively (Figure 2.5D and Figure 2.S3L). Histologically, shWNT6 GBM tumors also presented: i) lower proliferative activity, as observed by decreased Ki-67 and Cyclin D1 immuno-stainings (Figure 2.5E); ii) diminished expression of the stem cell marker SOX2, despite no alteration in the expression of NESTIN (Figure 2.5F); and iii) decreased expression of BCL2 protein, a critical anti-apoptotic molecule (Figure 2.5G). Together, these data support WNT6 as a critical mediator of GBM aggressiveness *in vivo*, identifying some molecular mediators that might sustain this aggressive phenotype, in line with what was observed in the *in vitro* assays.

2.2.8. WNT6 acts through β -catenin-dependent WNT signaling and downstream targets of SFKs/STAT pathways

To explore the underlying molecular mechanisms by which WNT6 influences GBM aggressiveness, the activation status of a large variety of cancer-related kinases was evaluated in U373 and SNB19 cell lines using a human phospho-kinase antibody array (Figure 2.6A-B). The phosphorylation levels of 4 proteins belonging to the non-receptor tyrosine Src family kinases [SFK; namely p-Fgr (Y412), p-Yes (Y426), p-Fyn (Y420) and p-Src (Y419)], and p-HSP27 (S78/S82), a member of the heat shock protein (HSP) family, were significantly decreased upon WNT6 silencing in U373 and SNB19 GBM cells (Figure 2.6A-B). In addition, the total levels of β -catenin were also decreased upon WNT6 silencing in both cell lines (Figure 2.6A-B).

Of note, other signaling pathways were concordantly affected upon WNT6 silencing in both cell lines, but at the level of different proteins. For example, the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway activation was decreased in U373 cells by directly affecting the phosphorylation of activating residues of AKT and mTOR, two of the major mediators of this pathway. While these specific proteins were not significantly altered in



Figure 2.5. WNT6 accelerates GBM-associated death in an intracranial mouse model. U373 transfected cells were orthotopically injected in the brain of NSG mice (n = 8 per group). **(A)** Weight curves after tumor implantation. **(B)** Kaplan-Meier overall survival curves of mice (p = 0.0042; Log-rank test). **(C-G)** Post-mortem brain histological and molecular analyses. (C-D) H&E and anti-WNT6 IHC staining were used as controls for GBM formation and successful long-term WNT6 silencing, respectively. (E-G) IHC for cell proliferation/viability markers Ki-67 and Cyclin D1 (E), stem cell markers SOX2 and NESTIN (F), and anti-apoptotic marker BCL2 (G). Scale bars' values are shown in each microphotograph (20 µm or 50 µm). H&E: hematoxylin and eosin.

SNB19 cells, other downstream targets of this pathway, such as p70 S6K and eNOS, showed decreased phosphorylation levels, globally resulting in similar decreased signaling of the PI3K pathway. It is also interesting to note that STAT3 phosphorylation levels were altered in WNT6-silenced U373 and SNB19 cells, but at different residues: serine 727 (S727) phosphorylation was increased in U373 cells, while tyrosine 705 (Y705) phosphorylation was decreased in SNB19 cells (Figure 6A and B). Despite the contrasting phosphorylation levels of these STAT3 residues, the biological meaning is the same, as S727 phosphorylation inactivates, while Y705 phosphorylation activates STAT3 activity [31].

In addition to these signaling pathways concordantly affected in both cell lines, cell-line specific



Figure 2.6. WNT6 influences the activation status of WNT, SFK, and STAT pathways in GBM.

(continued on next page)

Chapter 2. WNT6 is a novel oncogenic prognostic biomarker in human glioblastoma

(cont.) Phospho-kinase arrays were performed to evaluate the phosphorylation status of cancer-related kinases in U373 (**A**) and SNB19 (**B**). Each array includes 2 technical replicates; 2 and 1 biological replicates were used for U373 and SNB19, respectively. Fold changes between phosphorylation levels of proteins in shWNT6 vs. shCtrl cells are shown (mean \pm SD). HSP60 was used as reference protein. Similar alterations in the phosphorylation of particular proteins for U373 and SNB19 cells are highlighted in red. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.005; ****, p < 0.0001; two-sided unpaired *t* test. (**C-D**) The phosphorylation status of STAT3, β -catenin, and AKT, and their respective total forms were assessed in U373 (C) and SNB19 (D) shCtrl and shWNT6 cells by WB (images are representative of 3 independent assays; α -tubulin was used as reference protein for normalization; relative expression levels are shown above each band). (**E**) GSEA analyses identifying signatures of genes significantly associated (ES > 0.3, and FDR < 0.3) with *WNT6* in GBM patients from TCGA. ES: enrichment score; FDR: false discovery rate.

effects were also observed, such as alterations in the phosphorylation of JNK, GSK3a/b, and EGFR in U373 cells, and of STAT2, STAT5a, STAT5a/b, PDGFRb, and c-Jun in SNB19 cells. Again, despite these examples of cell-specific effects, the silencing of WNT6 consistently resulted in a decreased activation status of these cancer-related pathways in GBM.

To further validate the results obtained in the phospho-kinase arrays, the phosphorylation status of 3 proteins was assessed by western blot (WB) and normalized to α -tubulin (reference protein; Figure 2.6C-D), as performed in the arrays. Interestingly, WBs show a slight decrease of p-STAT3 Y705 in U373 cells, and a more prominent decrease in SNB19 cells, as evidenced in the phospho-arrays. Similarly, a significant decrease of non-p- β -cat S33/S37/T41 levels upon WNT6 silencing was observed in both cell lines, while only U373 presented decreased p-AKT S473 phosphorylation levels, further validating the phospho-arrays data.

To confirm that WNT6 activates the canonical WNT/ β -catenin signaling pathway, TCF/LEF reporter assays were performed in both U373 shCtrl/shWNT6 cells and in U87 Ctrl/WNT6 cells. Concordantly to the aforementioned results, GBM cells with high levels of WNT6 presented a significantly increased activation of the WNT canonical pathway as compared to their negative counterparts (Figure 2.S6A-D).

Together, these results suggest that WNT6 acts not only through β -catenin-dependent WNT signaling, but also through the activation of downstream targets of SFKs/STAT pathways, highlighting WNT6 as a critical molecule involved in a variety of crucial signaling pathways in GBM, which associate with the observed oncogenic functional effects *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and reveal putative novel targets for therapeutic interventions in WNT6-high GBMs.

2.2.9. *WNT6*-correlated genes are enriched for WNT, AKT, SRC, MYC, JNK and MAPK signaling pathways in GBM patients

To expand the WNT6-associated molecular mechanisms detected *in vitro* (Figure 2.6A-D) to clinical samples of GBM, gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) were performed to identify transcriptomic

signatures reminiscent of *WWT6* associated genes in patients (Figure 2.6E). The gene expression profiles of GBM patients from TCGA (n = 573) were gathered, and *WWT6* expression used as a continuous label (*i.e.*, all genes were ranked based on their correlation with *WWT6*). *WWT6*-positively correlated genes revealed to be significantly enriched for genes up-regulated upon activation of WNT, AKT, SRC, MYC, JNK and MAPK signaling (all enrichment scores, ES > 0.3, and false discovery rates, FDR < 0.3; Figure 2.6E). Concordantly, *WWT6*-negatively correlated genes were enriched for genes down-regulated upon WNT signaling activation (ES > 0.3 and FDR < 0.3; Figure 2.6E top left). Overall, these transcriptomic results derived from GBM samples fit well with our *in vitro* phosphorylation data, where the same pathways were shown to be altered upon WNT6 silencing, further supporting the critical links between WNT6 and key oncogenic signaling pathways associated with glioma aggressiveness.

2.2.10. High levels of *WNT6* expression associate with shorter overall survival in GBM patients

Since our data demonstrated critical roles of WNT6 in GBM aggressiveness in vitro and in vivo, and its association with GBM's key signaling pathways, we investigated the clinical significance of WNT6 expression in a variety of GBM patient datasets. In our Portuguese dataset (Hospital Braga and Hospital Santa Maria, n = 51), high levels of *WNT6* mRNA were significantly associated with shorter overall survival (OS) of GBM patients (p = 0.032; log-rank test; Figure 2.7A). Importantly, this association between high WN76 mRNA levels and poor prognosis in GBM patients was further validated in 3 additional independent datasets: Freije (n = 59) [24], Gravendeel (n = 159) [32] and Vital (n = 26) [33] datasets (ρ = 0.006, ρ = 0.029, p = 0.02, respectively; Figure 2.7B-D). These findings were then validated in 407 GBM patients with available survival data from TCGA (Table 2.1), in which a multivariable Cox model showed a statistically significant association between higher values of WNT6 expression and shorter OS of GBM patients (p = 0.030), independently of other prognostic variables, including patient age (p < 0.0001), Karnofsky performance status (KPS; p = 0.001), gender (p = 0.037) and treatment with chemo- or radiotherapy (p < 0.0001; Table 2.1). Moreover, high levels of WNT6 protein expression, evaluated by IHC in a GBM Brazilian cohort (n = 87), also showed an evident trend for shorter OS (p = 0.069; Figure 2.S7), highlighting that both mRNA and protein levels of WNT6 may be used as a clinically valuable biomarker. To reinforce this association, a meta-analysis including all independent datasets showed that WNT6-high expression is globally associated with shorter survival of GBM patients (Hazard Ratio = 1.637; 95% confidence interval: 1.285 – 2.086; p < 0.0001; Figure 2.7E). Together, these results suggest that WNT6 expression may be a new prognostic factor useful for the stratification of GBM patients.





Kaplan-Meier survival curves of WNT6-low and WNT6-high GBM patients derived from qRT-PCR data (A) or microarray (**B**-**E**) data. (A) Portuguese dataset, n = 51, median OS 16.9 vs. 10.4 months (low vs. high *WNT6* expression, respectively; p = 0.032, Log-rank test). (B) Freije dataset, n = 59, median OS 9.6 vs. 5 months (p = 0.006, Log-rank test). (C) Gravendeel dataset, n = 159, median OS 10.1 vs. 6 months (p = 0.029, Log-rank test). (D) Vital dataset, n = 26, median OS 18 vs. 4 months (p = 0.02, Log-rank test). (E) Forest plot of hazard ratios (HR), illustrating the associations between WNT6 expression and overall survival in GBM patients. Each cohort is accompanied by its HR (black square; the size of the *(continued on next page)* *(cont.)* square represents the weight of the study in the meta-analysis) and 95% confidence intervals (extending lines). The diamond represents the estimated pooled effect (HR = 1.637; 95% confidence interval: 1.285 - 2.086; p < 0.0001). CI: confidence interval; HR: hazard ratio.

Shorter survivar er abin patiente (n		
	Overall survival	
	<i>p</i> -value	Exp(B)
WNT6 expression	0.03	1.288
Age	< 0.0001	1.029
KPS	0.001	0.984
Gender ^{a,b}	0.037	0.771
Chemo- or Radiotherapy ^{a,c}	<0.001	0.192

Table 2.1. High levels of <i>WNT6</i> expression are significantly associa	ted with
shorter survival of GBM patients (n = 407; microarray data)	

^aGender and Chemo- or Radiotherapy was used as categorical variables;

^bFemale (n=154) vs. Male (n=253);

^cTreatment (n=383) vs. No treatment (n=24).

2.3. Discussion

Deregulated signaling of the WNT pathway has been reported in several human cancers, including GBM, and has been associated with treatment resistance [13, 34-36]. This is partly due to stem cell features sustained by WNT signaling, such as increased proliferation and migration [34]. The present study is the first dissecting the functional roles and underlying molecular mechanisms mediated by WNT6 activation in human GBM, establishing it as a clinically relevant prognostic biomarker (Figure 2.7, Figure 2.8, Table 2.1, and Figure 2.S7). Due to its critical functions during embryogenesis [37-42], deregulated expression of WNT6 in adults may favor tumorigenesis [13-16]. Our data show that the expression of WNT6 in gliomas is grade-dependent, at the gene and protein levels (Figure 2.1), similarly to what was previously described for other WNT ligands [5, 6, 43-46], thus associating WNT6 with increased malignancy of gliomas. In addition, our findings demonstrate prominent effects of WNT6 on GBM cell viability, proliferation, glioma stem cell capacity, invasion, migration and sensitivity to TMZ-based chemotherapy, comprehensively implicating WNT6 as an important oncogenic factor in glioma (Figure 2.2, Figure 2.3, Figure 2.4, and Figure 2.S3). This is in agreement with the known effects of other WNT ligands in GBM [5, 6, 44, 46, 47]. According to the definition of CSC [48], we showed that WNT6 expression not only correlates with the expression of cancer stem cell-associated genes, but also functionally impacts the self-renewal capacity of GSC (Figure 2.4 and Figure 2.S3F-H). Concordant with the functional effects, molecular data also showed WNT6 associates with typical GSC markers, both in GBM cells and patient samples.

Considering the global effects of WNT6 in GSC phenotypes (Figure 2.4 and Figure 2.S3F-H), cell

Chapter 2. WNT6 is a novel oncogenic prognostic biomarker in human glioblastoma



Figure 2.8. Proposed model for the functional, molecular and clinical impact of WNT6 in GBM. WNT6-high GBM cells present increased proliferation, invasion, migration, TMZ resistance and stem cell self-renewal capacities, which are accompanied by activation of the WNT, SFK, RTK, STAT and AKT pathways. Clinically, WNT6-high tumors cause shorter overall survival (both in mouse GBM models and human patients).

motility capacity (Figure 2.2 and Figure 2.S3D-E), and resistance to chemotherapy (Figure 2.3), it will be interesting to evaluate its potential value as a biomarker for tumor recurrence, which is of paramount importance to the clinical management of GBM as these patients recur almost universally after treatment. Importantly, we also demonstrated that WNT6 is a novel biomarker of GBM prognosis, as patients with WNT6-high tumors from a variety of independent datasets presented a significantly shorter OS than WNT6low tumors (Figure 2.7, Table 2.1, and Figure 2.S7), a clinical finding that is in agreement with our in vivo data (Figure 2.5 and Figure 2.S3I-J). This might be linked to the WNT6 oncogenic activities, such as increased invasion/migration, hampering complete tumor resection, increased tumor relapse probability due to its roles in GSC maintenance (Figure 2.4 and Figure 2.S3F-H), and the response to TMZ treatment (Figure 2.3), which is still the gold-standard chemotherapeutic drug used for GBM patients. These findings fit well with previous reports describing that WNT6 increases the chemoresistance of gastric [13] and bladder [14] cancer, and associates with the overall and disease-free survivals of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma patients [15]. Together, these data implicate WNT6 as a novel prognostic biomarker and putative therapeutic target for GBM patients. The fact that WNT6 levels can be easily assessed at the mRNA or protein levels with routine molecular biology techniques may also facilitate the widespread implementation of this biomarker in the clinical settings.

Taking into consideration that (i) the first step for designing novel therapeutic strategies requires not only the identification of new molecular targets, but also the understanding of their functional mechanisms, and (ii) nothing was known of WNT6-mediated signaling mechanisms in GBM or any other cancer type, our phospho-kinase arrays provide the first data on the activation status of several cancerrelated pathways that may be regulated by WNT6 (Figure 2.6). The effects observed in β -catenin in U373 and SNB19 cells clearly suggest that WNT6 might act through the canonical WNT pathway in GBM, which was further validated with the TCF/LEF reporter assays in U373 and U87 cells (Figure 2.S6). In addition, WNT6 silencing led to reduced phosphorylation/activation states of 4 non-receptor tyrosine Src kinases (Fgr, Yes, Fyn and Src), which have been described to contribute to the activation of downstream targets of RTKs, such as EGFR, influencing glioma aggressiveness [49-51]. WNT6 silencing also resulted in decreased phosphorylation of HSP27, an anti-apoptotic protein [52] associated with increased cell proliferation and decreased Fas-induced apoptosis in prostate cancer [53], and was shown to mediate the activation of p38/ERK (MAPK) pro-survival signaling in cervical cancer cells [54]. Nevertheless, other cell line-specific alterations in WNT6-silenced cells, namely in p-AKT, p-TOR and p-PRAS40 in U373 cells, clearly demonstrate the association between WNT6 and the activation of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway, which is known to have a major role in the oncogenic process of GBM cells [55]. Regarding p-STAT3 alterations upon WNT6 silencing, it was reported that reduced p-STAT3 S727 or increased p-STAT3 Y705 lead to more aggressive glioma tumors in vivo, and enhanced glioma proliferation and invasion in vitro [31], which also fits well with a WNT6-mediated oncogenic role in GBM. Importantly, GSEA data derived from clinical GBM samples further supported the molecular links between WNT6 and these cancer-related pathways. In this context, our results, together with the reports associating the WNT pathway with the MAPK, PI3K and STAT3 pathways [56-63], strongly support a role of WNT6 in the regulation of these cancer-related pathways and suggest that WNT6 acts, at least partly, through the canonical WNT signaling, independently of the expression of other well-known canonical WNT ligands (WNT1 and WNT3a; Figure 2.S8). Future work should focus on the potential predictive value of WNT6 for targeted therapies with specific inhibitors of WNT-related pathways (e.g., LGK974, currently tested in clinical trials for several solid tumors; NCT01351103).

In summary, this work provides significant contributions to the neuro-oncology field, profiting from the understanding of WNT6-mediated signaling pathways and from the portrayal of the functional roles and clinical value of WNT6 in GBM, potentially impacting prognostic stratification and aiding in rationale treatment decisions for GBM patients.

2.4. Materials and methods

2.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients

All gene expression data from samples hybridized by the University of North Carolina, Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center, using Agilent G4502A 244K, were downloaded from TCGA

87

(*https://portal.gdc.cancer.gov/*) [19], including 572 GBMs, 27 LGGs, and 10 unmatched non-tumoral patient samples. To prevent duplicated entries from the same patient—when more than one portion per patient was available—the median expression value was used. Three probe sets hit *WNT6* gene (A_23_P119916, A_32_P159877 and A_24_P208513). The provided value was pre-processed and normalized according to "level 3" specifications of TCGA. *WNT6* overexpression in glioma samples was considered when higher than that in non-tumoral samples ("level 3" value \geq 0.41). Clinical data of each patient was provided by the biospecimen core resources and includes information about patients' age at diagnosis, gender, KPS and days to death and to last follow-up.

2.4.2. Freije, Gravendeel and Vital datasets

WNT6 expression microarray data from Freije (n = 59) [24], Gravendeel n = 159 [32], and Vital (n = 26) [33] datasets of GBM patients were obtained in the GlioVis data portal [64]. The top 17% of tumors expressing highest levels of *WNT6* were classified as WNT6-high in Freije (n = 10/59) and Gravendeel (n = 27/159) datasets, similar to the cutoff used for TCGA, and the top 39% for the Vital (n = 10/26) dataset due to the small number of patients. Clinical data included GBM subtype classification, OS and vital status of the patients.

2.4.3. Glioma primary tissues

Glioma tumor specimens were obtained from patients who underwent a craniotomy for tumor removal or stereotaxic biopsy at 4 different hospitals: Hospital Braga (HB), Hospital Santa Maria (HSM, Centro Hospitalar Lisboa Norte; samples requested from Biobanco-iMM, Lisbon Academic Medical Center, Lisbon, Portugal) and Hospital Santo António (HSA, Centro Hospitalar Porto), Portugal, and Hospital de Câncer de Barretos, Brazil. Samples from HB and HSM were reserved for RNA-based studies, transported in dry ice to the lab and stored at -80 °C. Samples from HSA and Brazil were formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded and used for IHC analysis. Samples from Brazil were organized in triplicates into tissue microarrays (TMAs) [65]. Tumors were classified according to WHO 2007 [66] and only patients with glial tumor histological diagnosis were included in the study.

2.4.4. Immunohistochemistry

Tissues sections were deparaffinized and rehydrated by xylene and ethanol series. Sodium citrate buffer (10 mM, 0.05% Tween 20, pH 6) was used for antigen retrieval. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked with 3% H₂O₂ in TBS 1x for 10 min. Immunohistochemical staining was performed using the LabVision kit (UltraVision Large Volume Detection System Anti-polyvalent, HRP) according to the manufacturer's instructions. WNT6, Ki-67, Cyclin D1, SOX2, NESTIN, GFAP and BCL2 antibodies were

used (see Table 2.S1 for details). Concerning Ki-67 staining, before antigen retrieval, tissues were permeabilized using TBS-Tween 0.5%, for 10 min. DAB substrate (DAKO) was used as chromogen, followed by counterstaining with hematoxylin. The TMA from the Brazilian cohort was blind-scored by a pathologist based on WNT6 staining intensity: 1 = weak, 2 = moderate and 3 = strong. The average of the triplicate spots was calculated and used for the survival analysis. An average > 2 was considered as WNT6 high expression.

2.4.5. Cell lines and culture conditions

Human GBM cell lines U373MG and U87MG (kindly provided by Dr. Joseph Costello, University of California, San Francisco), and SNB19 (obtained from German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures) were cultured in DMEM (Biochrom) supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS; Biochrom). Cells were maintained in a humidified atmosphere at 37 °C and 5% (v/v) CO₂. These conditions were maintained throughout the studies, unless otherwise stated. Testing for mycoplasma contamination was performed every month.

2.4.6. WNT6-silencing by shRNA in GBM cells

U373MG and SNB19 cell lines were plated at 70 000 cell/well (24-well plate) and 100 000 cells/well (12-well plate), respectively. Cells were transfected with *WNT6* gene-specific shRNA expression vector inserted in a pRS plasmid (TR308360, clones TI333434 and TI333435 from Origene; named U373-shWNT6 or SNB19-shWNT6, respectively) or with a scrambled negative control non-effective shRNA in a pRS plasmid (TR30012, Origene; named U373-shCtrl or SNB19-shCtrl). Lipofectamine 3000 (Invitrogen) transfection reagent was used according to the manufacturer's recommendations (ratio plasmid/lipofectamine, 1:2.5). Stable transfection was achieved by selecting transfected clones with puromycin (1 μ g/mL).

2.4.7. WNT6 overexpression in GBM cells

U87MG cells were plated at 200 000 cell/well (6-well plate). Cells were transfected with the pcDNA-Wnt6 vector (gift from Dr. Marian Waterman; Addgene plasmid #35913) [67] or with the respective empty vector (pcDNA3.2 GW delCMV; gift from Dr. Edward Hsiao; Addgene plasmid #29496) [68]. Lipofectamine 3000 (Invitrogen) transfection reagent was used according to the manufacturer's recommendations (4 µL of Lipofectamine 3000 per 1 µg of DNA). Stable transfection was achieved by selecting transfected clones with geneticin (800 µg/mL).

89

2.4.8. qRT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted from GBM patients' tissues and cell lines using the TRIzol method (Invitrogen) and cDNA from 1 µg of the total RNA was then synthesized (RT-Phusion Kit, Thermo Scientific). The levels of *WNT6* and *TBP* (reference gene) were assessed by quantitative reverse transcription-PCR (qRT-PCR; KAPA SYBR® FAST qPCR Kit, KAPABIOSYSTEMS or PowerUpTM SYBRTM Green Master Mix, ThermoFisher Scientific, for cell lines and GBM patient's samples, respectively) with the following sets of primers: *WNT6* Fwd 5'-GACGAGAAGTCGAGGCTCTTT-3' and Rev 5'-CGAAATGGAGGCAGCTTCT-3'; *TBP* Fwd 5'-GAGCTGTGATGTGAAGTTTCC-3' and Rev 5'-TCTGGGTTTGATCATTCTGTAG-3'. The annealing temperature was 60 °C for both. The levels of *WNT1* and *WNT3a* were assessed using Taqman gene expression assays (Hs00180529_m1 and Hs00263977_m1, respectively) and normalized against *TBP* (Hs00427620_m1), following manufacturer's instructions. Levels were determined based on the 2^{-ΔΔCt} method, as described in [69].

2.4.9. Immunofluorescence (IF)

U373 (shCtrl/shWNT6) and SNB19 (shCtrl/shWNT6) cells were plated on coverslips in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS. Cells were fixed with paraformaldehyde 4% and then incubated in 1% BSA in PBS/0.1% Tween for 1 h. Afterwards, cells were incubated overnight at 4 °C with the primary antibody against WNT6 or SOX2. Alexa fluor® 594 goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L; A-11012, ThermoFisher Scientific) secondary antibody was used. Additionally, SOX2-coverslips were incubated with anti-NESTIN primary antibody. Next, Alexa Fluor® 488 goat anti-mouse IgG (H+L; A-11001, ThermoFisher Scientific) secondary antibody was used. DAPI (VECTASHIELD® Mounting Medium with DAPI, Vector Laboratories) was used to stain the cell nucleus (blue) at a concentration of 1.5 μg/mL. Further details about the antibodies used are provided in Table 2.S1.

2.4.10. Cell viability assays

Cell viability was determined 6 days after plating by both trypan blue and MTT (U373 and SNB19 cells) or MTS (U87 cells) assays. For trypan blue assay, cells were plated, in triplicate, at an initial density of 20 000 cells/well in 6-well plates. For MTT/MTS assay, transfected cells were plated in 12-well plates, in triplicate, at an initial density of 6 000 (for U373 and U87 cells) or 10 000 cells/well (SNB19).

For the MTT assay, cells were incubated with 0.5 mg of MTT (ThermoFisher Scientific) per mL of PBS 1x, for up to 2 h in a humidified atmosphere at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. Subsequently, the formed crystals were dissolved using an acidified isopropanol solution (0.04 M HCl in isopropanol), as described in [70], and the absorbance was read at 570 nm. For the MTS assay, cells were incubated with 10% of the MTS

solution (CellTiter 96® AQueous One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay; Promega) in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, for up to 1 h in a humidified atmosphere at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. Absorbance was recorded at 490 nm.

2.4.11. Cell proliferation

Cell proliferation was evaluated based on the measurement of BrdU incorporation during DNA synthesis (Cell Proliferation ELISA, BrdU colorimetric assay, Roche), as recommended by the manufacturer. Briefly, cells were cultured in DMEM (Gibco®) supplemented with 10% FBS (Biochrom) in 96-well plates (cell density: 2 000 cells/well) for 4 days. After that, BrdU was added to the cells and they were re-incubated for 4 h.

2.4.12. Cell migration

Ibidi 2-well inserts (Ibidi) with a cell-free gap were used in 12-well plates to evaluate cell migration by wound healing assay. U373 and SNB19 transfected cells were plated in triplicate, at an initial density of 70 000 and 60 000 cells in each side of the insert, respectively, and left to adhere overnight. After that, inserts were removed (0 h time-point) and wells were washed with PBS to remove dead cells and debris. The migration of the cells into the gap was imaged (2 images/well) over hours until wound closure was achieved (images were captured at the same locations over time). The gap size (pixels) was measured using an automated software (beWound – Cell Migration Tool, v1.7, BESURG, Portugal; *www.besurg.com*) and manually verified and corrected when deemed necessary. At least 15 lines equally spaced across the image and perpendicular to the gap main axis were used for increased measurement representativeness.

2.4.13. Cell invasion

Cell invasion was assessed using the BD BioCoat[™] Matrigel[™] Invasion Chambers (Corning®) as recommended by the manufacturer. Briefly, cells were seeded into the top (insert) at the initial density of 50 000 cells/well (U373 and SNB19) or 25 000 cells/well (U87; 24-well chambers) in DMEM (Gibco®) supplemented with 1% FBS. EGF was added to the medium of the lower chamber (DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS) at a concentration of 20 ng/mL, as chemoattractant. Cells were incubated for 22 h. Next, cells that invaded through the membrane were stained using VECTASHIELD Mounting Medium with DAPI (Vector Laboratories) and a picture of the entire membrane was obtained using an Olympus Upright BX61 microscope. The total cell number was counted with the help of ImageJ software (version 1.49).

2.4.14. Cell death

Cell death was evaluated after 6 days of treatment with TMZ (400 μM and 800 μM , for U373

and SNB19 transfected cells, respectively) or DMSO (Dimethyl sulfoxide; Vehicle). TMZ treatment was applied 24 h after plating and was renewed 2 days after. Cells were stained with Annexin V-FITC (BD Bioscience) and propidium iodide (PI; TermoFisher Scientific), according to the manufacturer's protocol, followed by flow cytometry analysis. At least 10 000 events were acquired. Results were analyzed using FlowJo software (version 10).

2.4.15. Colony formation assay

For clonogenic cell survival assay, cells were seeded at a density of 1 000 to 2 000 per 25-cm² flask, in triplicates. Twenty-four hours after seeding, irradiation was performed at RT in single exposure doses, delivered by a Novalis TX® linear accelerator, with a nominal energy of 6 MV at a dose rate of about 400 cGy/min. Doses of 2 and 4 Gy were calculated using a dedicated treatment planning system to a depth of water of 1.5 cm. The plating efficiency (PE) represents the percentage of seeded cells that grew into colonies. Colonies with more than 50 cells were counted by microscopic inspection and PE, as well as the radiation-surviving fraction (PE of experimental group/PE of control group), were determined. Survival data were obtained with data from 3 independent experiments.

2.4.16. Cell viability assay (MTT) under stem cell conditions

Culture vessels were coated with 10 µg/mL natural mouse laminin (Invitrogen) for 3 h at 37 °C or overnight at 4 °C, as previously described [29]. U373 and SNB19 transfected cells were plated in 12well laminin-coated plates, in triplicate, at an initial density of 6 000 and 10 000 cells per well, respectively. Cells were cultured in serum-free stem cell medium composed by DMEM-F12 (Gibco) supplemented with 1x B27 (Invitrogen), 20 ng/mL of EGF (Invitrogen), and 20 ng/mL of basic fibroblast growth factor (b-FGF, Invitrogen). After 4 days in culture, cells were incubated with MTT as detailed above (section "Cell viability assays").

2.4.17. Neurosphere formation assay

U373, SNB19 and U87 transfected cells were plated at the maximum density of 4 000 cells/mL in low-attachment 24-well plates (Corning). Cells were cultured in serum-free stem cell medium, as detailed above. Neurospheres were supplemented with fresh media every 4–5 days (250 μ L/well). The number of neurospheres was counted after 10 days for U373 and U87 cells and 15 days for SNB19.

2.4.18. Limiting dilution assay

Cell numbers of U373 and U87 transfected cells were adjusted to a starting concentration of 40 000 cells/mL and 160 000 cells/mL, respectively, from which multiple serial dilutions were

performed and plated in low-attachment 96-well plates (Corning). At the end, cell densities ranged from 1 000 to 1 cells per well in a final volume of 100 µL for U373 cells and from 4 000 to 8 cells per well for U87 cells. Cells were cultured in serum-free stem cell medium, as detailed above. Cultures were disturbed only for media supplementation every 5 days. After 15 days, the fraction of wells not containing neurospheres was determined for each condition and plotted against the initial plated cell density. Stem cell frequencies and statistical significance were calculated using the Extreme Limiting Dilution Assay (ELDA) software available at *http://bioinf.wehi.edu.au/software/elda/* [71].

2.4.19. Stereotactic orthotopic xenografts

NSG (NOD.Cg-*Prkdc^{scid} ll2rg*^{tm1Wil}/SzJ) mice aged 4 months were anesthetized with a mixture of ketamine (75 mg/kg) and medetomidine (1 mg/kg) supplemented with butorphanol (5 mg/kg) for its analgesic properties and placed into the digital 3-axis stereotaxic apparatus (Stoelting). A total of 5×10^5 U373 or 2×10^5 U87 transfected cells (resuspended in 5 µL PBS 1x) were injected into the brain striatum using a 10 µL Hamilton syringe with a point style 4 beveled 26s-gauge needle, as previously described [72]. A total of 8 male and 6 female mice per group were used for U373 and U87 transfected cells, respectively. U373 and U87 cells were used as no reports were found for SNB19 tumorigenic capacity when orthotopically injected in immunocompromised mice. Mice were maintained under standard laboratory conditions, which included an artificial 12 h light/dark cycle, controlled ambient temperature (21 ± 1 °C) and a relative humidity of 50–60%. The confirmation of specified pathogen-free health status of sentinel mice were always manipulated in a flow hood chamber, except during the surgery. Mice's body weight was evaluated 3 times per week, while general behavior and symptomatology were registered daily. Sacrifice at the pre-established humane endpoint was performed when mice presented severe weight loss (> 30% from maximum weight). Death was used for Kaplan-Meyer representation.

2.4.20. Human phospho-kinase antibody array

Human phospho-kinase antibody arrays (ARY003B; R&D systems) were used to simultaneously detect the relative levels of phosphorylation of 43 kinase phosphorylation sites and 2 related total proteins. Capture and control antibodies were spotted in duplicate on nitrocellulose membranes. The protocol was done following the manufacturer's recommendations. In this case, 400 µg of total protein from all cell lines (U373 shCtrl/shWNT6 and SNB19 shCtrl/shWNT6) was used. The obtained chemiluminescence was measured using the ChemiDoc imaging system (Biorad). Adjusted volume per spot (*i.e.*, average pixel intensity of the spot times its area, corrected for the background) was measured using the Quantity

One image analysis software. Background was eliminated using the local option. The average of each duplicated spot was calculated, normalized to HSP60 (reference protein) and used to determine the relative change in phosphorylated kinase proteins between shCtrl and shWNT6 conditions. Two sets of arrays were performed for U373 shCtrl/shWNT6, while only 1 was used for SNB19 shCtrl/shWNT6.

2.4.21. Western blot analysis

Cells were washed with PBS 1x and removed by scratch in a lysis buffer containing 50 mM Tris pH 8, 2 mM EDTA pH 7.4, 0.1% SDS, 1% NP-40 and 150 mM NaCl, inhibitors of proteases 1x (B14001, Biotool) and phosphatases 1x (B15001, Biotool). After a 15-min incubation on ice, whole cell lysate was centrifuged at 13 000 \times g for 15 min at 4 °C. The total protein concentration was determined from the obtained supernatant using the Pierce™ BCA protein assay kit (ThermoFisher Scientific), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Protein extracts (denatured and reduced; 20 µg/lane) were separated in a 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel by electrophoresis and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Hybond-C Extra, GE Healthcare Life Sciences), using the Trans-blot turbo transferring system (Bio-rad), following the manufacturer's instructions. A protein ladder (Page ruler prestained protein ladder; Fermentas) was used to determine the approximate protein size and to monitor the progress of the electrophoretic run and the success of the transfer. Before starting the immunodetection, membranes were blocked with BSA (5% in TBS 1x), for 1 h at RT. The immunodetection was achieved using antibodies against p-STAT3 Y705, STAT3, non-p- β -catenin S33/S37/T41, β -catenin, p-AKT S473, AKT, and α -tubulin (see Table 2.S1 for details). Blots were revealed with peroxidase-conjugated secondary anti-mouse and anti-rabbit IgG antibodies (see Table 2.S1 for details), followed by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) solution (SuperSignal West Femto Chemiluminescent Substrate; Thermo Scientific). The obtained chemiluminescence was measured using the ChemiDoc imaging system (Biorad). If necessary, membranes were stripped using the Restore™ PLUS Western Blot Stripping Buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific), following the manufacturer's recommendations. As for the phospho-kinase arrays, adjusted volume per band was measured using the Quantity One image analysis software. Phosphorylated protein values were normalized to α -tubulin (reference protein).

2.4.22. TCF/LEF reporter assay

The Cignal TCF/LEF Reporter Assay Kit (GFP; Qiagen) was used to quantify the specific activation of β -catenin-dependent WNT signaling (canonical pathway). The protocol was done following the manufacturer's recommendations. Briefly, U373-shCtrl, U373-shWNT6, U87-Ctrl and U87-WNT6 cells were reverse transfected with i) a TCF/LEF reporter vector, which encodes a monster GFP under the

control of a TATA box (basal promoter) joined to TCF/LEF responsive elements; ii) a negative control vector, which encodes GFP under the control of a TATA box; or iii) a positive control vector, which constitutively expresses the monster GFP for visual confirmation of the transfection efficiency. For this, cells were plated in triplicate at an initial density of 20 000 cells/well in 96-well plates with black walls and clear bottoms (Glass SPL Black plate). Lipofectamine 3000 (Invitrogen) transfection reagent was used according to the manufacturer's recommendations (0.25 µL of Lipofectamine 3000 per 100 ng of DNA). After 16 h of transfection, the medium was renewed and 24 h post-transfection, cells were treated with 50 mM of LiCl. GFP expression was verified 24 h after treatment under the microscope and quantified using a Varioskan Flash (Thermo Fisher Scientific) plate reader (excitation at 488 nm and emission at 515 nm). GFP expression in the reporter assay condition was normalized against the negative controls (as blank) and the respective positive controls (to control for transfection efficiency).

2.4.23. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA)

The raw expression data profile (Agilent G4502A 244K) of all GBM patients from TCGA (n = 573) was extracted as detailed above. GSEA (*www.broad.mit.edu/gsea/*) software was then used [73]. In this work, a continuous phenotype profile was employed to find gene sets that correlate with *WNT6* (gene neighbors). Accordingly, Pearson's correlation was used to score and rank the genes. Gene sets from the Molecular Signature Database (MSigDb) C6 collection were used. Default options were used, unless otherwise stated. Significant enrichments were considered when false discovery rate (FDR) < 0.30.

2.4.24. Statistical analyses

Homoscedasticity was verified with Levene's test and differences between groups were assessed by a two-sided unpaired *t*-test, with Welch's correction applied accordingly. For the wound healing assay and radiation treatment sensitivity assay, a two-way ANOVA followed by the post-hoc Sidak's test for multiple comparison testing was used. For the TMZ treatment cell death assay, a two-way ANOVA followed by the post-hoc Tukey's test for multiple comparison testing was used. The correlation between the expressions of WNT6 and stem-related genes (from the gene ontology gene-set GO_Positive_regulation_of_stem_cell_proliferation) was calculated using Pearson's correlation coefficient (r). The effects of WNT6 on mouse OS was assessed by log-rank test. These analyses were performed with GraphPad Prism 6.01 software (GraphPad software, Inc.).

The Chi-square test was used to assess the difference between the distributions of tumors with high and low *WNT6* expression stratified for LGGs and GBMs. To evaluate the prognostic value of *WNT6* expression, univariate or multivariate analyses of survival were performed using, respectively, the log-rank

test or the Cox proportional hazard model, where the potential confounding effect of some variables is considered. These analyses were made with SPSS 22.0 software (SPSS, Inc.). A meta-analysis including all datasets was performed with the Comprehensive Meta Analysis (CMA) v3 software (Biostat, Inc.). Hazard ratios and 95% confidence intervals from the Cox univariate or, when possible, multivariate analyses were used. A random effects statistical model was applied.

For all statistical tests, significance was considered when p < 0.05.

2.4.25. Study approval

Written informed consent for investigation purposes was obtained from all patients. All procedures were in accordance with institutional ethics standards. Clinical samples in which patient information was collected were obtained from the Hospital Braga and Hospital Santa Maria, Portugal, and Hospital de Barretos, Brazil, with their respective ethical approvals (SECVS 150/2014 and CNPD 7435/2011). All animal procedures were conducted in accordance with the guidelines for the care and use of laboratory animals (European Directive 2010/63/EU) and approved by the Direcção Geral de Alimentação e Veterinária (DGAV, reference 017761), the competent national authority for animal protection.

Acknowledgments

The authors extend their acknowledgments to the families who contributed to this study. Financial support was provided by grants from the FCT - Foundation for Science and Technology (PTDC/SAU-GMG/113795/2009 and IF/00601/2012 to B.M.C.; SFRH/BD/92786/2013 to C.S.G.; SFRH/BD/88121/2012 to J.V.C.; SFRH/BD/81042/2011 to M.P.; SFRH/BD/93443/2013 to S.Q.) and Fundação Calouste Gulbenkian (B.M.C.), by FEDER funds through the Operational Programme Competitiveness Factors – COMPETE and National Funds through FCT under the project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-007038; by the project NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000013 and NORTE-01-0246-FEDER-000012, supported by Norte Portugal Regional Operational Programme (NORTE 2020), under the PORTUGAL 2020 Partnership Agreement, through the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF); and by the project NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000023, supported by the Northern Portugal Regional Operational Programme (NORTE 2020), under the Portugal 2020 Partnership Agreement, through the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF); and by the project NORTE 2020), under the Portugal 2020 Partnership Agreement, through the European Regional Development Fund (FEDER).

Author contributions

CSG, NS and BMC designed research studies. CSG, JVC, MP, EPM, SQ, and EC conducted experiments. CSG, JVC, MP, EPM, SQ, EC, RT, CC (C. Clara), NS, and BMC analyzed data. RT, MMP,

96

AAP, FP, CC (C. Custódia), CCF, and RMR provided patient samples. CSG and BMC wrote the manuscript. All authors reviewed and approved the manuscript.

Competing interests

The authors have declared that no competing interest exists.

Appendixes

Appendixes including:

- Supplementary Figures and Legends;
- Supplementary Tables.



Figure 2.S1. Representative images of immunohistochemistry controls for HSA tissues.

Representative images are shown for: (A) WNT6 stainings in skin tissues, used as both negative and positive control, for its specific WNT6 expression patterns, where WNT6 expression might be found in the epidermis and its derivative appendages (i.e. hair follicle) and not in the other subsequent layers, to ensure for the specificity of the primary antibody; (B) Negative controls without primary antibody incubation; (C) Hematoxylin and Eosin stainings to confirm the presence of tumor; (D) NESTIN and (E) GFAP stainings were used as typical GBM markers.





Figure 2.S2. *WNT6* expression is present in all 4 molecular subtypes of GBM.

Distribution of WNT6-high patients among GBM molecular subtypes from the TCGA (n = 201), Freije (n = 59), Gravendeel (n = 159) and Vital (n = 26) datasets.



Figure 2.S3. WNT6 overexpression promotes GBM aggressiveness In vitro and In vivo.

(A) The efficiency of WNT6 overexpression in U87 glioblastoma cells was analyzed by qRT-PCR (top) and WB (bottom). (Top) *WNT6* expression levels were normalized to *TBP*. (Bottom); α -tubulin was used as reference protein. (**B and C**) Cell viability was measured by trypan blue (**B**) and MTS (**C**) assays in Ctrl and WNT6 cells. (**D and E**) Matrigel invasion assays were used to assess the cells' invasion capacity. Representative images (**D**; cell nuclei stained with DAPI; scale bar = 300 μ m) and quantification (**E**) of invasive U87 Ctrl and WNT6 cells. (**F**) Representative images of U87 Ctrl/WNT6 neurospheres at day 10 after plating (40x magnification; scale bar = 200 μ m). (**G**) Quantification of neurospheres formation. (**H**) Limiting dilution assays in U87-Ctrl (black) and U87-WNT6 (red) cells to assess their sphere-forming capacity. The trend lines represent the estimated active cell frequency (n = 3 independent assays; p = 0.004, likelihood ratio test). (**I-L**) U87 transfected cells were orthotopically injected in the brain of NSG mice (n = 6 per group). (**I**) Mice weight curves after tumor implantation. (**J**) Kaplan-Meier overall survival curves of mice (p = 0.006; Log-rank test). (**K** and **L**) Post-mortem brain histological and molecular analyses. H&E (**K**) and anti-WNT6 IHC staining (**L**) were used as controls for GBM formation and successful long-term WNT6 overexpression, respectively. Results represent data from at least 3 independent experiments (mean \pm SD). *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01 and ***, p < 0.005 (otherwise stated, a two-sided unpaired *t*-test with Welch's correction being applied when homoscedasticity was not verified).



Figure 2.S4. WNT6 does not affect sensitivity of GBM cells to radiotherapy.

U373 shCtrl and shWNT6 cells were treated with increasing doses of radiation (0, 2, and 4 Gy) and cell survival was analyzed by colony formation assays. ns = non-statistically significant (two-way ANOVA post-hoc Sidak's test).

Chapter 2. WNT6 is a novel oncogenic prognostic biomarker in human glioblastoma





Correlation graphs between WNT6 expression (x-axis) and the expression of stem cell genes selected based on the heatmap in Figure 4 (y-axis; Pearson's correlation test r and p values are indicated).

Appendixes





TCF/LEF reporter assays in U373 shCtrl/shWNT6 (**A and B**) and U87 Ctrl/WNT6 cells (**C and D**). (**A and C**) Representative images are displayed (100x magnification; scale bar = 100 μ m). (**B and D**) GFP expression was used as a measure of TCF/LEF promoter activity and was normalized against negative and positive controls. (n = 3 independent assays; mean ± SD; *, p < 0.05 and **, p < 0.01, two-sided unpaired *t*test).





Kaplan-Meier survival curves of WNT6-low and WNT6-high GBM patients derived from IHC (protein) data from a Brazilian dataset (n = 87; median OS 6.5 vs. 3.8 months, low vs. high WNT6 expression, respectively; p = 0.069, Log-rank test). Representative IHC microphotographs showing different levels of WNT6 protein expression in particular tumors are shown.


Figure 2.S8. Manipulation of WNT6 expression levels does not concomitantly affect levels of *WNT1* or *WNT3a*.

WNT1 and *WNT3a* expression was evaluated by qRT-PCR in U373 shCtrl/shWNT6, SNB19 shCtrl/shWNT6 and U87 shCtrl/shWNT6 cells (n = 3 independent assays; mean \pm SD; *, p < 0.05, two-sided unpaired *t*test).

Table 2.S1. List of antibodies used fo	r immunohistocher	nistry, immunofluorescence, and V	Vestern blot		
Protein	Reference	Source	Technique	Dilution	Incubation
			IHC	1:450	O/N at 4°C
WNT6	nenneda	Abcam	Ŀ	1:1 000	O/N at 4°C
	ab154144		WB	1:500	O∕N at 4°C
Ki-67	550609	BD Biosciences	IHC	1:200	O/N at 4°C
Cyclin D1	2978	Cell Signaling	IHC	1:100	O∕ N at 4°C
SOV3	VDEGOD		IHC	1:500	O∕N at 4°C
2005	ADJOUJ		F	1:300	0∕N at 4°C
BCL2	2870	Cell Signaling	IHC	1:200	O∕N at 4°C
NESTIN	MAB5326	EMD Millipore	F	1:100	1h at RT
rabbit IgG (H+L) – Alexa fluor® 594	A-11012	ThermoFisher Scientific	Γ	1:1 000	1h at RT in the dark
mouse IgG (H+L) – Alexa fluor® 488	A-11001	ThermoFisher Scientific	Γ	1:1 000	1h at RT in the dark
p-STAT3 Y705	9145	Cell Signaling	WB	1:2 000	O/N at 4°C
STAT3	9132	Cell Signaling	WB	1:1 000	O∕ N at 4°C
non-p-ß-catenin S33/S37/T41	4270	Cell Signaling	WB	1:5 000	0∕N at 4°C
β-catenin	610153	BD Bioscience	WB	1:2 000	O∕ N at 4°C
p-AKT S473	4051	Cell Signaling	WB	1:1 000	O∕ N at 4°C
АКТ	2920	Cell Signaling	WB	1:2 000	0/N at 4°C
œ-tubulin	sc-23948	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	WB	1:1 000	1h at RT
mouse IgG – HRP conjugated	sc-2031	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	WB	1:1 000	1h at RT
rabbit IgG – HRP conjugated	sc-2004	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	WB	1:1 000	1h at RT
IHC: Immunohistochemistry; IF: Im	imunofluorescence	e; WB: Western Blot; O/N: Overn	ght; RT: Room Temp	erature	

References

- 1. Louis DN. Molecular pathology of malignant gliomas. *Annu Rev Pathol.* 2006;1:97-117.
- Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ, Belanger K, Brandes AA, Marosi C, Bogdahn U, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;352(10):987-96.
- 3. Buckner JC, Brown PD, O'Neill BP, Meyer FB, Wetmore CJ, and Uhm JH. Central nervous system tumors. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2007;82(10):1271-86.
- 4. Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Kleihues P, and Ellison DW. The 2016 world health organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2016;131(6):803-20.
- 5. Kamino M, Kishida M, Kibe T, Ikoma K, Iijima M, Hirano H, Tokudome M, Chen L, Koriyama C, Yamada K, et al. WNT-5a signaling is correlated with infiltrative activity in human glioma by inducing cellular migration and MMP-2. *Cancer Sci.* 2011;102(3):540-8.
- 6. Kaur N, Chettiar S, Rathod S, Rath P, Muzumdar D, Shaikh ML, and Shiras A. WNT3a mediated activation of WNT/beta-catenin signaling promotes tumor progression in glioblastoma. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* 2013;54:44-57.
- 7. Nager M, Bhardwaj D, Canti C, Medina L, Nogues P, and Herreros J. Beta-catenin signalling in glioblastoma multiforme and glioma-initiating cells. *Chemother Res Pract.* 2012;2012:192362.
- 8. Nusse R, and Clevers H. WNT/beta-catenin signaling, disease, and emerging therapeutic modalities. *Cell.* 2017;169(6):985-99.
- 9. Cheng L, Bao S, and Rich JN. Potential therapeutic implications of cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2010;80(5):654-65.
- 10. Ohka F, Natsume A, and Wakabayashi T. Current trends in targeted therapies for glioblastoma multiforme. *Neurol Res Int.* 2012;2012:878425.
- 11. Kim Y, Kim KH, Lee J, Lee YA, Kim M, Lee SJ, Park K, Yang H, Jin J, Joo KM, et al. WNT activation is implicated in glioblastoma radioresistance. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology.* 2012;92(3):466-73.
- 12. Takahashi-Yanaga F, and Kahn M. Targeting WNT signaling: can we safely eradicate cancer stem cells? *Clin Cancer Res.* 2010;16(12):3153-62.
- Yuan G, Regel I, Lian F, Friedrich T, Hitkova I, Hofheinz RD, Strobel P, Langer R, Keller G, Rocken C, et al. WNT6 is a novel target gene of caveolin-1 promoting chemoresistance to epirubicin in human gastric cancer cells. *Oncogene.* 2013;32(3):375-87.
- Fan Y, Shen B, Tan M, Mu X, Qin Y, Zhang F, and Liu Y. Long non-coding RNA UCA1 increases chemoresistance of bladder cancer cells by regulating WNT signaling. *FEBS J.* 2014;281(7):1750-8.
- 15. Zhang L, Yuan G, Fang Y, Qiu M, Lin J, Sun J, and Yang D. Increased WNT6 expression in tumor cells predicts unfavorable survival in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma patients. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* 2015;8(9):11421-7.
- 16. Galbraith RL, Poole EM, Duggan D, Muehling J, Hsu L, Makar K, Xiao L, Potter JD, and Ulrich CM.

Polymorphisms in WNT6 and WNT10A and colorectal adenoma risk. *Nutr Cancer.* 2011;63(4):558-64.

- 17. Kirikoshi H, Sekihara H, and Katoh M. WNT10A and WNT6, clustered in human chromosome 2q35 region with head-to-tail manner, are strongly coexpressed in SW480 cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2001;283(4):798-805.
- Zheng H, Ying H, Wiedemeyer R, Yan H, Quayle SN, Ivanova EV, Paik JH, Zhang H, Xiao Y, Perry SR, et al. PLAGL2 regulates WNT signaling to impede differentiation in neural stem cells and gliomas. *Cancer Cell.* 2010;17(5):497-509.
- 19. TCGA. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. *Nature.* 2008;455(7216):1061-8.
- Murat A, Migliavacca E, Gorlia T, Lambiv WL, Shay T, Hamou MF, de Tribolet N, Regli L, Wick W, Kouwenhoven MC, et al. Stem cell-related "self-renewal" signature and high epidermal growth factor receptor expression associated with resistance to concomitant chemoradiotherapy in glioblastoma. *J Clin Oncol.* 2008;26(18):3015-24.
- Liang Y, Diehn M, Watson N, Bollen AW, Aldape KD, Nicholas MK, Lamborn KR, Berger MS, Botstein D, Brown PO, et al. Gene expression profiling reveals molecularly and clinically distinct subtypes of glioblastoma multiforme. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 2005;102(16):5814-9.
- 22. Mischel PS, Shai R, Shi T, Horvath S, Lu KV, Choe G, Seligson D, Kremen TJ, Palotie A, Liau LM, et al. Identification of molecular subtypes of glioblastoma by gene expression profiling. *Oncogene.* 2003;22(15):2361-73.
- 23. Shai R, Shi T, Kremen TJ, Horvath S, Liau LM, Cloughesy TF, Mischel PS, and Nelson SF. Gene expression profiling identifies molecular subtypes of gliomas. *Oncogene.* 2003;22(31):4918-23.
- Freije WA, Castro-Vargas FE, Fang Z, Horvath S, Cloughesy T, Liau LM, Mischel PS, and Nelson SF. Gene expression profiling of gliomas strongly predicts survival. *Cancer Res.* 2004;64(18):6503-10.
- 25. Nutt CL, Mani DR, Betensky RA, Tamayo P, Cairncross JG, Ladd C, Pohl U, Hartmann C, McLaughlin ME, Batchelor TT, et al. Gene expression-based classification of malignant gliomas correlates better with survival than histological classification. *Cancer Res.* 2003;63(7):1602-7.
- 26. Phillips HS, Kharbanda S, Chen R, Forrest WF, Soriano RH, Wu TD, Misra A, Nigro JM, Colman H, Soroceanu L, et al. Molecular subclasses of high-grade glioma predict prognosis, delineate a pattern of disease progression, and resemble stages in neurogenesis. *Cancer Cell*. 2006;9(3):157-73.
- 27. Tso CL, Freije WA, Day A, Chen Z, Merriman B, Perlina A, Lee Y, Dia EQ, Yoshimoto K, Mischel PS, et al. Distinct transcription profiles of primary and secondary glioblastoma subgroups. *Cancer Res.* 2006;66(1):159-67.
- Verhaak RG, Hoadley KA, Purdom E, Wang V, Qi Y, Wilkerson MD, Miller CR, Ding L, Golub T, Mesirov JP, et al. Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. *Cancer Cell.* 2010;17(1):98-110.
- 29. Pollard SM, Yoshikawa K, Clarke ID, Danovi D, Stricker S, Russell R, Bayani J, Head R, Lee M, Bernstein M, et al. Glioma stem cell lines expanded in adherent culture have tumor-specific

phenotypes and are suitable for chemical and genetic screens. *Cell stem cell.* 2009;4(6):568-80.

- Woolard K, and Fine HA. Glioma stem cells: better flat than round. *Cell stem cell*. 2009;4(6):466-7.
- Mandal T, Bhowmik A, Chatterjee A, Chatterjee U, Chatterjee S, and Ghosh MK. Reduced phosphorylation of STAT3 at Ser-727 mediated by casein kinase 2 - protein phosphatase 2A enhances STAT3 Tyr-705 induced tumorigenic potential of glioma cells. *Cell Signal.* 2014;26(8):1725-34.
- Gravendeel LA, Kouwenhoven MC, Gevaert O, de Rooi JJ, Stubbs AP, Duijm JE, Daemen A, Bleeker FE, Bralten LB, Kloosterhof NK, et al. Intrinsic gene expression profiles of gliomas are a better predictor of survival than histology. *Cancer Res.* 2009;69(23):9065-72.
- Vital AL, Tabernero MD, Castrillo A, Rebelo O, Tao H, Gomes F, Nieto AB, Resende Oliveira C, Lopes MC, and Orfao A. Gene expression profiles of human glioblastomas are associated with both tumor cytogenetics and histopathology. *Neuro Oncol.* 2010;12(9):991-1003.
- 34. Reya T, and Clevers H. WNT signalling in stem cells and cancer. *Nature.* 2005;434(7035):843-50.
- 35. Voeller HJ, Truica CI, and Gelmann EP. Beta-catenin mutations in human prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* 1998;58(12):2520-3.
- 36. Baeza N, Masuoka J, Kleihues P, and Ohgaki H. AXIN1 mutations but not deletions in cerebellar medulloblastomas. *Oncogene.* 2003;22(4):632-6.
- 37. Schmidt C, Stoeckelhuber M, McKinnell I, Putz R, Christ B, and Patel K. WNT6 regulates the epithelialisation process of the segmental plate mesoderm leading to somite formation. *Dev Biol.* 2004;271(1):198-209.
- 38. Schmidt C, McGonnell IM, Allen S, Otto A, and Patel K. WNT6 controls amniote neural crest induction through the non-canonical signaling pathway. *Dev Dyn.* 2007;236(9):2502-11.
- 39. Lavery DL, Martin J, Turnbull YD, and Hoppler S. WNT6 signaling regulates heart muscle development during organogenesis. *Dev Biol.* 2008;323(2):177-88.
- 40. Lavery DL, Davenport IR, Turnbull YD, Wheeler GN, and Hoppler S. WNT6 expression in epidermis and epithelial tissues during xenopus organogenesis. *Dev Dyn.* 2008;237(3):768-79.
- 41. Krawetz R, and Kelly GM. WNT6 induces the specification and epithelialization of F9 embryonal carcinoma cells to primitive endoderm. *Cell Signal*. 2008;20(3):506-17.
- 42. Croce J, Range R, Wu SY, Miranda E, Lhomond G, Peng JC, Lepage T, and McClay DR. WNT6 activates endoderm in the sea urchin gene regulatory network. *Development.* 2011;138(15):3297-306.
- Habu M, Koyama H, Kishida M, Kamino M, Iijima M, Fuchigami T, Tokimura H, Ueda M, Tokudome M, Koriyama C, et al. Ryk is essential for WNT-5a-dependent invasiveness in human glioma. *J Biochem.* 2014;156(1):29-38.
- 44. Yu JM, Jun ES, Jung JS, Suh SY, Han JY, Kim JY, and Kim KW. Role of WNT5a in the proliferation of human glioblastoma cells. *Cancer Lett.* 2007;257(2):172-81.
- 45. Dijksterhuis JP, Arthofer E, Marinescu VD, Nelander S, Uhlen M, Ponten F, Mulder J, and Schulte G. High levels of WNT-5A in human glioma correlate with increased presence of tumor-associated

microglia/monocytes. Exp Cell Res. 2015;339(2):280-8.

- 46. Pu P, Zhang Z, Kang C, Jiang R, Jia Z, Wang G, and Jiang H. Downregulation of WNT2 and betacatenin by siRNA suppresses malignant glioma cell growth. *Cancer Gene Ther.* 2009;16(4):351-61.
- 47. Binda E, Visioli A, Giani F, Trivieri N, Palumbo O, Restelli S, Dezi F, Mazza T, Fusilli C, Legnani F, et al. WNT5a drives an invasive phenotype in human glioblastoma stem-like cells. *Cancer Res.* 2017;77(4):996-1007.
- 48. Lathia JD, Mack SC, Mulkearns-Hubert EE, Valentim CL, and Rich JN. Cancer stem cells in glioblastoma. *Genes Dev.* 2015;29(12):1203-17.
- Lewis-Tuffin LJ, Feathers R, Hari P, Durand N, Li Z, Rodriguez FJ, Bakken K, Carlson B, Schroeder M, Sarkaria JN, et al. Src family kinases differentially influence glioma growth and motility. *Mol Oncol.* 2015;9(9):1783-98.
- 50. Lu KV, Zhu S, Cvrljevic A, Huang TT, Sarkaria S, Ahkavan D, Dang J, Dinca EB, Plaisier SB, Oderberg I, et al. Fyn and SRC are effectors of oncogenic epidermal growth factor receptor signaling in glioblastoma patients. *Cancer Res.* 2009;69(17):6889-98.
- 51. Xavier-Magalhaes A, Nandhabalan M, Jones C, and Costa BM. Molecular prognostic factors in glioblastoma: state of the art and future challenges. *CNS oncology.* 2013;2(6):495-510.
- 52. Guttmann DM, and Koumenis C. The heat shock proteins as targets for radiosensitization and chemosensitization in cancer. *Cancer Biol Ther.* 2011;12(12):1023-31.
- 53. Voll EA, Ogden IM, Pavese JM, Huang X, Xu L, Jovanovic BD, and Bergan RC. Heat shock protein 27 regulates human prostate cancer cell motility and metastatic progression. *Oncotarget*. 2014;5(9):2648-63.
- 54. Qi Z, Shen L, Zhou H, Jiang Y, Lan L, Luo L, and Yin Z. Phosphorylation of heat shock protein 27 antagonizes TNF-alpha induced HeLa cell apoptosis via regulating TAK1 ubiquitination and activation of p38 and ERK signaling. *Cell Signal.* 2014;26(7):1616-25.
- 55. Gonçalves CS, Lourenço T, Xavier-Magalhães A, Pojo M, and Costa BM. In: Lichtor T ed. *Evolution of the Molecular Biology of Brain Tumors and the Therapeutic Implications*. InTech; 2013.
- 56. Guardavaccaro D, and Clevers H. WNT/beta-catenin and MAPK signaling: allies and enemies in different battlefields. *Sci Signal.* 2012;5(219):pe15.
- 57. Fragoso MA, Patel AK, Nakamura RE, Yi H, Surapaneni K, and Hackam AS. The WNT/beta-catenin pathway cross-talks with STAT3 signaling to regulate survival of retinal pigment epithelium cells. *PLoS One.* 2012;7(10):e46892.
- 58. Shi L, Fei X, Wang Z, and You Y. PI3K inhibitor combined with miR-125b inhibitor sensitize TMZinduced anti-glioma stem cancer effects through inactivation of WNT/beta-catenin signaling pathway. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim.* 2015;51(10):1047-55.
- 59. Chen L, Huang K, Han L, Shi Z, Zhang K, Pu P, Jiang C, and Kang C. Beta-catenin/TCF-4 complex transcriptionally regulates AKT1 in glioma. *Int J Oncol.* 2011;39(4):883-90.
- 60. Inoki K, Ouyang H, Zhu T, Lindvall C, Wang Y, Zhang X, Yang Q, Bennett C, Harada Y, Stankunas K, et al. TSC2 integrates WNT and energy signals via a coordinated phosphorylation by AMPK and

GSK3 to regulate cell growth. Cell. 2006;126(5):955-68.

- 61. Paul I, Bhattacharya S, Chatterjee A, and Ghosh MK. Current understanding on EGFR and WNT/beta-catenin signaling in glioma and their possible crosstalk. *Genes Cancer.* 2013;4(11-12):427-46.
- 62. Ji H, Wang J, Nika H, Hawke D, Keezer S, Ge Q, Fang B, Fang X, Fang D, Litchfield DW, et al. EGFinduced ERK activation promotes CK2-mediated disassociation of alpha-catenin from beta-catenin and transactivation of beta-catenin. *Mol Cell.* 2009;36(4):547-59.
- Anne SL, Govek EE, Ayrault O, Kim JH, Zhu X, Murphy DA, Van Aelst L, Roussel MF, and Hatten ME. WNT3 inhibits cerebellar granule neuron progenitor proliferation and medulloblastoma formation via MAPK activation. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(11):e81769.
- 64. Bowman RL, Wang Q, Carro A, Verhaak RG, and Squatrito M. GlioVis data portal for visualization and analysis of brain tumor expression datasets. *Neuro Oncol.* 2017;19(1):139-41.
- 65. Clara CA, Marie SK, de Almeida JR, Wakamatsu A, Oba-Shinjo SM, Uno M, Neville M, and Rosemberg S. Angiogenesis and expression of PDGF-C, VEGF, CD105 and HIF-1alpha in human glioblastoma. *Neuropathology.* 2014;34(4):343-52.
- Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK, Burger PC, Jouvet A, Scheithauer BW, and Kleihues
 P. The 2007 WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2007;114(2):97-109.
- 67. Najdi R, Proffitt K, Sprowl S, Kaur S, Yu J, Covey TM, Virshup DM, and Waterman ML. A uniform human WNT expression library reveals a shared secretory pathway and unique signaling activities. *Differentiation.* 2012;84(2):203-13.
- Hsiao EC, Nguyen TD, Ng JK, Scott MJ, Chang WC, Zahed H, and Conklin BR. Constitutive Gs activation using a single-construct tetracycline-inducible expression system in embryonic stem cells and mice. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* 2011;2(2):11.
- 69. Livak KJ, and Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-delta delta C(T)) method. *Methods.* 2001;25(4):402-8.
- 70. Mosmann T. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. *J Immunol Methods.* 1983;65(1-2):55-63.
- 71. Hu Y, and Smyth GK. ELDA: extreme limiting dilution analysis for comparing depleted and enriched populations in stem cell and other assays. *J Immunol Methods.* 2009;347(1-2):70-8.
- Pojo M, Goncalves CS, Xavier-Magalhaes A, Oliveira AI, Goncalves T, Correia S, Rodrigues AJ, Costa S, Pinto L, Pinto AA, et al. A transcriptomic signature mediated by HOXA9 promotes human glioblastoma initiation, aggressiveness and resistance to temozolomide. *Oncotarget.* 2015;6(10):7657-74.
- Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, Mukherjee S, Ebert BL, Gillette MA, Paulovich A, Pomeroy SL, Golub TR, Lander ES, et al. Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 2005;102(43):15545-50.

Chapter 3 Molecular mechanisms regulating WNT6 expression in glioma

The results presented in this chapter are under preparation to be submitted for publication as an original article in an international peer reviewed journal:

<u>Céline S. Gonçalves</u>, Ana Xavier-Magalhães, Marta Pojo, Eduarda P. Martins, Afonso A. Pinto, Manuel Melo Pires, Célia Pinheiro, Rui M. Reis, Nuno Sousa, Bruno M. Costa, **"Molecular mechanisms regulating WNT6 expression in glioma"**.

Contents

Abstract	. 117
3.1. Introduction	. 119
3.2. Results	. 119
3.3. Discussion	. 127
3.4. Materials and methods	. 131
Appendixes	. 136
References	. 139

Molecular mechanisms regulating WNT6 expression in glioma

Céline S. Gonçalves^{1,2}, Ana Xavier-Magalhães^{1,2}, Marta Pojo^{1,2}, Eduarda P. Martins^{1,2}, Afonso A. Pinto³, Manuel Melo Pires⁴, Célia Pinheiro⁵, Rui M. Reis^{1,2,7}, Nuno Sousa^{1,2}, Bruno M. Costa^{1,2}

Author Affiliation: ¹Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Campus Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal; ²ICVS/3B's - PT Government Associate Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal; ³Department of Neurosurgery, Hospital Escala Braga, Sete Fontes - São Victor 4710-243 Braga, Portugal; ⁴Neuropathology Unit, Department of Neurosciences, ⁵Neurosurgery Centro Hospitalar do Porto, Porto, Portugal; ⁷Molecular Oncology Research Center, Barretos Cancer Hospital, Barretos - S. Paulo, Brazil.

Corresponding Author: Bruno M. Costa, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Campus de Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal. Email: bfmcosta@med.uminho.pt; Phone: (+351)253604837; Fax: (+351)253604831

Keywords: DNA methylation, glioma, HOXA9, regulation, WNT6, WNT pathway

Abstract

Gliomas represent the majority of malignant brain tumors, being glioblastoma (GBM) the most frequent and malignant form. Despite all efforts to improve treatment strategies, from surgery to radioand chemotherapy, including immunotherapies, patients with GBM still present a very poor prognosis. In this context, it is crucial to better understand glioma pathogenesis to identify new potential molecular targets. WNT6 has been recently identified as a new oncogenic molecule in GBM, with prognostic value in patients; however, the mechanisms underlying WNT6 aberrant expression in gliomas are still unknown.

Methods: *WNT6* mRNA levels were evaluated in glioma and stratified according to the new WHO glioma classification. *WNT6* copy number aberrations were assessed in glioma patients using an SNP array. DNA methylation was assessed in glioma patients using a DNA methylation array and in glioma cells by MSP after sodium bisulfite treatment. Glioma cell lines were treated with 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine to assess the impact of global DNA methylation in *WNT6* expression. *In silico* analyses were performed to identify potential *WNT6* transcriptional activators. ChIP analyses were used to test the direct transcriptional regulation of *WNT6* by HOXA9. Immuno-stainings and TCF/LEF reporter assays were used to assess the impact of HOXA9 expression in the activation of the WNT/β-catenin signaling pathway. Co-expression analyses were performed in patients. Patient survival analyses were performed with the Cox regression model adjusted for patient's age, Karnofsky Performance Status, gender, therapy, and *HOXA9* expression.

Results: *WNT6* is overexpressed in a subset of gliomas, independently of IDH mutation, 1p/19q co-deletion status, and *WNT6* gene copy number. Interestingly, *WNT6* expression associates with the DNA methylation levels of particular CpG regions at both the promoter and the gene body in glioma patients. Concordantly, 5-Aza global demethylation increased *WNT6* expression in glioma cells. The homeoprotein transcription factor HOXA9 was identified as a direct transcriptional regulator of *WNT6* in GBM, binding to its promoter region, and activated the WNT/ β -catenin signaling pathway in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of GBM. In various cohorts of glioma patients, *WNT6* and *HOXA9* mRNA levels were significantly correlated, extending our *in vitro* findings into the clinical setting. Interestingly, *WNT6/HOXA9* co-expression was not limited to glioma, having been observed also in patients with leukemia and pancreatic cancer, where HOXA9 has been shown to have oncogenic functions. Clinically, we validated *WNT6* as a prognostic factor of poor prognosis in GBM, independently of *HOXA9* expression, which has been previously associated with poorer clinical outcome.

Conclusion: Our findings describe for the first time *WNT6* regulatory mechanisms in GBM, establishing particular DNA methylation patterns and HOXA9 as novel regulators of WNT6 expression in

glioma. This knowledge, at the light of the clinical relevance of the WNT6/HOXA9 axis in GBM patients, may contribute to develop new targeted therapies for this deadly disease.

3.1. Introduction

Gliomas represent 81% of all malignant brain tumors, and have been traditionally classified by the World Health Organization (WHO) according to histological features into four malignancy grades (I to IV) [1, 2]. Glioblastoma (GBM, grade IV) is the most common and lethal glioma in adults, with a median survival of approximately 15 months after diagnosis [3, 4]. Although their clinical response is poor and unpredictable, patients with GBM are still equally treated with a standardized approach that includes surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy, mostly with the alkylating agent temozolomide (TMZ) [5, 6]. In the last years, substantial progress in the understanding of the molecular pathogenesis of gliomas has been achieved [6]. Although these advances resulted in improvements in the diagnosis and classification of glioma tumors, improvements in therapies that truly impact on patient outcomes are still needed [4]. In this context, there has been an increasing interest in the development of targeted therapies for the treatment of this deadly disease. This is because targeted therapies are potentially less toxic due to their increased tumor specificity, and the direct blockade of altered oncogenic pathways may have a direct impact on tumor cell proliferation. Unfortunately, the success of these new therapies has been mostly disappointing [7-18].

WNT6, a ligand and activator of the WNT pathway, was recently described to be overexpressed in GBM, having been associated with patients' poor prognosis (Chapter 2). Functionally, WNT6 expression was associated with increased GBM cell viability, proliferation, invasion, migration, resistance to TMZ, and stemness capacity (Chapter 2). *In vivo*, WNT6 accelerated mice GBM-associated death. Moreover, WNT6 was shown to contribute to the activation of the WNT, SFK and STAT pathways, which might be critical effectors of WNT6-associated aggressiveness in GBM (Chapter 2). Although the impact of WNT6 overexpression in GBM, as well as its downstream mechanisms, are now better understood, the molecular mechanisms underlying WNT6 overexpression in GBM remain unknown. In this context, this study aims to investigate the impact of *WNT6* gene copy number alterations and DNA methylation on its expression, as well as to identify novel potential direct regulators of WNT6 in GBM. Combining this information will further allow the development of more rational therapeutic approaches that may revert WNT6 activation in highly aggressive WNT6-positive GBMs.

3.2. Results

3.2.1. *WNT6* expression in glioma is independent of IDH mutation and 1p/19q co-deletion status

While we previously described that WNT6 expression increases with glioma grade (Chapter 2),

whether this is associated or not with IDH mutation and 1p/19q co-deletion status – the diagnostic molecular factors used in the new 2016 CNS tumor classification [4] – was still unknown. Here, we confirmed that *WNT6*-high expression increases with grading in patients from TCGA (RNAseq data; 226 grade II, 240 grade III and 161 grade IV gliomas; Figure 3.1A), and that this is independent of IDH



Figure 3.1. *WNT6* is overexpressed in a subset of gliomas, independently of IDH mutation, 1p/19q codeletion status, and *WNT6* copy number.

(A) RNA sequencing expression levels of *WNT6* in grade II gliomas (12 IDH-wildtype, 75 IDH-mutant non-co-deleted, and 47 IDH-mutant co-deleted), in grade III gliomas (43 IDH-wildtype, 62 IDH-mutant non-co-deleted, and 37 IDH-mutant co-deleted), and in GBM (143 IDH-wildtype, 9 IDH-mutant) patients from TCGA. *WNT6* is highly expressed in 23.5%, 31.7% and 50% of grade II, III and IV gliomas, respectively; and in 8.3%, 22.7% and 15% of IDH-wildtype, IDH-mutant non-co-deleted and IDH-mutant co-deleted grade II, in 25.6%, 27.4% and 27% of IDH-wildtype, IDH-mutant non-co-deleted and IDH-mutant co-deleted grade II, in 25.6%, 27.4% and 27% of IDH-wildtype, IDH-mutant non-co-deleted and IDH-mutant co-deleted grade III, and in 52.4% and 44% of IDH-wildtype and IDH-mutant grade IV (GBM). (B) Microarray expression levels of *WNT6* in 27 lower-grade gliomas (LGG; grades II and III) and in GBM (368 IDH-wildtype and 30 IDH-mutant) patients from TCGA. *WNT6* is highly expressed in 7.4% of LGG, in 50% of IDH-wildtype GBM and in 47% of IDH-mutant GBM. (C) *WNT6* RNAseq expression levels stratified by copy number aberration in LGG patients (5 with gene deletion, 500 with no alterations and 4 with gene amplification). (D) *WNT6* microarray expression levels stratified by copy number aberration in LGG patients (563 with no alterations and 2 with gene amplification; no deletions were found). *, ρ < 0.05; **, ρ < 0.01; ***, ρ < 0.005; and ****, ρ < 0.0001 (Mann-Whitney test). IDHwt: IDH-wildtype; IDHmut: IDH-mutant; 1p19q Codel: 1p/19q co-deletion.

mutation and 1p/19q co-deletion status (12 IDH-wildtype, 75 IDH-mutant non-co-deleted, and 47 IDHmutant co-deleted grade II; 43 IDH-wildtype, 62 IDH-mutant non-co-deleted, and 37 IDH-mutant codeleted grade III; and 143 IDH-wildtype and 9 IDH-mutant GBM for TCGA RNAseq data, Figure 3.1A; and 27 lower-grade II and III glioma – LGG; and 368 IDH-wildtype and 30 IDH-mutant GBM for TCGA microarray data, Figure 3.1B). Due to the limited number of LGG patients with available microarray data (n = 27), these cases were not divided according to the 2016 CNS classification (Figure 3.1B); instead, RNAseq data was used to verify the relationship between *WNT6* expression and the new diagnostic molecular factors in LGG (Figure 3.1A), including a total of 466 LGG patients, and 161 GBM cases. Together, these results show that *WNT6* expression associates with higher glioma grade and is independent of IDH mutation and 1p/19q co-deletion status.

3.2.2. WNT6 expression is regulated by DNA methylation in gliomas

Gene and chromosomal copy number alterations are a major mechanism of gene expression deregulation in cancer [19-21]. Oncogenic molecules, as *EGFR*, are commonly amplified in GBM, while tumor suppressor genes, like *PTEN*, are frequently deleted [22]. To understand the mechanisms responsible for *WNT6* overexpression in glioma, we started by investigating copy number alterations of *WNT6* locus in LGG (n = 509) and GBM (n = 565) patients from TCGA (Figure 3.1C-D). In LGG, only 4 patients (0.79%) presented *WNT6* gene amplification, while the region encompassing *WNT6* was deleted in 5 cases (0.98%; Figure 3.1C). In GBM, only 2 patients (0.35%) presented *WNT6* gene amplification (Figure 3.1D), and no deletions were observed. Both in LGG and GBM, *WNT6*-amplified cases did not present high expression levels of *WNT6*. Thus, considering the infrequency of *WNT6* amplification and the absence of an association with *WNT6* expression levels, copy number aberrations are not likely a major mechanism mediating *WNT6* overexpression in GBM.

DNA methylation is an epigenetic regulatory mechanism that also plays important roles in cancer [23, 24]. For example, *MGMT* promoter methylation is a well-established mechanism of *MGMT* silencing in glioma, associating with patients' better response to alkylating chemotherapeutic drugs, particularly TMZ (as discussed in section 1.3.3, Chapter 1). In this context, we also evaluated *WWT6* DNA methylation in glioma patients, and investigated whether it might be associated with *WWT6* expression levels (Figure 3.2). By evaluating a total of 28 methylation sites within the *WWT6* locus, in 516 LGG and 141 GBM patients, we identified regions that are consistently hypomethylated (e.g., from the 4th probe [cg16256504] to the 8th probe [cg02175741]) or hypermethylated (e.g., 16th probe [cg05618201]) both in LGG and GBM (Figure 3.2A and Figure 3.S1).

To further clarify whether there is a direct association between WNT6 DNA methylation and



(A) Heatmap representation of DNA methylation levels (TCGA β-values) corresponding to *WNT6* locus in 516 LGG (top) and 141 GBM (bottom) patients from TCGA. Each column corresponds to a probe and each line to a patient. A total of 28 methylation probes (vertical blue bars) were assessed. CpG islands >300 bp are represented in green. Coding exons are represented by blocks connected by lines representing introns. The white rectangles at the ends (left and right) represents the 5' and 3' UTR, respectively. The methylation color code with TCGA β-values is shown on the top left. Patients are ranked based on *WNT6* expression, as shown at the right. The percentage of highly methylated cases (TCGA β-values ≥ 0.5) are depicted for LGG and GBM below their respective heatmap. Probes whose methylation levels were statistically correlated with *WNT6* expression levels (|r| > 0.15) are marked with * above the respective column (Pearson's or Spearman's correlation, according to the normality of the samples, as tested by D'Agostino and Pearson normality test). (**B-C**) Correlation graph between *WNT6* expression line) or 569 gliomas (red linear regression line) and DNA methylation index (TCGA β-values) of the probes from both selected regions (Zone 1 and 2). (**D**) MSP functional assessment of 5-Aza treated cells. (**E**) *WNT6* expression levels in glioma cell lines treated with DMSO or 5-Aza (the impact on DNA methylation was not assessed in cell lines represented in black). *, *p* < 0.05; **, *p* < 0.01; ***, *p* < 0.005; and ****, *p* < 0.0001; N/A = Not available; Z1 = Zone 1; Z2 = Zone 2.

expression, statistical correlation analyses were performed for each probe in 511 LGG and 58 GBM for which both expression (TCGA RNAseq data) and DNA methylation data were available (Figure 3.2A). Interestingly, the DNA methylation of 5 probes (representing 1 CpG dinucleotide) were significantly correlated with *WWT6* expression in LGG patients (2 inversely correlated and 3 positively correlated; Figure 3.S1A-E). Similarly, in GBM, significant correlations were observed in 8 CpG sites (2 inversely correlated and 6 positively correlated; Figure 3.S1F-M). When we performed integrated analyses gathering information of DNA methylation of the first selected region (Zone 1) located closely downstream of the promoter (Figure 3.2B) was inversely correlated with *WWT6* expression in GBM (r = -0.22; p < 0.0001) patients. On the other hand, the DNA methylation of the second selected region (Zone 2; encompassing the last CpG island in *WWT6* gene body) is positively correlated with *WWT6* expression in GBM (r = 0.46; p < 0.001) and glioma (r = 0.21; p < 0.0001) patients; n = 117; r = -0.25, p < 0.01; r = 0.32, p < 0.001, for the first and second region, respectively; data not shown).

Having characterized *WNT6* DNA methylation levels in the large cohort from TCGA based in microarray data, we further characterized *WNT6* DNA methylation levels in an independent Portuguese cohort (Hospital Santo António, n = 18) using methylation-specific PCR (MSP; Figure 3.2A). Primers for MSP were designed to detect the CpG's recognized by the first probes of selected zone 1 (Figure 3.2B; cg11175192 and cg06157334). As observed in the methylation array from TCGA, a great percentage of GBM patients (55.6%) presented *WNT6* hypomethylation in this region as assessed by MSP (Figure 3.S2).

To elucidate the role of global *WNT6* DNA methylation in its expression, a panel of glioma cell lines were treated with 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza), a global DNA demethylating agent (Figure 3.2D-E). 5-Aza mediated demethylation was validated through MSP in 5 treated cell lines (Figure 3.2D). Interestingly, 5-Aza treatment successfully increased *WNT6* expression in most, but not all, cell lines (7 out of 9; Figure 3.2E). Together, these results suggest that *WNT6* DNA methylation levels may at least partially contribute to regulate *WNT6* expression in glioma. Notwithstanding, other potential mechanisms are likely to play critical regulatory roles, namely some *WNT6* promoter binding transcription factors.

3.2.3. WNT6 is transcriptionally activated by HOXA9 in GBM

It was previously shown that *WNT6* is regulated by CAV1 (a scaffolding protein) and *UCA1* (a long non-coding RNA) in gastric and bladder cancer, respectively [25, 26]. However, we found that, in the case of GBM, *CAV1* and *WNT6* are not correlated (r = -0.03, p = 0.66), and *UCA1* and *WNT6* are inversely

correlated (*r* = -0.29, p < 0.001). Thus, these molecules are unlikely responsible for promoting *WNT6* expression in GBM.

Searching for potential transcription factors, *in silico* analyses using the MatInspector tool (Genomatix) were performed, which revealed a significant number of potential transcription factors for *WNT6* (Figure 3.3A). Among them, we found potential binding sites for HOXA9 (Figure 3.3B), which, interestingly, our group has previously showed to present oncogenic roles and to be a prognostic biomarker in GBM [27, 28].

(A) MatInspector (Genomatix) representation of potential matrix families of transcription factors in *WNT6* promoter region. Each matrix match is represented by a colored rectangle and each color represents a matrix family. (B) MatInspector representation of specific potential HOXA9 binding sites within *WNT6* promoter region. Violet and pink represent the matrices HOX_PBX.01 (matrix sim = 0.83, sequence: ggtgG*GAT*gg*ct*ggggg and family HOXC) and MEIS1A_HOXA9.01 (matrix sim = 0.86, sequence: *TGACaggtt*gtt*g*a and family HOXH), respectively. Base pairs in italic appear in a position with a high conservation profile in the matrix (ci-value > 60). Base pairs in capital letters represent the core sequence used by the program. Matches represented on top of the sequence line were found on the positive strand, while matches found on the negative strand reside below the sequence line. (A-B) Putative transcription start sites (TSS) are marked by an *(continued on next page)*

(cont.) arrow. Color codes for the matrix families are depicted below. **(C)** Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) was performed to assess the putative binding of HOXA9 to the promoter region of *WNT6*, followed by qPCR. The fold enrichment presented is normalized to the input (DNA not exposed to immunoprecipitation – PCR positive control) and to the IgG background signal (ChIP negative control). Three independent experiments (mean and standard deviation) are represented. **(D-E)** *WNT6* qRT-PCR was performed in U87 cells transfected to overexpress HOXA9 (U87-HOXA9) and its negative counterparts (U87-MSCV; D), and in U251-shCtrl (HOXA9-high) and U251-shHOXA9 (HOXA9-low) cells (E). Three independent experiments (mean and standard deviation) are represented.

To test whether HOXA9 may effectively bind to the promoter region of *WNT6*, anti-HOXA9 chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) on U251 GBM cells (endogenously expressing *HOXA9*) was performed (Figure 3.3C). We found that HOXA9 binds to *WNT6* promoter region in GBM cells (p < 0.01; Figure 3.3C), therefore demonstrating that WNT6 is a direct target of HOXA9 in GBM.

In this context, to validate that HOXA9 binding to the promoter region of *WNT6* activates its expression, *WNT6* qRT-PCR was performed in the previously described HOXA9 GBM cell models [27, 28]. Interestingly, *WNT6* expression increased upon *HOXA9* overexpression in U87 cells (Figure 3.3D), and decreased upon *HOXA9*-silencing in U251 cells (Figure 3.3E).

3.2.4. HOXA9 activates the WNT/ β -catenin pathway

As previously seen in Chapter 2, WNT6 is an activator of the WNT/ β -catenin pathway in GBM. Thus, we aimed to understand if HOXA9 may also increase the activity of this pathway. For this, we started by performing β -catenin immunofluorescences in U87-HOXA9 cells and their negative counterparts (MSCV; Figure 3.4A). Interestingly, β -catenin protein expression increased in U87-HOXA9 cells and showed to be mainly perinuclear. This association was not only observed *in vitro*, as U87+/-HOXA9 *in vivo* tumors grown subcutaneously in mice also showed significantly higher expression of WNT6 in HOXA9positive tumors when compared to negative counterparts (Figure 3.4B), and higher expression of β catenin, mainly in the nucleus. In addition, Cyclin D1, a transcriptional target of the WNT pathway, was also found upregulated in HOXA9-positive tumors when compared to negative tumors (Figure 3.4B).

To confirm that HOXA9 is able to activate the canonical WNT pathway, TCF/LEF reporter assays were performed in U87-MSCV and U87-HOXA9 cells. Concordantly to the aforementioned results, HOXA9-high GBM cells presented a significantly increased activation of the WNT canonical pathway as compared to their negative counterparts (U87-MSCV; Figure 3.4C-D).

Together, these results point out HOXA9 as a direct transcriptional activator of *WNT6*, consequently activating the WNT/ β -catenin pathway in GBM.

3.2.5. WNT6 and HOXA9 are co-expressed in glioma patients

To validate the association of WNT6 and HOXA9 in the clinical context, the expression of these

Figure 3.4. HOXA9 activates the WNT/β-catenin pathway in *In vitro* and *In vivo* models of GBM. (A) β-catenin expression and sub-cellular localization in HOXA9-negative (U87-MSCV) and HOXA9-positive (U87-HOXA9) GBM cells was observed by immunofluorescence. White arrows indicate peri-nuclear stained cells. Representative images are displayed (200x magnification; scale bar = 50 µm). (B) WNT6, β-catenin and Cyclin D1 expression was analyzed by immunohistochemistry in subcutaneous tumors formed upon injection of HOXA9-negative and HOXA9-positive U87 cells in immunocompromised mice. Representative images are displayed (scale bars are specified in each image). (C-D) TCF/LEF reporter assay in U87-MSCV (HOXA9-negative) and U87-HOXA9. (C) Representative images are displayed (100x magnification; scale bar = 100 µm). (D) GFP expression was used as a measure of TCF/LEF promoter activity and was normalized against negative and positive controls. (n = 3 independent assays; mean ± SD; **, ρ < 0.01, two-sided unpaired *t*test).

two genes was analyzed in our glioma patients' cohort from Hospital Braga, Portugal (n = 31; Figure 3.5A), and in 3 additional larger independent cohorts (TCGA, n = 666; Bao, n = 274 and Gill, n = 75; Figure 3.5B-D). In all cohorts, *WNT6* and *HOXA9* levels were highly co-expressed (r = 0.77, p < 0.0001; r = 0.22, p < 0.0001; r = 0.55, p < 0.0001; r = 0.25, p < 0.05, for the Portuguese, TCGA, Bao and Gill datasets, respectively).

To understand if this association is exclusive of glioma tumors, the same analyses were performed in all cancer types from TCGA with available RNAseq expression data (Table 3.1 and Figure 3.6). Interestingly, *WNT6* and *HOXA9* were found to be co-expressed in other cancer types, including

Figure 3.5. *WNT6* and *HOXA9* are co-expressed in glioma patients. Correlation graphs between *WNT6* and *HOXA9* expression in glioma patients from (**A**) our Portuguese cohort (qRT-PCR data; n = 31; r = 0.77, p < 0.0001), (**B**) the TCGA dataset (RNAseq data; n = 672; r = 0.25, p < 0.0001), (**C**) Bao dataset (Microarray data; n = 274; r = 0.55, p < 0.0001), and (**D**) Gill dataset (Microarray data; n = 75; r = 0.25, p < 0.05). The red line represents the linear regression line, while dashed curved lines represent the 95% confidence interval.

leukemia, testicular germ cell tumor, melanoma and cholangiocarcinoma (Table 3.1 and Figure 3.6).

3.2.6. *WNT6* is prognostically valuable independently of *HOXA9* expression in LGG and GBM patients

We previously described that WNT6 (Chapter 2) and HOXA9 [27, 28] are each associated with decreased overall survival of GBM patients. In this work, we also investigated whether they would maintain their clinical significance independently of each other. Thus, the clinical impact of *WNT6* in GBM was evaluated using a multivariable Cox model to adjust to the potential confounding effect of other putative prognostic factors, namely patient age, KPS, gender and therapy, as well as *HOXA9* expression (Table 3.2). Interestingly, *WNT6* expression associated with shorter survival of GBM patients independently of *HOXA9* expression in GBM patients from the TCGA (n = 405; p = 0.04), with *HOXA9* also maintaining its clinical impact (p = 0.02; Table 3.2). This result suggests that both *WNT6* and *HOXA9* are critical and informative prognostic factors in GBM patients.

3.3. Discussion

WNT ligands are morphogen molecules important during embryogenesis [29, 30], whose

Cancer code	Cancer designation	#	Correlation value	<i>p</i> -value
ACC	Adrenocortical carcinoma	79	0.20	0.077
BLCA	Bladder urothelial carcinoma	408	-0.11	0.029
BRCA	Breast invasive carcinoma	1091	0.21	<0.0001
CESC	Cervical squamous cell carcinoma and endocervical adenocarcinoma	304	0.00	0.989
CHOL	Cholangiocarcinoma	36	0.38	0.021
COAD	Colon adenocarcinoma	456	0.05	0.313
DLBC	Lymphoid neoplasm diffuse large B-cell lymphoma	48	0.02	0.892
ESCA	Esophageal carcinoma	161	-0.07	0.367
HNSC	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	500	0.07	0.108
KICH	Kidney chromophobe	65	0.07	0.596
KIRC	Kidney renal clear cell carcinoma	530	-0.01	0.845
KIRP	Kidney renal papillary cell carcinoma	288	-0.10	0.088
LAML	Acute myeloid leukemia	151	0.53	<0.0001
LIHC	Liver hepatocellular carcinoma	371	0.09	0.061
LUAD	Lung adenocarcinoma	513	0.23	<0.0001
LUSC	Lung squamous cell carcinoma	501	0.17	0.000
MESO	Mesothelioma	86	0.20	0.058
PAAD	Pancreatic adenocarcinoma	177	0.15	0.044
PCPG	Pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma	179	0.04	0.579
PRAD	Prostate adenocarcinoma	495	-0.07	0.104
READ	Rectum adenocarcinoma	166	0.07	0.359
SARC	Sarcoma	259	-0.05	0.416
SKCM	Skin cutaneous melanoma	466	0.26	<0.0001
STAD	Stomach adenocarcinoma	375	-0.07	0.172
TGCT	Testicular germ cell tumors	150	0.45	<0.0001
THCA	Thyroid carcinoma	502	0.17	0.0001
THYM	Thymoma	119	-0.22	0.018
UCS	Uterine carcinosarcoma	56	-0.22	0.108
UVM	Uveal melanoma	80	0.04	0.718

Table 3.1. WNT6 and HOXA9 co-expression in all cancer types with available RNAseq data in TCGA

deregulated expression has been described in cancer, including GBM [31-37]. We recently showed that the WNT6 ligand is overexpressed in GBM and is associated with tumor aggressiveness *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Chapter 2). However, the mechanisms underlying WNT6 overexpression in GBM were still unknown. In this study, we investigated the upstream mechanisms regulating WNT6 in GBM, establishing *WNT6* DNA methylation and HOXA9 as potential regulators of WNT6 expression. Additionally, as we previously described that HOXA9 has a prognostic value in GBM [27, 28], we further investigated whether the prognostic value of *WNT6* expression in GBM patients was dependent on the status of *HOXA9*.

Our data show that WNT6-high expression in glioma increases with grade independently of IDH

Figure 3.6. *WNT6* and *HOXA9* co-expression is not exclusive of glioma tumors. Correlation graphs between *WNT6* and *HOXA9* expression in **(A)** acute myeloid leukemia (LAML; n = 151; r = 0.53, p < 0.0001); **(B)** testicular germ cell tumor (TGCT; n = 150; r = 0.45, p < 0.0001); **(C)** cholangiocarcinoma (CHOL; n = 36; r = 0.38, p = 0.021); and **(D)** skin cutaneous melanoma (SKCM; n = 466; r = 0.26, p < 0.0001). The red line represents the linear regression line, while dashed curved lines represent the 95% confidence interval.

	Ονε	vival			
	<i>p</i> -value	HR	95% CI		
WNT6 expression ^a	0.041	1.27	1.01-1.60		
Age at diagnosis ^a	<0.0001	1.03	1.02-1.04		
KPS ^a	0.001	0.98	0.97-0.99		
Gender ^b	0.03	0.76	0.60-0.97		
Treatment ^c	<0.0001	0.19	0.12-0.30		
HOXA9 expression ^d	0.022	1.82	1.09-3.04		

 Table 3.2. Cox multivariate analysis in GBM patients from TCGA

^a WNT6 expression, age and KPS were used as continuous variables;
 ^bFemale vs. Male; ^cnon-treated vs. Treated; ^d HOXA9-low vs. HOXA9-high expression.

mutation and 1p/19q co-deletion status (Figure 3.1). This result suggests that *WNT6* expression associates with glioma increased malignancy independently of the potential differences observed between glioma molecular subtypes (astrocytoma IDH-wildtype, astrocytoma IDH-mutant and oligodendroglioma). Considering this result and the previous description of WNT6 association with resistance to chemotherapy

(Chapter 2), it would be interesting to address the potential value of patient stratification based on WNT6 expression not only for prognosis, but also for therapy decision, similarly to what has been done for *MGMT* promoter methylation status within IDH-wildtype gliomas, in which patients whose tumors lack *MGMT* promoter methylation are treated with radiotherapy only [4].

To reach our goal of understanding the mechanisms underlying *WNT6* activation in glioma, we integrated data from (epi)genetic and *in silico* analyses from patients and cell lines. First, we observed that *WNT6* was expressed in a gene dosage independent manner in glioma (Figure 3.1). Contrarily, our findings demonstrate that DNA methylation, a critical epigenetic mechanism, may be tightly regulating *WNT6* expression in glioma (Figure 3.2 and Figure 3.S1), similarly to what was observed for other WNT ligands in other cancer types [38-42]. In particular, we observed that higher levels of promoter DNA methylation are associated with *WNT6* silencing, while gene body methylation is positively associated with its expression (Figure 3.2 and Figure 3.S1). This is in agreement to the known effect of promoter and gene body DNA methylation in gene expression regulation in normal and cancer cells [43-46]. Interestingly, most of the CpG sites are more frequently methylated in LGG than GBM patients (19 out of 28), suggesting that *WNT6* locus may be globally hypomethylated during tumor progression (Figure 3.2).

Although DNA methylation was clearly associated with the regulation of WNT6 expression in glioma, this association was not universal. Thus, after ruling out the potential regulation of WNT6 by CAV1 and UCA1 in GBM, contrasting to what was described in gastric and bladder cancer [25, 26], we showed that HOXA9 is one of its direct transcriptional regulators in GBM (Figure 3.3), as it binds to WNT6 promoter region, and that its expression correlates with and increases the levels of WNT6 expression in GBM patients and cell models. HOXA9 is an oncogenic transcription factor whose expression has been associated with increased GBM aggressiveness and patients' poor survival [27, 28]. Interestingly, when performing gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA; Chapter 2, section 2.2.9) to identify transcriptomic signatures reminiscent of WNT6 associated genes in GBM patients, we observed that WNT6 negatively correlated genes were enriched for genes up-regulated in acute myeloid leukemia cells upon HOXA9 knockdown (ES = -0.26 and FDR = 0.18; data not shown), further supporting the link between WNT6 and HOXA9. Indeed, WNT6 and HOXA9 were not only co-expressed in glioma (Figure 3.5), but also in leukemia, testicular germ cell tumors, cholangiocarcinoma and melanoma (Figure 3.6 and Table 3.1). However, the roles of either WNT6 or HOXA9 in these tumors are largely unknown, except in leukemia where the oncogenic role of HOXA9 is well established [47-50]. Indeed, it would be interesting to evaluate if, in acute myeloid leukemia, HOXA9 also activates WNT6 expression, and whether WNT6 displays oncogenic roles, as we observed in GBM. Since the role of WNT6 is not known in leukemia, our results

suggest that, similarly to what is observed in glioma (Chapter 2), WNT6 might be regulated by HOXA9 and may thus potentially have an important role in this tumor. Further studies are warranted to study the role of both WNT6 and HOXA9 in the remaining tumors.

Moreover, we demonstrated that WNT6 and HOXA9 cooperate in activating the WNT/ β -catenin signaling pathway in GBM, suggesting WNT6 and the WNT/ β -catenin signaling pathway as effectors of HOXA9-mediated aggressiveness in GBM [27, 28]. Nonetheless, we showed that *WNT6* is prognostically valuable independently of *HOXA9* in GBM patients (Table 3.2), suggesting that it may have an important oncogenic role and mechanisms of transcriptional regulation apart from those dependent on HOXA9 function. For example, WNT6 may influence patient outcome by modulating the tumor microenvironment/immunologic landscape [51], or even by regulating the glioma stem cells population [52], thus influencing tumor pathophysiology/recurrence and ultimately patient prognosis. Future works should explore the potential therapeutic value of targeting the HOXA9/WNT6/WNT pathway axis in GBM, for which novel treatments are urgently needed.

In summary, this work provides significant insights on the mechanisms underlying WNT6 and HOXA9 aggressiveness in GBM, which may potentially influence GBM patients' management by aiding treatment decisions and prognostic stratifications, while also opening new opportunities to identify or develop potentially more effective therapies for these highly resistant tumors.

3.4. Materials and methods

3.4.1. TCGA data analysis in glioma patients

The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA; *https://portal.gdc.cancer.gov/*) was used to obtain information about gene expression from LGG (n = 27), GBM (n = 572), adrenocortical carcinoma (ACC; n = 79), bladder urothelial carcinoma (BLCA; n = 408), breast invasive carcinoma (BRCA; n = 1091), cervical squamous cell carcinoma and endocervical adenocarcinoma (CESC; n = 304), cholangiocarcinoma (CHOL; n = 36), colon adenocarcinoma (COAD; n = 456), lymphoid neoplasm diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBC; n = 48), esophageal carcinoma (ESCA; n = 161), head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSC; n = 500), kidney chromophobe (KICH; n = 65), kidney renal clear cell carcinoma (KIRC; n = 530), kidney renal papillary cell carcinoma (KIRP; n = 288), acute myeloid leukemia (LAML; n = 151), liver hepatocellular carcinoma (LIHC; n = 371), lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD; n = 513), lung squamous cell carcinoma (LUSC; n = 501), mesothelioma (MESO; n = 86), pancreatic adenocarcinoma (PAAD; n = 177), pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma (PCPG; n = 179), prostate adenocarcinoma (PRAD; n = 495), rectum adenocarcinoma (READ; n = 166), sarcoma (SARC; n = 259), skin cutaneous melanoma (SKCM; n = 466), stomach adenocarcinoma (STAD; n = 375), testicular germ cell tumors (TGCT; n = 150), thyroid carcinoma (THCA; n = 502), thymoma (THYM; n = 119), uterine carcinosarcoma (UCS; n = 56), and uveal melanoma (UVM; n = 80). Agilent G4502A 244K data was used for LGG and GBM (WNT6-high expression was considered when TCGA level 3 value \geq 0 [GBM median value]), while RNAseq data (Illumina HiSeq 2000 sequencing system) was download for all cancers (WNT6-high expression was considered when TCGA FPKUM-UQ value \geq 6800 [GBM median value]) [53]. In the Agilent microarray, three probe sets hit *WNT6* gene (A_23_P119916, A_32_P159877 and A_24_P208513) and one hits *HOXA9* (probe A_23_P500998). To prevent duplicated entries from the same patient – when more than one portion per patient was available – the median expression value was used. The provided value was pre-processed and normalized according to "level 3" specifications of TCGA.

Gene copy number alterations, and DNA methylation status, as well as clinical information, when available, were also obtained from LGG and GBM patients [53].

Gene copy number data from 372 GBM and 514 LGG samples was assessed using Affymetrix Genome-Wide Human SNP Array 6.0. Gene amplifications or deletions were considered for Log_2 copy number tumor/normal ≥ 0.32 (gene copy number ≥ 2.5) or ≤ -0.42 (gene copy number ≤ 1.5), respectively.

DNA methylation data was evaluated using Illumina Infinium Human DNA Methylation 450 array and includes the methylation status of 141 GBM and 516 LGG samples. For this study, 28 probes that span from 5 000 bp upstream to 5 000 bp downstream of the *WNT6* gene were selected. This region of approximately 24 000 bp includes 3 CpG islands.

Clinical data of each patient was provided by the Biospecimen Core Resources (BCRs) and includes information about patients' age at diagnosis, gender, Karnofsky performance status (KPS) and days to death and to last follow-up.

3.4.2. Glioma primary samples

Glioma tumor specimens were obtained from patients who performed a craniotomy for tumor removal or stereotaxic biopsy at 2 different hospitals: Hospital Santo António (HSA, Centro Hospital Porto) and Hospital Braga (HB), Portugal, in a total of 18 GBM and 31 glioma patients, respectively. HSA samples were reserved for DNA-based studies, while HB samples were used for RNA-based studies. All samples were transported in dry ice to the lab and stored at -80 °C. Only patients with glial tumor histological diagnosis were included in the study.

Written informed consent for investigation purposes was obtained from all patients. All procedures were in accordance with institutional ethics standards. No patient information was collected.

WNT6 and *HOXA9* expression microarray data from Bao (n = 274) [54] and Gill (n = 75) [55] datasets of glioma patients were obtained from the GlioVis data portal [56].

3.4.3. GBM cell lines

The commercially-available pediatric glioma cell lines (KNS42, Res186, and UW479) were cultured in DMEM/F12 (Gibco) supplemented with 10% Fetal bovine serum (FBS; Biochrom). Commercially available adult cell lines (A172, GAMG, SNB19, SW1783, and U87MG) and the primary GBM-derived culture (GBML18; established in our lab) were cultured in DMEM (Biochrom) supplemented with 10% FBS. The U87MG cell line was previously [27] genetically retrovirally infected with murine stem cell virus (MSCV) containing the *HOXA9* coding region to overexpress this gene (U87-HOXA9) or with an empty vector (U87-MSCV, control). While U251 cells, which presents endogenous levels of *HOXA9*, were previously [28] transfected with a shRNA against *HOXA9* to silence its expression (U251 shHOXA9) or with a non-effective shRNA vector (U251 shCtrl). All cells were maintained in a humidified atmosphere at 37 °C and 5% (v/v) CO₂.

3.4.4. 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-Aza) treatment

Glioma cell lines (SW1783, UW479, KNS42, SNB19, A172, GAMG, RES186, and U87MG) and a primary cell line (GBML18; established in the lab) were plated in T25-flasks at an initial concentration of 75 000 cells per T25. Treatment with 5 μ M 5-Aza (Sigma-Aldrich®) or Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO; Sigma-Aldrich®) was performed for 72 hours with daily renewal. Next, cells were collected by trypsinization, and DNA and RNA were extracted by the TRIzol method (Invitrogen).

3.4.5. Sodium bisulfite treatment

DNA was extracted from 18 GBM primary tumor and glioma cell lines using the TRIzol method (Invitrogen). After quantification, it was subjected to sodium bisulfite treatment – conversion of unmethylated cytosines to uracil residues –, according to manufacturer's instructions (EZ DNA Methylation-Gold[™] Kit; Zymo Research).

3.4.6. Methylation-Specific PCR (MSP)

WNT6 DNA methylation was evaluated by MSP on bisulfite converted DNAs, using the following sets of primers: unmethylated set, Fwd 5'-TTTTGTGTTCGGCGTACGT-3' and Rev 5'-AATCTATCCTAAATCCCGAA-3'; methylated set, Fwd 5'-TGTTGTTGTTTTTGTGTTTGGTGTAT-3' and Rev 5'-CCCCAATCTATCCTAAATCCCA-3'. Touchdown MSP was performed (AmpliTaq Gold 360; annealing temperature for unmethylated or methylated primers at 62 °C or 60 °C, respectively – decrement of 1 °C

per cycle for 10 cycles – and 52 °C or 50 °C, respectively, for additional 28 cycles). A bisulfite-treated blood DNA of a control subject (NB569) was used as an unmethylated control for MSP reactions. The same DNA was *in vitro* methylated (CpG Methyltransferase M.SssI; New England Biolabs Inc.) according to manufacturer's protocol, followed by sodium bisulfite treatment, and used as a methylated control. All MSP products were loaded onto a 3.5% agarose gel.

3.4.7. qRT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted from cell lines using the TRIzol method (Invitrogen), and cDNA from 1 μ g of the total RNA was synthesized (RT-Phusion Kit, Thermo Scientific) [57]. *WNT6* and *TBP* (reference gene) levels were assessed by quantitative reverse transcription-PCR (qRT-PCR; KAPA SYBR* FAST qPCR Kit, KAPA BIOSYSTEMS) with the following sets of primers: *WNT6* Fwd 5' – GACGAGAAGTCGAGGCTCTTT– 3' and Rev 5'–CGAAATGGAGGCAGCTTCT–3'; *TBP* Fwd 5' – GAGCTGTGATGTGAAGTTTCC–3' and Rev 5'–TCTGGGTTTGATCATTCTGTAG–3'. For both sets, the annealing temperature was 60 °C. Levels were determined based on the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct} method, as previously described [58]. The expression data from the Portuguese glioma dataset was log-transformed (log[relative expression + 1]).

3.4.8. Genomatix analysis

MatInspector from Genomatix software [59] (*www.genomatix.de*) was used to investigate putative binding sites for transcription factors in the *WNT6* gene. This *in silico* tool identifies transcription factor binding sites in nucleotide sequences based on a large library of weight matrices [59, 60]. A perfect match gets a matrix similarity of 1 when the tested sequence corresponds to the most conserved nucleotide at each position of the matrix. A good match to the matrix was considered when matrix similarity > 0.80. The Ci-value (consensus index) for the matrix represents the degree of conservation of each position within the matrix. A Ci-value of 100 is reached by a position with total conservation of one nucleotide.

3.4.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP)

ChIP experiments were done as previously described [61]. In brief, cells were cross-linked with 1.42% formaldehyde for 15 minutes, followed by quenching with 125 mM glycine for 5 minutes. Cells were lysed with immunoprecipitation buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris-HCl, 5 mM EDTA, 0.5% NP-40, 1% Triton X-100) and chromatin was sheared by sonication (Sonics Vibra Cell VC70T, 21 cycles for 15 seconds) to obtain DNA fragments of approximately 0.5-1 kb. The volume of sheared chromatin equivalent to 2 million cells was incubated with the required antibody in an ultrasonic bath for 15 minutes, followed by incubation with protein A-agarose beads (Amersham) and Chelex 100 (Bio-Rad). The following

antibodies were used to immunoprecipitate chromatin: 4 μ g anti-HOXA9 (Santa Cruz), 2 μ g anti-Histone H3 (H3; Abcam), 3 μ g anti-Immunoglobulin G (IgG; Sigma). DNA amplification was done by qPCR (Maxima SYBR Green, Fermentas) with the following set of primers for *WNT6*: Fwd 5'-CAGGGGCATCAAAGACATTT-3' and Rev 5'-TCAAGAGATCGAGGGGTCAG-3', designed to amplify a portion of the promoter region 1000bp upstream the transcription start region. The annealing temperature was 60°C. Anti-histone H3 and anti-IgG were used as ChIP positive and negative controls, respectively. The input represents a control for the amount of DNA used in precipitations. The level of *WNT6* was calculated for each experiment using the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct} method as previously described [58]. For each cell line, three biological replicates were tested, and each qPCR experiment was done in triplicate.

3.4.10. Immunofluorescence (IF)

For β -Catenin IF (610153, BD Transduction Laboratories, 1:200), U87-MSCV and U87-HOXA9 cells were fixed in 95% ethanol and 5% acetic acid (v/v). Alexa Fluor® 488 Goat Anti-mouse IgG (H+L; Alfagene) secondary antibody (green) was used. DAPI (VECTASHIELD® Mounting Medium with DAPI, Vector Laboratories) was used to stain the cell nucleus (blue) at a concentration of 1.5 µg/ml.

3.4.11. Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Tissues sections were deparaffinized and rehydrated by xylene and ethanol series, as described in [52]. Immunohistochemical staining was performed using the LabVision kit (UltraVision Large Volume Detection System Anti-polyvalent, HRP) according to the manufacturer's instructions. WNT6 antibody from abcam (ab50030; 1:450), β -Catenin antibody from BD Transduction Laboratories (610153; 1:150) and Cyclin D1 antibody from Cell Signaling (2978S; 1:100) were used. DAB substrate (DAKO) was used as chromogen, followed by counterstaining with hematoxylin.

3.4.12. Mice GBM subcutaneous injection

The procedures for the establishment of the mice GBM subcutaneous models were previously described by Pojo *et al.* [28].

3.4.13. Statistical analysis

Correlation values were calculated using the Pearson's or Spearman's correlation coefficient, according to the normality of the samples (tested by the D'Agostino and Pearson normality test). Homoscedasticity was verified with the Levene's test, and differences between groups were assessed by a two-sided unpaired *t*test, with Welch's correction being applied accordingly. GraphPad Prism 6.01 software was used (GraphPad software, Inc.).

Survival analyses were performed by multivariate analysis using the Cox proportional hazard model, where the potential confounding effect of some variables is considered. These analyses were made with SPSS 22.0 software (SPSS, Inc.)

For all statistical tests, significance was considered when p < 0.05.

Acknowledgments

The authors extend their acknowledgments to the families who contributed to this study. Financial support was provided by grants from the FCT - Foundation for Science and Technology (PTDC/SAU-GMG/113795/2009 and IF/00601/2012 to B.M.C.; SFRH/BD/92786/2013 to C.S.G.; SFRH/BD/81042/2011 to M.P.; SFRH/BD/88220/2012 to A.X.M.) and Fundação Calouste Gulbenkian (B.M.C.), by FEDER funds through the Operational Programme Competitiveness Factors – COMPETE and National Funds through FCT under the project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-007038; by the project NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000013 and NORTE-01-0246-FEDER-000012, supported by Norte Portugal Regional Operational Programme (NORTE 2020), under the PORTUGAL 2020 Partnership Agreement, through the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF); and by the project NORTE-01-0145-FEDER-000023, supported by the Northern Portugal Regional Operational Programme (NORTE 2020), under the Portugal 2020 Partnership Agreement, through the European Regional Development Fund (FEDER).

Author contributions

CSG, NS and BMC designed research studies. CSG, AXM, MP, and EPM conducted experiments. CSG, AXM, MP, EPM, CP, NS, and BMC analyzed data. AAP, MMP, RR provided patient samples. CSG and BMC wrote the manuscript.

Competing interests

The authors have declared that no competing interest exists.

Appendixes

- Appendixes including:
- Supplementary Figures and Legends.

Figure 3.S1. WNT6 DNA methylation correlates with WNT6 expression in gliomas.

Correlation graphs between *WNT6* expression (x-axis) and its DNA methylation from different CpG sites (y-axis) in LGG **(A-E)** and GBM **(F-M)**. The indicated probe number is based on Figure 3.2. Spearman's correlation test *r* are indicated. *, p < 0.05, **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.005; and ****, p < 0.001.

GE	ЗM	GE	ЗM	GE	BM	GE	BM	G	BM	GE	ЗM			NB	599				
_2	79	_28	37	_29	96	_29	98	3	25	32	28	<u>NB</u>	599	_N	let	N	eg (<u>Con</u> tro	Ы
U	Μ	U	М	U	М	U	М	U	Μ	U	Μ	U	М	U	Μ		U	М	_
-		-																	
														Re	pres	sent	ativ	ve ima	age
ν	VN	T6 I	me	thy	lati	ion	sta	itu	S	Unı	me	thy	/lat	ed	N	let	hyla	ated	
V	VN N	76 I Num	me nbe	thy er o	lati f pa	ion atie	st a ents	atu S	S	Uni	me 10	thy)/18	/lat 3	ed	N	letl 8	hyla 8/18	ated	

Figure 3.S2. WNT6 DNA methylation in a GBM Portuguese cohort.

MSP analyses of 18 GBM patients from Hospital Santo António. Hypermethylation was considered whenever a methylated band was observed. Top: representative image. Bottom: summary of the results.

References

- Perry A, and Wesseling P. Histologic classification of gliomas. *Handb Clin Neurol.* 2016;134:71-95.
- 2. Louis DN. Molecular pathology of malignant gliomas. *Annu Rev Pathol.* 2006;1:97-117.
- Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ, Belanger K, Brandes AA, Marosi C, Bogdahn U, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;352(10):987-96.
- 4. Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Kleihues P, and Ellison DW. The 2016 world health organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2016;131(6):803-20.
- 5. Dunn GP, Rinne ML, Wykosky J, Genovese G, Quayle SN, Dunn IF, Agarwalla PK, Chheda MG, Campos B, Wang A, et al. Emerging insights into the molecular and cellular basis of glioblastoma. *Genes Dev.* 2012;26(8):756-84.
- 6. Weller M, Wick W, Aldape K, Brada M, Berger M, Pfister SM, Nishikawa R, Rosenthal M, Wen PY, and Stupp R. Glioma. *Nature reviews Disease primers.* 2015;1:15017.
- 7. De Witt Hamer PC. Small molecule kinase inhibitors in glioblastoma: a systematic review of clinical studies. *Neuro Oncol.* 2010;12(3):304-16.
- 8. Reardon DA, Wen PY, and Mellinghoff IK. Targeted molecular therapies against epidermal growth factor receptor: past experiences and challenges. *Neuro Oncol.* 2014;16(suppl_8):viii7-viii13.
- Thiessen B, Stewart C, Tsao M, Kamel-Reid S, Schaiquevich P, Mason W, Easaw J, Belanger K, Forsyth P, and McIntosh L. A phase I/II trial of GW572016 (lapatinib) in recurrent glioblastoma multiforme: clinical outcomes, pharmacokinetics and molecular correlation. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* 2010;65(2):353-61.
- Ou S-HI. Second-generation irreversible epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs): a better mousetrap? A review of the clinical evidence. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* 2012;83(3):407-21.
- 11. Agarwal S, Sane R, Oberoi R, Ohlfest JR, and Elmquist WF. Delivery of molecularly targeted therapy to malignant glioma, a disease of the whole brain. *Expert Rev Mol Med.* 2011;13:e17.
- 12. Gilbert MR, Dignam JJ, Armstrong TS, Wefel JS, Blumenthal DT, Vogelbaum MA, Colman H, Chakravarti A, Pugh S, and Won M. A randomized trial of bevacizumab for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *N Engl J Med.* 2014;370(8):699-708.
- Dresemann G, Weller M, Rosenthal MA, Wedding U, Wagner W, Engel E, Heinrich B, Mayer-Steinacker R, Karup-Hansen A, Fluge O, et al. Imatinib in combination with hydroxyurea versus hydroxyurea alone as oral therapy in patients with progressive pretreated glioblastoma resistant to standard dose temozolomide. *J Neurooncol.* 2010;96(3):393-402.
- 14. Jaeckle KA, Anderson S, Kosel M, Sarkaria J, Brown P, Flynn P, Buckner JC, and Galanis E. Ot-16. Ncctg N0272. *Neuro Oncol.* 2011;13(suppl_3):iii85–iii91.
- 15. Pan E, Yu D, Yue B, Potthast L, Chowdhary S, Smith P, and Chamberlain M. A prospective phase II single-institution trial of sunitinib for recurrent malignant glioma. *J Neurooncol.* 2012;110(1):111-

8.

- 16. Kreisl TN, Smith P, Sul J, Salgado C, Iwamoto FM, Shih JH, and Fine HA. Continuous daily sunitinib for recurrent glioblastoma. *J Neurooncol.* 2013;111(1):41-8.
- 17. Kreisl TN, McNeill KA, Sul J, Iwamoto FM, Shih J, and Fine HA. A phase I/II trial of vandetanib for patients with recurrent malignant glioma. *Neuro Oncol.* 2012;14(12):1519-26.
- Reardon DA, Vredenburgh JJ, Desjardins A, Peters K, Gururangan S, Sampson JH, Marcello J, Herndon JE, 2nd, McLendon RE, Janney D, et al. Effect of CYP3A-inducing anti-epileptics on sorafenib exposure: results of a phase II study of sorafenib plus daily temozolomide in adults with recurrent glioblastoma. *J Neurooncol.* 2011;101(1):57-66.
- 19. Futreal PA, Coin L, Marshall M, Down T, Hubbard T, Wooster R, Rahman N, and Stratton MR. A census of human cancer genes. *Nature Reviews Cancer.* 2004;4(3):177.
- 20. Santarius T, Shipley J, Brewer D, Stratton MR, and Cooper CS. A census of amplified and overexpressed human cancer genes. *Nature Reviews Cancer*. 2010;10(1):59.
- 21. Albertson DG. Gene amplification in cancer. Trends Genet. 2006;22(8):447-55.
- 22. Verhaak RG, Hoadley KA, Purdom E, Wang V, Qi Y, Wilkerson MD, Miller CR, Ding L, Golub T, Mesirov JP, et al. Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. *Cancer Cell.* 2010;17(1):98-110.
- Herman J. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol.* Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2005:329-33.
- 24. Nebbioso A, Tambaro FP, Dell'Aversana C, and Altucci L. Cancer epigenetics: Moving forward. *PLoS genetics.* 2018;14(6):e1007362.
- 25. Yuan G, Regel I, Lian F, Friedrich T, Hitkova I, Hofheinz RD, Strobel P, Langer R, Keller G, Rocken C, et al. WNT6 is a novel target gene of caveolin-1 promoting chemoresistance to epirubicin in human gastric cancer cells. *Oncogene.* 2013;32(3):375-87.
- Fan Y, Shen B, Tan M, Mu X, Qin Y, Zhang F, and Liu Y. Long non-coding RNA UCA1 increases chemoresistance of bladder cancer cells by regulating WNT signaling. *FEBS J.* 2014;281(7):1750-8.
- 27. Costa BM, Smith JS, Chen Y, Chen J, Phillips HS, Aldape KD, Zardo G, Nigro J, James CD, Fridlyand J, et al. Reversing HOXA9 oncogene activation by PI3K inhibition: epigenetic mechanism and prognostic significance in human glioblastoma. *Cancer Res.* 2010;70(2):453-62.
- Pojo M, Goncalves CS, Xavier-Magalhaes A, Oliveira AI, Goncalves T, Correia S, Rodrigues AJ, Costa S, Pinto L, Pinto AA, et al. A transcriptomic signature mediated by HOXA9 promotes human glioblastoma initiation, aggressiveness and resistance to temozolomide. *Oncotarget.* 2015;6(10):7657-74.
- 29. Nusse R, and Clevers H. WNT/beta-catenin signaling, disease, and emerging therapeutic modalities. *Cell.* 2017;169(6):985-99.
- 30. Willert K, and Nusse R. Wnt proteins. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2012;4(9):a007864.
- 31. Hu B, Wang Q, Wang YA, Hua S, Sauve CG, Ong D, Lan ZD, Chang Q, Ho YW, Monasterio MM, et
al. Epigenetic Activation of WNT5A Drives Glioblastoma Stem Cell Differentiation and Invasive Growth. *Cell.* 2016;167(5):1281-95 e18.

- 32. Kim Y, Hong M, Do I-G, Ha SY, Lee D, and Suh Y-L. Wnt5a, Ryk and Ror2 expression in glioblastoma subgroups. *Pathol Res Pract.* 2015;211(12):963-72.
- 33. Kaur N, Chettiar S, Rathod S, Rath P, Muzumdar D, Shaikh ML, and Shiras A. WNT3a mediated activation of WNT/beta-catenin signaling promotes tumor progression in glioblastoma. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* 2013;54:44-57.
- 34. Yu JM, Jun ES, Jung JS, Suh SY, Han JY, Kim JY, and Kim KW. Role of WNT5a in the proliferation of human glioblastoma cells. *Cancer Lett.* 2007;257(2):172-81.
- 35. Kamino M, Kishida M, Kibe T, Ikoma K, Iijima M, Hirano H, Tokudome M, Chen L, Koriyama C, Yamada K, et al. WNT-5a signaling is correlated with infiltrative activity in human glioma by inducing cellular migration and MMP-2. *Cancer Sci.* 2011;102(3):540-8.
- Pu P, Zhang Z, Kang C, Jiang R, Jia Z, Wang G, and Jiang H. Downregulation of WNT2 and betacatenin by siRNA suppresses malignant glioma cell growth. *Cancer Gene Ther.* 2009;16(4):351-61.
- 37. Binda E, Visioli A, Giani F, Trivieri N, Palumbo O, Restelli S, Dezi F, Mazza T, Fusilli C, Legnani F, et al. WNT5a drives an invasive phenotype in human glioblastoma stem-like cells. *Cancer Res.* 2017;77(4):996-1007.
- Xu J, Fan H, Zhao ZJ, Zhang J-Q, and Xie W. Identification of potential genes regulated by DNA methyltransferase 3B in a hepatocellular carcinoma cell line by RNA interference and microarray analysis. *Yi chuan xue Bao.* 2005;32(11):1115-27.
- Carmona FJ, Azuara D, Berenguer-Llergo A, Fernández AF, Biondo S, de Oca J, Rodriguez-Moranta F, Salazar R, Villanueva A, and Fraga MF. DNA methylation biomarkers for noninvasive diagnosis of colorectal cancer. *Cancer prevention research.* 2013.
- 40. Kim T-H, Moon J-Y, Kim S-H, Paik SS, Yoon HJ, Shin DH, Park SS, and Sohn JW. Clinical significance of aberrant Wnt7a promoter methylation in human non-small cell lung cancer in Koreans. *J Korean Med Sci.* 2015;30(2):155-61.
- 41. Jung Y-S, Jun S, Lee SH, Sharma A, and Park J-I. Wnt2 complements Wnt/β-catenin signaling in colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget.* 2015;6(35):37257.
- 42. Liu MY, Zhang H, Hu YJ, Chen YW, and Zhao XN. Identification of key genes associated with cervical cancer by comprehensive analysis of transcriptome microarray and methylation microarray. *Oncol Lett.* 2016;12(1):473-8.
- Kulis M, Heath S, Bibikova M, Queirós AC, Navarro A, Clot G, Martínez-Trillos A, Castellano G, Brun-Heath I, and Pinyol M. Epigenomic analysis detects widespread gene-body DNA hypomethylation in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Nat Genet.* 2012;44(11):1236.
- 44. Yang X, Han H, De Carvalho DD, Lay FD, Jones PA, and Liang G. Gene body methylation can alter gene expression and is a therapeutic target in cancer. *Cancer Cell.* 2014;26(4):577-90.
- 45. Long MD, Smiraglia DJ, and Campbell MJ. The genomic impact of DNA CpG methylation on gene expression; relationships in prostate cancer. *Biomolecules.* 2017;7(1):15.

- 46. Lim YC, Li J, Ni Y, Liang Q, Zhang J, Yeo GS, Lyu J, Jin S, and Ding C. A complex association between DNA methylation and gene expression in human placenta at first and third trimesters. *PLoS One.* 2017;12(7):e0181155.
- 47. Esposito MT, Zhao L, Fung TK, Rane JK, Wilson A, Martin N, Gil J, Leung AY, Ashworth A, and So CW. Synthetic lethal targeting of oncogenic transcription factors in acute leukemia by PARP inhibitors. *Nat Med.* 2015;21(12):1481-90.
- Lawrence H, Rozenfeld S, Cruz C, Matsukuma K, Kwong A, Kömüves L, Buchberg A, and Largman C. Frequent co-expression of the HOXA9 and MEIS1 homeobox genes in human myeloid leukemias. *Leukemia*. 1999;13(12):1993.
- 49. Armstrong SA, Staunton JE, Silverman LB, Pieters R, den Boer ML, Minden MD, Sallan SE, Lander ES, Golub TR, and Korsmeyer SJ. MLL translocations specify a distinct gene expression profile that distinguishes a unique leukemia. *Nat Genet.* 2002;30(1):41.
- 50. Kroon E, Thorsteinsdottir U, Mayotte N, Nakamura T, and Sauvageau G. NUP98-HOXA9 expression in hemopoietic stem cells induces chronic and acute myeloid leukemias in mice. *EMBO J.* 2001;20(3):350-61.
- 51. Pai SG, Carneiro BA, Mota JM, Costa R, Leite CA, Barroso-Sousa R, Kaplan JB, Chae YK, and Giles FJ. Wnt/beta-catenin pathway: modulating anticancer immune response. *J Hematol Oncol.* 2017;10(1):101.
- 52. Gonçalves CS, Vieira de Castro J, Pojo M, Martins EP, Queirós S, Chautard E, Taipa R, Pires MM, Pinto AA, Pardal F, et al. WNT6 is a Novel Oncogenic Prognostic Biomarker in Human Glioblastoma. *Theranostics.* 2018.
- 53. TCGA. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. *Nature.* 2008;455(7216):1061-8.
- 54. Bao Z-S, Chen H-M, Yang M-Y, Zhang C-B, Yu K, Ye W-L, Hu B-Q, Yan W, Zhang W, and Akers J. RNA-seq of 272 gliomas revealed a novel, recurrent PTPRZ1-MET fusion transcript in secondary glioblastomas. *Genome Res.* 2014;24(11):1765-73.
- 55. Gill BJ, Pisapia DJ, Malone HR, Goldstein H, Lei L, Sonabend A, Yun J, Samanamud J, Sims JS, and Banu M. MRI-localized biopsies reveal subtype-specific differences in molecular and cellular composition at the margins of glioblastoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* 2014;111(34):12550-5.
- 56. Bowman RL, Wang Q, Carro A, Verhaak RG, and Squatrito M. GlioVis data portal for visualization and analysis of brain tumor expression datasets. *Neuro Oncol.* 2017;19(1):139-41.
- 57. Goncalves CS, Xavier-Magalhaes A, Pojo M, Oliveira AI, Correia S, Reis RM, Sousa N, Rocha M, and Costa BM. Transcriptional profiling of HOXA9-regulated genes in human glioblastoma cell models. *Genom Data.* 2015;5:54-8.
- 58. Livak KJ, and Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-delta delta C(T)) method. *Methods.* 2001;25(4):402-8.
- 59. Cartharius K, Frech K, Grote K, Klocke B, Haltmeier M, Klingenhoff A, Frisch M, Bayerlein M, and Werner T. MatInspector and beyond: promoter analysis based on transcription factor binding sites. *Bioinformatics.* 2005;21(13):2933-42.

- 60. Quandt K, Frech K, Karas H, Wingender E, and Werner T. MatInd and MatInspector: new fast and versatile tools for detection of consensus matches in nucleotide sequence data. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1995;23(23):4878-84.
- 61. Xavier-Magalhães A, Gonçalves CS, Fogli A, Lourenço T, Pojo M, Pereira B, Rocha M, Lopes MC, Crespo I, and Rebelo O. The long non-coding RNA HOTAIR is transcriptionally activated by HOXA9 and is an independent prognostic marker in patients with malignant glioma. *Oncotarget.* 2018;9(21):15740.

Chapter 4

General discussion & future perspectives

This chapter presents an integrated general discussion of the major results of this thesis, contextualizing them within the recent literature, and discussing potential future questions to address. At the end, a brief conclusion of the thesis is given.

Contents

4.1.	General discussion	147
4.2.	Future perspectives	152
4.3.	Conclusion	156

4.1. General discussion

Gliomas are the most frequent type of primary malignant brain tumors and constitute a major source of morbidity and mortality, ranking first in average of years of life lost among all tumor types [1-3]. Despite the advances in the understanding of their pathophysiology, there are still no curative therapies available [4]. Therefore, the identification of new molecular markers with prognostic and potential therapeutic value is urgent. As mentioned before, in physiological conditions, the WNT pathway controls cell fate, proliferation, migration, polarity, and death [5]. Deregulated WNT pathway has been reported in several cancers, including GBM, the most malignant type of glioma, and has been implicated in promoting tumor initiation, growth, invasion/metastasis, immune evasion, and resistance to current therapies [6-8]. This increased resistance has been attributed to stem cell-like features sustained by WNT signaling, such as increased self-renewal capacity, and tumorigenic potential [9]. While the importance of the WNT pathway has been largely explored in several tumor types, little is known about the roles of WNT6, a ligand of this pathway, in cancer [10-13]. Indeed, this thesis compiles the first studies focusing on WNT6 functional role, and WNT6 upstream regulatory and downstream effector mechanisms in human gliomas (Chapter 2 and Chapter 3).

In our first study (Chapter 2), we found that WNT6 is overexpressed in GBM, when compared to less malignant gliomas, associating it with increased glioma malignancy. By genetically manipulating WNT6 expression in several GBM cell models, we studied the functional impact of WNT6 expression in this deadly disease. We observed that WNT6 influences several cancer-associated aggressiveness features, such as viability, proliferation, invasion, migration, sensitivity to TMZ-based chemotherapy, and cancer stem cell features, independently of other well-known oncogenic WNT ligands (WNT1 and WNT3a; Chapter 2). These results implicate WNT6 as a novel oncogene in human gliomas, similarly to what was previously described for other WNT ligands [14-18]. Indeed, we are aware of the potential redundancy of WNT ligands in cancer. Notwithstanding, although WNT6 is co-expressed with some WNT ligands in GBM (Table 4.1), it was still significantly associated with GBM patients' shorter overall survival independently of all other WNT ligands, except for WNT8b (only marginally above the significance level: p = 0.052; n = 403; TCGA dataset) and WNT10a, which were not per se prognostic biomarkers for GBM patients (Table 4.2). Moreover, besides WNT6, only WNT5b was significantly associated with poor prognosis of these patients (p = 0.017; n = 403; TCGA dataset). Importantly, the prognostic value of WNT6 was validated in 5 additional independent cohorts, in which WNT6 expression was assessed using different techniques (Agilent and Affymetrix microarrays, qRT-PCR, and IHC). The consistency of these findings across multiple

		LGG	G	iBM
WNT ligand	r	<i>p</i> -value	r	<i>p</i> -value
WNT1	0.05	ns	0.07	ns
WNT2	0.02	ns	-0.10	*
WNT2b	0.08	ns	-0.01	ns
WNT3	-0.07	ns	-0.09	*
WNT3a	0.10	*	0.38	****
WNT4	0.19	****	0.19	****
WNT5a	-0.11	*	0.00	ns
WNT5b	0.12	**	0.04	ns
WNT7a	-0.04	ns	-0.04	ns
WNT7b	-0.05	ns	0.17	****
WNT8a	0.02	ns	0.04	ns
WNT8b	0.02	ns	0.11	**
WNT9a	0.05	ns	0.19	****
WNT9b	-0.07	ns	0.09	*
WNT10a	0.17	****	0.48	****
WNT10b	0.05	ns	0.15	***
WNT11	0.31	****	0.33	****
WNT16	-0.02	ns	-0.05	ns

Table	4.1	. WNT6	co-ex	pression	with	other	WNT	ligand	s in	glioma	а
-------	-----	--------	-------	----------	------	-------	-----	--------	------	--------	---

RNAseq data with 511 samples were used for LGG, while Agilent data with 570 samples were used for GBM. Spearman correlation test was used. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.005; and ****, p < 0.001.

GBM datasets of various world regions/institutions is crucial to establish WNT6 as a clinically-useful biomarker. Concordantly, this clinical finding is in agreement with our *in vivo* data (Chapter 2), in which both WNT6-silencing and WNT6-overexpression models showed a marked influence of WNT6 in the aggressiveness and prognosis of GBM xenografts. In this context, these data strengthen our hypothesis that WNT6 presents an important role in GBM pathophysiology. Given the interesting association obtained between *WNT5b*, which was previously reported to be amplified in pediatric grade III and IV astrocytomas [19], and the prognosis of GBM patients, further studies are important to understand the functional role of WNT5b in glioma, as performed for WNT6.

WNT6 co-expression with *WNT10a* in GBM fits well with previous reports in colorectal cancer [20], where these two genes were found to be co-expressed. Indeed, in humans, *WNT6* and *WNT10a* are clustered in the 2q35 chromosomal region, less than 7 kb apart. With respect to *WNT3a* or *WNT11*, there are no reports describing a potential association between *WNT6* and these genes in development or cancer, being thus required further studies to clarify this link. In Chapter 2, we already evaluated the expression of *WNT3a* in our WNT6-manipulated *in vitro* models, including both WNT6-silencing and WNT6-

	Overall Survival (GBM patients)					
	WN7	76 a	tested WNT ligand ^b			
WNT ligand	<i>p</i> -value	HR	<i>p</i> -value	HR		
WNT1	0.031	1.286	0.461	0.791		
WNT2	0.034	1.280	0.537	1.037		
WNT2b	0.045	1.266	0.341	1.069		
WNT3	0.035	1.279	0.415	0.921		
WNT3a	0.041	1.288	0.888	0.968		
WNT4	0.030	1.300	0.616	0.955		
WNT5a	0.030	1.286	0.074	0.872		
WNT5b	0.031	1.287	0.017	1.234		
WNT6	-	-	0.030	1.288		
WNT7a	0.042	1.270	0.542	1.040		
WNT7b	0.022	1.310	0.207	0.861		
WNT8a	0.042	1.269	0.310	0.855		
WNT8b	0.052	1.257	0.225	1.193		
WNT9a	0.020	1.317	0.111	0.742		
WNT9b	0.033	1.284	0.780	0.908		
WNT10a	0.157	1.214	0.453	1.075		
WNT10b	0.049	1.263	0.328	1.071		
WNT11	0.036	1.284	0.893	0.984		
WNT16	0.027	1.292	0.085	1.068		

Table 4.2. Cox multivariate ana	ysis in GBM	patients from	TCGA
---------------------------------	-------------	---------------	------

^aConfounding factors used in the multivariate analysis: *WNT6* expression, age, KPS, gender, treatment, and the expression of each one of the other ligands. ^bConfounding factors used in the multivariate analysis: age, KPS, gender, treatment, and the expression of each one of the other ligands. Significant *p*-values are in bold. HR = Hazard Ratio

overexpressing models. *WNT3a* levels neither decreased upon WNT6 silencing, nor increased upon WNT6 overexpression (Figure 2.S8). In fact, *WNT3a* expression was only detected in U373 cells, and its levels increased upon WNT6 silencing. These data suggest that, despite the observed correlation in GBM patients, there is no association between *WNT3a* levels and the WNT6 functional effects that we reported in this thesis.

Considering the need for new precision therapies, it is crucial not only to identify new prognostic factors, but also to understand the molecular mechanisms underlying its associated aggressiveness. In this context, in Chapter 2, we focused on identifying WNT6-mediated signaling mechanisms in GBM; importantly, this has not been described for any cancer type, giving potentially critical insights into the mechanisms of action of WNT6 in cancers where it is overexpressed [11-13, 20-22]. Complementary, in

Chapter 3, we focused on the identification of WNT6 upstream regulators in gliomas, as only *UCA1* and CAV1 molecules have previously been pointed as potential regulators of WNT6 in bladder and gastric cancer, respectively [11, 12].

There are at least three intracellular signaling pathways activated by the WNT proteins: one β catenin-dependent pathway (named canonical WNT pathway) and two β-catenin-independent pathways (named non-canonical WNT pathways), the planar cell polarity and the Ca²⁺ pathways [5]. Usually, WNTs are classified according to their ability to signal through either the canonical or non-canonical pathways. While WNT1 is mainly associated to the activation of the canonical pathway [23] and WNT5a to the noncanonical ones [23], WNT6 has been linked to all [24-40]. Indeed, while WNT6-mediated regulation of the epithelium formation, adhesion, cell-cell communication, and development of several tissues (e.g., heart muscle) was associated to the canonical pathway [25-27, 30-32, 36-39, 41], WNT6 signals through the non-canonical pathway in the neural crest induction, and in differentiation of the skeletal muscle, dental pulp, and macrophages [22, 24, 33-35]. In cancer, the mechanism of action of WNT6 via the canonical or non-canonical pathways were still unknown. Here, we showed that WNT6 is an activator of the canonical WNT pathway in GBM, as assessed by the TCF/LEF reporter assay (Chapter 2). Interestingly, TCF/LEF binding sites were also identified in our *in silico* analysis (MatInspector tool, Genomatix; Figure 3.3) with significant matrix similarities within the WNT6 promoter region, suggesting the existence of a positive regulatory feedback loop. Regarding the non-canonical pathways, the capacity of WNT6 to activate them can be evaluated through the assessment of p-JNK and p-PKC by western blot or ROR1/2 and RYK expression by qRT-PCR. Of note, p-JNK levels were already assessed in our WNT6silencing models using the phospho-kinase arrays, but without concordant results between the two cell lines evaluated (Figure 2.6). Further studies are thus required to elucidate on WNT6 role on the WNT noncanonical pathways. Moreover, we already identified SFK and STAT3 pathways as other potential effectors of WNT6 aggressiveness in GBM. Our data, together with some reports associating the WNT pathway with the SFK and STAT3 pathways [42-45], strongly support a role of WNT6 in the regulation of these pathways in GBM, which might be performed through canonical or non-canonical signals.

Regarding the upstream regulators of *WNT6* expression in gliomas, in Chapter 3 we showed that *WNT6* might be regulated by DNA methylation, similarly to what was previously described for other WNT pathway components [46-63]. Specifically, we showed that the DNA methylation levels of *WNT6* promoter region are inversely correlated with its expression, while *WNT6* gene body DNA methylation levels are positively correlated. Moreover, we demonstrated that 5-Aza treatment successfully decreased the DNA methylation of the promoter region of GBM cells, which correlated with increased *WNT6* expression.

However, 5-Aza, which has been used for cancer treatment, is a genome-wide DNA demethylating agent, having off-target effects that hinder one from taking conclusions about the correlation between specific CpG sites and its effects on gene expression [64]. Indeed, the possibility of epigenome editing at specific CpG sites is an attractive method to be use not only for mechanistic studies, but also as a therapeutic option, with CRISPR/Cas9 technology having emerged as a successful method for this site-specific DNA targeting. Cas9 nuclease uses small base pairing guide RNAs (gRNAs) to target and cleave foreign DNA elements in a sequence-specific manner. Interestingly, the use of Cas9 mutant nucleases (e.g., D10A and H840A), named as death Cas9 (dCas9), lacks the endonuclease activity but can still be recruited by gRNA [65]. This catalytically inactive dCas9 may be coupled/fused to DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) or TET enzymes to artificially alter the DNA methylation in a site-specific manner [65]. While DNMTs are responsible for introducing and maintaining the DNA methylation, TET enzymes catalyzes its removal [65]. Of note, de novo DNA methylation is controlled by DNMT3a and DNMT3b, while DNMT1 is responsible by its maintenance [65]. Over the last years, this technology has boosted the field of genetargeted epigenome reprogramming [66-71]. Moreover, inducible promoters, e.g. using tetracyclineinduced transcriptional activation, may be used to achieve timely precise modulation of the DNA methylation levels. Thus, using this technology, we would be able to evaluate the impact of the DNA methylation levels of specific regions on the WNT6 expression in GBM cells, which might be further translated into a therapeutic tool.

Furthermore, we also demonstrated in Chapter 3 that HOXA9, which we previously showed to be an important oncogenic transcription factor in GBM [72-74], is a direct regulator of WNT6 expression in GBM cells, identifying WNT6 as a direct effector of HOXA9-mediated aggressiveness. Although we observed that i) HOXA9 binds to the promoter region of *WNT6*; ii) *WNT6* and *HOXA9* are co-expressed in glioma patients from independent cohorts; and iii) *WNT6* expression follows *HOXA9* expression when the latter is modulated in GBM cells, it would be important to confirm that there is a direct link between HOXA9 binding to the *WNT6* promoter region and the activation of its transcription. To this end, a luciferase or GFP reporter assay, i.e. where the expression of the luciferase/GFP protein is under the control of the promoter of *WNT6* (containing wildtype or mutant HOXA9-binding sites), might be employed in the GBM cell lines with modulated levels of HOXA9. This assay allows to evaluate if the binding of HOXA9 to the promoter region of *WNT6* will activate its expression by the indirect measure of the luciferase activity or GFP expression. Moreover, as *WNT6* DNA methylation may interfere with the binding of transcription factors, including with HOXA9 binding, it would be interesting to understand if these mechanisms are co-occurring in GBM cells and patients, or if they are mutually exclusive.

151

4.2. Future perspectives

Although, in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3, we identified *WNT6* as a novel oncogene in human glioma, and identified some of its upstream regulatory and downstream effector mechanisms, some questions of paramount importance remain:

4.2.1. Is WNT6 a tumorigenic factor in GBM?

With the advances of high-throughput technologies, the origin of some cancer entities began to be partially understood [75-79]. This understanding is crucial to allow the application of preventive measures and/or the early detection of malignant lesions. Some works have already tried to identify the cell of origin and the (epi)genetic alterations underlying GBM (reviewed in [80]). Although no striking results were obtained so far, it is more than consensual that malignant glioma may arise due to the accumulation of multiple genetic alterations [80, 81]. In this context, Sonoda et al. (2001) used human immortalized astrocytes (with the overexpression of the human oncoprotein telomerase [hTERT], E6mediated inactivation of the tumor suppressor p53, and E7-mediated inactivation of the tumor suppressor RB), which per se are not tumorigenic in immunocompromised mice [73, 82], and introduced serial genetic alterations, such as EGFR (wildtype or mutant), AKT, and RAS [82]. Only the addition of RAS to hTERT/E6/E7 genetic alterations showed to be tumorigenic when injected subcutaneously in mice, while other combinations (e.g., E6/E7/RAS or E7/hTERT/RAS) were not [82]. Taking into consideration that hTERT/E6/E7 cells do not express WNT6 (data not shown), they might be an interesting tool to further understand the impact of WNT6 in glioma initiation, as WNT6 might be straightforwardly overexpressed in these cells, and its potential tumorigenic value might be evaluated upon implantation of these cells in the brain of immunocompromised mice. In addition, more sophisticated results might be obtained using i) genetically engineered mice models with low glioma penetrance (e.g., Ink4a-Arf^{-/-};Kras⁻;Akt⁻ mice with 42 to 49% of GBM formation by 12 weeks [83]) - by conditionally knock-in WNT6 (which might be expressed constitutively or under the promoter of specific relevant brain cells in the context of glioma, like astrocytes, neural stem cells, among others) and by the observation of its effects in glioma penetrance and mice survival; ii) genetically engineered mice models with predominance of lower-grade gliomas (e.g., Pten^{f/f};hGFAP-Cre;EGFRvIII mice with grade II to IV tumors in 93% of the mice by 6 to 15 weeks [84]) by conditionally knock-in WNT6 and by the observation of the percentage of gliomas formed and their grading; and iii) genetically engineered mice models with no spontaneous formation of gliomas (e.g., Ink4a-Arf^{/-} mice) – by conditionally knock-in WNT6 and by the evaluation of mice spontaneous tumor formation and survival. The second proposed model would allow to better study the association between WNT6 expression and glioma grading observed in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3. Good reviews and summaries

of the available glioma mice models can be found in [85, 86].

4.2.2. Is WNT6 a biomarker of tumor recurrence in GBM?

Considering the data obtained in Chapter 2, where WNT6 was associated with characteristics linked to tumor recurrence, like resistance to chemotherapy, increased cell motility and stem cell capacity, the value of WNT6 as a biomarker of glioma recurrence should be further evaluated. To this end, using large and independent cohorts of glioma patients with information about tumor recurrence for each, statistical analyses might be performed to understand if WNT6-high primary tumors are more prone to recur than WNT6-low primary tumors.

In clinical practice, a significant percentage of GBM patients show a pseudoprogression upon brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), a phenomenon that occurs due to contrast enhancement changes surrounding the tumor site in result of the radiochemotherapy [87-89]. In this context, one of the main challenges in the management of GBM patients is the determination of when the tumor is effectively progressing. WNT proteins are considered morphogens as they can spread over a distance to induce patterning during development [90]. Moreover, they are hydrophobic, and thus require a special mechanism to be transported across tissues. As described in Chapter 1, although WNT proteins were found to bind to lipoprotein particles, recently it was observed that a substantial amount of active WNT proteins are found in exosomes [90]. Both lipoprotein particles and exosomes have been found in several body fluids, such as blood plasma, aqueous humor, saliva, cerebral spinal fluid, etc., some of which are of easy access [91-100]. Thus, the identification of biomarkers of recurrence in lipoproteins/exosomes (e.g., WNT6) may help in the differentiation between pseudoprogression and a true progression. In fact, these biomarkers may identify progressions earlier and easier than possible by imaging, and may spare patients with pseudoprogression from unnecessary treatments and allow faster treatment decisions for those in which progression is detected earlier.

4.2.3. Is WNT6 involved in glioma immune evasion?

In the last years, immunotherapy has emerged as an attractive therapeutic option for cancer treatment [101]. However, despite the excellent results obtained with certain immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI), namely in melanoma, non-small cell lung, and head and neck cancers [102-104], most patients still do not respond to immunotherapy, likely due to tumor intrinsic mechanisms of resistance [105]. One of such mechanisms has been hypothesized to be aberrant WNT/β-catenin signaling, which has been described to control the tumor-immune interaction at several levels [106-116]. Indeed, it is well recognized that this pathway affects critical regulators implicated in the antitumor activity of dendritic, T,

and microglial cells (as reviewed in [112]). In Chapter 2, we found that WNT6 is an activator of the WNT/ β -catenin signaling in gliomas, and WNT6 alone was also reported to be involved in the regulation of immune cells [34]. Together, these data raise the hypothesis that WNT6 may be involved in glioma immune evasion. In our study, we used NSG immunocompromised mice, which have absent T, B and NK cells, and defective dendritic cells and macrophages [117]. Thus, this model is not ideal to evaluate the potential effect of WNT6 on tumor immune evasion. To address this question, two types of mice models might be used: immunocompetent mice implanted with mice glioma cells (e.g., GL261 or KR158B with silencing or overexpression of WNT6, and their respective controls, implanted in C57BL/6J mice), or humanized immunocompromised mice that allow the implantation of human glioma cells (e.g., U373 with silencing of WNT6 or U87 with overexpression of WNT6, and their respective controls, implanted in NSG mice previously humanized with human peripheral blood mononuclear cells [PBMCs]). In both contexts, the effect on i) the immune system, namely analyzing the immune cell infiltration in the tumor (e.g., using flow cytometry and/or immunofluorescence to characterize the presence of CD3, CD4, CD8, CD19, CD11b, FoxP3, NK1.1, and CD86 immune cells) and their activation profile (e.g., through flow cytometry and/or immunofluorescence to quantify their profile of activation [IL2, IFN γ , TNF, CD40, CD69, CD80, CD86 and CD25], proliferation [CFSE], senescence [KLRG1], and exhaustion [PD1, LAG3 and TIM3]), and ii) the tumor itself (e.g., tumor volume, and expression of proliferation [Ki-67, Cyclin D1], stem [NESTIN, SOX2] and apoptosis [BCL2] markers) should be further explored. Moreover, in the context of tumor shrinkage, contralateral re-challenging should be considered to study immune cell memory against the tumor. This experiment would allow to understand if WNT6 may have a role in avoiding immune cell infiltration and/or activation. These findings might help identifying a potential mechanism of immune modulation in tumors non-responsive to immunotherapy, which might be specifically targeted (as discussed abaixo) to improve the response to immunotherapies and, consequently, the prognosis of patients. Indeed, if WNT6/WNT pathway proves to have an important role in glioma immune evasion, the combination of WNT6/WNT inhibition and ICIs should be further investigated.

4.2.4. May WNT6 be used as a therapeutic target?

We are fast entering the era of precision medicine. The era where scientists and clinicians, despite knowing that tumors are highly complex and heterogeneous, are technically more able to obtain genomic and epigenomic information from tumors, and acknowledge the limitations of unsatisfactory "one serves all" therapies. But how can the treatment of GBM be optimized for the benefit of individual patients? To reach this goal, several scientists have been focusing their research on the identification of molecular target(s) that may help in the prevention, diagnosis, prognosis, treatment, or recurrence of GBM patients.

Our data from Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 identifies WNT6 as a biomarker of poor prognosis in GBM patients, independently of other potential markers, such as age, KPS, therapy, or even *HOXA9* expression, one of its upstream regulators. Moreover, WNT6 silencing through shRNA in GBM cells was sufficient to significantly prolong the survival of mice, while WNT6 overexpression in GBM cells accelerated their death. Integrating these concordant *in vivo* data with the functional oncogenic roles pinpointed *in vitro*, it is reasonable to hypothesize that WNT6 may be an attractive therapeutic target in GBM. Presently, there are no direct WNT6 inhibitors available. However, since we found WNT6 was associated with WNT, SFK and STAT pathways activation (Chapter 2), for which several inhibitors have been designed and some are even in clinical trials (e.g., WNT974, dasatinib, and C188-9, respectively; see *www.clinicaltrials.gov* for more details) [23, 118, 119], it may be useful to combine current standard-of-care therapies with those targeted drugs that may revert WNT6-mediated effects in GBM. On the other hand, we showed that HOXA9 is an upstream regulator of WNT6 in gliomas (Chapter 3), for which there are also indirect inhibitors available (e.g., HXR9 peptide or PI3K pathway inhibitors) [120, 121]. In this sense, HOXA9 inhibitors might also be a viable alternative to decrease the WNT6-associated aggressive phenotype in GBM.

After a long and tortuous journey, gene therapy is finally being accepted and used in clinical trials as a treatment option for several incurable diseases [122]. Indeed, in the last year, they were almost 2600 completed, ongoing or approved gene therapy clinical trials worldwide [122]. Gene therapies allow the manipulation of gene expression *in vivo* (through siRNA, antisense oligonucleotides, or CRISPR/Cas9, for example) in specific organs, being very attractive in several contexts, including brain cancer where some pre-clinical studies have already shown interesting results [123-125]. In that sense, the current lack of direct inhibitors for WNT6 may also be overcome using gene therapy technologies in the future.

On the other hand, in the last three decades, over 60 monoclonal antibodies have been approved for clinical use [126, 127], half of them for oncology use. In addition, the interest in bispecific antibodies, which present the advantage of simultaneously targeting two different epitopes (either in the same or in different antigens), have significantly increased [128]. Indeed, it was recently approved the use of two bispecific antibodies, one of them for oncological treatment purposes [128]. Considering the success of antibody therapies, cancer immunotherapy emerged as a fourth modality of treatment (after the conventional surgery, radio- and chemotherapy) [128]. However, regarding brain disease, there is an extra challenge in the design of antibody therapies: the transport through the blood brain barrier (BBB) into the brain. This problem implies the use of higher doses of antibody to increase its concentration near the targeted brain cells. Although high doses are still safe and effective, the supply of sufficient drug with acceptable cost-of-goods are unacceptable for successful commercialization. In this context, antibodies

are being engineered to co-opt a natural molecular transportation system, called the "Trojan horse" (e.g., transferrin, insulin, LRP1 or GLUT1 receptors), with the goal of improving their transport through the BBB into the brain [129-136]. Although still in optimizations, antibodies may also be engineered to easily reach intracellular targets (as reviewed in [137]). Since WNT6 may be found intra- and extra-cellularly, and considering its potential therapeutic role in GBM (Chapter 2), the construction of T-cell engaging bispecific antibodies targeting both WNT6 and CD3 proteins might be interesting. With this type of approach, we would be able to simultaneously neutralize WNT6, and thus its mediated aggressive phenotype, and recruit CD3-positive immune cells (i.e. CD8, CD4, NK, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells) to the tumor milieu, fostering the immune response against the tumor cells. Future efforts should be made to create therapies specifically targeting WNT6, as not only GBM patients may benefit from these therapies, but also those with other tumors, namely gastric, esophageal, colorectal, osteosarcoma and bladder cancer patients, where WNT6 presented oncogenic functions and/or was predictive of prognosis, recurrence and response to therapy [11-13, 21, 22, 57].

4.3. Conclusion

Gliomas are a devastating disease [4]. Despite the recent advances in their classification, it seems that we are still far from obtaining true therapeutic value from it [1]. Some reasons for that may include the fact that: i) gliomas are localized in the brain, the most complex organ, with almost no capacity to self-repair after damage; ii) patients with glioma have a short clinical history (less than 3 months); iii) gliomas are invasive, hampering total resection and thus with high probability of recurrence; iv) the brain is protected by the BBB, hindering drug penetration into the tumor; and v) current therapies are mostly palliative [4]. In this context, there is an increasing need to identify new biomarkers of aggressiveness, and to understand their associated molecular mechanisms to try to improve the treatment of this deadly disease. In this thesis, we dissect for the first time the functional roles and underlying upstream and downstream molecular mechanisms associated with WNT6 in human GBM, establishing it as a clinically relevant prognostic biomarker. Concretely, we showed that WNT6 expression is associated with increased glioma malignancy, independently of IDH mutation and 1p/19q co-deletion status. In GBM, WNT6 was associated with increased tumor aggressiveness in vitro and in vivo, implicating it as an important oncogenic factor in glioma. Most importantly, in several independent cohorts of GBM patients, WNT6 was a biomarker of shorter overall survival. Since almost all GBM will sooner or later recur, further studies evaluating the potential value of WNT6 as a biomarker of GBM recurrence might be important to try to improve the management of these patients. Both WNT6 mRNA and protein levels can be easily assessed with routine molecular biology techniques, which may facilitate its widespread implementation in the clinical setting as a biomarker.

In this thesis, we also investigated for the first time the signaling mechanisms mediated by WNT6 in GBM, as well as its upstream regulatory mechanisms. We identified the WNT, SFK and STAT pathways as downstream mediators of WNT6 aggressiveness in GBM. Specifically, we showed that WNT6 is a canonical WNT ligand in GBM, leading to the activation of the WNT/ β -catenin signaling pathway. Additionally, both *WNT6* DNA methylation and HOXA9, an oncogenic transcription factor in GBM, were identified as WNT6 regulators in glioma. In fact, HOXA9 also led to the activation of the β -catenin-dependent WNT signaling pathway in GBM. In this context, future work should focus on the development and application of drugs targeting WNT6 (e.g., with antisense oligonucleotides or neutralizing antibodies), its downstream effectors (e.g., using WNT and SRC inhibitors) or its upstream regulators (e.g., using HOXA9-targeting HXR9 peptide or PI3K inhibitors), which may prove useful to improve the treatment of GBM patients, either when applied as single treatment regimens or in combination with TMZ (the gold-standard chemotherapy for GBM) or ICIs (which recently emerged as a potential therapy for cancer).

Overall, the work presented throughout this thesis has an important impact in: i) the neurooncology field, by the identification of a new molecular prognostic marker in GBM and by the characterization of its functional role; ii) the WNT signaling field in general, by the identification of HOXA9 and *WNT6* DNA methylation as upstream regulators of WNT6 in GBM, as well as from the characterization of the signaling pathway mediated by WNT6; and iii) the oncology field, profiting from our data showing that WNT6 silencing significantly prolongs the survival of GBM orthotopic mice models, which will undeniably inspire the creation of WNT6-directed therapies that may not only be used for GBM patients, but also for gastric, bladder, esophageal, colon, and osteosarcoma patients, where WNT6 overexpression has also been reported [10-13, 21, 57]. Not less important, we feel the discoveries of this thesis raise interesting scientific and clinical questions, and open new exciting avenues of research for the (near) future.

References

- 1. Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Kleihues P, and Ellison DW. The 2016 world health organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2016;131(6):803-20.
- 2. Burnet NG, Jefferies SJ, Benson RJ, Hunt DP, and Treasure FP. Years of life lost (YLL) from cancer is an important measure of population burden–and should be considered when allocating research funds. *Br J Cancer.* 2005;92(2):241-5.
- 3. Ostrom QT, Gittleman H, Stetson L, Virk S, and Barnholtz-Sloan JS. Epidemiology of Intracranial Gliomas. *Prog Neurol Surg.* 2018;30:1-11.
- 4. Weller M, Wick W, Aldape K, Brada M, Berger M, Pfister SM, Nishikawa R, Rosenthal M, Wen PY, and Stupp R. Glioma. *Nature reviews Disease primers.* 2015;1:15017.
- 5. Nusse R, and Clevers H. WNT/beta-catenin signaling, disease, and emerging therapeutic modalities. *Cell.* 2017;169(6):985-99.
- 6. Voeller HJ, Truica CI, and Gelmann EP. Beta-catenin mutations in human prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* 1998;58(12):2520-3.
- 7. Baeza N, Masuoka J, Kleihues P, and Ohgaki H. AXIN1 mutations but not deletions in cerebellar medulloblastomas. *Oncogene.* 2003;22(4):632-6.
- 8. Sareddy GR, Panigrahi M, Challa S, Mahadevan A, and Babu PP. Activation of Wnt/beta-catenin/Tcf signaling pathway in human astrocytomas. *Neurochem Int.* 2009;55(5):307-17.
- 9. Reya T, and Clevers H. WNT signalling in stem cells and cancer. *Nature.* 2005;434(7035):843-50.
- Galbraith RL, Poole EM, Duggan D, Muehling J, Hsu L, Makar K, Xiao L, Potter JD, and Ulrich CM. Polymorphisms in WNT6 and WNT10A and colorectal adenoma risk. *Nutr Cancer.* 2011;63(4):558-64.
- Yuan G, Regel I, Lian F, Friedrich T, Hitkova I, Hofheinz RD, Strobel P, Langer R, Keller G, Rocken C, et al. WNT6 is a novel target gene of caveolin-1 promoting chemoresistance to epirubicin in human gastric cancer cells. *Oncogene.* 2013;32(3):375-87.
- Fan Y, Shen B, Tan M, Mu X, Qin Y, Zhang F, and Liu Y. Long non-coding RNA UCA1 increases chemoresistance of bladder cancer cells by regulating WNT signaling. *FEBS J.* 2014;281(7):1750-8.
- Zhang L, Yuan G, Fang Y, Qiu M, Lin J, Sun J, and Yang D. Increased WNT6 expression in tumor cells predicts unfavorable survival in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma patients. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* 2015;8(9):11421-7.
- 14. Kamino M, Kishida M, Kibe T, Ikoma K, Iijima M, Hirano H, Tokudome M, Chen L, Koriyama C, Yamada K, et al. WNT-5a signaling is correlated with infiltrative activity in human glioma by inducing cellular migration and MMP-2. *Cancer Sci.* 2011;102(3):540-8.
- 15. Kaur N, Chettiar S, Rathod S, Rath P, Muzumdar D, Shaikh ML, and Shiras A. WNT3a mediated activation of WNT/beta-catenin signaling promotes tumor progression in glioblastoma. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* 2013;54:44-57.
- 16. Yu JM, Jun ES, Jung JS, Suh SY, Han JY, Kim JY, and Kim KW. Role of WNT5a in the proliferation

of human glioblastoma cells. Cancer Lett. 2007;257(2):172-81.

- Pu P, Zhang Z, Kang C, Jiang R, Jia Z, Wang G, and Jiang H. Downregulation of WNT2 and betacatenin by siRNA suppresses malignant glioma cell growth. *Cancer Gene Ther.* 2009;16(4):351-61.
- Binda E, Visioli A, Giani F, Trivieri N, Palumbo O, Restelli S, Dezi F, Mazza T, Fusilli C, Legnani F, et al. WNT5a drives an invasive phenotype in human glioblastoma stem-like cells. *Cancer Res.* 2017;77(4):996-1007.
- 19. Harada T, Yamamoto H, Kishida S, Kishida M, Awada C, Takao T, and Kikuchi A. Wnt5b-associated exosomes promote cancer cell migration and proliferation. *Cancer Sci.* 2017;108(1):42-52.
- 20. Kirikoshi H, Sekihara H, and Katoh M. WNT10A and WNT6, clustered in human chromosome 2q35 region with head-to-tail manner, are strongly coexpressed in SW480 cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2001;283(4):798-805.
- 21. Zheng XL, and Yu HG. Wnt6 contributes tumorigenesis and development of colon cancer via its effects on cell proliferation, apoptosis, cell-cycle and migration. *Oncol Lett.* 2018;16:1163-72.
- Teiken K, Kuehnel M, Rehkaemper J, Kreipe H, Laenger F, Hussein K, and Jonigk D. Non-canonical WNT6/WNT10A signal factor expression in EBV+ post-transplant smooth muscle tumors. *Clin Sarcoma Res.* 2018;8:10.
- 23. Zhan T, Rindtorff N, and Boutros M. Wnt signaling in cancer. *Oncogene.* 2017;36(11):1461.
- 24. Schmidt C, McGonnell IM, Allen S, Otto A, and Patel K. WNT6 controls amniote neural crest induction through the non-canonical signaling pathway. *Dev Dyn.* 2007;236(9):2502-11.
- 25. Krawetz R, and Kelly GM. WNT6 induces the specification and epithelialization of F9 embryonal carcinoma cells to primitive endoderm. *Cell Signal*. 2008;20(3):506-17.
- 26. Lavery DL, Davenport IR, Turnbull YD, Wheeler GN, and Hoppler S. WNT6 expression in epidermis and epithelial tissues during xenopus organogenesis. *Dev Dyn.* 2008;237(3):768-79.
- 27. Lavery DL, Martin J, Turnbull YD, and Hoppler S. WNT6 signaling regulates heart muscle development during organogenesis. *Dev Biol.* 2008;323(2):177-88.
- 28. Geetha-Loganathan P, Nimmagadda S, Christ B, Huang R, and Scaal M. Ectodermal Wnt6 is an early negative regulator of limb chondrogenesis in the chicken embryo. *BMC Dev Biol.* 2010;10:32.
- 29. Wang C, Ren L, Peng L, Xu P, Dong G, and Ye L. Effect of Wnt6 on human dental papilla cells in vitro. *J Endod.* 2010;36(2):238-43.
- Cawthorn WP, Bree AJ, Yao Y, Du B, Hemati N, Martinez-Santibanez G, and MacDougald OA. Wnt6, Wnt10a and Wnt10b inhibit adipogenesis and stimulate osteoblastogenesis through a beta-catenindependent mechanism. *Bone.* 2012;50(2):477-89.
- 31. Hwang JT, and Kelly GM. GATA6 and FOXA2 regulate Wnt6 expression during extraembryonic endoderm formation. *Stem Cells Dev.* 2012;21(17):3220-32.
- 32. Doumpas N, Jékely G, and Teleman AA. Wnt6 is required for maxillary palp formation in Drosophila. *BMC Biol.* 2013;11:104.
- 33. Hitchins L, Fletcher F, Allen S, and Dhoot GK. Role of Sulf1A in Wnt1- and Wnt6-induced growth regulation and myoblast hyper-elongation. *FEBS Open Bio.* 2013;3:30-4.

- 34. Schaale K, Brandenburg J, Kispert A, Leitges M, Ehlers S, and Reiling N. Wnt6 is expressed in granulomatous lesions of Mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected mice and is involved in macrophage differentiation and proliferation. *J Immunol.* 2013;191(10):5182-95.
- 35. Li R, Wang C, Tong J, Su Y, Lin Y, Zhou X, and Ye L. WNT6 promotes the migration and differentiation of human dental pulp cells partly through c-Jun N-terminal kinase signaling pathway. *J Endod.* 2014;40(7):943-8.
- 36. Schmeckpeper J, Verma A, Yin L, Beigi F, Zhang L, Payne A, Zhang Z, Pratt RE, Dzau VJ, and Mirotsou M. Inhibition of Wnt6 by Sfrp2 regulates adult cardiac progenitor cell differentiation by differential modulation of Wnt pathways. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* 2015;85:215-25.
- 37. Beaton H, Andrews D, Parsons M, Murphy M, Gaffney A, Kavanagh D, McKay GJ, Maxwell AP, Taylor CT, Cummins EP, et al. Wnt6 regulates epithelial cell differentiation and is dysregulated in renal fibrosis. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* 2016;311(1):F35-45.
- 38. Jiang Z, Pan L, Chen X, Chen Z, and Xu D. Wnt6 influences the viability of mouse embryonic palatal mesenchymal cells via the β-catenin pathway. *Exp Ther Med.* 2017;14(6):5339-44.
- 39. Wang X, and Page-McCaw A. Wnt6 maintains anterior escort cells as an integral component of the germline stem cell niche. *Development.* 2018;145(3).
- 40. Denby L, and Conway BR. Wnt6: another player in the yin and yang of renal Wnt signaling. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology.* 2016;311(2):F404-F5.
- 41. Krawetz R, and Kelly GM. Coordinate Galpha13 and Wnt6-beta-catenin signaling in F9 embryonal carcinoma cells is required for primitive endoderm differentiation. *Biochem Cell Biol.* 2009;87(4):567-80.
- 42. Fragoso MA, Patel AK, Nakamura RE, Yi H, Surapaneni K, and Hackam AS. The WNT/beta-catenin pathway cross-talks with STAT3 signaling to regulate survival of retinal pigment epithelium cells. *PLoS One.* 2012;7(10):e46892.
- 43. Shi L, Fei X, Wang Z, and You Y. PI3K inhibitor combined with miR-125b inhibitor sensitize TMZinduced anti-glioma stem cancer effects through inactivation of WNT/beta-catenin signaling pathway. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim.* 2015;51(10):1047-55.
- 44. Paul I, Bhattacharya S, Chatterjee A, and Ghosh MK. Current understanding on EGFR and WNT/beta-catenin signaling in glioma and their possible crosstalk. *Genes Cancer.* 2013;4(11-12):427-46.
- 45. Ji H, Wang J, Nika H, Hawke D, Keezer S, Ge Q, Fang B, Fang X, Fang D, Litchfield DW, et al. EGFinduced ERK activation promotes CK2-mediated disassociation of alpha-catenin from beta-catenin and transactivation of beta-catenin. *Mol Cell.* 2009;36(4):547-59.
- 46. Goeppert B, Konermann C, Schmidt CR, Bogatyrova O, Geiselhart L, Ernst C, Gu L, Becker N, Zucknick M, and Mehrabi A. Global alterations of DNA methylation in cholangiocarcinoma target the Wnt signaling pathway. *Hepatology.* 2014;59(2):544-54.
- 47. Lin Y-W, Shih Y-L, Lien G-S, Suk F-M, Hsieh C-B, and Yan M-D. Promoter methylation of SFRP3 is frequent in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Dis Markers.* 2014;2014.
- 48. Miao Y, Wang L, Zhang X, Xu X, Jiang G, Fan C, Liu Y, Lin X, Yu J, and Zhang Y. Promoter

methylation-mediated silencing of β -catenin enhances invasiveness of non-small cell lung cancer and predicts adverse prognosis. *PLoS One.* 2014;9(11):e112258.

- 49. Serman L, Nikuseva Martic T, Serman A, and Vranic S. Epigenetic alterations of the Wnt signaling pathway in cancer: a mini review. *Bosn J Basic Med Sci.* 2014;14(4):191-4.
- 50. Paluszczak J, Sarbak J, Kostrzewska-Poczekaj M, Kiwerska K, Jarmuż-Szymczak M, Grenman R, Mielcarek-Kuchta D, and Baer-Dubowska W. The negative regulators of Wnt pathway—DACH1, DKK1, and WIF1 are methylated in oral and oropharyngeal cancer and WIF1 methylation predicts shorter survival. *Tumor Biology*. 2015;36(4):2855-61.
- Song J, Du Z, Ravasz M, Dong B, Wang Z, and Ewing RM. A protein interaction between β-catenin and dnmt1 regulates wnt signaling and dna methylation in colorectal cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Res.* 2015;13(6):969-81.
- 52. Taskesen E, Staal FJ, and Reinders MJ. An integrated approach of gene expression and DNAmethylation profiles of WNT signaling genes uncovers novel prognostic markers in acute myeloid leukemia. *BMC Bioinformatics.* 2015;16(4):S4.
- 53. Galamb O, Kalmár A, Péterfia B, Csabai I, Bodor A, Ribli D, Krenács T, Patai ÁV, Wichmann B, and Barták BK. Aberrant DNA methylation of WNT pathway genes in the development and progression of CIMP-negative colorectal cancer. *Epigenetics.* 2016;11(8):588-602.
- 54. Hu B, Wang Q, Wang YA, Hua S, Sauve CG, Ong D, Lan ZD, Chang Q, Ho YW, Monasterio MM, et al. Epigenetic Activation of WNT5A Drives Glioblastoma Stem Cell Differentiation and Invasive Growth. *Cell.* 2016;167(5):1281-95 e18.
- 55. Majchrzak-Celińska A, Słocińska M, Barciszewska A-M, Nowak S, and Baer-Dubowska W. Wnt pathway antagonists, SFRP1, SFRP2, SOX17, and PPP2R2B, are methylated in gliomas and SFRP1 methylation predicts shorter survival. *Journal of applied genetics.* 2016;57(2):189-97.
- 56. Xiao Q, Yang Y, Zhang X, and An Q. Enhanced Wnt signaling by methylation-mediated loss of SFRP2 promotes osteosarcoma cell invasion. *Tumor Biology*. 2016;37(5):6315-21.
- 57. Li L, Xu C, Liu P, and Huang J. Correlation study of DNA methylation of WNT6 gene with osteosarcoma in children. *Oncol Lett.* 2017;14(1):271-5.
- 58. Wils LJ, and Bijlsma MF. Epigenetic regulation of the Hedgehog and Wnt pathways in cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* 2018;121:23-44.
- 59. Xu J, Fan H, Zhao ZJ, Zhang J-Q, and Xie W. Identification of potential genes regulated by DNA methyltransferase 3B in a hepatocellular carcinoma cell line by RNA interference and microarray analysis. *Yi chuan xue Bao.* 2005;32(11):1115-27.
- Carmona FJ, Azuara D, Berenguer-Llergo A, Fernández AF, Biondo S, de Oca J, Rodriguez-Moranta F, Salazar R, Villanueva A, and Fraga MF. DNA methylation biomarkers for noninvasive diagnosis of colorectal cancer. *Cancer prevention research.* 2013.
- 61. Kim T-H, Moon J-Y, Kim S-H, Paik SS, Yoon HJ, Shin DH, Park SS, and Sohn JW. Clinical significance of aberrant Wnt7a promoter methylation in human non-small cell lung cancer in Koreans. *J Korean Med Sci.* 2015;30(2):155-61.
- 62. Jung Y-S, Jun S, Lee SH, Sharma A, and Park J-I. Wnt2 complements Wnt/β-catenin signaling in

colorectal cancer. Oncotarget. 2015;6(35):37257.

- 63. Liu MY, Zhang H, Hu YJ, Chen YW, and Zhao XN. Identification of key genes associated with cervical cancer by comprehensive analysis of transcriptome microarray and methylation microarray. *Oncol Lett.* 2016;12(1):473-8.
- 64. Falahi F, Sgro A, and Blancafort P. Epigenome engineering in cancer: fairytale or a realistic path to the clinic? *Front Oncol.* 2015;5:22.
- 65. Pulecio J, Verma N, Mejía-Ramírez E, Huangfu D, and Raya A. CRISPR/Cas9-based engineering of the epigenome. *Cell stem cell.* 2017;21(4):431-47.
- 66. Huang Y-H, Su J, Lei Y, Brunetti L, Gundry MC, Zhang X, Jeong M, Li W, and Goodell MA. DNA epigenome editing using CRISPR-Cas SunTag-directed DNMT3A. *Genome Biol.* 2017;18(1):176.
- 67. Liu XS, Wu H, Ji X, Stelzer Y, Wu X, Czauderna S, Shu J, Dadon D, Young RA, and Jaenisch R. Editing DNA Methylation in the Mammalian Genome. *Cell.* 2016;167(1):233-47.e17.
- McDonald JI, Celik H, Rois LE, Fishberger G, Fowler T, Rees R, Kramer A, Martens A, Edwards JR, and Challen GA. Reprogrammable CRISPR/Cas9-based system for inducing site-specific DNA methylation. *Biol Open.* 2016;5(6):866-74.
- 69. Stepper P, Kungulovski G, Jurkowska RZ, Chandra T, Krueger F, Reinhardt R, Reik W, Jeltsch A, and Jurkowski TP. Efficient targeted DNA methylation with chimeric dCas9-Dnmt3a-Dnmt3L methyltransferase. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2017;45(4):1703-13.
- 70. Vojta A, Dobrinić P, Tadić V, Bočkor L, Korać P, Julg B, Klasić M, and Zoldoš V. Repurposing the CRISPR-Cas9 system for targeted DNA methylation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2016;44(12):5615-28.
- 71. Xu X, Tao Y, Gao X, Zhang L, Li X, Zou W, Ruan K, Wang F, Xu G-L, and Hu R. A CRISPR-based approach for targeted DNA demethylation. *Cell Discov.* 2016;2:16009.
- 72. Costa BM, Smith JS, Chen Y, Chen J, Phillips HS, Aldape KD, Zardo G, Nigro J, James CD, Fridlyand J, et al. Reversing HOXA9 oncogene activation by PI3K inhibition: epigenetic mechanism and prognostic significance in human glioblastoma. *Cancer Res.* 2010;70(2):453-62.
- Pojo M, Goncalves CS, Xavier-Magalhaes A, Oliveira AI, Goncalves T, Correia S, Rodrigues AJ, Costa S, Pinto L, Pinto AA, et al. A transcriptomic signature mediated by HOXA9 promotes human glioblastoma initiation, aggressiveness and resistance to temozolomide. *Oncotarget.* 2015;6(10):7657-74.
- 74. Gonçalves CS, Xavier-Magalhães A, Pojo M, Oliveira AI, Correia S, Reis RM, Sousa N, Rocha M, and Costa BM. Transcriptional profiling of HOXA9-regulated genes in human glioblastoma cell models. *Genomics Data.* 2015;5(0):54-8.
- 75. Pelosi E, Castelli G, and Testa U. Pancreatic Cancer: Molecular Characterization, Clonal Evolution and Cancer Stem Cells. *Biomedicines.* 2017;5(4).
- 76. Klotz DM, and Wimberger P. Cells of origin of ovarian cancer: ovarian surface epithelium or fallopian tube? *Arch Gynecol Obstet.* 2017;296(6):1055-62.
- Bannasch P, Ribback S, Su Q, and Mayer D. Clear cell hepatocellular carcinoma: origin, metabolic traits and fate of glycogenotic clear and ground glass cells. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int.* 2017;16(6):570-94.

- 78. Yamaguchi J, Yokoyama Y, Kokuryo T, Ebata T, and Nagino M. Cells of origin of pancreatic neoplasms. *Surg Today.* 2018;48(1):9-17.
- 79. Prabavathy D, Swarnalatha Y, and Ramadoss N. Lung cancer stem cells-origin, characteristics and therapy. *Stem Cell Investig.* 2018;5:6.
- 80. Pisapia DJ. The Updated World Health Organization Glioma Classification: Cellular and Molecular Origins of Adult Infiltrating Gliomas. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* 2017;141(12):1633-45.
- 81. TCGA. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. *Nature.* 2008;455(7216):1061-8.
- 82. Sonoda Y, Ozawa T, Hirose Y, Aldape KD, McMahon M, Berger MS, and Pieper RO. Formation of intracranial tumors by genetically modified human astrocytes defines four pathways critical in the development of human anaplastic astrocytoma. *Cancer Res.* 2001;61(13):4956-60.
- 83. Uhrbom L, Dai C, Celestino JC, Rosenblum MK, Fuller GN, and Holland EC. Ink4a-Arf loss cooperates with KRas activation in astrocytes and neural progenitors to generate glioblastomas of various morphologies depending on activated Akt. *Cancer Res.* 2002;62(19):5551-8.
- 84. Wei Q, Clarke L, Scheidenhelm DK, Qian B, Tong A, Sabha N, Karim Z, Bock NA, Reti R, and Swoboda R. High-grade glioma formation results from postnatal pten loss or mutant epidermal growth factor receptor expression in a transgenic mouse glioma model. *Cancer Res.* 2006;66(15):7429-37.
- 85. Miyai M, Tomita H, Soeda A, Yano H, Iwama T, and Hara A. Current trends in mouse models of glioblastoma. *J Neurooncol.* 2017;135(3):423-32.
- 86. Sampetrean O, and Saya H. Modeling phenotypes of malignant gliomas. *Cancer Sci.* 2018;109(1):6-14.
- Wen PY, Macdonald DR, Reardon DA, Cloughesy TF, Sorensen AG, Galanis E, DeGroot J, Wick W, Gilbert MR, and Lassman AB. Updated response assessment criteria for high-grade gliomas: response assessment in neuro-oncology working group. *J Clin Oncol.* 2010;28(11):1963-72.
- Mieghem E, Wozniak A, Geussens Y, Menten J, Vleeschouwer S, Calenbergh F, Sciot R, Gool S, Bechter O, and Demaerel P. Defining pseudoprogression in glioblastoma multiforme. *Eur J Neurol.* 2013;20(10):1335-41.
- Radbruch A, Fladt J, Kickingereder P, Wiestler B, Nowosielski M, Bäumer P, Schlemmer H-P, Wick A, Heiland S, and Wick W. Pseudoprogression in patients with glioblastoma: clinical relevance despite low incidence. *Neuro Oncol.* 2014;17(1):151-9.
- 90. Gross JC, Chaudhary V, Bartscherer K, and Boutros M. Active Wnt proteins are secreted on exosomes. *Nat Cell Biol.* 2012;14(10):1036.
- 91. Caby M-P, Lankar D, Vincendeau-Scherrer C, Raposo G, and Bonnerot C. Exosomal-like vesicles are present in human blood plasma. *Int Immunol.* 2005;17(7):879-87.
- 92. Skriner K, Adolph K, Jungblut PR, and Burmester GR. Association of citrullinated proteins with synovial exosomes. *Arthritis & Rheumatology.* 2006;54(12):3809-14.
- 93. Perkumas K, Hoffman E, McKay B, Allingham RR, and Stamer W. Myocilin-associated exosomes in human ocular samples. *Exp Eye Res.* 2007;84(1):209-12.

- 94. Asea A, Jean-Pierre C, Kaur P, Rao P, Linhares IM, Skupski D, and Witkin SS. Heat shock proteincontaining exosomes in mid-trimester amniotic fluids. *J Reprod Immunol.* 2008;79(1):12-7.
- Deng Z-b, Poliakov A, Hardy RW, Clements R, Liu C, Liu Y, Wang J, Xiang X, Zhang S, and Zhuang X. Adipose tissue exosome-like vesicles mediate activation of macrophage-induced insulin resistance. *Diabetes.* 2009;58(11):2498-505.
- 96. Lässer C, Alikhani VS, Ekström K, Eldh M, Paredes PT, Bossios A, Sjöstrand M, Gabrielsson S, Lötvall J, and Valadi H. Human saliva, plasma and breast milk exosomes contain RNA: uptake by macrophages. *J Transl Med.* 2011;9(1):9.
- 97. Raj DA, Fiume I, Capasso G, and Pocsfalvi G. A multiplex quantitative proteomics strategy for protein biomarker studies in urinary exosomes. *Kidney Int.* 2012;81(12):1263-72.
- Street JM, Barran PE, Mackay CL, Weidt S, Balmforth C, Walsh TS, Chalmers RT, Webb DJ, and Dear JW. Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human cerebrospinal fluid. *J Transl Med.* 2012;10(1):5.
- 99. Witwer KW, Buzas EI, Bemis LT, Bora A, Lässer C, Lötvall J, Nolte-'t Hoen EN, Piper MG, Sivaraman S, and Skog J. Standardization of sample collection, isolation and analysis methods in extracellular vesicle research. *Journal of extracellular vesicles*. 2013;2(1):20360.
- Chiasserini D, van Weering JR, Piersma SR, Pham TV, Malekzadeh A, Teunissen CE, de Wit H, and Jiménez CR. Proteomic analysis of cerebrospinal fluid extracellular vesicles: a comprehensive dataset. *J Proteomics.* 2014;106:191-204.
- 101. Chen DS, and Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. *Immunity*. 2013;39(1):1-10.
- 102. Huang AC, Postow MA, Orlowski RJ, Mick R, Bengsch B, Manne S, Xu W, Harmon S, Giles JR, and Wenz B. T-cell invigoration to tumour burden ratio associated with anti-PD-1 response. *Nature*. 2017;545(7652):60.
- 103. Sharma P, Hu-Lieskovan S, Wargo JA, and Ribas A. Primary, adaptive, and acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy. *Cell.* 2017;168(4):707-23.
- 104. Zheng C, Zheng L, Yoo J-K, Guo H, Zhang Y, Guo X, Kang B, Hu R, Huang JY, and Zhang Q. Landscape of infiltrating T cells in liver cancer revealed by single-cell sequencing. *Cell.* 2017;169(7):1342-56. e16.
- 105. Rieth J, and Subramanian S. Mechanisms of Intrinsic Tumor Resistance to Immunotherapy. *International journal of molecular sciences.* 2018;19(5):1340.
- 106. Yaguchi T, Goto Y, Kido K, Mochimaru H, Sakurai T, Tsukamoto N, Kudo-Saito C, Fujita T, Sumimoto H, and Kawakami Y. Immune suppression and resistance mediated by constitutive activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling in human melanoma cells. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2012;189(5):2110-7.
- 107. Oderup C, LaJevic M, and Butcher EC. Canonical and noncanonical Wnt proteins program dendritic cell responses for tolerance. *The Journal of Immunology.* 2013;190(12):6126-34.
- 108. van Loosdregt J, Fleskens V, Tiemessen MM, Mokry M, van Boxtel R, Meerding J, Pals CE, Kurek D, Baert MR, and Delemarre EM. Canonical Wnt signaling negatively modulates regulatory T cell

function. Immunity. 2013;39(2):298-310.

- Suryawanshi A, and Manicassamy S. Tumors induce immune tolerance through activation of βcatenin/TCF4 signaling in dendritic cells: A novel therapeutic target for cancer immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology.* 2015;4(12):e1052932.
- Matias D, Predes D, Niemeyer Filho P, Lopes M, Abreu J, Lima F, and Neto VM. Microgliaglioblastoma interactions: New role for Wnt signaling. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews* on Cancer. 2017;1868(1):333-40.
- 111. Sun X, Liu S, Wang D, Zhang Y, Li W, Guo Y, Zhang H, and Suo J. Colorectal cancer cells suppress CD4+ T cells immunity through canonical Wnt signaling. *Oncotarget.* 2017;8(9):15168.
- 112. Wang B, Tian T, Kalland K-H, Ke X, and Qu Y. Targeting Wnt/b-Catenin Signaling for Cancer Immunotherapy. 2018.
- 113. Shah KV, Chien AJ, Yee C, and Moon RT. CTLA-4 is a direct target of Wnt/β-catenin signaling and is expressed in human melanoma tumors. *J Invest Dermatol.* 2008;128(12):2870-9.
- 114. Saha S, Aranda E, Hayakawa Y, Bhanja P, Atay S, Brodin NP, Li J, Asfaha S, Liu L, and Tailor Y. Macrophage-derived extracellular vesicle-packaged WNTs rescue intestinal stem cells and enhance survival after radiation injury. *Nature communications.* 2016;7:13096.
- 115. Hong Y, Manoharan I, Suryawanshi A, Shanmugam A, Swafford D, Ahmad S, Chinnadurai R, Manicassamy B, He Y, and Mellor AL. Deletion of LRP5 and LRP6 in dendritic cells enhances antitumor immunity. *Oncoimmunology*. 2016;5(4):e1115941.
- Spranger S, Bao R, and Gajewski TF. Melanoma-intrinsic β-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. *Nature*. 2015;523(7559):231.
- 117. Zhou Q, Facciponte J, Jin M, Shen Q, and Lin Q. Humanized NOD-SCID IL2rg–/–mice as a preclinical model for cancer research and its potential use for individualized cancer therapies. *Cancer Lett.* 2014;344(1):13-9.
- 118. Shah NP, Tran C, Lee FY, Chen P, Norris D, and Sawyers CL. Overriding imatinib resistance with a novel ABL kinase inhibitor. *Science*. 2004;305(5682):399-401.
- Bharadwaj U, Eckols TK, Xu X, Kasembeli MM, Chen Y, Adachi M, Song Y, Mo Q, Lai SY, and Tweardy DJ. Small-molecule inhibition of STAT3 in radioresistant head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget.* 2016;7(18):26307.
- 120. Morgan R, El-Tanani M, Hunter KD, Harrington KJ, and Pandha HS. Targeting HOX/PBX dimers in cancer. *Oncotarget.* 2017;8(19):32322.
- 121. Greenwell IB, Ip A, and Cohen JB. PI3K Inhibitors: Understanding Toxicity Mechanisms and Management. *Oncology*. 2017;31(11).
- 122. Edelstein ML, Abedi MR, and Wixon J. Gene therapy clinical trials worldwide to 2007–an update. *The journal of gene medicine.* 2007;9(10):833-42.
- 123. GuhaSarkar D, Su Q, Gao G, and Sena-Esteves M. Systemic AAV9-IFNβ gene delivery treats highly invasive glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol.* 2016;18(11):1508-18.
- 124. Choudhury SR, Hudry E, Maguire CA, Sena-Esteves M, Breakefield XO, and Grandi P. Viral vectors for therapy of neurologic diseases. *Neuropharmacology*. 2017;120:63-80.

- 125. Cai X, and Sughrue ME. Glioblastoma: new therapeutic strategies to address cellular and genomic complexity. *Oncotarget.* 2018;9(10):9540.
- 126. Ecker DM, Jones SD, and Levine HL. MAbs. Taylor & Francis; 2015:9-14.
- 127. Cai HH. Therapeutic monoclonal antibodies approved by FDA in 2015. *MOJ Immunol.* 2016;3(2):00087.
- 128. Wu Z, and Cheung N. T cell engaging bispecific antibody (T-BsAb): From technology to therapeutics. *Pharmacol Ther.* 2017.
- 129. Pardridge WM, Buciak JL, and Friden PM. Selective transport of an anti-transferrin receptor antibody through the blood-brain barrier in vivo. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 1991;259(1):66-70.
- 130. Zhou Q-H, Boado RJ, Lu JZ, Hui EK-W, and Pardridge WM. Monoclonal antibody-glial-derived neurotrophic factor fusion protein penetrates the blood-brain barrier in the mouse. *Drug metabolism and disposition.* 2010;38(4):566-72.
- Zhou Q-H, Boado RJ, Lu JZ, Hui EK-W, and Pardridge WM. Re-Engineering Erythropoietin as an IgG Fusion Protein That Penetrates the Blood– Brain Barrier in the Mouse. *Mol Pharm.* 2010;7(6):2148-55.
- 132. Yu YJ, Zhang Y, Kenrick M, Hoyte K, Luk W, Lu Y, Atwal J, Elliott JM, Prabhu S, and Watts RJ. Boosting brain uptake of a therapeutic antibody by reducing its affinity for a transcytosis target. *Sci Transl Med.* 2011;3(84):84ra44-84ra44.
- 133. Yu YJ, Atwal JK, Zhang Y, Tong RK, Wildsmith KR, Tan C, Bien-Ly N, Hersom M, Maloney JA, and Meilandt WJ. Therapeutic bispecific antibodies cross the blood-brain barrier in nonhuman primates. *Sci Transl Med.* 2014;6(261):261ra154-261ra154.
- 134. Pardridge WM. Re-engineering therapeutic antibodies for Alzheimer's disease as blood-brain barrier penetrating bi-specific antibodies. *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* 2016;16(12):1455-68.
- 135. Zuchero YJY, Chen X, Bien-Ly N, Bumbaca D, Tong RK, Gao X, Zhang S, Hoyte K, Luk W, and Huntley MA. Discovery of novel blood-brain barrier targets to enhance brain uptake of therapeutic antibodies. *Neuron.* 2016;89(1):70-82.
- 136. Freskgård P-O, and Urich E. Antibody therapies in CNS diseases. *Neuropharmacology*. 2017;120:38-55.
- 137. Stewart MP, Sharei A, Ding X, Sahay G, Langer R, and Jensen KF. In vitro and ex vivo strategies for intracellular delivery. *Nature.* 2016;538(7624):183.